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PREFATORY NOTE.

When IJoswell was conversing with Dr. Johimou regarding " Tlie

Douglas Cause," he received this opinion.' "And, Sir, yon will

not say that the Douglas Cause was a cause of easy decision,

when it divided your Court as much as it could do, to be

determined at all. VVheu your judges are seven and seven, the

casting vote of the President must be given on one side or the

other
; no matter, for mj argument, on which ; one or the other

must be taken ; as when I am to move, there is no matter which

leg I move first. And then, Sir, it was otherwise determined

here. No, Sir, a more dubious determination of any question

cannot be imagined."

It is the history of this "determination" which is now
presented to the reader by the Editor, and when ho presents it,

he desires to thank many friends for their kind a.ssistance during

its compilation. He has gratefidly to acknowledge the help

that he received from Mr. David Douglas, whose great age does

not prevent him from taking a keen interest in the history of his

family. He has also been iujsisted by the Hon. Mr. Justice

Fletcher of Calcutta, in the early stages of his work, and by
Mr. George Douglas Veitch of Eliock, to whom he is indebted for

two illustrations. Two more illustrations make him thank Mr.
Charles E. Green. He wishes to e.xprcss his gnititude, moreover,

to Messrs. Kenneth Douglas and Frank C. Nicholson for their

kindly patience in giving him assistance with his proofs; and
lastly, he desires sincerely to thank Mr. Horace Bleackley, whose
store of knowledge of the literature of the eighteenth century

has been so courteously and fully- placed at his disposal.

' Boswell's Life of Johnson, ii. 19.

"See Appendix I.
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lo Scot!2 *"'
'''"' °' ''' '^""""' '^''y ''^^ decides to go

17 August-She arrives in Kdinburgh with the children, and seesmany ,.I,1 t.u.nds. The Duke of Douglas remains silent ^eattempt to see him at Douglas Castle, but is rep»\<^,\.
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THE DOUGLAS CAUSE.

INTRODUCTION.

The Douglas Cause is, most likely, the greatest civil trial

affecting ttatut that Scotland has ever seen. The conflicting
decisions of the Court of Session and the House of Lords alone
made it momentous, and the rank of the parties and the extent
of the estates which were dependent upon the final decision
made it pre-eminently interesting to the public in its own time,
and the complexity of the evidence and the conflicting state-
ments of the witnesses, botli Scottish ajd French, as well as
the old and irregular methods by which the evidence was pro-
cured, make the whole trial a very delicate and intricate study
even at this distance of time. The Cause endured, through its

varying stages, eight years in aU, and the mass of legal
pleadings connected with it is enormous. As it is the first

Civil Cause dealt with in this series, we feel that it may be
differently treated from the Criminal Trials that went before
it, and it is proposed, therefore, to give (1) a rUumi of the
history of the Cause, and (2) a narrative of the circumstances
that led to it, told as impartially as may be—for upon
impartiality depends the value of this book—and with as little

prejudice as possible. The Judgments of the Court of Session
are given in fuU.i and the two chief speeches (which alone
exist) delivered in the judgment in the final Appeal to the

'There are two reports, differing very considerably from each other,and neither authoritative, of the speeches delivered in judgment. The
nret M Ihe gpeecheg, arguments, and determinations of the RiehtHonourable the Lords of Council and Session in Scotland upon that
important Cause wherein His ({race the Duke of Hamilton and Otherswere Plaintiffs, and Archibald IXiuglas of Douglas, Ksq., Defendant, withan introductory Preface, giving an impartial and distinct account of this
suit, by a Bamster at Uw, printed in London for J. Almon, 1767," and

Smellie, Edinburgh, 1/68. It is the former which is here printed, as the
judgments, if less verbose, are more pithy and incisive. A ".state ofthe Evidence comparing the two r..,^rt=, "with remarks" by Robert
Richardson, D D., Prebendary of Lincoln, was published also at London
in WB». See Appendix II.

13



The Douglas Cause.

Hou.. of
}^'«1- are a,« panted .t length. f«,i„ . guasioBci^

form h.. own conclu..on on the hi-tory of the Caie and thed ffi ultie. connected with the evidence .ubmitt«l. the com

rrsr.:crr^« '-^--^- «' ^« --—.rted

!

I. NarratiTi! of the Cause.

nI^\fTVlZ" "r.^
!^^ ^''"'^' *'*''""* '*"«• °" 2Ut July.

1761. of Arch.ba d. Duke of Dougla.. on which event ArchibaH
Steuart or Dougla. wa,. on 9th Sopte.nber. 1761. on a brievemortancestry. served nearest and lawful 'heir of tailzie andpmv.s.on ,n general to the said deceased Archihald. Duke ofDouglas. h,s uncle, .n virtue of the disposition and tailzie ofthe dukedom of Douglas and others, dated 11th July 176?Evidence was led before the inquest that he was the only su ^vmng son o the deceased Lady Jane Douglas, the late DukJ,
only,s.ster. bom of her marriage with Colonel John Steuart.
afterwards S.r John Steuart of Grandtully. Bart. His birth.^s stated to have taken place at Paris.^'on the 10th J^
1748, in the presence of Mrs. Helen Hewit and M. La Marrethe surgeon, certain letters to Sir John Steuart from Pie;
i^a Marre, wh.ch were afterwards admitted to be

.n the Trial forgeries), being produced, but not read at the.nques
. The tutors of Archibald Douglas soon after compleSS

Lis title by a charter from the Crown, and he was put in fullpossession as lieir of the Duke of Douglas, the Duke's widow.
Margaret. Duchess of Douglas, and Charles, Duke of Queens-
berry, being two of his curators; but his position as heir waanot long unchallenged. First of all, actions were raised againsthim by the tutors of the Duke of Hamilton^ and the Earl ofSekirk, both of the Douglas family and next heirs male to thelat^ Duke, for declaring their right to certain parts of the

beauty. He waa W^Ts'th F«h^,^i i^ii*"" T^ ^""Ky"' ^^^ celebrated

1758 He die^ nn^TJfj *«^™"y> '755, and succeeded his father iniioo. ne aieii, unmarried, not Ion" after the lipri^i.... «f n.. ut^ iCause" against him, at Hamilton Pafa^e, 7th July! l76ft
^"^'^



Introduction.

family estate, which the Duke of Hamilton maintained were
limited to hein male by a deed esecuted in 1630, and the EsrI
of Selkirk aflSrmed were deicendable to him in virtue of a deed
executed in 1699. They demanded the tequeitration of the
etcate from the poMeaaor during the oourw of thii oompetition,
but this was refused, and the Court of Heuion decided againit
both the pursuers on 9th December, 1762. In the decision it

was solemnly adjudged that the Duke of Hamilton's claim was
barred both by certain powers retained by James, Marquis of
Douglas, and also by the destination to heirs whntsoeyer in th«
contract of marriage of the lato Duke of Douglas.
On 7th December, 1762, a new action, and one on an entirely

new ground, was commenced against Archibald Douglas. It
took the form of a summons at the insUnce of the Duke of
Hamilton for reducing his service of 9th September, 1761, as
heir to his uncle, the Duke of Douglas, as having proceeded on
false evidence. A similar iction was raised in the name of
Lord Douglas Hamilton, 'lo next heir,'' on the failure of the
defender under the Du Douglas's last settlement; and a
third at the instance of li Hew Dalrj-mple of North Berwick,
Bart., one of the heirs of line failing issue of Lady .,

Douglas. It is to be noted that the other heirs of line, the
Earl of Hyndford, Sir Robert Menzies, Bart., John Swinto'n of
Swinton, and others, did not join in the process. The sum-
mons narrated that "The said Archil.ald Steuart and the other
pretended male child of which the said Lady Jane Douglas was
said to have been delivered at the time and place foresaid were
spurious and were not the children of the said Lady Jane
Douglas, as would be made appear by a variety of proofs to be
more particularly condescended on in the course of process."
The first step in the process was that a petition was presented
to the Court on 9th December in the name of the pursuers,
desiring an examination of witnesses to lie in rutentis. Answers
to this petition were ordered, but, in the meantime, another
petition, unintimated, was read on 14th December, praying for
an immediate examination of Sir John Steuart, the late Lady
Jane Douglas's husband, on the ground that he was going

n.!kl!;»'5**
succeeded, on his brother the seventh Duke's death, as eiirhthDuke of Hamilton, was bom 24th July, 175«, and d.s.p., 2nd August, 1799

15
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The Douglas Cause.

abroad. ThU waa granted, and Sir John, though in bad
health, oompliad with the ordi o( Court and was examined
upon interrogatoriee framed bj the purauert, no oondemsendence
of facte having been giren in, for tliree eucceeiiTe dayi in the
waj of judicial declaration iijion facta which had happened in
1748 and 1749. Although counsel for Archibald Douglaa, hia
acknowledged son, were present, as they were ignorant of the
facts upon which Sir John was to he examined, they could not
cross-examine him in their client's interest, but they did state
that the examination, if it was to be used as evidence, should
be upon oath. The interlocutor pronounced was—" The Lords
haTinjr heard what is above reiiresented they allow Sir John
Steuart's declaration to bo taken in the meantime, reserving
to the petitioners to insist for examining the said Sir John
Steuart upon oath, if they shall .ifterwards insist upon the same,
and all objections to such declaration as accords," and the
declaration was sealed up to lie in retentii. The Court, how-
ever, refused to examine Mrs. Hewit without a particular conde-
scendence of facU being given in. When this was done. Sir
John was again, in August, 1763, re-examined upon oath, hia
former declaration being also admitted eventually as a " circum-
stance of evidence." Sir John Steuart died on Uth June,
1764, having on 7th June made a solemn declaration before five
persons that Archibald Douglas was his only surviving son by
his late wife. Lady Jane Douglas. A proof was allowed in 1763.
Against this, however, an appeal *a.H entered for the defender
and a cross appeal was begun by the pursuers. It came to
light, moreover, that during this time the Hamilton agenta had
been busy investigating evidence in France, and that a plainte
had been raised as far back as 17th D3cember, 1762, soon
after the Court of Session action was begim, before the Tournelle
Chamber of the Parlenient of Paris, by Sir Hew Dalrymplo
and Mr. Andrew Stuart, „m of the Duke of Hamilton's tutors*
then in Paris, the chief mover in his interest, against Sir John

*H is difficult to apimrtion to Andrew Stuart pruise or blam. inrelation to the iJoiiglas Cause. ' H.- was a son of Anliiluld Stuart W Swho iR here mention. <1 us l,of h " .Lht " to the I )uke of Douglas and to the
1 uke of Hannlt.m. By the Han.ilton interct he was i.mde Keeper of the

Md , id"".' 1 L T''
n" 'r'"'i:J"<="'

"f ")« in>P<«ture of the Douglas-, clain,.Md
< Id a 1 he could m Trance to further tbr ri-hts of tL Duke ofiiamilton, hia ward, and for this waa extolled or blamed by the partisans



Introduction.

8t«uart and tin. Helen Hewit. accuiing them on the criminal
count of jxirtut luppotitio. On the «th July, 1763, the pur-
•uera in the Tournelle nction publinhed a monitoin under the
•Miction of tlie Arclibishop of I'aris, giving un tx parte itate-
mont of their ucooimt of Sir John Steuiirt, Lady Jane DougUa,
and Mra. Helen llewit, and their alleged imixHiture and ncquiai-
tion of ».ipposititio.i« children. Thia waa read in the churchea,
«nd enjoined all perwjna iin.lcr pain of excommunication to reveaJ
to their parish curtn any facta known to them which might
help to e«tubliHh the crime. Thia wuh un mfortunat«
atep, which u.Klonbtedly wai looked uikmi ,% an act
of intimidation again»t any witneiaea wiio .light have
been disposed to come forward to give evidence as to the
birth of the twin aona of Lady Jane Douglaa, which birth waa
treated in the monitoire ua an wtaiimed crime and certain
imposture. The whole To.irnelle Criminelle procesa waa
eventually ordered both by the Court of Session and. on appeal,
by the House of Lords, afu-r much litigation, to be withdrawn
on 13Ui April, 1764, and the Court of Session ordered that a
new proof bo taken abroad before CommiiMoners, and that
this proof be reporti.i by February, 176.»: but this wan after-
wards i,r..rogued. It was during this time that the Duclieaa
of Douglas, with Misa Memin^r Primrose as interj.reter,
went on a visit to France to find out evidence in favour of her
proUgf, Archibald Steuart or Douglas, and their manner of
doing ao wag not much more scrupulous than Mr. Stuarfa had
been. In the aummer session of 1765, the proof taken abroad
being expected aoon in Edinburgh, a petition was presented by
the pursuers, praying that certain parts of the proof which had

flf the day He wag fiercely attacked in the House of Lords judemenUby I>3rds Manshold un,l Cam.len, and hi» duel with Mr. Thar ow^Thllethe Cau.0 was pending, creato.l a gre.it sensatioii. He was nonv'itlou?supporters, however. The mom ng after the case went ai«iinHf Hi™Homce Walpole Haysthat he "found on his table aW^nTfor ?o*u °ld Spounds a year for hi. hfe a present from Mr. Johnstone Pulteney hU
ir.!r i.

" 7|"'|;'«"'t»« ."f th'' oruel treatment he had met with ••^' andlater, he publishe.l a series of " Letters t„ Lonl Mansfic 1
• on the trMwh.ch from theu- biting eloquence were thought rival" "Jun,u." H.aterward.s tecame M.l'. f.,r Utmrkshire, anTi then fo Weymouth J^dMelcumbe Kegis. and held this «eat until his death. He wm known^n

mZ l!f S"""".'*'.'
antiquarian and ge„.*lo^M,t, and died 18th May ISoiMost of his luaicial opponents apoloL-.so.i to him for their atte4, „dbe.^ime (neuJty .,, later l>,e. Mr. >|,«ace Blea.-kley has done full jurtfito h» abilities in hia "Story of a Beautiful Duch-«." '
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been taken to lie in reUntis—e.ff., the declaration of Sir John
Steuart in 1762—might be opened. This produced answers,
replies, and duplies, and the Court deferred advising, first,

until the proof should be reported and then printed, which
was appointed to be done by a declarator of 19th December,
1765. The huge bulk of the proofs for the pursuers, 1034 quarto
pages, and for the defender over 1066, forced the printing
bouses of Edinburgh to cause more delay, but the two very
large volumes (on which the following narrative is founded)
were ready at the end of February, 1766. On 6th March the
petition relative to Sir John Steuart 's deposition was advised,
and the declaration was ordered to remain sealed till the 16th
of April, allowing either party to have access to it after that
day upon application to the Lord President.* Against this the
defender appealed, but his appeal was withdrawn, an J the
pursuers, obtaining leave to open the declaration, printed it in

sixteen additional pages to their proof. Short cases, instead
of argument on the huge proof, were now ordered to be given
in. Those for the pursuers were drawn up by Mr. Alexander
Lockhart, Dean of Faculty, and for the defender by Mr.
Alexander Murray.

On the 1st of July,5 to the intense popular excitement of all

Scotland, where, it is said, bets to the amount of £100,000
depended upon the coming decision, and where, as in France,
the generality inclined to the legitimacy of the children, and
"carried the current in favour of young Doiiglas,"^ a few
days after the cases were given in, the pleadings
began. First, four lawyers spoke for the pursuers,
viz., Mr. Andrew Crosbie, on Tuesday, 1st July; Sir Adam
Ferguson, on Wednesday and part of Thursday; Mr. William
Nairne" began on Thursday and ended on Friday; and

H)n 9th June a book, "Dorando: a Spanish Tale," which dealt withthe OouKlas Cause under a disguise of thinly veiled names, and was really
written by James Boswell-the future biographer of Johnson-was adver-
tisetl for sale. lu contents were so obvious that they wore commented onby many journals. The publishers of these were, for this contempt ofCourt, summoned before the Lords of Sessi.m, 30th June, 1767. and nutunder caution to appear again on 19th July. On 28th July they wem"rebuked and admonished" by the Lord President for the publication
complained of, and the matter ended.

Fuuin.«uoii

'Seoti Magazine, 1786 [406-1.5].

' Walpole's " Memoirs of the Reign of King George III.," p. 301
i8
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»fr. John Dalrymple began on Friday and ended on Saturday.
Then four lawyers spoke for the defender, viz., Mr. Alexander
Murray, on Tuesday, 8th July; Mr. Henry Dundas, solicitor,
on Wednesday and Thursday; Mr. Robert Sinclair, on Friday;
and Mr. David Rae, on Tuesday, 16th July. Two lawyers
replied for the pursuers, viz.. Sir John Steuart of AUanbank,
on Wednesday, 16th July, and Mr. Andrew Crosbie, on Thurs-
day. Two lawyers duplied for the defender, viz. Mr. Robert
MacQueen, on Friday, 18th July, and Mr. James Burnett,* on
Tuesday, 22nd July. Mr. Alexander Lockhart, Dean of
Faculty, the last for the pursuers, spoke on Wednesday, Thurs-
day, Friday, and Tuesday, and ended on Wednesday, 30th July.
Mr. James Montgomery, the Lord Advocate, the last for the
defender, spoke on Friday, 1st August. The pleadings were
then the longest ever heard in a Court of justice, lasting in aU
twenty-one days, and the speeches were each often two, and some-
times three, hours long. The Court then appointed Memorials
on those pleadings to be given in by the 27th of September.
This was prolonged, and not done until 24th January 1767 the
pursuers' being drawn up in over 800 pages by Sir Adam
Ferguson, and the somewhat shorter one of tlie defender by
Mr. Iky Campbell. Other counsel in the case for the pursuers,
many of whom during the progress of the cause were elevated
to the bench and gave judgment on it, were Mr. Thomas Miller
then Lord Justice-Clerk; Sir David Dalrymple (Lord Hailes),'
Mr. Walter Steuart, Mr. Wm. Johnston;* and for the defender
Mr. Francis Garden* (Lord Gardenstone), Mr. David Rae * Mr
Robert Sinclair. Mr. Charles Brown, and Mr. James Boswell.
ITie agents for the pursuers were Mr. Andrew Stuart * W S
one of the tutors to the Duke of Hamilton and of Lord' Douglai
Hamfton, and Mr. John Davidson, W.S. ; and for the defender
Mr Charles Brown, W.S., and Mr. Alexander Maoonochie.*
writer in Edinburgh. Still the Cause dragged on It
was appointed to be heard upon the 23rd of June
but certain additions were sought for by both parties!
which were allowed and given in before the summer
session. Ihe Court then ex nohili officio examined Isabel
Walker. Lady Jane Douglas's maid, for two days, 23rd and 24th

Those marked with »n Mt^rwk helped to get up the case in France.
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June, allowing both parties to hand in interrogatories for their
consideration. Her deposition was ordered to be printed and
the advising appointed for the 7tli July. On Tuesday, 7th July,
the advising of this great Cause accordingly began [acconling
to the newspapers of the time, the Court was held in one of the
rooms of Holyrood House], and we give in full the decinions
of the judges. The whole fifteen judges of the Court
of Session gave their opinions and were divided, seven on
either s.de, and the first stage of the Douglas Cause was
carried m favour of the Duke of Hamilton and the other
pursuers by the vote of Robert Dundas, LoH President, to
the intense popular indignation in Scotland, rho windows
of the judges favourable to the Han.iltons being broken, and
the President receiving letters threatening him vith death.
An appeal, however, was given in by Mr. Douglas t« .he House of
Lords without delay.s and into the case had been taken a young
barrister, Edward Thurlow, it is said from the agents for the
Duchess of Douglas having heard him arguing the case io
favour of Mr. Douglas in Nando's Coffee House, the favourite
resort of young lawyers. The pleadings so displeased Mr.
Andrew Stuart, the Duke of Hamilton's tutor, that he chal-
lenged Thurlow, and, though the Cause was depeiulii.-, a duel
was fought by them and pistols discharged. The public intereit
taken m the case was immense, and the papera of the day
chronicled carefully the movements of Mr. Dougla*, the popular
favourite.

As the session of 1767-68 was a short one, being the
last of the Parliament, the Cause was i)ostpon«l until the
session 1768-69 to allow the vast mass of evidence to be gone
over^ On I9tli January the case began : for the appellant
the Lord Advocate (Sir James Montgomery) and Sir Fletcher
JVorton, and for the respondents Messrs. Charles Yorke.
Alexander Wedderbum (afterwards Lord Chancellor Lough-

28'th'juVv"f7^7'"" n^ ^"' half-brother] Sir John Steuart of (..an.itully.^»th July, 1767—"Our cause is indeed ogt here, but there is aiioth«;Court where justice and impartiality must prevail TheTnaT dSnhere was not so great a stroke upon us as I believe u,K,n m^t <,f onrfriends. Every person's characte.'^here is pretty well known,Ts wlll^
pv^ vtr*""^*,'*""

""^^*'" »>«h«viour, but time and a little ZiencrshoweverythmR and every man in their proper liBht. Mv affection fop In., o^^your^mily will not be the least diminished b^helat^dTcee'-rFr^"vRed Book of GrandtuUy, ii. 369.]
"ttree. iiraser s

i
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borough), and Dunning. Tlie Lord Advocate opened the Cause
and spoke for four and a half hours that day, nearly five hours
more on the 20th, and finished, "and with applauBc," on the
23rd. Sir Fletcher Norton spoke also on the 23rd and finished,
having reserved his further arguments for the reply. Mr. Yorke,
who " was the least iidniired.'S began for the respondents on the
24th, and spoke for three liours and a half, and ended next day.
On the 25th Mr. We<lderburu began, sfjoke for four hours, and a
half hour more nest day, and on 6th February four hou.-8 more,
endmg, " with greater applause than was almost ever known," on
the 7th. Mr. Dunning be^ran on 10th February and spoke for five
hours, but made • no great figure," nor did Sir Fletcher Norton,
who began the reply on the 20th, when he spoke for three houra
<Mr. Douglas being in the House, having gone in with the
Duke of Queensberry), and ended on the 21st. Some points of
form were discussed on tlie 22ud, and on the 27th judgment
was pronounced, which reversed the judgment of the Court of
Session and affirmed the sen-ice of Archibald Steuait or Douglas
as lawful heir of tailzie and provision of the deceased Archibald
Duke of Douglas, his uncle. When this was known in Scot-

l*j •u'"''^
^°^ '''"' "'"''''" "' ^^'^ I^P"''"" Judgn»ent, and in

iidinburgh the crowd smashed the windows of the houses of the
Lord President, the Lord Justice-Clerk, and other judges who
had taken the Hannlton side, phmd.red the Hamilton apart-
ments m Holyrood Ho„.e. and for t.vo days made it dangerous
for opponents of Mr. Douglas to reside in the town, until

w ,
°! ,!"^ ""^'^ '=""®'* ""^ *o '•««*"'•« order. Horace

Wal,.ole>o gives the following account of the Lor.ls' speeches
and the end of the trial:- •The Duke of Bedford,
Lord Sandwich, and Lord Gower were the most zealous
for the Hamiltons. Lord Mansfield, it had long been
discovered, favoured the Douglas; but the Chancellor
Camden, with dignity and decency, had concealed his opinion

•Then sir 'sSw she
'^^' ^\^/'"«»Sea himself to the House of Hamilton,

all ha"}yoi?- '" *^" °"''' "'"''^ ^'"'^^ *i» y°" '^<'. f-' we have

' ».\imoir8 of the Reign of King George III.," iii. p. :m - ( •7.

at
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to the very day of the deci.ion. The debate was opened by
the Duke of Newcastle, and very poorly. He was answered by
Lord Sandw.ch. who spoke for three hours with much humour,
•nd scandalised the bishops, having, with his usual industry,
•tudied even the midwifery of the case, which he retailed with
Tery httle decency. The Chancellor then rose, and with be-commp auchority and infinite applause, told the Lords that he
must now declare that he thought the whole plea of the
Hamiltons a t.ssue of porjurj- woven l.y Mr. Andrew Stuart, and
that, were he sitting as judge in any otiier Court, he would
order a j.iry to find for Mr. Douglas, and what that jun- ought
to do on their oaths, their Lordshi,. ought to do o„ their
hotiours. lie then went through the heads of the whole case
and without notes recapitulated even the dates of so involved
a story, adding that ho was son y to In^nr hard on Mr Stuart
but justice ol.liged hi.n. This speech, in which it was allowed
he outshone Lord Mansfield, had tlie n>ost decisive effect. The
latter, with still more personal severity to Stuart, spoke"
till he fainted with the heat and fatigue; and at ten at night
the dec-ree was reverse.! without a division." He adds later
^riie Duke of Bedford, the Karls of Sandwich. Bristol, and
Dunmore and Lord Milton protested against the decision in
favour of Mr. Douglas, for that he was not proved to be the son of
Lady Jane, and for that they thought it had been proved that
he was not so."i2

ThprIT."„**^ *i""
''**^ 8"""' P'ilhetic, and eloquent i, «ayii, . notliiii<r

IrZml force TlV" "' 'V--^\'"'^^. ^''Mueiice in fi,s\li'^ti„o1;
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II. Historical Narrative.

Almost every statement made in the Douglas Cause turned
upon the real hehaviour of Lady Jane Douplas, and, as she was
dead before the Cause began, the evidence was naturally vague
and contradictory. It is necessary, therefore, to examine
ahortly the history of her early life, and much more particularly
of the years that followed her marriage. She was bom on 17th
March, 1698, and was the only daughter of James, Marquis of
Douglas, a great Scottish noble, and of his second wife. Lady
Mary Kerr, daugliter of Robert, Marquis of I^thian. She had
only one surviving brother, Archibald, Duke of Douglas, who was
four years older than herself, and of whom she was the pre-
sumptive heiress, a position of great importance, as he remained
unmarried during her lifetime. The Douglas family, one of
the most ancient and imimrtant in the kingdom, was 'possessed
of vast estates and Ii.ul attachiHl itself to the Hanoverian
succession, as had the Duke of Hamilton (also a Douglas), who
was the Duke of Douglass heir male.
Lady Jane in early life seems to have been beautiful and very

attractive, and her character is variously described. On the one
hand it was stated that she wa.s ' Irourrht up by her mother,
the Marchioness, in principles of the strictest pi. ty, which she
always retained. ... Her great beauty and accomplish-
ments procured her universal attention. "13 And on the other
hand, " These great advantages, joined to her high rank and
quality, gave her a natural prospect of much happiness and
prosperity, but a certain extravagance of conduct, for which
she was from the beginning remarkable, and a singular turn
of mmd, mcreased by the contagion of improper connections,
prevented the effects that might have been expected from the
appearances so much in her favour."ii She was, it is certain,
much admired, and declined many noble matrimonial alliances,
but m 1720, however, became betrothed to Francis (Scott), Earl
of Dalkeith, afterwards second Dukeof Buccleuch. Themarriage
was broken off suddenly later, and the Earl of Dalkeith, the jilted
party, according to one ^nd the jilting party, according to
another story, fought a duel on Lady Jane'- account with her

" Defender's Memorial, 2. " Pursuers' Memorial, I. 2.
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??/n I' I " "' ^°"«'"' '^"'^ '^''^ """i^d, on 5th April.
17.0, her kinswoman, another Lady Jane Douglaa, of Queen-
berry. This d..appointinent or "cruel affront" affected LadyJane «, n.uch that, intending, it wn, said, to enter a French con-vent she secretly eloped to France, accompanied only by her
n»a,d who was a Frenchwoman; but she was soon followed how-
ever, by her n,other and brother, who prevaiknl upon her to ;eturn
to her native count.7. Tl.at this adventuro was not forgotten

inofT iV ^l"'
'"^ ''"'' "" -^^ •^''""^^y- 1750. from her

uncle, Lord Mark Kerr, in which (referring to her later marriage
and second departure to France) he writes, '• Now to «»y nothing
but the truth, your two trips into France, I do think there
.s no apologising for it, which is the worst, I will leave tieworld to judge. ... Your behaviour thirty years aw
r.e.xt month, and four yeai, a^one veiy soon. .reV^tZZ
fresh .n my memory." Although Lord Mark thus reproached

help her and her two sons whom he mention., in this letter alsoLady Jane, thongh pressed by h.r brother to marry, declinedto do so notwithstanding that he offered on h-r Carriage lo
increase h.r fortune considerably. In 1 725 the Duke of Douglas

n^ortally Captain John Rerr, a natural son of his uncle, LordMark Kerr, and it wa.s bruited abroad, rifrhtly or wrongly, thatUptain Kerrs courtsl.ip of Udy Jane had • spurred iL "_
the Duke-to this " rash action, which proved the source of hi.own unhappmess and of all her misfortunes.' This misad-
venture, there is no doubt, saddened the life of the Duke of
Doujrlas altered his career, and alienated his sister from him.He was forced " upon the event to live extremely retired," and
thenceforwanl was influenced only by his factor, James Whit<,ofhtockbrip. a man of humble origin, and Mr. An=hibald Stuart
•</' -^

'°
J'f

""' ""'> ' '^•"^'- " t° tl"^ I>"ko of Douglas buidoer to his heir male, the Duke of Hamilton (whose interest.he had much at heart) also. Wl.ile the Duke resided in
retirement at Douglas Castle, bi.s sister, Lady Jane, lived with

death of the Marchioness of Douglas, on L'lst January, 1736
bhe then removed to Drumsheugh House with her devoted friendand attendant. Ilel.n Hewit, a woman of gentb birth, who i.
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alternately praiged in the " Procea. " a> the mo.t faithful of
friends, or blamed ag an unscrupulous intiigantr. The Duke,
on hia mother's death, granted hi* sister an income (smali
enough) of i:.JOO a year, but the pair were not on good termi
Lady Janes hint that his huvinp beaten a footman might rouse
again the tadmg story of his manslaughter displeased the
Duke. He believed that she wished to have him confined aa a
lunatic, and an insult from the mob, which he suffered when
he was in Edinburgh, was understood by him to be u plot which
hi. sister had contrived with Colonel John Steuart, with whom
at thw time she waa intimate and whom she afterwards married
to have him murdered or kidnapped and carried off to St. Kilda
so that they might get his estate into their own hands. 15
These ^tranged relations were more seriously embittered whe..
in 1745 the Jacobite troops occupied Douglas Castle. The
Duke wa« again persuaded that Colonel Steuart (a known
Jacobite of 1715) and Lady Jane (who was. by repute," Hie
with the Jacobite party) had instigated this attack also;
and his sister continued to fall in his estimation. In spite of
tJhis Lady Jane assisted the escape of the Jacobite refugee, the
Chevalier Johnston (a cousin of her friend, Mra. Hewit). and
hid him for some time in her house at Drumsheugh
Lady Jane, though young looking and still graceful, was now

in her forty-ninth year, and at this juncture took a very aerious
If .ecret step. On 4th August. 1746. she was married at her
house of Drumsheugh by the Rev. Robert Keith, a bishop of
the Scottish Episcopal Church and a friend of her own, to
Colonel John Steuart, a younger brother of Sir George Steuart
of GrandtuUy. That the marriage was imprudent is obviousLady Jane was no longer at aU young and had only a smallincome, and Colonel Steuart. though "well looked" aT ahandsome man of fifty-eight and heir to the estate of Grand-tuUy ana ^baronetcy, was already a widower with one son. Jack
Steuart. He was known to be thoughtless and inconsiderate
to a high degree, m his circumstances poor, being "e:.tremelv
profuse and as a ruined Jacobite, as well as a supposed
Hapist, besides the above suspicions, '• though esteemed by

" " Case of Archibald Douglas, House of Lords," p 8

at Holy'^^''"'"'*
•^''•""'*"" '• "°"'^' ^y J'-^ vi^it^d Prince Charlie
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his acquaintance! to be a man of honour, " wei an object of
peculiar ayenion to the Duke of Douglas, who wai the only
support his wife could rely on in case of distreM.
Yet when the Earl of Crawford later, as Lady Jane's inter-
cessor, apprised the Duke of Douglas of the fact of
the marriage" he thought himself able to write, -She
certainly merits all the nflfectionnte marks of an only brother
to an only sister. Much, much, docs she wish, as well as
others of your Grace's devoted friends, there had been no so
great necessity "—the Duke of Douglas at this time refused
to marry—" for her changing her way of life ; but since it has
become so absolutely necessary, with the greatest submission,
considering the variety of diflferent circumstances, I would gladly
hope your Grace will not disapprove of the person Lady Jane
has chosen, as to be sure there is none so deserving."
So much did Lady Jano dread her brother's displeasure that

her marriage was kept an absolute secret except from her maids,
and the better to conceal it she determined to go abroad. For
this purpose Colonel Steuart passed as one -)f her footmen under
the name of "John Douglas," and she obtained passes to
Holland from the Secretary of State's office on 29th August,
1746, for her suite. She met Colonel Steuart at Huntingdon,'
and her other attendants on the journey consisted of Mrs. Hewit,
two maid servants, Isabel Walker and Effie Caw, and the
Chevalier Johnston, Mrs. Hewit's cousin, for whom she also
obtained a pass as a footman under the name of "James Kerr."
The party proceeded to The Hague, and at the end of December
removed to Utrecht, where they mot Lord Blantyre, a young
Scottish lord, who became a friend. On the 10th February,
1747, in a letter to Mrs. Carse, Lady Jane very strongly denied
the report of lier marriage, imprudently imputing the rumour of
it to her cousin Mally Kerr, Mrs. Stewart of Stewartfield, and
blaming her in no measured terms; and the inopportune
strength of the denial in this letter of a real fact we shall find
referred to frequently during the trial in connection with the
cre<libility of Lady Jane's assertions.

About the middle of April. 1747, Lady Jane, Colonel Steuart,
Mrs. Hewit, and the two maids removed to Aii-la-Chapelle, and

'"April, 1748, Defender's Pr(K>f, 964.
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re«ded with Muduine Tewi,, « Jody of good birth, until 10th
Augutt. when they made • .hort exouriion of a fortnight to
hpa. «nd on leturninpr weut fir.t to lodge with MftdMie
Uampigno.,. until 14th September, when they returned to
Madame Tewi». At S,« ihey ww Sir William and Lady Steuart
who noticed that Lady Ja„e looked ill. and nho, in writing to
borrow n.oney from Mr. Patrick Haldane, mentioned her de.im
of .pending the winter at Bayreuth. where .he n.ight have the
free eierc,«e of the Protectant religion, and of trying the
water, of Carl «bad. in Bohcnia. They re.ided with 'Madame
Tew., unt, ;,th Januarj-, 1748. then with Ma.lan.e Scholl until
March, and then with Madame tiilksen until thev left Aix on
the 21st May, 1748. During thi. residence at Aix-1;,-Chapelle
we luive to ob.erve one notable circumstance, nan.ely, the inten-
tion 8t.ll to conceal the marriage. When Sir John and I^y
Jane came to Aix-k-Chapelle their marriage wa« .till undii
closed and secret from all. except the maids and a few con-
fidants, but Lady Jane's visible pregnancy forced it to be
disclosed, and it was accordingly conHded to Madame Tewi.
with whom they had become intimate, as well as to the l.:arl ofCrawford, an old cumrado and friend of .Sir John Steuart. b-t at
hrst to no more acquaintances than necc.arv. The cause was
ob«erve.l by Mada„.e Scholl. Mr. and Mrs. ilepburn of Keith.Baron Macell.got, certain Benedictine nuns of St. Anne's, and

cZe? H ; "'?T'' '''"'""*^ ^'''^'^-"^' Madame
G.llcsen, and perhap.s by Mademoiselle Bleyenheufft. a seam-
stress. As time went on, however, the marriage being now wellknown, ,t became in.portant for Lady J.^ne to reveal the fact
of her marriage and her condition to her brother, the Dukeof Douglas, aud she did this by a letter which was enclosed inone from Jx>rd Crawford, in whose n.ediation she trusted. I^dyJanes letter-like so many important papers in this cause-has perished, but Lord Crawford's letter was printed in the
proof, and contained the following passai;e .—'

I am hopefulmy representations will not only meet with forgiveness, but
also with the.r wishes for success in reconciling vo«r Craoe toan event aJl the well-wishers of your Grace's family may have
the greatest reason to rejoice at. as there is such visible hopes
Jrfits being attended with the natural consequence, ho mL
longed for >.y all that are fond of seeing the family of Dougla.
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muJtiply." Lord Crawford, by the tame letter, informed the
Duke of Douglaa of Ijidy Jane'ii marriage, of their itraitened

oircunntancwi, and of hia pkaiiure in her and her huibend'a
•ooiety. Thin leUt-r scfinii to Uavo I.een written in April, 1748.
the marriaj:e havinp juHt been publicly declared in March
Lady Katherino WeinyM. Lord Crawford's iinter, deponed,
however, that «he hiul heiird it laid at Aix that the partiea were
married, "or, at least, had an intrigue together, on they lived
in one Iwuie," t*^ ^'h »he paid little attention to the fact, owing
to littdy .lune'H .. .li.il : yet after the diHclomirc of the marriage
ahe remained one ..f her l>e«t friwulH. In May noiiie Scottialj

viiitors arrived at Aix. who all believed in Lady June's hope*
of beiiij,' a niotlier. These were tho CounteHg of Wigton, who
became a great support of Lady June in her trial* later ; Mr.
Fullerton of Dudwick

; MiR8 Fleming Primrose, then a young
girl

;
and Mrs. Greijr. Lady Wicrton'i* woman, whose teatimony

was strong upon tho point.

The congress wh?-,h was held at Aix-la-ChapcIle after the war,
and the consequent increaBe in the expense of living there,
induced, or g.ive ,"n excuHo for. Lady Jane, her husband, and
uitc to move once more. They npjienr to have thought of going
to the south of France or to IJeneva, and Lady Jane alleged
(thoucfh she afterwards had her acknowledged eldest son
baptised a Vumi. , Catholic, la a letter that she wished to go to
a Protestant country. Lady Jane then applied, through M.
Joseph Tewis, to the Count de Salm, to whom he was Grand
Bailli, to be permitted to reside at the chateau de Bodbur for
her delivery, hut before permission arrived from »''ienna she
and her party hud left for Rheims, in Champagne, setting out
on the 21.xt of May. On theii way they rested at Liige for a
few day«, and there dismissed their man servant, Quibel, who,
as a deserter from tho French service, could not enter France.
At Li^ge they wero visite<l l.y certain Jacobite refugees and
Scottish exiles, such as .losoph Byres of Tonley, Mr. Graeme of
Garvock, and most intimately by Mr. and Mrs. Hepburn of Keith
all of whom stated later that tlu-y observe.! Lady Janes condition.'
and the Chevalier Dou^'las, who pave evidence that he advised
Colonel Steuart to proceed to Paris '• ou elle pouvoit avoir tous
le.s secours nwcssaircs pour son accouchement." They pro-
ceeded l.y .-.tagc-cor.ch. the inuids, much to their dislike, "

in the
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bMktt of the co«h," on 26th Muy. to S«<lmu, reaching it oo the
27th. and renuined there nine dayi, and then retting one night
at Charlcvillo (where M, (;u»;net did not Know Lady Jane waa
Colonel Steuart'. wife. ' ni li ell„ ^toit flile ou femme, qu'elle
porto.t une louguo nunte qui lui toial)oit dea 6paulea juiqu'aui
pied. "). another at lUutello. where Lady Jane fell .ick. though
•he »ua able to proceed ,ait day to Itheiui.. arriving there on
7fh June, and, after a night at an inn, lodged with M. Iiibert.
Here Udy Jano was soc.i only by Mr. William Mackenzie and
Mr. MacLean (afterwards (iovernor of Alnierda). Scottish
I.n..,nera of war; Mr, MaeXan.ara. and the family of M
Andrieui, and all the person.s nhe met noticed her situation, if
-ye except the dubious evidence by a mantua maker, wtio did
not obaer^-e it. This place in the narrative is perhaps the beat
for It to bo directly stated that the other next heirs of the
Duke of DouKlas. who ^l•terwHrd^ brought the Douglas Cause
into Court, fiercely muintaineil that Lady Jane, at this dat« in
her tif.y-first year, had all this time only n.xsumcd an appearance
of pregnancy, with the intention of ultimately procuring a
•uppos.titious child, that for this simulation she wore a particuUr
dress, and that all the persons who observed her obvious
condition were her dupes, except her husUnd and Mrs. Hewit
who were either instigators or accomplices of the scheme, and
the maids, the extent of whose comphcity was uncerUin.
Lady .Un: and Colonel Stc.i.irt i,..w made a move, the reasons

for w-hich are stiU uncertain
. Leaving, on the excuse of poverty

in which Colonel Steuart, Uth as a Jacobite and a pennile^J
cadet, was always involved, the two maids, Isabel Walker and
Effio Caw. behind at Rheim... they alone, on 2nd July, with Mrs
Hewit in attendance, set out in the stage-coach for Paris, arrivine
there on the 4th. It is said that Lady Jane had been told that
the physicians in llheims were unskilled, and so undertook the
journey, though it waa at so critical a period for one of her
advanced age. On the other hand, it was afterwards alleged
that the party had gone to Paris to feign a delivery and procurea ch.ld to introduce as their own to soften the heart of the
Duke of Douglas and to induce him to open his purse stringa.

Tt7 ;^•V.^"
^''^ l^ft *!>« 'n^idB. part accomplices only,

behind at Khe.ms. Upon the object >f this journey the whole
oase^ turns, and. in spite of the Cou >f Session's adverse judg-
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ment, it must be remembered that the deciiion of the final

Court of Appeal showed fir-r. be'iof in Lady Jane's being
mother of the children she afterwards brought to England as
her own.

They arrived on the evening of 4th July in Paris, and went
to the Hotel de Chalons, Rue St. Martin, kept by M. Godefroi,
whose name was so often repeated in the Cause. Thence, accord-
ing to Colonel Steuar* and Mrs. Hewit, they went a few days
lat«r to the house .Vfadame Le Brune.is Fauxbourg St. Ger-
main, a house whicl, was never identified, where, in the presence
of Mrs. Hewit and M. Pier La Marre, a surgeon, Madame Le
Brune and her daughter, Lady Jane gave birth on the 10th of
July to twin sons, afterwards called Archibald and Sholto
Douglas. It was said that the younger, being very delicate,
was, for fear of death in infancy, " ondoye " by M.
La Marre, who afterwards for fifteen months took care
of him, putting him out to nurse with a woman who
was identified, though not without discussion, with Nurse
Gamier, of la Hauteborne, near Menilmontant ; but leaving
the stronger and elder twin with his parents. Lady Jane,
Colonel Steuart, and Mrs. Hewit, it was said, left Madame Le
Brune's on 20th July, and went to M. Michelle's Hotel d'Anjou,
though this date also was challenged, and to this house one
child—stated to be the elder twin—was brought later, his
nurses having been frequently changed with varying success.

Mrs. Hewit wrote the following letter to the two maids at
Rheims, dated from Paris, 22nd July, but most likely written
the night before:—" Dear Tibby and EflSe,—This will be the
welcomest letter iver eny of you reeved. The last day I writ to
you, Tiby, I told you your Mrs. was very well, as I thoght, so far
from that she had been ill the whoU neght, and sad not a word
tell tuall a clok, which was 4 ours after your letuer wint af

;

then, I think, she was in soch a way as I could wisht not to a
been witness to, tho, I do belive, many is been wore with on, and
she produced two lovly l)oys. You may belive the confusion
I have been in sine, haven no thoght of more than wan, the'

Tiby Walker was so moch a conjuererour as to tell me, she

"The name, like most of the French names in the Douglas Cause is
uncertain, an-i ii spelled either T-c Rnins nr Ia Brune.

'
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thoght she WM with two, still my thoghts joined Effe's; theyare two lovely creters. but the youngst very small and weakly
so the doctor beght he might be sent to the country as soun ae
possible. Your Mr. and 1 had to go not a litell^ay beforewe got a r.ght nurse that we ould pert with him to; at lastwe gone on of the clinest best woman iver you sa, a farmer's
wife, so I hop he shall do very weU he agreeing so well." The
letter goes on to tell about the difficulties that occurred in
getting a right norc " to nurse the stronger child, Archibald,
and tells of the rapidity of Lady Jane's recovery. "She is
recovering most surprisingly well, not on back-going howr soBoun as the n^^ith day was over, ther was no confiningn herkmger to her bed, the heat being so vilint. In short, Tiby and
^tfe, all IS to a wish

;
" and in a postscript she continues-" Ihave thoght It tw„ months since I left you all-the hurrv I wasm last writm, I blive I dated my lei^er the 11, instead of the 10,which was the happy day." On the 26th Mrs. Hewit again

writes to Tibbie Walker in the same strain, telling of the weak-
ness o the younger twin rnd the strength of the elder "

gtordy
velen,'' and his bad luck with his nu^es, and in a later letter12th August, 1748 tells . same maid-" You may tell ^Mackenzie or any body y. pleis of your Lady's being broghtto beed now for her Lap's is writ it to her bi;ther laft w2kwhich was the sounest she was eMe; so sine he is acquaintedwith It there is no need ' r keeping it a secret " ^"*'°'^'*

At the «,me time Co.onel Steuart apprised Lord Crawford of^e fact of the birth of the twins, and Mrs. Hewit wrote forLady Jane to her old friend, Mr. Joseph Douglas of Edrington.

different accounts, one version stating that she did not «>

Verlm ""'r°?" '""^"^ '^'' '^' ''''^ P«^ - - jaunt to

alTtht4tf ; a"""' T "^"^ *° ''''' ^^« Hotel d'Anjouabout the 4th of August and to go to Dammartin, and notified

the 7th of August from "Rheims," though she did not lea^Dammartin untd about the 15th August. Her husband returned
to Pans, where he again stayed at M. Godefroi's, and Mrs Hewitwn^g to Isabel Walker on the 10th of August, says he ten;to see his youngest son, "and I got a letter this day tellen hehopes he will dow ver, well, and that the nur,e if^Z^
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I sa, and that he is now queet content to
carefoU womin b

live him with he

About the 13th of Aupust Colonel Steuart rejoined Lady Jane,
and in a day or two the two, with Mrs. Hewit, the (elder) chUd,
his new nurse, Mangin, and the latter's husband, left for Rheims,
where they arrived on 16th August, and lodged with Madame
Mayette.

In the case against Archibald Douglas it was maintained
that during Lady Jane's visit to Paris most of these alleged
circumstances were false. That the surviving and dead witnesses
did not agree about the details of the delivery ; that Lady Jane
was not delivered upon the 10th July of twins ; that she described
her dehverj- differently in a conversation with the Countess of
Stair reported by her daughter. Miss Primrose

; that Madame Le
Brune, in whose house the birth was placed, could nowhere bL>
traced

;
that Colonel Steuart and Mrs. Hewit at first spoke of the

delivery having taken place at Madame Michelle's : and further
that both on the 10th of July and some days previous and
subsequent Lady Jane and her husband were stiU residing at
the hotel of M. Godefroi, and several members of his family
testified that tliis was so, and his imperfectly kept house books
were called into evidence to support the theory of this alibi,
on which much of the case turned. It was furthermore alleged
that during the visit to Paris Lady Jane and Colonel Steuart
affected "concealment, disguise, and mystery" when Sir John,
Lady Jane, and Mrs. Hewit brought with them from Paris one
child; and that there was a repetition of " the same concealment
and mystery when they returned to Paris in November, 1749,
and brought with them from thence to Rheims a second child."
It was furthermore alleged, and a long proof led, that in July,
1748, a recently born male child was purchased and carried
off from his parents, named Mignon, of a very humble origin,
and that in November, 1749, another child, the son of Sanry'
a tumbler at a fair of St. Laurent, was also kidnapped, and
It was alleged that these two "enlevements" of infants, of
'<7hich we shall hear much, were caused by Colonel Steuart,
Lady Jane Douglas, and Mrs. Hewit to take the place of the
twin sons to whom Lady Jane was stated to have given birth
on 10th July, 1748. Another curious circumstance was the
vague and erroneous description Colonel Steuart gave of M.
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Pier La Marr, or La Marre.is the Burgeon, who assisted at the
delivery. In his examination on the subject he styled him an oU
acquaintance, a Walloon ; but it was eventually proved that a
surgeon named Louis Pierre De la Marre^o did practise in Paris at
the time; and his fellow-surgeon. Doctor Michel Menager, swore
that he had heard from him that he had assisted at the delivery
of a stranger lad/ of advanced age, who gave birth to twin sons,
a statement which, whether true or false, added considerable
weight to the evidence of Lady Jane's child-birth. 21 Against
this must be put the frequent and unfortunate change of nurses
of the elder child, which might have been caused through fear
of discovery, as well as the alleged relegation of the
younger child to M. La Marre's care.

At Rheims Colonel Steuart and Lady Jane lived with
some consideration, and saw much of their friend Lady
Wigton, and on the 15th September their acknowledged elder
eon was publicly baptised by the Roman Catholic rites in the
Parish Church of S. Jacques. The Countess of Wigton was
one godmother, and her husband, Ban.n f'tesar de Macelligot,
godfather, witJi Madame Andrieux as proxy for the Marchioness
of Lothian as the other sponsor, along with Lord Blantyre and
Mr. MacNamara, proxy for the Earl of Crawford. " Un fete
splendide" followed, and it was perhaps from the severe fatigue

'•The letters produced at the Service were signed Pier La Marr or la

^H^w. K*
t\™"8hout the Cause the Burgeon's n^e is giventsZ Marredand we have thought it a pity to alter this spelling.

in*P^Ti^*^7°^'Kt"i.'"'""^^''
31»t Januwy, 1711. He was first employedin Pans in 1730 by his uncle, a barber, and, it was alleged, placed in 1734«chirur«-.en apprentice to M. Menjon, and wa* with him five years Ife

Tn^'l'1'.S, "/!?'"""«'? "* *''' ""'*' ^'«"> ^here he remained until

sl!X;;^' if*
'""l^'='"n/' *^;^<^ a"eg*d. "a man of skill and under-standing in the practice of midwifery.-'^ He was admitted a PrivilecsdSurgeon at St. tfolme in 1750, and died 15th May, 1753. survived bylSwife whom he had married 14th November, 1747. OneTannot helnwondering if the family of this doctor was not related to the Mrae lSMarre Rne du Faubourg St. Denis, the mge /f.mme to whom somryea«later, Casanova entrusteS the unfortunate Mme. della Croce. and in wh^

vRt^^-'^M
'"" "" "'•' °"*°^'' "''^- f" M^-noires de oJ;L.^v2!^

=' Horace Walpole's statement that "the principal evidence for theDouglas was convicted of perjury in another ^use in France '*hMb^^
Cou"rf de^^'rw

.
*f >''"p*^««'l. M. Menager. In the Tri^?bef"elSeCourt de Chatclet in Pans, of Jean Francois de Molette, Comte deMorangKSs, who was accused in 1772 of extorting money from a widow

tif^fr
""". M Mpn,„^, ^^ ^^.^ imprisoned for ^rj~^ • but onthe collapse of the case against M. de Morangife and his Stt^ he w«

iJucT^r-S'^UlL "°"^ ^'""""^ ^ '"'''' StorTof'l^Bela
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attendant on the baptiRm, ag well as from an aooideot at
Lady Wigton'a, that a ciroumrtance itated in evidence occurred,
namely, that Lady Jane lost her hope of being again a mother.

In October, 1748, Colonel Steu rt, it wai stated, went to Paris
accompanied by Baron Macelligoi and Mr. John Hay, to see the
younger child there, and returned to Rheims on 11th November,
when he wrote to his eldest son by his first marriage, John
Stouart, that Lady Jane wished him to join them in France
to make the acquaintance of "your brothers." It was alleged
that he repeated his visit to Paris in the spring of 1749, and then
was placed in considerable money difficulties by the sudden with-
drawal by the Duke of Douglas of his sister's (Lady Jane's)
pension. Lady Jane at once begged for assistance from her
uncle. Lord Mark Kerr, but without success, and then applied
to Lord Morton, her old friend, and he at once—happily for
her—sent her £350.

In November, 174!>, on receipt of Lord Mortons loan, they
again, accompanied by Mrs. Hewit, went to Paris to recover
the younger twin, Sholto, and it was then asserted by Archibald
Douglas's opponents that, passing under the name of " Duvern^
de Korgue in Ireland," Colonel Steuart, his wife, and Mrs.
Hewit, who was, according to the story, styled his sister, obtained
the child of Sanry, a tumbler at a fair, and carried him ofif to
Rheims in Noven'ber with them.

After they had returned to Rheims with the child Sholto,
Colonel Steuart, Lady Jane, Mrs. Hewit, the two boy», and
the maids set out tor England on 29th November, arriving
in London in Christmas week (o.s.). Lord Mark Kerr at
once visited his niece, though on rather indifferent terms
with her, and asked her to dine with him on Christmas Day.
Lady Jane and her family lodged at Mr. John Murray's, in

St. James's Place, and then in Chelsea until August, 1752, but
Colonel Steuart was from debt confined very soon to the Rules
of the King's Bench prison, and affectionate letters, which
always mention their children, and express anxiety for their
welfare, constantly p.issed between husband and wife. 22 The

=« It was the collected edition of these letters, all of theni pathetic and
avmpathetic, which converted many people, inoludiiij; Tbomaa Carlyle to
the behef that " the Douglas Claimant '" was really the son of Ladv .lane
Douglas. [•' Frances Lady Douglas," Blackwood's Maiazme, Oat iberl 1908 1
They are given in Appendix IIL '
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Duke of Douglas, however, did not feel that the nowi of their
birth had brouRht him nearer to his sister. Lord Mark
Kerr, hia uncle, wrote that he called her children " in a jocular
way Pretenders," and there is no doubt that later he and thoM
about him discredited the story of their birth altogether.

Lady Jane received reports that her children's birth was dis-

believed in 1750, and desiring to disperse "these rising

calumnies," wrote, not to Madame Le Brune or M. Pier La
Marre, but to Madame Tewis, their friend at Aix-la-Chapelle,

desiring her to certify what she knew about her pregnancy
there. Madame Tewis, along with two other persons,
made a declaration, in answer to this request, on 5th August,
1750, but it did not reach England until after Lady
Jane's death. On 15th May, 1750, Lady Jane, now in great
straits for want of money, in a letter to Mr. Pelham,
desired him to procure some mark of His Majesty's bounty on
the ground of necessity

—
" I am destitute, presumptive heiress

of a great estate," she wrote, " with two children. I want
bread." This touching appeal was successful, and Mr. Pelham
was able, on 3rd August, to inform her hat King George IL
had granted her a pension of £300 a year. She waa presented
at Court to the Prince and Princess of Wales, the Duke of

Cumberland, and the Princess Amelia, and, being now out of

wanti went a little into society. The Countess of Home, Lady
Tyrawley, and Lady Irvine paid her much attention, and at the
house of Lady Tyrawley she met the beautiful Miss Gunnings,
one of whom wa« soon to become Duchesa of Hamilton and
mother of the opponent of her acknowledged son, Archibald
Douglas.

In 1751 her friend the Countess of Wigton returned to
England, and, in deference to her representations, the younger
child Sholto was re-baptised at her house at Hampstead by,

thia time, the Rev. Mr. Colvil, a Presbyterian minister, for

Lady Jane stated now that she considered the difference
between the Churches merely formal. On Uth May, 1752,

Lady Jane was sent a letter from Mrs. Carse in Scotland
informing her that Mr. Archibald Stuart, the Duke of Douglas's
agent, had gone to Douglas Castle with five clerks, " he having
a great deal of business there," and that Mrs. Stuart, his wife,

when asked how the Douglas family and name could soon,
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as waa reported, become eitiiict, when Lady Jane had two fine

•ona, "Ha," says she, "they'll never be owned by hia Grace;
and all that'* ponHible to be done against her and hera will

ioon be put in execution." Lady Jane, on hearing this inten-
t on of her brother, at once decided to go to Scotland, and waa
oonfiruied in this by a letter from her friend, Lady Katherine
Wemyss, to whom, as we have seen, she had originally denied
her mar .age, which said, " I certainly don't think, were you in

our country, his Gmce could stand out long; his dear little

nephews would plead your excuse."

Lady Jane, accompanied by the two children, Mrs. Hewit,
and Isabel Walker, set out for Scotland in the beginning of

August. She arrived in Edinburgh on the 17th, and stayed

with the Hon. Mrs. Maitland in Bishop's Land, "at
a pretty easy rate, it being the vacance,"23 until

the middle of October, when she removed to Hope Park,
" out of the smoke of the town." She saw Mr. William Loch,
who had for long looked after her business affairs, and he had
an account of the children's birth from her, and she also

interviewed Lord Prestongrange, who is reported to have told

her that if she and Mr. Steuart acknowledged the children

there was no further proof necjssary. and that, if any person
challenged their birth, it behoved them to prove that they
were not Lady Jane's children. On the 19th of October she

again wrote a touching letter of appeal to the Duke of Douglas,
but without any result.

On the 16th November Lady Jane attended, taking with
her the two children, an assembly in honour of the King's
birthday. She wrote, " I cannot really express the warm and
kind reception we met with from the whole assembly, which
waa extremely crowded. Archy and Sholto behaved to a
wonder, and were caressed beyond measure." On the other
hand she had several unpleasant experiences. The Duchess
of Hamilton refused to see her on account of the Duke of

Douglas's enmity to his sister. Lady Stair visited Lady
Jane, who had a conversation with her about the birth of her
children, which she said should have been in " a royal manner,"
and she is said to have talked to Mrs. Menzies, who afterwards

» Praser's Red Book of GrandtuUy, i. cxcii.
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•tated that Lady Jane knew that her broth ^ had called the
ohildrec "nunnery children," but that ihe had in her pocket
"a letter from the physician who had laid her."
Lady Jane, taking Jiabel Walker and two other iervant«

with her, mado a final attempt to aee her brother and loftM
his heart by a personal appeal by prcMUting the children
before him. They went to Douglas Castle and deaired the
Duke to be apprised that they were there. The butler took
the meaaage, and while the Duke was deliberating what to do,
hia favourite, White of Stockbriggs, gave ordera that they were
not to have access. The Duke afterwards regretfully asked
the butler if he had seen the children, and he said he had
carried them both in hig arms, and that " the eldest waa black,
and the youngest, Sholto, waa aa like Lady Jane at ever child
waa like a mother," and this likeness was very generally
noticed by many witnesses.a* Leaving her children in Edin-
burgh, ahe, hearing that her pension might be stopped, pre-
sumably on the gr-imd of fraud, set off to liondon on the
17th of April, and before she got there had a fresh grief
by hearing of the illness and death of the younger child,

Sholto, from whom she had just parted. Her grief at the loss

waa very great and real, and, in spite of everything, she
notified the event to the Duke of Douglas. Lady Jane never
•eems to have got over this sorrow, which greatly affected

her health, and as soon as she could she returned to Scotland,
where she had left Archibald Douglas. Rapidly failing in
health, she made her will on 12th November, made a final

appeal to the Duke of Douglas, received the sacrament in the
Preflbyterian form in New Greyfriars' Church, though in great
weakness, and, acknowledging Archibald as her child, died on
22nd November, 1753. She was buried quietly, at her brother's

expense, at Holyrood beside her mother in the Belhaven tomb
there, and the child was prevented by the Duke of Douglas
from being present at the funeral of the lady whom he knew as
his mother. Though remaining with Mrs. Hewit at first, he
was adopted by Lady Jane's old friend, Lady Schaw,25 and

"Journal of Lady Mary Coke, iii. 23 (privately printed 1892).

«*r«'""^t"'.*ii*''j''*/'' °J
^'"^ ^"='' I>alryniple of North Berwick, born

6th March, 1683, died 8th October, 1757: marrie<l 1700 Sir John Sohaw
of Greenock, Bart.
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carefullj tended by her for Lady Jane'a sake until ihe died

in 1757, Colonel Steuart being iitill in diitreaaed circumatanceii

On Lady Scbaw'i death, her grandaon, the Karl of Cathcart,

took young Dougia* under hia care, and thia waa at a time when
he had no hope of the Douglai auceeiaion, an, in 1754, the Duke
of Oouglai aettied hia vait eatatea upon his heir male, the Duke
of Hamilton, and enlarged thia aettlement in 1757.

In the yeura 1758 and 1769 two event* happened which made
a great charge in the fortune* of Archibald Douglai. The
Duke of Douglaa, to long unmarried, unexpectedly married in

the former year Miw Margaret Douglaa of Maina, a ei-dnxinte

beauty and a woman of great force of character, who at once
began to turn the Duke'i attention to the deairability of

inquiring into the truth of the birth of Lady Jane'* aon. In
1759, nuirfover. Colonel Steuart, by the death of his brother,

beciim© Sir John Steuart of Grandtully, Bart.* Hii first act

of administration of thia newly acquired ettate wa* to grant
a bond of provision for 50,000 merks to Archibald Douglaa,
nominatim as his aon by Lady Jane Douglas, and he was
with difficulty prevailed upon not to increase it whether
his eatate could support the burden or no ; and it must be
pointed out here that there woe never any attempt on the part
of the Grandtully family to plead or deny that Archibald
Douglas waa not Sir John'a younger son, though as such he was
one of the next heirs of entail to that eatate, a* well aa one
of the possible heirs to the baronetcy.

What followed is soon told. The Duchea* of Douglaa's

ceaaelesB endeavours and constant friendship for Archibald

Douglaa wrought (though for a time it caused between the
Duke and Duchess a temporary separation) a complete change
in the Duke'a attitude. In 1759 the Duke made a poat-

nuptial contract of marriage, where the remainder of his estate,

fftilinp the heirs of his body, waa to his own nearest heirs. On
6th January, 1760, he revoked the settlement in favour of the
Duke of Hamilton. On the 11th July, 1761, he executed a
deed in favour of the heirs male of his body, whom failing

to the heirs of the body of his father, whom failing to Lord

-••He died in .Tune. 1764. haviiic married thirdlv, jn 17«1, th* Hon.
Helen Murray, fifth daughter of Alexander, Lord MUbank, who rarvived
him forty-five years.
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DouglM HamiltoD, and bj a separate deed named «• hia heir
" Archibald Oouglaa Stewart, a minor and ton of the deceased

Lady Jane DougUu," hia aiiter, and appointed aa hii tutors

the Ouchesa of Douglus, Charlci* Duke of Queenaberry, and
others. The Duke himself died on '.'lit July, 1761, ten daya

afterwards, and it waH in the following September, 1761, that

Arohibnid DouglaK or Steunrt^^ was served heir to him, as his

nephew, with the legal results we have already narrated.

" Archibttld DouglM, the Nuocenful litigant, bore hU goo<l fortune with
the wnie iHiuaniniity with which he ha<l home hi* InwI luck, ami gsined
univertal eateem. He married tirHt, Kith June, 1771, Lady Lucy Oraham,
only daughter of William, second Duke of Montrose, who died 13th
February, 17H0. Ho married Recondly, I.^th May, 17H3, Lady Frances
8jott, nister of Henry, Duke of Huccleuch and Queeuiberry, who died in

May, IHI". He was on 9th July, I7P*), created a Kritiih peer, with the
title of Lord Douglas of DougUx, and died 2eth December, 1827- His
eldeHt daughter, Jane Margaret Douglas, married in IM(>( Henry James,
Lord Montagu uf lioughton, and it wai« to hur daughter Lucy Eliiabeth,
Countess of Home, and her representative, the present Elarl of Home,
that the Douglas estates descended, their right having been established by
the final decisioi> of the House of Tx>rds in " The Douglas Cause."

^
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Judgments in the Douglas Cause pronounced by
the Court of Session of Scotland.

'

Tuesday, 7th July, I7<56.

The Lord PKBaiDBNT2_Since it may happen, my Lords, that Low!
this great cause may, by a division of your Lordships, come to

''^"'•*

my casting vote, I think it proper now to give you my opinion,
and to lay before you fully the reasons of it. In order to
bring the case distinctly before your Lordships, I shall first
state the principles upon which the decision will proceed ; and
these are contained in the 38th page of the defendant's
memorial, and which is there exprest in the following words :—
" The memorialist does not pretend to set up the acknowledg-
ment of parents .3 of itself a probatio probata of filiation, nor
IS there the least occasion to do so in the present case; but he
contends that a proof of such acknowledgment, or even of habite
and repute, is good presumptive evidence, and suflScient ground
for a jury to serve him

. Such service may indeed be chaUenged
upon evidence offered, that the child is supposititious; but so
long as dear and undeniable evidence is not brought of the
challenge, the verdict and prwf on which it proceeded will
stand in full force."

In considering this great cause. I must notice that there aretwo kinds of evidence; 1st, direct or demonstrative, which
excludes the pos»ibility of the case being otherwise than it is
represented by that evidence; 2nd, circumstantiate or moral
evidence, which is all that we can expect in such cases as this
before us; and therefore I lay it down as a rule to take the
evidence without enquiring into the bare possibility of the
thing being otherwise. The simple fact before us resolves into
this question Is the defendant the son of Lady Jane Douglas or
not! And I am sorry to say it, that my opinion in this gr«at
«u«e, after the utmost pains and attention which I could bestow,

1787 '^
Dnnda, of Amuton. bon. 1713: Lord Pr«iident, 176..; died
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Pmldtnt" °'*"'y againrt the defeudant; and that by the evidence
brought, I am fully and clearly convinced, that he it not the aon
of Lady Jane Douglas. If the story shall be involved and
attended with concealment and mystery, and the tale told by the
parties neither consistent nor uniform, this should awaken the
attention of judges, and lead us to weigh the whole of these
oircumstanoee in the balance of justice, which I'm afraid in the
present case will weigh down this defendant. Let us only
consider the conduct of Lady Jane and Sir John, and see whethw
Mm will quadrate with the notion of a real birth, or a design
of imposture. It is clear to me that their conduct is, upon
the supposition of a true birth, improbable to the last degree.
We see Lady Jane when very far advanced in her pregnancy,
undertaking a long, tedious, and fatiguing journey, and at the
same time concealing from the generality of her acquaintancet
the object of that journey, though it appears that s me of her
friends, such as Mr. Hepburn of Keith, knew that Paris was the
real place of destination ; and yet notwithstanding this, we see
her lingering away her time at a most critical period, for a
delicate lady with child, at Liige, Sedan, and Rheims. There
is a strange inconsistency in the story of the pregnancy from
first to last. Why not discover it in a more solemn manner to
her friends? Why ostentatiously tell it to one, when with art
she concealed it from another? Why was the marriage and
pregnancy so purposely kept concealed? and why was she
ashamed to disclose it to all the world? Or if she was near
the time of htr delivery when at Rheims, why did she not lay
in there, where she could have so able assistance? or why, if

she had resolved to leave Rheims and to go to Paris, did they
leave their two maidservants, Isabel Walker and Effie Caw,
behind them at Rheims? By way of excuse for their leaving
Rheims, where they might have had the best assistance, Mrs.
Hewit has told us the wonderful story of a lady (whom she
would have us believe was Mrs. Andrieui, though it is clear it
was not she) giving Lady Jane the advice to leave Rheims on
account of the unskilful practitioners there; and this story,
according to Mrs. Hewit, was told Lady Jane about the 6th of
June, and yet she does not leave Rheims till the 2nd July. And
as an excuse for leaving the servant maids at Rheims, the same
witness has told us that they had no money to carry them to
Paris, though it is clear they might have been transported
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thither for the paltry expense of twelve ahiUingi. But if their Lord
ojoney waa run short at Rheimi, and Parii was the place of

''***«^

their destination, why linger at Rheims. and be spending their
laat shilling in a place where, if the critical hour overtook her,
she might have been in so great distress for want of able
assistance I I beg leave to observe another thing here, which
IS, that Mrs. Hewit has told us that when they got to Paris they
were run to their last guinea, whereas this is positively proved
to be false by the letter of credit given them by Messrs. Khar
and company, at Aiz-la-Chapelle, upon Messrs. Paniers bankers
in Pans, for 1979 livres. and which letter of credit was payable
either at Rheims or Paris, or any where else, when they should
please to draw for it. Here it is worthy of remark that both
Sir John and Mrs. Hewit have said tliat they got this money
only upon the 10th July, the very day of the pretended birthNo mention at all of this at Gcdefroi's ; but if we consider the
reason of fixing upon this special day and saying that the moneywas paid, when in Le Brune's, we shall find the falsehood
necessary to carry on the story. I have said there were con-
cealments and mystery in this aflfair from first to last; and Imust now recaU your Lordships' attention to a train of this kindon the part of Sir John and of Lady Jane, both when at Rheims
and at Pans. It was amazing, that when at Rheims, and when
the pregnancy was by their account so much advanced, that a
delivery next day would have been no surprise, that they should
have concealed the whole affair from Mr. Mallifer and his
family persons of high rank and character, and who seem tohave shown great respect towards them, anj revealed it to somany other... When an Abb6 Hibert is daily walking with
her, and by a. es let into the secret, why waa the same degree
of confidence n^. shown to Mr. Mallifer and his family, fromwhom they were to have letters recommendatory to Paris?Why not acquaint Mr. Mallifer of the real design in going toParisf at least, why giv. him a false pretence for their ioinl toPans, which IS clear from Mr. Mallifer's letter to Mons. Gode-

thl' o V r l^';"'""''
"'^'""" ^^*- ^^''"•'^r ^commendsthem to Mons. Godefroi as Soots people of quality "going toPans to buy tkrngs"; and therein begs of him the fSouf totake care that they be not iujposed upon.

When they arrive at Paris, the same concealment and mysterrruns through the whole of their conduct. Does Sir JohnS
4i
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Stewart or for the Chevalier Johnston. Mr.. Hewit'. oou.ingermanf No: He keep. him«.lf entirel^r free of the haZ

"a riefr r "'^'•*' '""'^ °'"^^ '"''" '^"'^ ««>" ^^ "-^Of a friend. Thi. i. a strong circumstance indeed, and i. notat all redargued by any thing the defendant ha. said upon ^e
i^^U nT 7""f^ "•'"" "' ^°""'^«^ S'*- Jo''° Sleuarf«rema kablo fondness for h.s countrymen. Even after the 10th

of July, when their second child was, according to their account
left at nurse with a woman whom they knew nothing about

acknowledge they did not know where to find; would they not
at least have told the Chevalier Johnston of this! And before
they entrusted their sickly tender child into the hands of
absolute strangers, would they not have instructed him to «,and see It, or at least to have an eye upon the management hewas to be under? When to all this I join, that all the letter,
wrote at that time by them from Paris to Britain, and else-
where, are falsely dated from Rheims, and have a direct ten-
dency to make every mortal believe they were then at Rheims,
what conclusion can I possibly draw but that a story w unfairly
told cannot be connected with truth? Indeed the falsehood
appears so glaring, that it at once lays the foundation for its
own detection. I have, in what I have said formerly, chosen
to dwell mostly upon the proofs arising from the m getti^, or
conduct of the parties themselves; because I must own, that
I do not rest very much upon many parts of the parole evidencem this cause, either upon the one side or other. I go on there-
fore to observe Hir John Steuart's own accounts of the matter,
and the falsehoods and forgeries practised by him in order togam belief to his story. Leaving the story of Pierre La Marre
to be talkefl of afterwards, the first account given by Sir
John Steuart of this matter, was in a note written by
his own hand to Lady Schaw in the year 1756, wherein he
expressly avers the delivery to have happened in the house of
Madame Michelle, and at the same time Mrs. Hewit writes the
Duke of Douglas a letter, expressly fixing ujion the same house
as the scene of the birth. There was then no mention of a
Le Brune's, and indeed this was never the house pitched on till
after they both knew, that upon much enquiry bv Sir James
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Stow»rt and Principal Gordon, the houae of Madame MioheUe Lord
had been found out, and that no delivery had happened there

**•"•*
Then and no aooner was it, that Sir John Steuart altera hia
tone, writes a aecond note, tranaferring the scene to Le Brune'a
in the Fauxbourg, and rearing up there the aame number of
persona as were said to have been present when the delivery
was awred to have been in Michelle'a; and in thia atory doet
Mra. Hewit afterwards join with Sir John. Here oome in
properly the famous four forged letters from Pierre La Marre,
which appeared first to me upon Sir John Steuart's judicial
declaration before your Lordships : it will be remembered, that
It was upon cross-questioning him, that the improbable account
which he there gives of these letters, led to the full discovery
of the forgery. But why forge letters to support the truth?
Could not U Marre himself be got? or might not certificatea
from him have been easily obtained 7 But, says the defendant
though I plead the acknowledgment of my parents as the legal
presumption of my birth, yet I do not adhere to the circum-
atantiate account given of that birth by my parents. Strange
indeed I that the acknowledgment of the parents should be
pleaded by the son, and yet that that son should tell the Court
that his father had averred falsehoods. It is indeed no wonder
that the defendant should endeavour to shake himself loose of
this declaration, because it is no doubt the foundation of the
strongest parts of the evidence against him. In this, however,
he hand of Providence remarkably appears, ever watchful over
the intereats of truth, and discovering the train of falsehoods by
means of those very persons who at first invented them. Who
but the parent could be examined in this cause upon the par-
ticulars concerning the birth itself! Who knew any thinB of
the matter but Sir John and Mrs. Hewit only? For the many
falsehoods contained in Sir John's declaration, and more par-
ticularly for the story told by him of Pierre La Marre. which isproved to be utterly false in every single instance, the failureof memory upon the part of Sir John, as is alleged, is by nomeans a sufficient excuse; for Sir John is exact and pointed in

udM?l' ' 'r"°''
"*"" P""" ~"^d °«* be taken byjudge, than were taken with him upon that occasion : Not only

STr^h. fi f ?i'^' ^" ""*"" "^^ '° ^"ti"&. but evenafter the first day's examination, when he had igned the
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lert declaration ao far aa emitted, we then allowed him to retract

any thing in which he had been mistaken, but he ueyet once
retracted either aa to the cauae of hia acquaintance with La
Marre, or hia being a Walloon, or indeed aa to any other of the

particulara of that long atory told concerning La Marre.

Leaving here Sir John'a declaration, I proceed now to oon-

aider Lady Jane's account of the matter, which she gave to the

late Countesa of Stair. It ia true, the Countesa herself being

dead, we can have no other proof of thia account given by Lady
Jane, but what ia contained in the oath of the Hon. Mra.

Primrose, the Countess's own daughter, who haa expressly told

us tlie whole conversation as it was related to her by her mother
the Countess of Stair herself. We have no reason therefore

to doubt this evidence, when we consider the sensible and
prudent behaviour of the Counteas of Stair upon all occasions,

which would naturally lead her to talk with Lady Jane of the

extraordinary story of the birth. What then appears upon
the oath of Miss Primrose? Lady Jane giving as a reason for

her not coming to Britain to be delivered of these children.

That she was sick at sea, and that that might have endangered
both her life and that of the children she was pregnant with

:

Giving as a reason for the extraordinary step of leaving Rheima,
where she could have had such able assistance, the very wonder-
ful story about the unknown lady, who gave her advice to do ao,

on account of the danger of her being abused by the unskilful-

ness of the practitioners there. And when Lady Stair with
great propriety noticed to Lady Jane the air of concealment,

and of mystery attending the delivery at Paris : and that all

things considered, her delivery should have rather been in a

royal manner ; what excuse does Lady Jane make to Lady
Stair? Says she, that was not possible for me to do, because

I was not in Paris above half an hour or an hotir before the

delivery happened. What can be a more false account of the

matter than this? And to what can we attribute the answer
given by Lady Jane, but that she was suddenly struck with
the propriety of the observation made by the Countess of Stair

as to her delivery, being so concealed and mysterious, and that

it should rather have been after the royal manner. In which
last observation, I suppose, the Countess of Stair alluded to the
famed story of Conatantia, wife to Henry the Second, who hear-
ing that there were suspicions propagated, as if she intended to
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procure a faUe birth, caused erect a royal t<mt in the midit of

thhT^ r'*n.'" *^ P'""' *' ^*^^"«'' »°d ^" there
publicly deliTered of her child.

I come now to another particular of the conduct of Sir John^teuart and Lady Jane, and that i« their never doing any thine
to prove the b.rth, after they were acquainted of the doubtB and•uspicons which were entertained concerning it

Hewit" Th";*i ^T !f
\°'*^ °' ^''*"' ^"'^''^^ »°""'> t° Mr..

tht^' . ^T''
^^"^ '"P°'*» "* " ^^^y ««''y P«"od. about

J^rof"[h H^^'^"''^'•
'^ '^^^'^^'^ *^« lett;r acqulimingh.m of the birth

; and it appears also from clear and undoubtedevidence That Lady Jane and Sir John were very ^r^acquain ed o these disadvantageous reports. Upon l«ing w
people to have produced a proof, in order to vindicate their

^Zf'STr "'' ^'" "^^^^«* °' *'-'^ «=^^"dren; but wh"tproo d.d hey ever produce? Four forged letter
. and MrsHewa s oath, which I believe to be false. Variou pretenc^have been used or their not getting these necessary proof^Lady Jane thought herself affronted, and her honour attacl^True, .t may be s<^But why not, then, do son.ething to d^'e^that honour and to ascertain without doubt thf birth ofher children for whom she had so great regard? Why waa Madame Tew.s applied to, to prove the preg'nancy, when'tr:;had at P..ns a P.e.ro La Marre who was the man-midwife anJa Mndame Le Brune. and her daughter who were both witneLesto this alleged dehveryf Or if they wanted fullv to ascerta^the pregnancy by the best evidence that could be expected why

\i' h C :/?, ^''^^''r%'^---
-5^0 -s their first fand^dy atA x-,,.Chapole. an.l whose house they left as earlv as the

?:;j;ttn;:i\SyC:-r^^
than they possibly could have been to MadameW ''

l-ut. then, all these circumstances in the conduct of ih.

not true? But yet, what I have hitherto said by itself «no sufficient to prove the reasons of reduction,' f7r t 'thedefendant may allege. That it i, possible, tbat he mi^ht hlJe
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IfiSntiit
**"*" *^''° '" *''• '*°"'® °' •» Madame Le Brune upon the 10th
July 1748. No doubt it it still powible, but then the auppoiition
of the defendant ia unsupported by any evidence whatevw, and
ia also fully contradicted and redargued by the plaintifla.
However, we shall proceed to examine thia matter more
accurately

; and in the first place, consider the proof brought
as to the hou$e. And upon this point, I am clear, That the
defendant has not only failed in proving the existence of the
Madame Le Brune, in whose house the delivery is said to have
happened, but that the plaintiffs have brought sufficient evi-
dence of the abaolute non-existence of such a person. There
is indeed one of that name discovered, who waa a Gard*
Malade, or sick nurse, but does this person in the least anawer
the precise and pointed description given of their Madame
Le Brune, both by Sir John Steuart and Mrs. Hewitt not to
aay that it is highly incredible, That a Lady of Lady Jane'a
high rank should, after having come to Paris to be delivered,
take up her residence in so wretched an apartment aa those of
the Garde Malade's, when it is in proof they had money enough
to hire more respectable lodgings. But, besides all, there ia
another sufficient reason to prevent the application of this
Le Brune, who waa the Garde Malade, to the present question,
and that is, that this woman herself was only a lodger, in the
house of one Madame Travers. Sir John has said. That the
Madame Le Brune, in whose house the delivery happened,
was recommended to him by Mons. Godefroi, whereas God^roi
absolutely denies that he ever gave such a recommendation.
Sir John has also said. That she was recommended to them by
La Marre ; but this is incredible, because it is acknowledged
by Sir John himself, That he never saw Pierre La Marre at the
house of Madame Le Brune till the day of the delivery.

I come now to another material particular in thia cauae>

and that is, the very suspicious appearance of Sir John
Steuart and Lady Jane at the time of their going to the Hotel

D'Anjou kept by Madame Michelle. When they come there,

which, according to Mrs. Hewit's first account, waa upon the
9th day after the delivery in Le Bruno's, they appear there

without either nurse or child ; and what follows? they are to
go next day to the country to bring in their child ; accordingly

they do go to the country, and return again with a child and
a nurse, the child almost starved to death for want of milk»
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uddraly picked up upon the itreeU of Pari., upon .ome
^'^

wnergencj when hurry and coufuaion would not allow themtune to get a better one. In Jiort. I would try to find one
unauapicioui circumatance, but cannot. The time of the

Jv's!7A '^.'°»*^*J°*'''"''- "•'••*»»• letter, wrote
by Sir John and Mra. Hew.t. and dated the 10th and 11th
or July, without making any mention of the delivery at aU.

^JZ^XV^ ^ considered. And whatever n.ay be the
effect of the defendant, arguiuenta a. to the reet of them yet
It .tand. acknowledged, That there wa, one of tho.e actually
wrote upon the tenth. And if we can fix one to be of that
date, how ,8 u po88ible to imagine, That this ghould have taken
no notice of the delivery, or at lea.t of the approaching de-
livery when by Mr.. Hewit'. account. Lady Jane had been ill
the whole night before the delivery? When to this circum-
ttance of the letters, we add the different accounU given by
Mr.. Hewit about the time between the delivery and their
removal from Le Brune'.; when we see her contradicting her-
wlf upon thi. particular; when we find her .wearing .olemnly
repeated time.. That it wa« upon the ninth dav after the
delivery, that they removed from Le Brune's; and afterwards
in her letter to Mr. Harper, the minister, correcting thia, and
fixing the sixth day after the birth, as the time of removal
from Le Brune's to Michelle's, can we think all this conduct
consistent with the truth? But still, .ays the defendant, in
•pite of the evidence now produced, the delivery may be true
a. It IS set forth to have happened ; as there U no piece of
evidence which directly exclude, the possibility of it. havingM happened. But in my opinion there is such evidence pro-
duoed by the plaintiffs; and what I mean is Godefroi's books,
confirmed by the united testimony of him and hi. wife The
books themselves, in my opinion, remain liable to no solid
objection, and deserving the greatest credit. But when to thi.we add their oaths, in which there appears no suspicion of
perjury and in which they .et forth so .trong a cauw of
remembrance as Mo„s. Mallifer's letter, recommending them
to their house, can we possibly believe that all thi. i, a mis-
take! If we do so, it is supposing every thing on one side,
against clear and convincing evidence brought upon the other
•ide. I told you before, that I reserved the evidence a. to
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the wntence of the Piwre La Marre, to b« Ulked of afterward*
I will notice that now. and I muat wy, That it waa the evidence
brought by the defencl.uit. that haa aatiafit>d me to be of
opinion. That the atory of Pierre La Marrea being the accoucheur
la a mere fiction. For wJwt i« the deaign of tlie defendant'a
evidence upon this headt is it not to redargue that of Sir John
Steunrt, which Ih juat in ».. nuuiy wonla tellir ; your Lordshipa.
That you are not to believe hia accounta of La Murre, but that
the defendant haa now found out another La Murre. Aa to
the oath of Menager, wherein he relutea a converaation with
La Marre. of hia (La Marrei) having delivered a foreign lady
of twina, whatever truth be in it. it cannot suit with the
account of Lady Jane Douglaa'a delivery. In point of time.

hJ'
''''"''^ '""* **""' *° ***" '**''^*''y' »>"* >• fi«cd to haT»

been m 1747. Thia circuuiatance appears m, convincing
upon this point, that there is no need to bring out any other
circuDistancea, of which there are many. Having now rua
through most of the capital points in this great cause, I ahaU
H>eak a little of the enlevement of Mignon and Sanry'a children.
The first of theae certainly happened very oddly, at the very
time when Sir John and Lady Jane are able to give no account
of themaelvea, and when they appeared at the house of Michelle.
under such suspicious circumstances aa I have formerly noticed
The whole story told by Sir John Steuart and Mrs. Hewit.
about the manner of their going out to bring their first child
to Michelle's, is inconsistent, contradictory, and suspicioua
throughout. Will they only give a reason why they did not
go to Mons. Godefroi'a upon their return to Paris in 1741),
in order to bring away their second child: or can theyw much aa tell us where they were in Paria during the tim»
they were searching after their aecond child t No—They
cannot tell where they lodged, it wa« somewhere or other in
Pans, but of that place, or street, or house, they can give no
•ort of description. At this very critical period, waa the
child of Sanry stole from its parents, under a false pretencef
And the foreigners, who so took the child, told its parents they
would hear of them at the inn called Croix de Fer. I do not
•ay, that the plaintiffs have brought the fact of the Enleve-
ments directly Iwme to Sir John and Lady Jane ; I only say,
that alongst with such a concatenation of other circunmtancea
they have considerable weight upon my mind
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Tb«M ar« th« nu'-' -M things upon which I ground my Iwtf
opinion, and I thar include with a few general obMrra-

"*••*•»

tiona upon thii cause, .^ 1 think the conduct of both partiea
in their management of the cause has been blameleM. As
to the cry about the plaintiffa changing their ground, and
resorting to the evidence of Mons. Godefroi's books, after th^
had founded on Michellos, I think it nothing to tho purpose.
3dly, I have given all the weight to the tracUtua parentum.
pleaded for by the defendant, which I think it deserves.
3dly. Though I do not choose to enter upon the motives that
might induce Lady Jane and Sir John to commit this crim*.
yet I cannot but observe. That thoir professed view seems to
have been, by means of false children, to get possession of the
ertate of Douglas

; a great part of which, it is clear, Udy
Jane thought would at any rate descend to her and her children.
4thly, As to the death-bed declarations, upon which so much
weight has been laid by this defendant, I am old enough to
have seen, That where persons have once committed desperat*
crunes, they too often carry them on even to death : perhaps
hoping for that mercy from their Maker, which the enormity
of their crimes would not aUow them to receive here. Sthly,
As to the pregnancy, I do not think the proof brought in sup-
port of this by the defendant, sufficient to balance the whol*
of the other proofs brought by the plaintiffs.
Upon the whole, I am clear far imtaining the reatont of

reduction. '

Immediately after the Lord President had finirfied his speech.
It was agreed by their Lordships, That they should deliver
their opinions according to seniority, and therefore Lord
Htnchen, the senior judge, was called upon' to give his
opinion. "

Lord STR.ci«.N'_The proof of the prepnancy strikes me so ^M ,«,^•trongly ,n this cause, that I own I cannot get over it And
more particularly. I lay a great deal of weight upon the Earl
of Crawford's letter to the Duke of Douglas upon thie subject.
I cannot but think that pregnancy may be proved, so a» to
infer an absolute certainty of the fact. We know the seasons
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Urd Striehtn of the weather by general obgervation. and why may not the
advancement of pregnancy be ascertained by similar obwrva-
tion I I see It proved beyond controversy. That Lady Jane
gradually encreased in her size: Isabel Walker depones to this
so explicitly, and I believe with so much honesty, that I own
It IS a thing I cannot get over. If then pregnant, it is clear,
that she must have been delivered, or else have had either
a miscarriage or an abortion which, if so. it was undoubtedly
incumbent on the plaintiffs to prove it, a. the pregnancy once
fully ascertained, lays the presumption for a full birth. This
being the case, I cannot think that the defendant U bound to
prove his own birth. This must rest upon the acknowledg-
ment of his parents, and upon their uniform tractatut or
treatment of him as their son. It is incumbent upon the
plaintiffs to disprove the birth by clear and positive evidence:
and none such, in my opinion, have they been able to bring
On the contrary, the defendant, besides the direct and positive
testimony of one witness, has brought an incredible weight
of circumstances corroborative of the truth of his birth If
to this we add, that the whole story of imposture as set forth
by the plaintiffs is highly improbable, we shall soon find the
balance incline to the defendant. Let us examine this story of
the plaintiffs, and see if they have probability on the side of
their hypothesis. Was it credible, that when Lady Jane and
b.r John were so poor, that it is proved they could scarcely
maintain themselves, they should burden themselves with the
danger of so much guilt; and the more poverty, provide for the
children of other people? Was it credible, that when tme
child might have served the purpose, they would have burdened
themselves with twot or that they should have taken a weakly
tender child to support a stronger one! Is it to be believed,
that after they had got the imposture of the first child accom-
plished, thev would have remained so long in and about Paris,
appearing in public, and exposed to the view of every person
that might be in search of them? or upon leaving Paris, i« it
credible. That they would have gone to Rheims. and remained
there for the space of fifteen months? It was surely much
more natural for them to have left France altogether, after
having committed so great a crime. But. not only do they
remain quietly and peaceably go long at Rheinu, but they
even go back to Paris a second time, to pick up a second
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child; which lecond child, when they did find, corresponded Urd StrWtM
exactly to the account* which they had given of him fifteen
month* before they saw him, or knew any thing about him.
Such is the story is set forth by the plaintiffs ; improbable it
is, surely, to the last degree.

On the other Imnd, the conduct of Sir John Steuart and
Lady Jane Douglas is very consistent with the notion of a true
birth. Much has been said about the false accounts given
by Sir John Steuart, concerning the particulars of this birth;
and the inference drawn from Sir John Steuart's account of
the matter, is, that the defendant is not his son. But I
humbly apprehend, that had Sir John at the time of his
declaration, even acknowledged that the defendant was not
his son, this would not have been sufiicient to have set
him aside, after he had attained the possession of his estate^
in consequence of his own acknowledgment of him as his son.
Upon this point. I refer to the great Lord Stair, who expresses
himself in the following words, Filiation is presumed from
marriage, whereby the children are presumed to be the lawful
children of those who are proved to have been married;
which IS yet more pregnant and favourable on the part of the
children, to give them the right of aliment and succession, and
IS the probation of the marriage betwixt those who are pre-
sumed parents, wliich is so strong a presuraption,2 That the
mother acknowledging another father, than he that is married
to her, wiU not prejudice the children, much less will the
assertion of the father, that the children are not his, though
he condescend upon another to be the true father : Yet if
both the married persons do acknowledge. That the child is not
procreate betwixt them, but by another as father, who should
also acknowledge the same and own the child, it would elude
the presumption; but if both married persons had owned and
treated the child as theirs, the concurring testimonies of all
the three would not prejudice the child in the righU of
mccesaion to his reputed father and mother."
The oonolusioo which we draw from any falsehoods and con-

tradictions, which may appear in Sir John's account of the
matter, is. that the defendant is not his son; but wo see, upon
the above great authority in kw. That had Sir John and Lady

» Lord Suit's Institution, of the Lawi of Scotland. Rx,k t. Tit. 46.
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Jane both owned that he waa not their son, after having treated
him uniformly as such for any length of time, he must,
nevertheless, have been maintained in the possession of his state.

This being the case, I shall make a few observations upon th»
other parts of the proof brought by the plaintiffs, no part of
which, excepting that by Mons. Godefroi's books, and his oath,
is totally inconsistent with the truth of the birth, or excludes
the possibility of it. It is merely of the negative kind, whidi
can seldom redargue direct positive testimony. I apply thia
observation, particularly, to the proof attempted to be brought
of the non-existence of a La Marre and a Le Brune, against
which negative proof, we have the direct and positive testimony
of Sir John Stewart and Mrs. Hewit, That Le Brune's house waa
the place of the delivery, ^e herself one of the witnesses t<y

it, and La Marre the aceovcheur. The defendant has shown
clearly there was a La Marre, an accoucheur in Paris at the
time, and that he delivered a foreign lady of advanced age (A
twins, who (as La Marre said) would be people of great wealth
and rank in their own country; and that the one of them waa
strong and healthy, the other weak and sickly. Taking, then»
all these things together, it is not only possible, but highly
probable, that the whole account given by Sir John Steuart and
Lady Jane Douglas is true. The plaintiffs lay great stress upon
Godefroi's books, together with the oath of him and his wife»
and assert. That they have thereby proved the alib, from the
fourth to the fourteenth July. I must here observe, that we
ought to have had the books themselves produced by the plain-
tiffs, and that the producing a notarial copy of them is not
enough. But, however, let us look into the entries made in
these books, we shall see so many blanks, so much indistinctneta
and inaccuracy, that without believing implicitly in Mons.
Godefroi's memory, we cannot pay regard to them. They have
sworn indeed, positively. That the blank article of the 4th of
July, does relate to Sir John Steuart and his company. But in
this, it appears to me, they are very probably both mistaken.
But, however that be, the proof by their oaths singly supplatorx
of their books, which I see are liable to so much error, will not
be sufficient to set aside the whole evidence, direct and circum-
stantiate, which the defendant has brought in support of hi*
birth.

Much stress has been laid upon an alledged detection ot
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faladiood on the part of Sir John Steuart and Mra. Hewit, in Lord

wying, that thej were in want of money at Paris. It ia true,

that it is in proof, That Sir John Steuart had letters of credit

for « prettj considerable sum, but how do we know that Sir

John had this money free in his pocket after he received it;

Terj probably he had not, as he was a thoughtless dissipated

man; and therefore, the inference drawn from this letter of

credit upon Paris is too strong. That they were in want of

money when in Paris, is positively swore to by both Sir John
and Mrs. Hewit. That it may have been so, I can easily believe.

It will account for very many things in their c<Kiduct, which
may now appear surprising to us.

As to the two Enlevements, neither of them applies to Sir
John Steuart, it is conjecture merdy. Upon the whole, I am
clearly for assoilzing the defendant.

S
i'
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Wednesday, 8th July, 1766.

tort Kmbm Lord KaiibsI—I shall give your Lordships the reasons of my
opinion in this cause as shortly as possible. The first light in
which I view this matter is, Whether, if Mr. Douglas (whom
in this argument I call by that name to distinguish the person)
were now requiring to be served heir to the Duke of Douglas,
we would serve him heir? If this was the state of the question
now, I own I should be much difficulted; as I was exceedingly
struck with the circumstances that were mentioned yester^y
with so much weight from the chair. But the fact is. That Mr.
Douglas is already served heir by a verdict of the jury; and
therefore the question is, if the proofs brought by the plaintilfs

be sufficient to void that verdict, and to turn him out of the
possession of his state, in which he is now so firmly settled? In
my opinion, the proof brought by the plaintiffs is not sufficient
for this purpose, though perhaps it might have been sufficient
to prevent his being served heir at first.

There is one thing which runs through all the proofs in this
cause, and to notice which is very material ; that is, a certain
confusion naturally arising from enquiring into such a number
of facts that have happened at such a distance of time. And
therefore we shaU be very apt to err if we draw strong conse-
quences from facts, which, for the reason I have given, cannot
be oompleatly ascertained. I will give some instances of this
There is evidence brought, That Lady Jane and Sir John Steuart
brought their French servant to the borders of France only and
that they there dropt him.2 This, when it was first alledged,
might be considered as a very strong circumstance to prove a
fraud. Whereas now it comes out clearly, that that servant was
a French deserter, and so dared not enter the kingdom of France.
In this case therefore we should have been mistaken, if we had
drawn the consequence which the fact, as at first set forth,

" See Historical Narrative, p. 28.
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eemed well to bear. I will mention another thing which itriket

me in the lame view. I mean that of Lady Jane'e loitering ao

long upon the road when drawing bo near to the time of her
delivery. Upon the tuppoiition of a true birth, she must have
had her reaeoni for doing to, which perhaps now cannot appear
to us, for the reason which I have mentioned before. On the
other hand, if we suppose an imposture intended, it is clear,

that the sooner they accomplished it the better. And her
loitering so lc«ig upon the road, when she pretended to be so
big with child, oould have no other tendency than to blow up the
whole scheme they had laid. It ia proved, that they left their
maid servants at Rheims, and yet it is said that these maid
servants were accomplices. But taking it. That they were not
accomplices, why not entrust the affair to them, particularly
to Isabel Walker, when since it appears that (upon the supposi-
tion ot an imposture I mean) she has actually perjured herself,

and endangered her soul for the sake of the defendant? So
standing the affair, I want something whereby I can explain
the conduct of the parties consistently with a real birth, and
avoid what appears to me a danger of drawing strong ooose-
quences from facts, which cannot be clearly settled. The proof
which the defendant has brought of Lady Jane's pregnancy, is

just what I wanted. For if one holds this proof to be true, all

the difficulties must vanish. Of the pregnancy, I think, there
is the most oompleat evidence that can be produced. I have
always thought, from the beginning of this cause, that th
stress of it would lie here : and therefore, to do away the proof
of the pregnancy, I expected that the plaintiffs would have
brought a proof of a miscarriage by Lady Jane. But we a-te not
now in so strait a case : the service has ascertained the state
of the defendant, in which he must be continued; and that
service held pro veritate, except the plaintiffs could have brought
direct and positive evidence of the contrary. What always
touched me the most in this cause, was the forged letters. Yet
I own I cannot give this circumstance so much weight as bo
conclude fr<Mn it, that the whole is absolutely false. I am far
from thinking that the evidence of Sir John Steuart was not
good against his son ; but then I can explain the whole of that
evidence ao as to make it not absolutely subversive of the truth
<rf the birth. The foi^gery ot the letters was no doubt an unjusti-
fiable ciroumstance in the conduct of Sir J<An, but then I see
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t«H KaiBM that theie letten were meant as an interim proof lo the Duke
of Doujrlaa only; for it ii clear to me, Uiat ther« waa a La
Marre, and that Sir John did, at some time or other, correapond
with him. The forpery of the letters then was a circumstance of
conduct highly blameable in Sir John Steuart, though I do not
think it was much unlike the Toumelle process, which to me
seems to have been intended by the plaintiffs to stab the
defendant behind his back. To me nothing can appear in a
more odious light than this Toumelle process does, though I do
not say that the gentleman who conducted it had any fraudulent
intention in so doing The plaintiffs' managers seem from the
very beirinning to hare been convinced ot the imposture, and
therefore it would appear that they thought every thing lawful
that would lead to a detection.

A^ehinleek
^'"'^ Acchi.nleckI—I have considerwl the cause with all the

attention in my power, and am not at all surprised that your
Lordships should differ in opinion about it, when I consider the
immensity of the proofs, and the long laboured argument upon
these proofs.

In considering this cause I endeavoured to take care not to
be as it were drawn off at the tangent, and was always willing

to listen to any further evidence that could be got. I was
therefore very glad to have Isabel Walker examined again. To
the questions which I thou-rht material, this witness answered
pointedly and distinctly ; and though she underwent an examinar
tion of two days from the plaintiffs, with the special view, as
appeared, of making her contradict her former evidence, yet,

except in one trifling instance, she kept her temper throughout
the whole, and had to me so strong an appearance of intf;.'rity,

that I do believe that everything she has swore is agreeable to
truth. Before I enter into the cause, I must premise a few
creneral observations. In all questions aliout filiation, sceptical

people may have opportunities of raising abundance of doubta;
as it is possible that wives may be unfaithful, nurses false to
their charge, and that they may both conspire to bring in false

children. Yet, though such things may happen in almost every
IKWsible case, yet the law will determine such questions upon
general principles, requiring a legal certainty in filiation, not

.Mcxandpr Boswell of Aiichinleck, appointed, with the title of Lord
Auchiiileck, 1754 ; died 1782.
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•oertaintf in the abstract. Of this daily instancea occur in this I-o»*

Court. And in the case of alledged bastardy particularly, the
*'**'

law will take ita cour«e, and hold the child to be lawful, except
there bo absolute impossibility of its beinp the child ot the
husband. Indeed, if we had not these rules, every thing would
run into absolute confusion. 1 would ohserre further, that if

a person is aoknowledped by a married couple to be their child,
this is legal evidence of it ; and such a train of acknowledgment
must be held to be a probatio probata or j>ro veritate, till the
contrary be proved by clear and undoubted evidence. The longer
it is before the challenge of such a person's birth iti brought, the
harder it is to get the better of this legal presumption.^ If the
case of Douglas had Ijcen like that of Kinnaird, the argument
from the parents' acknowledgment would not have :ip|.lit'd; but
here there i.s a loni; course of nckn(nvlwli;ment for the space
of many years together, with the warmest aflfection on the part
of Lady Jane; and what was very remarkable, though in very
great poverty, neither Sir John nor her were ever heard to
grudge their giving these children a share of the very little they
had. The defendant must be a .stringer to the circumstances
of his birth, and so cannot be answerable f.vr the conduct of his
managers. It is not in this case as upon a criminal indictment,
where the guilt of the i)risoner may often appear from his
behaviour, from his looks, and from the shape of his defences.

These are the general principle-. ^^!. (!,, njiplie.! t,. this case,
will, in my opinion, direct the deci.sioi. of it. HowLvtr, I must
observe farther, that I could have wi.shed that ^^e could have
had a more full, clear, .iiid s.Uisfying evidence than we have : and
farther, that this process had taken rise at a time when there
were no bye motives to bring it, instead of its lein? Irought
imme<liately alter^ the defeii.lant had defeated Duke Hamilton
in point of law. I own that I cannot get out of my view the
method in which this process was raised and conducted. This
is material, because it will account for many singularities occur-
ring in this cause. Instea.l ot applyintr for an act and com-

In,H A
;».°';d» ai-e here correctly reported, it is .lifficiilt to tlii.,1- thatWd Auchinleck was right in this. The .lecisi.m of the Court of

Archibald DoiKjkiA, was dated 9tli Dtctniber, 1T«L'. The new action

1762. [Historical Introduction, " Narrative of the Cause," p.
j^'

j'^'"'""'**'^'
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^<{^,^,^ -^
miwion from thii Court to bring a proof of the importure, the
pUintifli were pleMed to bring their criminal action before the
parliament of Paris, and procured a monitor d important, which
treats Sir John Steuart and Mrs. Hewit as already convicted of
the supposition of children. And under the word Quidam, makes
the thing as plain as if they had put in the initials of their

names. I did not condemn this process before the Toumelle
because it was unfashionable, but because it was unjust and
oppressive to the last degree; and I think I can give pointed
evidence, that this my opinion was well founded. I shall give
two or three instances which will sufficiently explain what I

mean. In a converiiation betwixt Miss Louisa Hibert at Rheims,
and Mr. Andrew Stuart, it appears, that at first the lady told
him that she observed the pregnancy ; whereas, after the Tour-
nelle process, and the publication of the monitoire, she retracted
this notion, and swore the direct contrary. Another instance
of this appears from the conduct of Fran9ois La Marre, brother
to the famous Pierre La Marre. Mr. d'Anjou, procureur for the
plaintiffs in Paris, in his private memorial says, that Fran9ois
La Marre told him, that his brother Pierre La Marre was
intimate with a Madame Le Brune, and that he had taught her
midwifery. From a second note or jotting of Mr. d'Anjou's, it

appears that the other party had been with Francois La
Marre, and that he told them every thing but the information
of his brother's acquaintance with Le Brune. But after all,

when this Mr. Fran9oi8 La Marre is swore upon our act and
commission, he says he knew nothinpr at all about his brother's

acquaintance with Le Brune. Madame Michelle is another
instance of the miserable bad effects of this Toumelle proceas.

Upon her being first discovered she said. That when Madame
Steuart-Douglas came to her house, she had all the appearance
of a woman recently delivered. In short, if I could believe
the witnesses adduced after the Toumelle process, and the pro-
ceedings upon it, I would fairly acknowledge that the pregnancy
is disproved by these witnesses. Madame Sautry, the mantua-
maker at Hheims, makes strong endeavours to disprove the
pregnancy ; she even measures Lady Jane to make sure work
of it. When we look into the plainte to the parliament of
Paris th^ appear to be satisfied that Lady Jane had every
appearance of pregnancy ; but after the monitoire appeared, the
memories of the witnesses underwent u great alteration, some
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d thwn being very much weakeoed in thii pMticuUr, lAn V
oOxnt were aa much improTed. *'

Haying thui taken a ffeneral view of the proof brought by
the plaintiffa m thi. cau«,, I hare only to add. that I w no
great credit either to the booke ol Police, or to tboee o/th.
Hotel, in Pari,. The pUintiffe at first eet fortfc, that theM
book, were infallibly eure, and liable to no error, or mietakee:
whereaa to me it really appear, to ba a battle of booka betwixt
the reapectiTe hotel,.

Such i, the eTidence upon which we are to determine thia
great oauu. exception romewhat a, to the conduct of partie.. The
proof againet the defendant may be reduced to two general head.,
let, lljing, eiclueiTe of the truth of the birth. ,uch aa LadyJane.^e. letter, of fal,e date., the enlcTement,. non-exLtence
of La Marro and Lo Brune, Ac. And 2dly. The alibi in Hon..
Godefro.

. upon the 10th July. He plaintiff, hare now givenup the pwnt of the age. though it wa. upon that alone that
the .u.p,c.on. fir.t row; but tl»ey «y that Ae had only the

^o^ I /n *° fPP""-"««; "d '">™ aU the ciroum.tance. I am fully convinced it wa. a real pregnancy. If noappearance of pregnancy had app -ared at il.'ien'^he LZmuat have gone clearly againet the defendant. None of Zother crcumatance. which are brought by the plaintiff, ar*. al

alwa^ .n ;
*""''* *^' ""^ "^^ ^'"^''^ of the letter., which

r^oft^l *;
conwquence to thi. defendant, if hi fath^;

n»Te at time, not acted properly neither; for in.tance theTourneUe proce,, and all the con«.,uence. of it. In thrc^;dS^;of which oau,e there i, «>mething that doe, not a little re.TmWeLa Marre'. letter.. Of thi. I ,haU give the followinr.t^^

book of Ifcchelle. lockt up in the ToumeUe, in order, it «,emlthat the defendant might never «e it. Inetead of prtZbg
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jg^„^^l
th« book itaelf, the pUintifft Imts brought m kwg oath ooo-

eerning this book, and mors partiouUrly oonoerning this article

the dato and hand-writing of the entry concerning Mom. Fluratl
and hit family. Tbii gentleman, who depones in a moat pointed
noanner upon hie bare memory aa to the datee and hand-writing

of the articles of this book, is one Ifaitre Duresaeau, a man who
has a great many sounding titlsa, ConmlUr du Roi, and I

know not all what. He depones, That so far as he can

remember, the article which goee before that of Mons. Fluratl

is of a date an\.rior to that of the 8th July; and that he
remembers t4^ have asked of Michelle of whose hand-writing was
the article ot 'ons. Fluratl: And that Michelle answered the
deponent,' Tli. this article was neither of his hand-writing
nor that of his wife's ; and that he presumed it was of the hand-
writing of the person who called himself Fluratl. However, the

plaintiffs having changed their ground as to the alibi, and
transferred it to Mons. Godefroi's; then Michelle's book itself

is produced, though it seems it could not be got before; when,
instead of the dates and hand-writing being as represented by
this officer of the police, it appears clearly that they are both
essentially different. Wliat then can bi said to be the design

of all this? No other surely than to impose upon your Lordships
by representing the alibi to have been at Michelle's. This was
at least a wrong step, as much so perhaps as the fabricating of

the four letters, which may be compared to the j»a fraudes

which were frequent of old, and which happened although the

peot .e that used them were in the main sujiporting a thing that

was right. Yet I do not vindicate Sir John for this step, but

I cannot carry the thing so far as to make it overbalance the

weight of unsuspicious evidence which the defen'^Ant has

produced.

I come now to touch shortly upon the proof of the alihi at

Mons. Godefroi's. In instructing of which I think the plaintiffs

have totally failed, and 1 must continue to think so, except I

can believe that he and his wife have memories superior to

Joseph Scaliger's. They have indeed most unaccountable

memories, according to their own account of the matter; for

they even remember what coat Sir John had on in the year
1748. I am however unwilling to believe them to be perjured.

' Vide Fonuen' Proof, page 887.
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but I Wi.Te th.t they lu«l their memoriet refrwhed by th«mooitoir. M m«y other. ««med to h*T, had their. - i«,«lDy It. They har. been mi.led by their book., * .ch ttnthmk *U Tery «cur«te, tbo' it i. proved to demon.tr*tion th^
'«ble to many error, and ini.take.. And because they hadmarked S.r John Steuart'. name in the livre d-,n»pectrur.

IAk It!, r,
'•^•."P " apprehension that the bUnk artioU

of the 4th of July, m their litre dt dfpen»e, relate, to him and
liady _,!« and Mr.. Hewit.

I
'

n Uw ,hole, my opinion i., that a. the defendant i. now
ti «y,n, ,ete po«, , i .- of hi. e.tate, and a. the eyidence againrt

^
n .8 r ..tn-.r .n. .., jo-j, nor concluiive, that therefore b«

•»i 1 w > be Cjs.'ii /et'

. . tiAi., v _T, iivenng my opinion in this cau.e, I UH

.I'M ..in ovf »:.o V ^le of the argument, .tated upon either

1' '

"-r'
' *" "*''*'' *** ^"^^ '*''° ^'<>«« connected view of the

^'ho
. . .3 q.,e8tir>n n>v before u«. fall, to be determined upon

i>r.,.v,n, f Is,., ., importance not only to thi. country, butto all ...nk-n/ .d of these principle, the fir.t i., that ther^w
•

' •
prooi i,.H:e.Mry to establish filiation. Accident.

hTr'''-^'
"'^".""»^'>'"'J''»''« n>a7 prevent a claimant frombnnjnng d.rect evidence of hi, birth, more especially if the «meU. happened when hi. parent, were travelling abroad in aforeign country. Yea. I will adventure to say, That Tall th!numerou. audience now present, there i. not, perhaps, one in a

'meandtl
*** ^fg compleat legal evidence of'the preci.:time and place, and other circumstance, attending it. For thi.good reason, therefore, it is. That the law ha. required no other

LTthl habT".'
''"'• '"* *'^ -I^-wledgmen^of the parent,and the hab.te and repute consequent upon that acknowledgment

I do not mean to say, that .uch may not be defeated by *

"t f shiT ^"'^ ""Vr P'"''^^' '^ "•'°-''-' '^-^ that,unt I ,t shaJl be redargued by clear and positive proof of the

Ind tieh^h r A
"P*""/*^' -knowledgment of his parent.,and the habite and repute following thereon a. prohatio probata.^;^^^^«n«quence^o^

i«. That the or^uTpr^bandi m^t

Lortat^„~T?5e1S me" '^'''*"""' '^^^'^^ ^'^ »»•« titi. of
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fill whoUj upon the plaintifla in this cauie. I am alio equally
dear, that before the p'aiDtiffa can prevail here, they must
bring «uoh evidence to vcur Lordihipa, as would have been
ufficient to have convicted Sir John, Lady Jane, and Mrs. Hewit
of the capital crime of tuppositio partus; and if Huch •trong'

proofs are necesaary only to balance the legal preaumption for

the birth of the defendant, much stronger must theae proofs
be, where there is both a direct and a circumstantiate proof
of the birth, as is the case here. I shall consider first the j>not
so brought by thia defendant, and then the proofa brought by
the plaintiffs, upon which they would have us to set his proof
aside. The defendant's proof naturally divides itself into two
principal parts, the proof of Lady Jane's pregnancy, and the proof
of the delivery. And first, as to the pregnancy, in spite of all

the plaintiffs have advanced as to the uncertainty and fallibility

of such proof of pregnancy, I must, according to all the lawyers'
<^iuions I have ever read upon this subject, hold pregnancy to
be a thing capable of a certain proof : And whatever a sceptical
physician may have given as his opinion in this cause, as to the
uncertainty of the proof of pregnancy, yet I regard not hia
opinion either, for the reason which I have now given.

This being the case, I go on to enquire whether or not the
pregnancy of Lady Jane Douglas is proved: And that it is

proved, I am clear, from the oaths of Mrs. Hewit and Isabel
Walker, and from the declarations of the other maid, Effie Caw,
who died before riie could be put upon oath in this cause. And
all their evidence stands so strongly supported by the oath of
Mrs. Hepburn of Keith, and so pointedly confirmed by a number
of other respectable persons who had the most intimate acquaint-
ance with, and most frequent opportunities of seeing Lady Jano
at that time ; that I can have no doubt of the matter. Againat
thia the negative evidence brought by the plaintiffs can never
be held sufficient. And indeed, it does appear, that the plain-
tiffs themselves were convinced of the pregnancy: nrt only
from their first plainte to the parliament of Paris, but also from
the testimony of Sir William Stewart in this cause ; who depoeca.
That in a conversation which Mr. Andrew Stuart had with tho
honourable Mr. Murray at Paris, he (Mr. Andrew Stuart) owned
to Mr. Murray, " That he had all the proofs in the world of
Lady Jane'a pregnancy, but none of her delivery."

I come now to crnaider the proof of the delivery itaelf.
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Thii, indeed, reete upon the testimony of Sir John and Mrs.
Hswit, who were the only witnesaea that can be found to the
act of delivery. But then it falla to be noticed, that their
direct and positive harmony to the fact is confirmed by a
train of such circumstances, and these circumstances fall in so
exactly with the account given by Sir John and Mrs. Hewit, that
they afford conviction to my mind, as strong as if so many
more witnessee had swore directly to the fact. The circum-
stances which I mean, are contained in the oaths of D ctor
Menager, and Madame Gamier, the nurse of the second child.
It would have been, indeed, next to a miracle, if Sir John
Steuart, in order to accomplish this alledged imposture, should
have pitched upon Pierre La Marre, to be the fictitious
accoucheur, who, as he himself told to Doctor Menager, had
about that time delivered a foreign lady of high rank, and of
an advanced age, of twins, the youngest of whom wa« intrusted
to his (La Marre's) care to be uursed. But this is not all

;

you have Madame Garnier herself swearing expressly. That
•he nursed a child given to her by Mr. P. La Marre, and
that he told her to take exceeding great care of the child,
because it was belonging to foreigners, people of distinction;
and might be a rich man in his own country. If, to all thia,
we add, the accidental manner in which both Doctor Menager
and Madame Garnier the nurse were discovered, it must estab-
lish the credibility of their testimony beyond doubt. And I
am reaUy convinced, That if Giles and Franyois La Marre
had spoke out the truth, the evidence upon these articles which
I have narrated would not have been liable even to the shadow
of an objection. But even, supposing that there had been
less proof of the act of delivery, either by witneaaes or by
circumstance., it falls to be noticed. That the two proofs of
pregnancy and delivery mutually assist each other, and estab-
lish the one great point sought after, viz., that there wac
reaUy a delivery. Yea, had there been no proof at all brought
of the act of delivery, and which may have been the case often,
aa the act of delivery is often transient and even in a moment;
yet, as she is clearly proved to have been pregnant when she
went to Paris, the law would have presumed, That she waa
there delivered according to the account she herself gives ua.
As the proof of the circumstances before, so the proof of what
happened after the delivery convinces me, that there is no
falsehood in this case. We have Lady June displaying upon
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ev«j occasion the rtronBe.t maternal affection for theM
children. You have the depo.ition. of I believe a hundred
of witneMe.. that the •ec'-nd boy Sholto wa. the very picture
of Lady Jane. A circumstance which ha. it. weight with^considering the «nse and character of the people wha
affirm it. and a. I see that every lawyer who ha. Wote upon.uch question, a. this treat, of the similitude of feature, mbeing a presumption to establish a real birth
The plaintiffs have, in order to support their plea, found

It necessary to discredit the testimony of the witnesses whohad deposed to the pregnancy; and more particularly they
have attacked with all their force the credibility of Mr.Hewit and Isabel Walker, two persons who it is in proof hadaJways maintained characters free of the least exception. Both
these witnesses were examined m your Lordship." presence.
Mrs. Hewit several times, and A'rs. Walker once; and in mv
opinion delivered their testimonies with such constancy and
firmness as nothing but truth could inspire, and which led m»
firmly to believe all that they respectively swore. There are
indeed m their accounts of the matter a few trifling contra-
diction, and variations in some of the most minute matter,
of their detail

;
which, instead of being either wonderful or

suspicious, IS a circumstance which may naturaUy be expected
to happen after so long an elapse of time, and instead of lessen-
ing (in my view) increases the credit due to their story I
therefore hold the proof which the plaintiffs have brought to
be by no means sufficient to discredit the testimony either of
the ono or the other of these capital witnesses. I have thu.
run through the bulk of the proof brought by the defendant,
and which It 18 to be considered he was not obliged to bring
and shall therefore proceed to examine with a. much accuracy
as I can the proof brought by the plaintiffs. The plaintifli'
proof IB not pretended to be direct or positive, it is circum-
stantiate wholly. I have ever considered it as an uncontr.-
vertable principle of law, that wherever there is a proof upon
one side by credible witnesses, (wliich is the case here) thi.
cannot be sliaken by a proof of circumstances, when these cir-
cumatance. are not inconsistent with, nor exclusive of ihm
principal alledgeanee established by witnesses. I wiU give
one instance in the proofs which the law admita in the caM
of theft. This crime is generally proved by a train of cir-
cumstances

; that the person charged with the theft was found
66
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with the itoUen goods in hi« poawuion, that he wa# habita
and repute a thief, or tuch like circunntance«. In order to
free himaelf from the charge attempted to be proved against
him by guch a train of circumstances, the prisoner at the bar
generaUy aUedges that hb came by the goods in a lawful
manner. And if he shall be able, by the testimony of two
unsuspected witnesses, to prove this fact, the whole circum-
stantiate evidence reared up against him falls to the ground
at once; and that for this good reason, that these circum-
stances, though they be fully proved, are not inconsistent with
the alledgeance of the prisoner proved by direct testimony.
If then we shall take a view of the various circumstances adduced
by the plaintiffs, we shall be convinced that they might have
all happened consistently with the defendant's hypothesis. For
many of the most material of these suspicious circumstances
the defendant has been able to account ; and though they had
not been accounted for, yet they did not apply. As to the
declaration of the defendant's father. Sir John, I shall only
barely mention, that through the whole of that examination,
Sir John shewed not the least consciousness of guilt. As to
the four letters from Pierre La Marre, which are alledged to
be forged, I must observe in the first place, that I am not
satisfied that these letters were really forgeries by Sir John.
And 2dly, That though we suppose them to be forged, yet this
cannot defeat the direct and circumstantiate evidence brought
by the defendant, and which does not rest upon any after act
or deed of his father Sir John.

As to the alibi in Godefroi'a, I pay no regard to his books;
and these are supplied by his oath, in which it is highly
probable to me he is mistaken, yet they are not sufficient to
defeat the whole of the evidence on the side of the defendant.

I now draw towards a conclusion, and have only to add a
few general observations. The system of the plaintiffs appears
to me incredible in all its parU. Lady Jane is clearly proved
to have been capable to have children. Why not then have
children! Is it at all credible that upon their return from
Rk ns to Paris, when they had only picked up one child,
that they should have given out to their friends there and
elMwhere, that they had two. Yea, might not this circum-
stance, taken by itself, have afforded ground for an almost
immediate detection! When come to Rheims, they give out
that their second child, whom according to the plaintiffs they

«7
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lud not yet picked up. wm a iickly, tender infant. But this
!• not aU, for at the diatanoe of sixteen months after this, the
chUd they bring with them from Paris was found exactly to
answer the description given of him. Upon the supposition
of an imposture, this is all truly miraculous.
Lady Jane Douglas's private letters to Sir John and her other

friends upon the subject of her children, are wrote in a stile k>
affectionate and tender, so unconstrained and natural, that they
afford full conviction to me of two things: lit, That they
were never intended for public inspection; and 2dly, That
they [comet] from an innocent mind oppressed with misfortunes
though free of guilt. ShaU we then, my Lords, after so clear
a proof on the part of the defendant, upon which he has been
in possession of his state to the age of manhood, def)rive him
of his illustrious birth and princely estate ; and, upon a moatly
collection of inconclusive circumstances, send him back to be
accounted the son of an infamous beggar, who has perjured
herself in the face of your Lordships? One thing more, and
I have done. The proceedings in France, in consequence of
the Tournelle procees and monitoire, struck me with horror
and indignation

; and more particularly I was shocked to see a
British act and commission garbled by an arrH of the French
king.

Upon the whole, I am convinced that this defendant is the
son of Lady Jane Douglas, and therefore that he falls to be
assoilzied.

-!

«il
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Thursday, 9th July, 1766.

Lord BarjabqI—In giving my opinion upon this cause, I do Lord Bvjav*
not think it neceacary to recapitulate much ; it will be nilB-
cient to trace aome of the outline* of the proof, and to draw tbe
consequence from these facts so established. The quettion
before us is a point of fact merely ; that is, Whether or not
the defendant is the son of Lady Jane Douglast Upon whom
the onui probandi is to be laid, is a preliminary point, upon
which I camiot agree to adopt the arguments on either side, both
•idea having carried them too far. We can get but few' rules
of law to apply to such circumstantiate cases ; but the following
rule* seem to me to be well founded in reason and sense : 1st,
It i« not sufficient for the deftndant to say, that as he stftod*
in possession upon a verdict, theiefore he is obliged to bring
no further evidence; 2dly, Neither are the pursa^rw to be
excused from their proof. It is incumbent upon them to
point out what defects there may be in the evidence upon
which the verdict proceeded, and to bring what farther evidence
of its falsehood they can : and upon the whole of that evidence
we must pronounce judgment accordingly, taking into our view
every fact and circumstance muro or less material, a« they stand
more or less connected with the material object in view ; that
IS, the birth of the defendant. From the very nature of the
evidence, the plaintiffs were led to contravert the pregnancy,
because pregnancy is inseparably connected with the delivery,
and yet I do not think that the plaintiff* have fully disproved
the pregnancy. Indeed the appearance* of pregnancy at least,
are established without doubt wheii at Aix and Li^ge; but
from the time that Lady Jane leaves Lifege, that appearance
becomes more uncertain, and grows more feeble, us they ad-
vance nearer to Paris, the place of their destination. Indeed
Lady Jane past quickly through a strange country, which is a
circumstance that may account for people's inattention to her

;

»nd as to those who have sworn so pointedly to the pregnancy,

**i'^*??* ^"i'"? "^ Ilarjarg, and afterwards of Alva, appointed, with the
title of Lord Barjarg, 1761 ; died. Senior Judge in Great Britain, 1796.
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MiM* they might be deceived with the appearance, and think i*
real. Perhap. an actual and real pregnancy cannot be c«r-
toinly proved

; there are many diseaaea that imitate pregnancy;ud when to thia I add the risque that Lady Jane ran by lonv
joumiea, rough and bad roadi, and bad machinea, I am led
to conclude, that notwithitanding the appearance of pregnancy,
which ia proved, yet the defendant ia not thereby rdieyed
of bringing probable evidence of his birth.

It is remarkable in going over this proof, that Lady Jan»
•taid no less than nine days at Sedan. We have the evidence
of Mrs. Hewit and of Mrs. Glass as to what happened there,
and which evidences contradict each other to the last degree^
though both of them seem to agree in Lady Jane's being ia
danger of a miscarriage when there. From that time on
till they arrived at Paris, it is agreed, that Lady Jane had na
difficulty in performing her journey, nor any threateningt of
her approaching delivery.

The evidence of the birth divides itself in two clsMee, lst»
That evidence arising from the testimony of Sir John and
Mrs. Hewit, and from letters wrote by them and by La Marre.
2dly, The testimonies of Doctor Menager and Madame Gamier.
This is the whole of the defendants evidence of his birth,,
and with great regret, I must give it as my opinion, That it
does not appear to me sufficient for the purpose. It we take
one class of his evidence without the other, it is clearly not
sufficient; if we join them together, they mutually contradict
and destroy each other. The proof of the forgery of the
four letters from Pierre La Marre. does, in my opinion,
destroy any credit due to the testimony of Sir John Steuart
and Mrs. Hewit as to him. The plaintiffs have endeavoured
to prove, that Lady Jane knew of the forgery, and that ah»
relied much upon these four letters to prove the birth. But
I own, I do not think they have succeeded in this.
The second branch of the evidence for the birth consists of

the evidence of Doctor Menager and Madame Gamier. I am
unwilling to give way to the idea, that any witness is willingly
perjured. I believe the account* that Doctor Menager give*
of his conversation with La Marre ; I believe that La Marre wa«
for some years in the Hotel Dieu ; and that he afterward*
practised as a surgeon in a very low sphere, and was a good
deal employed in secret services. But then it is clear, that
this La Marre cannot be the same one that Sir John Steuart
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d«wrib«l to particularly. Doctor Menager'a friend. La Lav« BaitiavK
Marre, waa not a Walloon, neither could he be a aurgeon of a
regiment in the year 1721. becauie he wai then but a mere
boy. It waa very natural for lo ob»oure a man a* the La
Marre awore to by Doctor Menager, to boast of hia great
practice, but it would be drawing too strong conaequencea
from the story which he told about the foreign lady, whom
he brought to bed of twins, to fix that foreign lady to be Lady
Jane Douglaa This is not the only objection to the applica-
tion of this evidence to the present question, for it appears
clearly in proof, that if this La Marre did really deliver a
foreign lady in the way set forth Ijy Menager, it must have
been in the year 1747. For we have it clearly ascertained
by the evidence of Mons. Giles, That Doctor Menager waa
attending the army during the whole of the year 1748. I do
indeed rest more upon the evidence of Giles, than upon that
of Menager and Madame Gamier. The consequence of which,
ia. That Menager's oath applies to an earlier period. The
defendant sets forth, that he was born upon the 10th July,
1748, \n the house of a Madame Le Bruiie. Of this the
defendant has produced no sufficient evidence; he must stand
upon the evidence I mentioned before ; and therefore, all these
objections to the evidence of Sir John and Mrs. Hewit strike
in properly here. The circumstance*, situation and business
of the Le Brune, in whose house, says the defendant, Lady
Jane may have been delivered, are totally different from theee
condescended on by Sir John and Mrs. Hewit, repeated times,
as well upon declaration as upon their oaths. From these
things, therefore, I must draw the conclusion. That the
defendant hns brought no evidence to show, that Lady Jane waa
deUvered in the house ot a Le Brune, and by a Pierre La Marre.
As to the alibi in Mons. Godefroi's, I think his books are

good evidence of this; it is at least moral evidence of it,

all that can be expected in such a case, and there lies no proba-
bility at all upon the other side.

If Sir John and Lady Jane liad been now pleading for them-
selves against this evidence, they would have had nothing to
say, except they could have produced as strong evidence to
ahow, that they were actually at this time in the house of a
Madame Le Brune. But when to this evidence by Mons.
Godefroi's books, we add the obscurity and concealment, and
want of truth in the accounts given of this whole matter by

7»
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udut Sir John, Lady Jane and Mra. Hewit, the evidence ii ao
aituated, that upon the aide of the defendant'a birth, ther*
remains but a bare poaaibility ; whereaa, upon the aide of the
plaintiffs, there is a great weight of probability, and even of
moral certainty. Much haa been said about the enlevements,
though I am far from thinking, that there is any direct e^i-

dence against Sir John and Lady Jane upon this article. The
only proposition estnblished by that part of the proof is. That
Mignon and Sanry had in the month of July 1748, and Novem-
ber 1749, a child carried off from each of them by foreignerH

;

but then, upon thia point, I must join the effect of the plaintiffs'

prf)of to the defects of the defendant's proof, and then take
the cumular amount of the whole. I have spoke ao far, and
have given my reasons for being against the defendant. But,
I own, I have some doubts, as this is a circumstantiate evi-

dence against him, whether as he in free of all blame from
any irregularity or crimes committed by his parents, whether,

therefore, he may not be entitled to lay hold of the mere
poBsibility of the fact as set forth by him ; and more especially

aa ho is now in possession of his state by a verdict. However,
to this, I see one objection, that as a child owe« his birth to

hia father, so he must take hia state alongst with the accounta

given by his parents; and, in fact, the defendant's whole
plea hangs upon the acknowledgment of hia parents.

There wore some other things which as present seemed to

be specious upon the side of the defendant; particularly, it

wa« asked, what could be Sir John and Lady Jane's motivea

for this in.position of children? What their motives might
be is impossible to know exactly, without knowing the charac-

ters exactly : and whatever were their characters, it is certain.

That the argument of the defendant, that upon the aupposition

of an imposture, it was bringing a needleee burden and incon-

venience upon them, will not apply. For if the consideration

of inconveniences could have liad any weight with Lady Jane,

it would have prevented their marriage altogether. Lady

Jane, in her letters, use* a certain mysterious way of writing

alongst with the warmeet affection towards thesf* children.

For this affection towarda children not her own, it is indeed

very difficult to account : But we must consider that Lady

Jane was a lady of great humanity and charity, which might

insensibly lead her to contract an affection for these children,

whom she had deprived of their true parents. She was also

72
>



Lord Alemore.

K;„l tin l:.,l, I I ,., It.. /•.../,„ ) II,.,,.,.





Judgments by the Court of Session.

thought a woman of high spirit and honour, whioh might IomI
bar to oomplaat, by every poaaible means, a chem^ bad •
it «a% which ahe had one* taken in hand.
From all thia. then I conclude, that we ahould suiUin tha

reaaona of raduction.

Lord ALiMout—I have formed an opinion conformable to
that now given. I attended with all the care I could to tha
aentimeota of those judges who gave their opinion* jeaterday
upon the other side of the queation from me. They made m«
examine again the grounds of that opinion which I am now
to give; and after considering their arguments as much aa I
could, I found my sentiments rather confirmed than shaken.
Though tny opinion is clear in this cauae, yet I must own it is

a difficult cause. This, amongst other things, has been owing
to the art and abilities of the defendants council, who, in
attemping to ^ake the circumsUntiate evidence brought
against him, took these circumstances one by one, and then
draw their conclusion, that this was all that the plaintiffs had
proved. Whereaa in stating their own proof, what was but
a preaumption in one page, was in the next positive evidence,
and then rose to a demonstration. All this perplexed me a good
deal, and I was therefore obliged to return to the general view
of the whole proof in this cause.

There have been some little points of law attempted to be
brought into this cause, though the queation before us ia a
point of fact entirely, upon which any man may judge. It
is a jury-cause : and it is a cause where every body will judge
for themselves, and also judge those who judge it. Much
has been said upon tlie defendant's service, and his poRHeesion

consequent upon it : I think he was rightly served upon the
proof aa it thMi stood, and would then have had the same
opinion myself. By the possession of the estate in conse-

quence of that service, the defendant has been enabled to support
bia d^ence ; but farther than this, what can that service entitle

him to in thia cause! It is of no weight as to the evidence,

because we are to judge of the point of fact It cannot have
more force than the decreet of nn inferior Court under your
Lordships' review. It must stand or fall upon its own grounds,

and can never be held as a probatio probata. We sit here.

Ur*Urtara

* Andrew Pringle of Alemore, appointed, with the title of Lord Alemore,
1789; died 1776.
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The Douglas Cause.

I

•

t&n AltmoM M come in place of the grand jury of error, to consider whether
this verdict should bo reduced or not. Surely then the thing
under reduction must sfand or fall according as it appears to
us now. I give all the force possible to the arguments drawn
from the acknowledgment of parents, but thia is not what we
all depend upon ; ^e have all habit* and repute, the uncontra-
dicted voice of a whole neighbourhood or country, besides the
acknowledgment of our parents. But this habite and repate
the defendant has not in this cause ; on the contrary it appears,
that the doubts of his birth were coeval with the birth itself.

It may be asked, whether Lady Schaw, who took the defendant
into her family upon the death of Lady Jane, had a firm confi-

dence in the truth of the birth, when she desires Mrs. Napier
to write to Sir James Steuart in France, and says, that she
gives her a clew to unravel this dark story. Let us examine
Mrs. Napier's letter to Lady Frances Steuart, and we shall there
find her expressing her fears lest a failure in success makes
things less clear than they now are. Lord Cathcart in hii
deposition says, that he had heard the birth often doubted, on
account of the mystery and concealment. But even supposing
that the defendant had been in possession of a general habit
and repute, it is but a presumption, and therefore must yield to
proof. And this proof must, in the nature of things, be a
proof of all facts and circumstances. And as the one or the
other preponderates, so are we bound to give the cause.

I will now proceed to state such parts of the proof as to me
appear most material. I take up Lady Jane Douglas and Sir

John Steuart at Rheinis, where I think there appears enough
upon the face of their own conduct to infer the conclusion, that
it was a scheme of imposture they were going on. At Rheims,
which is one of the most populous towns in France, Lady Jane
had an opportunity of eetting the ablest assistance ; and besides
the advantage of se^ i al British people there, to whom she
daily appeared, and by whom she was much beloved. In this

situation Lady Jane passes a whole month at Rheims, but at
last, when the critical period must have been very near, sets out
for Paris, attended only by Sir John and Mrs.' Hewit. For so
unseasonable a journey she can give no reason ; she gives only
a false pretence, that there was no proper assistance to be had
in Rheims. And for the extraordinary step of leaving their
maids at Rheims, they give a pretence which is also proved false,

that they had not money to carry them to Paris. They arrive
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at Paris upon the evening of the fourth of July, and put up at Urd Alwnora
the Hotel Shaloons [Chalons], a respectable inn, to which they
had bten recommended by Mons. Mallifer at Rheims. Instead
•of remaining in this inn, or even giving Mons. Godefroi or his
wife the least notice of the real intention of their coming to
Parit, or enquiring of them for the ablest assistance, they
suddenly leave his house and hire lodgings at a Madame Le
Bruno's, where Lady Jane is delivered of twins a few days after-

wards, in presence of that Madame Le Brune, her daughter, and
a Pierre La Marre, who was the accoucheur. Who was this
Pierre La Marre? Says Sir John Steuart, he was a Walloon
surgeon, whom he had seen at Lifege in the year 1721, but who
was then in Paris upon an afifair "en epineuse." This whole
account given by Sir John, the defendant now gives up. But
can he give it up without giving up his cause? Sir John had
brought Lady Jane to Paris to be there delivered by the very
ablest hands, and yet he entrusts her to the care of a wandering
surgeon, whom he had not seen since the year 1721, and who
was obliged to be concealed in Paris upon account of a ticklish
afifair. Did Sir John know where La Marre lived in Paris?
No. He is prevented from telling Sir John that, on account of
the ticklish affair he came on; though at the same time he is

to be met with on the most public walks in Paris, in the Luxem-
burg or Thuileries. Would, then, Sir John have known where
to find this accoucheur, if he had wanted him suddenly? If

Lady Jane, for instance, had been seized with hor pains in the
night? No. Sir John declares he would not have known
where to find him : and that if this had happened, he must have
called another. When to this we add Mrs. Hewit's account
of the matter, that Lady Jane never saw La Marre till the
critical time, I can appeal to the understanding and feelings of
the heart of man, that this story has no truth in it. It far
exceeds probability ; it is even improbable to the last degree

;

so much so that it is impossible these things could have
happened upon the supposition of a true birth. Lady Jane had
staid a whole month at Rheims, though it is now in proof that
Pans was the real place of destination. Would it not then
have been much more proper to have gone straight to Paris?
None of the witnesses at Rheims mention the least of any
complaint made by her, that there was no good assistance
hkely to be got there ; and there is not the least evidence of
the story told, both by Lady Jane and Mrs. Hewit, concerning
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Imrt AlMaon the advice given her by an unknown lady, to leave Rheims oq
account of the unskilfulnesa of the practitioners. Mr*.
Andrieux never gave her any such advice ; for it appears that

he never took her even to be pregnant However, if they left

Rheims to go to Paris for the best assistance, it was naturtJ and
proper for them surely to have taken the very first advice
there; at least, it is not to be expected that Sir John would
have taken so inferior a man as La Marre was.

I still demand the reason of their leaving their maids at

Rheims. They give me a reason which I prove to be false.

After this, is their deserting Rheims to be accounted for to the
mind of mant

The delivery is said to have happened in the house of Madame
Le Brune, and we have a most pointed description given of her,

of the house, and of her family, both by Sir John and Mrs.

Hewit. Yet they a)uld give no description of the house so aa

to find out in what place it lay. In short, this great event of

the birth happened in a place where no body could ever either

find out or hear of, and which never had any existence; though
it is certain that the greatness of the event must have rivetted

it eternally in their minds. I observe that wherever there wa»
a real place, thither they have been effectually traced ; but to

Le Brune's house they have not been traced, because there waa
no such person. Upon the nmth day after the birth, according

to the account given by them, they change their lodgings, on
account of btiggs ; and when they appear at Michelle's upon that

day they have no child with them at all. Where were their

children? They were sent to nurse. What was the reason

of this, of sending them both away they knew not wheret
According to their own account, the eldest was somewhere in

the country towards St. Germaine, and they are to go next day
from Michelle's in order to bring home this child. 4coordingly

they do go away, and return again, bringing with them a child

in all appearance much older than their child could be, under

the care of a nurse who had no milk to give the child, and
who had the King's mark upon her as a common thief. Mrs.

Heiwit has said that during the whole time Lady Jane wa* at

Michelle's she never went abroad ; whereas it is clear that she

went in a coach to see the most remarkable squares in Paris,

and that she went also to see Versailles, though during all

this time she never once went to see her second child, though it

was M sickly and tender, and though, according to the account
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giyen of it now by the defendant, it waa within half a league of LoHl
Paris. There is one thing very material to be observed in this
cause, and that is, that they never wrote to any person of the
birth till the 22nd July. Was it natural for them to have
concealed so joyful an event for the space of twelve dayit
Would they not rather have taken the very earliest opportunity
of communicating to their friends such joyful intelligence?

I come now to examine the evidence brought by the plaintiffs,
which to me clearly disproves every part of the accounts given
by Lady Jane, Sir John, and Mrs. Hewit. It appears from
Mons. Godefroi's books, and he and his wife have also sworn it

directly, that Sir John and his company came to his house the
4th July, and continued there till the 13th or 14th. If this
be good evidence, what becomes of the birth upon the 10th of
that month? According to common rules it is suflBcient evi-
dence, and therefore the defendant has made his chief attack
upon this evidence. But none of your Lordships have said
that Mons. (Jodefroi ia not a credible witness; you have only
said that h© may have been mistaken in trusting too much to
the accuracy of his books. I have considered all the objections
brought against these books, and I think they have, like fire
to gold, brought them out more clear. When, then, we have
such evidence, why should we not believe it? Does it not
at least remain good till it is contradicted? Where is it con-
tradicted? By whom is it contradicted? Only by Sir John
Steuart and Mrs. Hewit, whom your Lordships see evidently
convicted of telling the mosu manifold falsehoods. To those
who shall tell me that, notwithstanding, they believe the
evidence of these two persons, I can say nothing more ; to them
it must be a clear cause.

On the 18th July they go to Michelle's ; but from the 14th to
the 18th where were they? They have lio, been traced, nor
seen nor heard of. In this period there was no birth, and yet
when they come to Michelle's they say they had a child at
nurse, whom they go for next day, and bring back with thorn.
And having got this child into Michelle's, they immediately
write the letters of the 22nd of July, wherein they fix upon the
tenth day of the month as the time of the birth. Change of
houses must have necessarily taken place to accomplish an
imposture. It was not necessary upon the supposition of a
true birth. Let nobody say there was not time enough to pick
up a child, when you have it proved to you that in that time
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Ian Alamor* the child of Mignon wai actually ao picked up. Having thua
got poHeaaion of a child, could they have returned to the aame
houB© where they were formerly! No. This would have
directly blown up the scheme of imposture. They must necea-
aarily, therefore, have pitched upon some other house to take
this child to when they ahould find him ; and the house they
went to for that purpose was the house of Michelle. I have
aaid that when they made their appearance with their child at
Michelle's, it was a starved infant, upon the breast of a common
thief. Was this like the nurse for the child of Lady Jane
Douglas

» Mrs. Hewit has herself oonfest that they bespoke
no nurse beforehand, and the reason as she says was because
Lady Jane was not sure if she would bring forth a living child.
Strange, indeed, that I idy Jane, after having put herself to ao
much expense, and after having travelled so far, should at last
grudge an expense which the wife of the meanest mechanic
never grudges. How much more like a boy picked up, and a
nurse hastily found on the streets, were the child and nurse
brought to Michelle's, than to the description of the nurse and
child of Lady Jane Douglas.

Madame Michelle in an hour's time found out a good nurse for
them; so might they themselves if they had consulted any
person of their acquaintance in Paris. These things are all

inconsistent with a true birth, and probative of a false one.
When to all this we add that the child of Mignon was carried
oflf from its parents at the critical time, when they pretend to
go and bring their child from St. Germaine; when we take a
view of the strange indifference towards their younger child for
the whole time tliey were in Paris particularly—what says
humanity here? Your Lordships have heard much of the
affection of Lady Jane for these children, but this seems to
have been taken up at a proper time, after they came to Kheims.
There was indeed a good reason why Lady Jane did not go to
aee him—that was because she had no second boy then existing.
How then was this boy purchased? Upon this point the calcu-
lation of Saury's enlevement is wonderfully exact. It is
brought to have happened either upon Sunday the 16th or
Sunday [Saturday?] the 29th of November, 1749. The descrip-
tion of the persons applying for a child upon that occasion is

wonderfully like that of Sir John Steuart and his company.
They ask for a child of fifteen months old. They refuse several
of a lesser age, and at last pitch upon a boy of eighteen months
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old. All these circumstances tend to one point, and meet Lord
like so many lines at the point of a circle.

Much has been said of the strong affection shown by Lady
Jane upon all occasions for these children. But this affection
may be accounted for either naturally or artificially. Lady
Jane was a woman of much humanity, and when she considered
that the infants she had taken away from their real parent*
must now be dependant upon her, the tenderness she was
possessed of might naturally yearn upon such a thought ; but
however that may have been, it was not to be expected that
they would be aiding to their own detection of the crime of
imposture by showing upon any occasion a want of affection
for their children. But had these children really been their
own, they neglected the proper occasion for showing a real
fondness for them by removing the suspicions so universally
propagated to their own dishonour, and to the evident danger
of their children's interests. But what is their conduct here?
Instead of applying to the Le Brune or Pierre La Marre to get
proof of the birth from them, they make a faint attempt to
prove the pregnancy by the declaration of Madame Tewis, and
forge letters as coming from the Pierre La Marre. Where did
ever a true story need such a continued scene of falsehood to
support it? But it waa said that Sir John forged these letters
only with a view to cheat the Duke of Douglas. But why
cheat the Duke of Douglas or any other man into the belief of
a thing which, if true, might have been convincingly proved?

In short, one certificate from Pierre La Marre and Madame
Le Brune would have been a mark of stronger affection to her
children than any which Lady Jane has shown. I shall now
say a very little as to the proof of the pregnancy : this as
described by Isabel Walker and Mrs. Hewit, must have been
observed by every body; but their testimonies are so strongly
contradicted by others of more credit that it has no weight
with me. Lady Jane seems indeed to have had the appearance
of pregnancy; but when we consider how many ways there are
of simulating a pregnancy, and that this was as necessary as
the other circumstances mentioned before to carry on the
imposture, the appearance of pregnancy deposed to has no
weight m this case. Upon the whole, I sincerely compassionate
this unfortunate defendant

: I hope the same generous lady who
baa hitherto so well supported him will continue her protection
and kindness to him, but he must excuse me if I cannot, in
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opposition to my duty to mankind, my country, and myself, find
him to be the son of Lady Jane Douglas. I think that he i's not
her son, and therefore that the service ought to be reduced.

Urd nioek Lord EliockJ—This is not a question of law, but of fact, and
therefore I think principles of law have been introduced here
somewhat improperly. The defendant in this cause is not
well founded in his legal arguments from habite and repute.
Habite and repute is public notoriety ; it is the uncontradicted,
unoontroverted voice of a man's whole • eighbours, relations,
and acquaintances. It is not the bare acknowledgment of the
parents that founds this habite and repute, because, when a
child is born in any family there are a number of people in the
family who must necessarily have many marks of observation.
It has been said that the acknowledgment of parents bestows
filiation: but it is nature that bestows filiation; and the
acknowledgment of parents can neither bestow it where it is not
real, nor their contrary averments take it away where it is

real. Muc'i has been said about the pregnancy in this cause,
and if w© could believe Mrs. Hewit and Isabel Walker, Lady
Jane when at Aix-la-Chapelle was absolutely a monster. Yet
it is very remarkable that at this time, as afterwards, she
always wore a particular dress calculated as it seems to disguise
her shape. Even supposing that Mrs. Hewit and Isabel Walker
were credible witneeses, it is a proof of opinion only, and it by
no means follows that she was really with child. It was an
appearance suddenly assumed, and yet, what is very remarkable,
during the whole time of Lady Jane's pretended pregnancy, she
never consulted any physician, man-midwife, or surgeon. A
thing inconceivable to me if she had really known herself to
be with child. In other particulars, too, of her conduct
there appear no marks of that care and fear for herself which
naturally attends women, and especially one of her delicate
constitution '.a such a condition. She makes the long and
difficult journey betwixt Aix-la-Chapelle and Rheims without
any apparent hazard or complaint, except once at Sedan, where,
as Mrs. Hewit says, she was in danger of being delivered.
When they set out from Rheims to Paris, she still continues

to travel (though within a few days of her delivery) in the

I James Veitch of Eliock, appointed, with the title of Lord Eliook. 1761 •

died 1793.
*
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common roiture «ft«r fitting up moit of the night before the
•et« out, and during the re«t of the time of this journey under-
goes much more fatigue than one in the situation ihe u
described to have been in oould be well expected to bear.

This step of their leaving Rheimi at so critical a period wai
of all others the strangeat, and which cannot be accounted for
upon any other supposition but an imposture, as the reason
they gave for it, being that of want of ab'e assistance there, ii

clearly disproved by numbers of credible witnesses. They ieft

their maids at Rheims, too, under the false pretence of want
of money to transport them to Paris. But why did they
not send back to Rheims for the maids when they were in Paris
so many days before the delivery happened, and when it is clear
from their own account that they had got money. Sir John,
Mrs. Hbwit, and Isabel Walker seem all to have sworn falsely
upon this point of the money. This is proved by written
evidence upon the side of the plaintiffs, a non metnini is no
sufficient excuse, for all that they swear here ujwn being care-
fully examined, will appear to be artfully intended as a cor-
roborative to that fact of the birth's happening upon the 10th
July.

The defendant's filiation comes to a narrow point, which is
this, whether he was born of the body of Lady Jane Douglas
upon the 10th July, 1748J This, indeed, is the sole point at
issue betwixt the parties. I observe that in the whole accounta
given of the alledged birth by all the three persons concerned,
they as long as they could keep in the general They never
specify even the town in which the birth was gaid to have
happened; and even when Lady Jane came to h» upon '>«f

death-bed, and was pressed by Mrs. Greig to ge» the pf»> ol
the birth established for the sake of her children, she giv- aer
not the least satisfaction as to the particulars of the birth, ««t
returns this general answer, " Let them that doubt it pro*# '*.'

Certainly the Duke of Douglas was very much interer m
know the particulars of the birth ; and yet, in the letter -#
Lady Jane wrote to him from Damartine, and which is
dated frv. u 'ms, they only acquaint him in general « . *
birth, and :oi so much as mention the town in whieh 4
happened. On t> o contrary, from its being dated from Rheiaw-
and from the strain of the whole letter, any body would hav
thought that the delivery had really happened at Rheims.
Wh«) we examine Lady Jane's pocket book we find *\»
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following note of the birth, " Archibald and Sholto wm bom
on the 10th Julj, 1748." But no mention either of the houM
or of the town. Mra. Hewit in her letter* frr..., Paria to the
maida at Rheima girea no particular place aa being the pUce
of the birth

;
though, afterwarda in the letter to the Duke of

Douglaa in the year 1755. .he pitchea upon the houae of
Michelle; though afterwards she agree, with Sir John to
tranafer the acene to Le Brunea. When Sir John Steuart
emitted hia declaration, he waa particular and pointed con-
cerning the houie of Le Brune, being the place of the birth

;

and indeed, in every other particular of hia atory : And he
delivered the whole of that long declaration with firmnew. and
had no defect but only deafneaa. and upon the last day of hi.
examination, when the four forged letter, were put into hit
hand again to conwder, he then made aeveral correctiona upon
that part of hia declaration relative to theae letter.. It ia
not possible to think, that Sir John could after the defendanfa
•ervice (upon which occasion, he waa, no doubt, conaulted by
the defendanfa council) forget every one circumatance con-
cerning M important an affair a« the birth of hia .on.. And
yet, when he waa deaired by the Hon. Mra. Napier in the year
1766, to give her a note of the particulara concerning the birth,
he then fixe. li down to have happened in the houae of Madame
MicheUe, and the very first time that he ever take, it into
hia head to name the hou.e of Le Brune aa the place, waa some
months after thia period, when he found out by the return of
Sir Jame. Steuart'. letter, from Paris, that Madame Michelle
and her family denied that any delivery had happened there:
And It wa^ after this time too that he was obliged to name
Godefroia a. a place they had been in. Sir John in his letter
to the Duchess of Douglas, wherein he narrates the particular*
of the proof which he could bring of the birth, and more
particularly concerning the pregnancy at Aix-la-Chapelle ex-
pressly mentions Lord Blantyre as being at Aii-la-Chapelle at
that time, though it's confessedly clear he was not there. It ia
exceedingly remarkable, that though Sir John pretends, that his
want of memory hindered him from particularly describing the
street m which Madame Le Brune lived: Yet, he remr-nbera
particularly weU the situation of the coffee-houses and taverns
which he was in use to frequent.
What can be more wonderful added to aU this, than the

account given by Sir John of his accidental meeting with hia
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old friend La Marru, who had come up to Parii upon an affair Urd lltoek

en tpineute, thia wa» a strange necurity indeed, for the iiucceea-

ful delivery of Lady Jane Douglaa. Sir John Steuart ha« aaid.
That he went first to Paris by hiniaelf in the month of June,
or in the end of May 1748. And that he stopt at the house of
Mons. Godefroi. where he continued several days; but yet this
journey of Sir John's is proved to be an absolute falsehood at
well as the letters. It is by the defendant himself confessed,
that Sir John did not then make a journey to Paris. It
appears clearly from proof, that the suspicions of the truth
of the birth were very early notified to Lady Jane and Sir John,
and that they received these suspicions as being an attack upon
their honour, yet there was no attempt made to bring any
sort of proof. Why did they not bring such proof? When
Madame Le Brune and La Marre were both alive, why did not
they get certificates of the birth from them?

It is remarkable that the fourth of the forged letters is said
to have been brought from La Marre to Sir John by a Mons.
Du Jois, a painter. Isabel Walker swears positively, that she
aaw this letter delivered to Sir John when in Mr. Murray's.
St. James Place, London, but that she does not know by whom
the said letter was brought. She further says, that Sir John,
upon reading it, damned La Marre, and threw the letter into
the fire

; but that Lady Jane snatched it up, saying something to
this purpose, that the letter should be kept more carefully,
because it might be of consequence.
For my own part, I am clear that Lady Jane knew of the

forgery of these letters as well as Sir John. This appears to
me to be clear from the particulars of the conversation which
Lady Jane had with Mrs. Menzies upon her intended journey to
Douglas Castle; and she expressly mentions to Mrs. Menziex,
as a proof of the birth, letters which she had from the docwr
who delivered her, and which letters she said she had then in her
pocket. These letters cruld be no other but the forged letters
now in process.

I have said that the proposition maintainad by the defendant
18, that he was bom of Lady Jane Douglas in the house of
Madame Le Brune, on the 10th July, 1748. What then is the
evidence he has brought »f this? It cannot be the four forged
letters, neither can he rest upon Sir John's accounts of it,
because they are pmvpd to be absohitely false.
As to the house of Madame Le Brune, there is no proof

83

-I

A



The Douglas Cause.

t', i

t

If

I* '

! !

. I

UMUeek brought of there ever having been such a house ; on the con-
traiy, I think the written evidence produced by the plaintiffi
that the Madame Lo Brune specially described by Sir John
and Mrs. Hewit, never had any existence. I think she was
a non-entity as much as La Marre was. I am not moved with
the defendant's having found out a woman of the name of Lo
Brune, and who was a Garde Malade; as she does not answer,
in any one particular, the description by Sir John, of the womanm whose house the birth is pretended to have happened.
This proof so far as it goes, is to me convincing and credible

that there was no delivery at aU : but the evidence of the alibim Godefroi's, puts the thing past all doubt. It is clear
positive, direct and credible, both upon the books and the
oaths of him and his wife.

Whose child the defendant is, is a question not necessary to
be here discussed, though it is most probable to me, that he
IS Mignons; a„ least, all the circumstances of the firat appear-
ance of the child and its nurse at Michelle's, makes it rather
more credible to me, than otherways. That Sir John stole
Mignon's child, as also the child of Saniy in November 1749
which happen.d upon the fourth day after they arrived in
Fans, when they went upon the false pretence of their bringine
home to Kheims their second twin. Since I have mentioned
the second child, I must obser^'e, that Doctor Menager has
in his oath rcised a fabric that cannot stand; because he
swears, that La Marre told him, he was bespoke to the foreign
Lady some time before hand, and as to Madame Gamier I
no more believe that she was the nurse, than I do that La Mai-re
was the accoucheur.

Thus I am clear, that the crime of imposition of children
was really committed by Lady Jane and Sir John. I do not
chuse to inquire into their motives for this crime ; though I can
easily see one that would influence them very much. And
that .8 to get money from her brother, the Duke, on account
of her having children ; and in fact, I see that this scheme wa.
immediately attempted to be put into execution.
As to the pregnancy upon which the defendant has founded

80 much, I am clear, that it is disproved by the plaintiffs. And
therefore, upon the whole. I am clear of opinion the service faU«
to be reduced.
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Friday, loth July, 1766.

Lord STONKF,«i,Dl-The bulk of the proof and memorials in Va^
U»8 cause renders .t difficult to form an opinion upon it. I

^'"''
have considered it with aU the attention in my power, and hareformed my opmion against the defendant.

Fr!
^'^

"f.u^^rT*
*° *'""' '° ^^'' *'^"''« *•»« proceedings inFrance and the Tournelle process compared to forgery and the

F^r "iT .
?'"' """ ^"'^^ ^P'"'°° '' *^' pTocTeding. inFrance. I thmk the conduct of the gentleman who managed

these proceedmgs upon the part of the pkintiffs. does honourto himself and his profession.

h.lu^-f T^ *^' P°"'* °^ ^"^ ^^« "^^^^ Pl««ded too high by

prM. Such services „.eneraUy proceed in a very slovenlyand loose manner. Hence, says Lord Stair, they are ea-ily

what"! "
''r'°'"'

^"^"^'^^^ *° ^""^e «g--^ « --cewhat may preponderate on the part of the plaintiffs. Andthus far they are obliged to prove and no farther
The first point of this cause is the appearance of Lady Jane'spregnancy, which appearance is very strongly proved; but thenthis proof IS very inconsistent, and contradictory to the notion

rnvrsfW- P'''^T°^- ^'^^^"''y --^l^i"* a very particular

whole of this evidence amounts to the appearance of pregnancy
only, and If to this we add the way and manner in which LadTJane perforaied her long and tedious journey from Aix-la
Oiapelle to Pans, without taking those precautions which wouldWe been necessary upon the supposition of her being so near

tiS^l ''"'T
^" '^'"^ circumstances denote%ather a

tXt t^l" T P^^^^'^y- They go to Paris accordingly,

ance at Rheims, the real object of their journey. They evenmake use of a false pretence to Mens. Mluifier, and obtain^

Z^l Ti ' '«""""»^"ding them to Mons. Godefroi. aspeople that were gomgto Paris to make purchases. When

8t!,Sld,%"^T" i^' l^r^"'^-
''PPo-^'l. with the title of W
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]ff^^Hf]^
they arrive at Paris, they make no enquiries after their country-
men there, which is very natural to expect they would have
done; more especially, it was natural for them enquire after
Sir William Stewart, whom they had seen at Spaw, and the
Chevalier Johnston, who was Mrs. Hewit's couain-german.
When they leave the Hotel Chalons, they repair to the house of
a Mad^ne Le Brune, as they say, and on the sixth day after
the delivery they remove from this house, and take up their

lodgings at Madame Michelle's ; and when they first appear
here they have no child with them, but having gone out next
day to bring their child in from the country, as they pretended,
they return the evening with a half starved child, and a nurse-

who had no milk, and was branded as a common thief. In
the mean time, their second child, though weakly and tender,

is deserted from its birth, never once seen by Lady Jane herself

during the space of sixteen months.

If we examme the accounts of La Marre, they are so vapue
and absurd, that they merit no faith. There is a wonderful
contrast between Sir John's account of him, and the defendant's,

account of him now in process. And I cannot think the
defendant is at all aided by Doctor Menager's account of La
Marre's conversations with him about the delivery of the foreign

lady ; and as to Madame Gamier, the pretended nurse, she
seems to have borrowed the nursing of some other child, and
applied it to this. And it ia remarkable, upon her oath, that

though she swears that she often saw La Marre, yet she cannot
describe him in the least degree.

As to Godefroi's books, it is my opinion, that when these

stand so clearly supported by his oath, they carry conviction

that there was no delivery upon 10th July, 1748.

As to the enlevementa, I shall only observe, that they are very
remarkable in time, and suspicious in circumstances. When
to all tliis we add, that they falsely dated all their letters from
Rheims when they were truly in Paris, and that the strain of
most of tliese letters tended to make their friends believe, that

the ddivery had actually happened at Rheims, what conclusion

can we draw from all this, but that the story was false 1

Lady Jane and Sir John were early apprized of the suspicions,

of a false birth, and yet they never took any steps to prove

tike truth of it, excepting only one feeble attempt to prove the

pregnancy, at its most fallible stage, by the declaration of
Madame Tewis.
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Lmt of aU come the forged letters, which finishes the evidence Lord
against the defendant, and compleats the story. Attempts

'*•"•**

haye been made to excuse this forgery, but these attempts are
vain, because the question will for ever recur : Why use false-
hood to support truth? I must own the strongest proof on the
part of the defendant is Lady Jane's private letters; but
then when we consider, that very probably length of time
migh' make her contract an affection for these children, the
proof of that affection which appears in these letters cannot
much be depended on.

I therefore think the reasons of reduction fall to be sustained.

Lord PiTFOURi—It seems to me, that the rules of law are LopdWtrsw
likely to be altered, in determining this case, and where it will
end nobody knows. The birth-right of the subject is of all
other rights the most sacred, and indeed the foundation of all
temporal blessings. It is from this that all the joys and the
advantages of relation and of consanguinity do flow, and it is
upon this that citizens are entitled to the participation of
public honours, and the encrease of their own fortune and
rank. On all these accounts, therefore, this right of birth, or
state of a man is most cautiously guarded by the law.
The act of delivery is often transient, and over in a moment.

Witnesses are therefore seldom called, and sometimes it is
impossible there can be any witnesses at all ; and for this reason
the law does not require a proof by witnesses. Nay farther,
the more a proof against the potsesrio status shall encrease, the
stronger hold the law gives to the person who claims his
filiation.

I am far from thinking that there is any kind of evidence
brought by the plaintiffs sufficient to remove the defendant
from the possession of his state. The acknowledgment of the
defendant's parents, and the habite and repute following thereon,
was sufficient for him to attain the possession of his state.'
I don't chuse to dispute p'>' ts that will not be much contro-
verted, but when I speak e acknowledgment of parents, I
mean an acknowledgment parents supported by the fama
oonsentiens, or the habite and repute of the place of the birth,
whether it be at home or in a foreign country.
The empire of Great Britain is now extended over a large

im'^Hl/im'^''
°* *'''*°'""' ^PP"'"**^'- ^*th tbe title of Lord Pitfour,
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Up4 ntfbiip ,hare of the globe. Many w. landa of Britidi familiei have
tranimigrated to America, the East Indiea and eUewhere. A
man in America has his children acknowledged there to be his
lawful issue, but upon his coming home with his family to
Britain, he finds the birth denied hero. The reason of this

perhaps may be, that a great succession might probably devolve
upon these children, and that some other people having hopes
of the same succession may have designedly raised these
suspicions about tlie birth. And then these same people tell us
he must prove his birth and the whole circumstances attending
it. Such notions ui" law would indeed be very extraordinary.
When my birth is challenged, and I am in possession by the

acknowledgment of my parents, and have the habite and repute
of the country wherein I was bom, there must be demonstration
before I can be turned out of possession. In the present case
the defendant has not only the acknowledgment of his parents,
but the universal voice of the country he was bom in, insomuch,
that of eighteen British witnesses then residing in France, and
acquainted with Lady Jane, never one of them heard the least

suspicion of tlie birth till they returned home to Great Britain.

At home indeed false impressions had been carefully made,
founded principally upon the age of Lady Jane, and the impro-
bability, said from thence to arise, that she could have children.

Whereas it is in proof, that she was capable to have children

for two years after the defendant's birth. And in particular

there is one miscarriage after the year 1748, proved by three
or four witnesses. What shall we say to all these things

f

Were common reports to have any effect upon this cause!—
they had no effect upon it. For fourteen years after the birth,

even at the time of the service, the plaintiffs themselves were
overpowered with conviction, and acknowledge they were
satisfied with the force of the evidence.

Whatever false rumours may have been raised on purpose to

detract from the character of Lady Jane Douglas, when she
was unluckily thrown off by her brother

; yet his Majesty, as
the common father of his people, was graciously pleased to
bestow upon her a pension towards the maintenance of her and
her children, which circumstance is surely strong and corro-

borative of the general belief of the birth.

Lady Schaw's enquiry, by the means of Mrs. Napier, has been
founded on against the defendant, in order to redargue the
habite and repute which he pleads. But I apprehend that Lady
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Schaw'g enquiry cannot be viewed in this light. It rather
»ppear>, that the reason of her making the enquiriea was, to
get some proper evidence to oppose to any attempts of the
plaintiffs in an after-time, and by no means to satisfy herself.

Nothing can interrupt the potgettio ttatua till the action is
actually brought against the person claiming upon that posses-
sion

;
and if we do not adhere to this salutary rule, in the case

now before us, we shall encroach on the birth-right of all man-
kind. And therefore it has been improperly enough said, that
point* of law are not to be treated of here. The whole doctrine
of law concerning the pogsemo statug, and habite and repute,
comes properly in here ; these doctrines of law being founded
upon common sense and the necessary securitv of the subject.

I come now to speak of the proof which the defendant has
brought of his birth. And first, as to the pregnancy, this
must have great influence in this cause; the witnesses who
depose to it are veiy many in number, people of respectable
characters, not acquainted with one another, and who had no
interest whatever to give a false account. Had this pregnancy
been like that of Lady Kinnaird, which was shewn upon every
occaaion with the grossest affectation, we might have had
reason to doubt of it

: but so far was Lady Tane from publishing
her pregnancy, that she seemed bashful and shy when the
ounosity of her domestics and friends prompted them to satisfy
^emselves how the matter stood as to her pregnancy. Isabel
WaJker, whose testimony I do firmly believe, solemnly swears,
uiat she felt the children move in Lady Jane's belly." MadameTew»9 declaration, I think too, good evidence of the same
fact

;
as I do likewise that of Effie Caw. Because these declara-

tions on account of Mrs. Tewis and Effie Caw being dead before
they could be put upon oath, are the best evidence possible In
hort, there is no single testimony upon this point of the
pregnancy, but what is corroborated by others. And when toaU this we add Mr. Andrew Stuart's own confession, that there
were all the proofs in the world of her pregnancy, why riiouldwe doubt so much evidence T

I cannot understand the argument, that the proof of pregnancyM not sufficient to infer the consequence of the birth Ithmk quite otherwise. If pregnant, she must have been
dehyered; and therefore there is a high probability at least
that the whole account of the delivery, given by the partiesw true. It u a te/w qualit proof, the best proof that the
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UrtfHtfonr nuture of the thing will admit of, after to long a lapae of time.
If the proof had been brought looner it would have moit likely

been much itronger on the side of the defendant. By the
common courae of things, aa well as by accident, he muat have
been at great loas in bringing a proof lo late. Many of his

witnesses have died, and others of them have changed the places

of their abode, and cannot now be discovered. Why, then,

was not this action brought sooner? What excuse for this?

Why did they keep it in petto? Why did they keep the
challenge so long in their pockets? Yet such are the facts,

and therefore the law makes a less proof necessary now than it

would have exacted before from the defendant. The whole story

concludes, not with the idea of imposture, but remarkably well

with that of a real birth. Much has been said about their going
in a secret manner to Paris without letting their friends know

;

though it is clearly in proof that the Chevalier Douglas gave it

as his advice to Lady Jane to go to Paris to be delivered.

As we have had so much evidence of the pregnancy, which
is a frrudual advancing thing, why should we insist for such
pointed evidence as to the act of delivery ; to which there cannot

be so much evidence expected as to pregnancy; because this

by the common oour°e of nature may be gradually traced, and
so liable to the observation of many witnesses every day, whereas
that is a single act, and often over in a moment. Upon these

principles, the law makes the presumption of a birth risu

gradually, accordinpr :o the advancement of the pregnancy.

Much has been said about Le Brune's house, and particularly

about the extraordinary account of their having left it so soon

after the birth. Whereas, we see in proof, that the real motive
of leaving it so soon \,as, because they were pestered with bugs.

And accordingly, when they come to Madame Michelle's, we find

them anxiously enquiring of her if her house was free of that

vermin. And afterwards we find them complaining of their

being troubled with them there too.

But, say the plaintiffs, Sir John is charged with being the
contriver, and Mrs. Hewit with being an accomplice in this

fraud, and therefore you are not to believe any account they
give. But if this charge brought against Mrs. Hewit (and Isabel

Walker too) of being accomplices in this alledged fraud, should
be sufficient to destroy their credibility, then the plaintiffs might
have had a clear cause of it, and used the same freedom with
the defendant's other witnesses, and so set them aside altogether.

90



Judgments by the Court of Session.

In corroboration of the truth of the tcitiroony emitted brLaHRtftv
Sir J<An and Mrs. Hewit, and of the uniform account gifen by
Lady Jane, That these children were truly hers, you have the
solemn death-bed declarations of aU the three. In the prewmt
•ge, mfidelity and scepticism are accounted fashionable; but
I will aver, that this is more owing to pride and affectation
than to any conviction possible to the mind of man. That there
IS no future state of rewards and punishments; and I do believe
that there are but a very few who are so execrably worthless,
and msensibly hardened, as to make a joke of eternity. Some
malefactors there may have been, who, after having been fuUy
convicted of crimes, may have gone to death publicly denying
them. But there was no conviction, nor the least danger of
conviction to the parties in the case now before us ; and when
to this we add, that their characters are proved to have been not
*t all of the infidel cast ; what conclusion can we possibly draw,
but that they died asserting the truth? And when to this we
still add the great distress and affliction which both Lady Jane
and Sir John were almost always under, and at the same time
see them upon every occasion expressing the most tender solici-
tude for the welfare of their children, whom they were then
scarce able to maintain : all this behaviour speaks out strongly,
that they were indeed their own children.

In opposition to this, it has been said, that Lady Jane deserted
her youngest child from its birth, and that she never went once
to see it during the long time she remained in Paris, and at
Dammartine. But in answer to this, I observe, that the plaintiffs
are not entitled to plead so high upon this point; I will presume
that she did see her child, although it cannot be now proved
pott tantum tem-poru.

Another argument has been used by the plaintiffs, viz.. That
she had no nurso bespoke; to which I answer. That La Marre
himself bespoke a nurse, as is clear from the testimony of
Madame Gamier, who was herself the nurse of Sholto.

It has been said by the plaintiffs. That the La Marre now
founded on Ly the defendant is a new La Marre, and that he
cannot bo the La Marre, whom Sir John gives an account of.
It is curious to observe the conduct of the plaintiffs upon this
great point of their cause. At first, in their condescendence,
they denied point blank, that there was any person of that name
who waa a surgeon or accoucheur in Paris in the year 1748. And
now that an accoucheur of that name has really been found out,
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the pUintifft Uke hold of the particuUr deicriptioo giTen by
Sir John Steuart of the La Marre, whom he condcKeoded on m
being the •ccoucheur; ud becauae thia La Marre doea not in
every particular agree to Sir JcAn'a deacrfption, the plaintift
infer the itronp ooncluaion, that it ii impoaaible that the La
Marre now found out could have been the accoucheur to Lady
Jaoe Douglaa. The plaintiffs have particularly Uid hdd of two
oircuroitancei in Sir John'a account of U Marre ; one of whioh
n, that he wao a Walloon ; and the other, that La Marre had
been introduced to Sir John at Liig© in the year 1721, by one
Colonel Fountain. Aa to the fint of theae circunutancea in
Sir John'a deicription of La Marre, the pUintiffi are clearly
under a migtake; for aa the La Marre founded on by the
defendant, was bom at Montreuil sur le Mer, he might readily
enough, in respect of his country, be termed a Walloon, or at
least Sir John might very naturally take him for a Walloon.
And aa to the other circumstance about Sir John's having seen
him at Lifeg© in the year 1721 ; this is evidently an error in point
of time only, wtich it ia not at all surprising Sir John shoidd
have been guilty of, if we consider the great variety of questions
put to him, and his age and infirmities at the time he gave his
declaration.

It has been argued by the pUintiffs, That the story told by
Madame Gamier of the manner of that child's being brought to
her house, cannot apply to the child of Lady Jane Douglas : in
•o far aa Madame Gamier deposes. That the child which Pierre
La Marre delivered to her to be nursed, was brought to her houae
at night with flambeaux, or torchlight, from which, say tiie
plaintiffs, it is clear, that this could not have happened in the
middle of summer, as there would have been no occaaioo for
flambeaux. But if we consider the length, narrowness, and
dirtmess of many of the lanes and streets in Paris and its
environs; and also that it is not so long light there aa it is
here at that season of the year, we shaU find the circumstance
of the child's being brought by flambeaux not to be inconsistent
with the notion of the child's having been carried to the hauU
borne, late in a summer night : and when to all this we add the
precise and pointed conversation which Pierre La Marre had
with Dr. Menager upon the subject of his (La Marre's) having
deKvered a foreign lady, of an advanced age, of twins, and
that these twins would be heirs to a great estate in their own
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country, and that it wui a gnat affair for him: end when UHPItltor
we consider alio Madame Guinett'i evidence, who poeitiTelj

wean, That eht (requoDtly »aw Pierre La Marre risitini? th«
child when it woa un<lcr Mndanie Garnier'e care, ii it pouible
to figure a itroiiijer circuniitantiate evidence in any caie what-
ever than thii evidence brou|;ht \>y the defendant to lupport
the truth of his birth? I am clear it is as strong an evidence
as we can at so great a distonco of time posMJIily expect, and
therefore give my voice for assoilzing the defendant.

Lord Gakdknstonb'—This is a very eitraordinnry and a very I*'*

singular cause ; Duko Hamilton has nothing to gain, and the
defendant has every thing to lose.

My opinion is for the defendant ; I will deliver it with brevity
iind precision

: and as the (.'rounds of it are few and simple,
I will not take up a large field, but only state some points on
both sides, which hr.vo led me to form this opinion. But first,

I will beg leave to state some preliminary observations, which
appear to me to be of great importance. And, first, I can by
no means ngree with those of your LordiihipB, who have given
your opinion. That the law has nothing to do in the present
case

: it appears quite contrary to me ; I look for light to the
law, and more particularly to that great branch of it contained
in the title de Probationibus, in which there are principlea
enough to determine us in our judgment of evidence in every
possible case. Secondly, I do own it as a principle of law clear
to me, That wherever a person is acknowledged and entertained
by his reputed parents from infancy to manhood, he cannot be
turned out of the possession of his state without a clear,
distinct, and demonstrative evidence.

By these rules the present case falls to be determined, though
I confess I will consider the question an if it had come first before
ourselves, and without any regard to the verdict formerly
pronounced for the defendant. In so far therefore I am a
convert to an opinion delivered yesterday ; but upon these first
prmciples which I have laid down the proof against a defendant
in such a question, must appear without any uncertainty and
there must be no room left for th, calculation of chances

'

This appears evidently to me f be wul founded in humanity,

'Francis Oarden of Oarden»tone, appointrnt. with the titlp of T^^Gardenatone, 1764; died 17»3.
"*'® °^ ">™
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•udaiutoM expediency, and law. As to the first of these, the humanity,
it is so obviously on the side of this defendant, that I need
only but mention it : The expediency is also so manifest, that
it would be needless to insist on it—The security of families
and the peace of society speak it out abundantly plain. And
as to the law: the law of this country, and of every other
country in the world, does uniformly require in all proofs of

the kind before us, the most clear and convincing evidence
against the rigrhts of filiation.

A second proposition I will lay down without arguing for
it, which is, that where such a question as this is brought so
late, the evidence of such witnesses as may be now dead, will,

when reported upon oath by others, have the same strength as
if these others had been alive now, and had been legally
examined themselves. My third general observation is. That
I see no improper thing, nor ill conduct on the part of the
defendant in this cause : whereas on the pi>rt of the plaintiffs,

I see most improper and most illegal conduct. I see the
Tournelle process, the Monitoire, and all their miserable effects.

I do not blame Mr. Stuart for his conduct in these matters

:

he is a man of honour and of character, and was instructed to
carry on these French proceedings by the rest of the tutors
of the noble plaintiffs : but however that be, I will define the
Tournelle process to be what I really think it was, " an indirect
practice to prejudice the evidence, and to deprive the defendant
of a fair trial." I pretend not to be the spirit of prophecy;
but it is long since I have said that the plaintiffs will find
the Tournelle process to hang about their necks like a mill-
stone, for in vain (as was said in another place) are judges wise
and ujtright, if the channels of justice shall by such means as
this be corrupted.

As to their Monitoire, it was such a one as was never seen
but in the case of Calas, which proved fatal to an innocent
family, and is a reproach to the annals of justice.

I come now to say a few things upon the evidence produced
in this cause: and, 1st, I obsen-e, that taking the whole of the
defendant's evidence by itself, it seems to me impossible that
there could be a stronger proof brought of the birth after so
long a time, and upon so unexpected a challenge.
To me it is just as credible that a woman of fifty years of

age, of ability (as is clearly proved here) should have children,
as that a woman of twenty-five years should have them.
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I cannot doubt that pregnancy is a thing capable of proof : Lord
it is held to be so in the law of Scotland, and in the civil law

"»*«*••
likewise. And if it is capable of proof, it is surely proved in
the case before us. Pregnancy may be forgot, or it rnay be
remembered as it happens; but what proof of it can yov expectt
is it by the testimony of friends, domesticks and acquaintances,
or by that of strangers? It is by the first, surely; because the
law expects the best causes of knowledge from those who in
the character of domesticks, attendants and friends, are most
frequently about the person, and have the best opportunities to
know. Accordingly, in the cause before us, you have clear
and pointed evidence, by such persons, that Lady Jane Douglas
was really pregnant. Her pregnancy, then, so clearly ascer-
tained, is truly a proof of the delivery; because if she was
pregnant, she must have been delivered.

This therefore brings me to mention, that besides the proof
I have noticed, there is a positive proof of the birth of the
defendant, by two witnesses. I mean. Sir John Steuart and
Mrs. Hewit, lx)th of whom were called as witnesses, not by the
defendant, but by the plaintiffs. When to this is added the
strong circumstances in the behaviour and conduct of Sir John
and Lady Jane towards the defendant, what doubt can remain
that he is really their son? Amongst a number of other
circumstances, I shall mention these following. Their private
correspondence strikes me strongly, and it is not credible to
me that all the scene therein exhibited could be dissimulation. It
is the same thing in my view as if two alledged confederates
in a crime had been overheard talking together in the very
next room, and had we so overheard them, breathing such strains
of truth, sincerity, and affection towards their sons, would we
not believe it? Hut even supixwing we should disbelieve this,
could we cixuf the supposition so far as to believe that Lady
Jane would absolutely break her heart, and die for love and
affection to a child not really her own? And yet that grief
for the death of her son Sholto was the more immediate cause
of her death, is proved by the testimony of respectable witnesses.
But still more, when I bee her in the pangs of death, pouring
out her blessings on her then helpless son, the defendant, can
humanity allow me to believe that all this was falsehood and
hypocrisy? Can we believe that when she was praying with
her last breath for the defendant, as her son, that she was then.

il
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cirt«iiitoM "I*®" J"'* S**'°» **> ^PP^"" ^^^^^ l^er Maker, taking Him
witness to solemn falsehood? Thus much for the proof on the
side of the defendant.—I now come shortly to touch upon that
brought by the plaintiffs. Theirs is a circumstantiate evidence
wholly, and many of the circumstances are of no weight at all

:

I am sensible, however, that when men have once formed an
opinion of guilt, they are often apt to look at every thing m
through a jaundiced eye, which makes every thing of the same
colour with itself. I will however consider some of the most
material parts of this large circumstantiate evidence upon the
side of the plaintiffs. And Ist, I mention Godefroi's books,
with the oaths of him and bis wife. First, as to his books, I
declare from the bottom of my heart, that they have no credit
with me. When I consider the nature of a tavern reckoning
or bill, extracted at the distance o' .fteen years, I can have no
notion of giving mighty credit to tnis sort of written evidence.
We have all heard of a person in London, known by the name
of Mother Douglas: 2 she, it seems, kept her books likewise,
upon which her representatives are now prosecuting some
respectable personages in this country. It is not to be credited
that such personages ever frequented her houae. But though
they had so frequented her house, they would have surely paid
off their bills, and will not now be condemned upon the written
evidence of tavern books.

I must observe that Michelle's books were found to be
erroneous, and therefore left off altogether by the plaintiffs,
who then, for the first time, resorted to those of Godefroi

;'

whereas to me both these grounds appear equally tenable, and
you may lay hold either of the one or other, as you please.

There is one reason indeed why Michelle's books appear more
credible than Godefroi's, which is. that where people go only
to eat for a day or two, as at Godefroi's, there the date is of no
sort of moment ; but where they go to lodge for a time, as was
the case in Michelle's, there the date is of moment.

-Mother Jane Douglas, whose ijortrait appears in Hogarth'* "March
to KiiKhley," and some of his other pictures. She kept a bagnio at the
Piazza, Covent darden, which was very richly furnished, and where she
died lOth Juno, 17()1. Mie is mentioned once by Horace Walpole, and
is called "the veuernWe matron" in Charles Johnson's "Chrysal," and
is described in Sam Foote's " The Mirror," where her religious pretensions
are ridiculed. [Information kindly supplied by Mr. Horace Bleackley.]
Her ^ep^esentati^es apparently triocl t" blackmail her former HitnMt.
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I observe, thirdly, that these witnesses are tainted by the I«fd
Tournelle process : Madame Godefroi's oath is utterly incredible,

°»^*"**"*

because she persisted in saying, when she was first enquired out,
That she could not rcJoUect any one thing about Sir John
Steuart and his company. When after this I see her come and
join in telling very many material circumstances along with
her husband, can I think her a credible witness?

Farther, Madame Godefroi has sworn. That when she applies
a blank article in her book of expence to her book for the
Inspecteur of Police, it is conjecture merely, upon her part.

This assertion of his wife's invalidates Mons. Godefroi's positive
assertion, which he has expressly swore to in very different

terms. Fourthly, It is in this single instance only that Mons.
Godefroi can take upon him to fill up any blank articles in his

books, though there are some of these entered only a year or
two ago. For all these reasons, I think there is not the leaat

proof of the alibi in the house of Godefroi.

I no'" oome to mention some other circumstances, such aa
the concealment and mystery which was alledged to attend the
whole of the conduct of Sir John and Lady Jane. It was
here us"l as an argument to infer fraud, that during the time
of her . gnancy, Lady Jane almost always wore a particular
dress, and never went without a hoop. But it is inconceivable
to me how this circumstance can ever be founded upon to prove
an imposture. To me it appears directly contrary ; for surely

if her pregnancy had been entirely affected, instead of con-
cealing, she would have taken every opportunity of showing it.

Another circumstance pleaded by the plaintiffs, was. That Lady
Jane never called for the advice of any physician, surgeon, or
accoucheur during the whole time of her pregnancy. As to

which, I beg leave to observe, that however odd the plaintiffs

may think this, yet Scota ladies will not surely think so. They
are general!, pretty easy, and free of apprehensions upon this

point, and can do without a physician at their bed-side every
hour of the day.

Much stress has been laid upon the circumstance of their

journey to Paris, which has been represented as the object of

their secret destination from first to laat; whereas it is in

proof, that Lady Jane was really advised by the Chevalier
Douglas to go to Paris to be there delivered.

The circumstance of their employing so obscure a man as
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**""• "^^^'^ t'»ey had said that they went to Paris for the

best assistance, has been also laid hold of by the plaintiffs

;

whereas Sir John eipressly swears, That he desired La Marre
to have other assistance ready at hand, which La Marre would
have got, had he not easily accomplished the delivery himself.
Much has been said also of the circumstance of the younger

child's being sent into the country, and about Lady Jane's never
having seen him there. To which it is answered. That the child
being sickly and tender, did ujion that account want fresh air

;

and that it is not in proof that Lady Jane never went to see
him.

I now come to mention some other circumstances : the first
of which is. That of their leaving their maid-servants at Kheims,
and to which I do own I see no reasonable or satisfactory
answer.

As to the forgery of the letters, I see no evidence of a forgery,
in so far as Sir John said they were copies of letters. But
even supposing tli. to be forged. I cannot carry it so far as to
deprive the defendr.ut of his state upon that account merely.
Had the parties tjeen all now alive, they might have been able

to account for many circumstances in their conduct, which are
seemingly suspicious to ns. in the same manner as the circum-
stanco formerly mentioned of their having dropt their man-
servant at Liego has bwii .iccountcsl tor. And when to this wl»
add the strange and singular character of Sir John Steuart,
the principal actor, we need wonder tlie less at many of these
circumstances. I shall now conclude with observing, that if
the plaint- Is prevail in this suit, the defendant's case will indeed
be singularly hard

: For in the first place he has never had a
fair trial for his birth-right. I do not mean here, but in
France. And, secondly, of all the numerous cases of parius
tuppositio, there is none similar to this ; none of those children
were possest of their filiation

; in none of those cases was there
the same strong proof of pregnancy, nor such direct and
circumstantiate evidence of the actual delivery.
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Saturday, nth July, 1766.

Lonl Kbnnet*—This cause bein^ of so great importance and Lof*IC«nii«t

expectation, it is liighly reasonable that each of your Lord-
ships should give his opinion upon it. My plan is to deliver

my opinion upon the principal points of the cause, most of

which have been already stated with great propriety by those
of your Lordsliips that have spoke before nie.

I do not think myself capable to persuade any of your
Lordships to be of my opinion. And though I thought I

could do so, yet I would be very far from desiring it.

My opinion is then for sustaining the reasons of reduction.

The first question before us is, Upon whom lies the onua
prohandi? Upon which I observe, that when a person claims,

he must prove his propinquity, or at least he must have the
acknowledgment of parents, and a habite and repute general
and uncontradicted. Such a proof as this, however, cannot be
calktl a prohatio probata. Neither is the .icknowleiigiuent

of parents a presumption juris et de jure: for then no proof
at all would have been allowed in this cause. The conse-
quence of this is. That the onm probandi lies upon the
plaintiffs, who must therefore bring a clear, convincing, and
demoastrative evidence to support their challenge of the birth.

When I lay down these principles, I do not, as was hinted
yesterday, shake the security of the subject's birth-right, since
it is clear. That every person must remain in the possession
of his state upon the legal presumptions for filiation, till it

be clearly and convincingly proved, that such person is not
entitled to that filiation.

An objection has been moved for the defendant, on account
of the lateness of bringing the present action against him;
but upon a little consideration, this objection flies off, as it

is clear, that the plaintiffs had no right to bring such an action
till after the death of the Duke of Douglas. And as to the
distance of time so much complained of by tie defendant, it

.-L!^"'T'j^:"r« "^ Kennet, .ippomt.a, with the title of Lord Kmmet,
1(64; died 1785.

*
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UH «.n..t u really a« great a loa. to the plaintiffs a. to him ; and indeed
I rather think it had been happy for this defendant if the
action had been still later; and that Sir John and Mrs. Hewit
had both of them been dead before they could have been
examined in the cause.

Of all evidence to prove a crime, such as that of the suppoettio
partus the circum.stn..tiate evidence is the most convincing:
and what is more, the least suspicious.

In judging of such a proof, the whole circumstances must
be taken together. Some by themselves may appear trivial,
which, when joined to others, appear exceedingly material.
I considered the plaintiffs proof even with a prejudice for the
defendant, and I txamined his proof to find out circumstances
to make me believe that he wa« the son of Ladv Jane; which
I sincerely declare I much wished to be the case.' But motives
of compassion cannot now have weight with me ; for when I git
as a judge to determine a case of property like tliLs, I ,„ust go
on in the straight road of evidence, without turning cither to
the right hand or to the left.

The pregnancy of Lady Jane Douglas is in course the first
object of proof m this cause, and I must acknowledge, that
I think there is a clear proof of tl- apjiearances of pregnancy •

but then I consider, that such appearances are often very
deceitful, and that they cannot be well distinguished from an
affected pregnancy. Of this we have many instances in that
famous ale of the Roman pandects, de ventre inspiciendo.

Iho proof of pregnancy brought for the defendant, is a proof
of opinion by the witnesses merely; who, I dare say, have
deposed according to their own belief; though I think their
depositions not sufficient to establish the truth, that Lady
Jane was really pregnant. It deserves attention upon what
different grounds the different witnesses formed their opinion
of the pregnancy; and more particularly Sir William Stewart
and his lady say, they thought Lady Jane pregaant, because
she was pale of complexion and had frequent vomitings As
to the paleness of her complexion, that appears to have been
natural to her

;
and as to the vomitings, it is in proof, by the

oath of Isabel Walker, that she had been often troubled with
these even before she left Scotlaud. Mrs. Ilewit and Isabel
Walker are, no v" .ubt, the capital witnesses for the defendant
upon this point of the pregnancy. But then, tlieir testimonies
appe.ir to me highly suspicious in many respects, and in none
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more than in what they have said a« to the prodigious bulk LordK..n.t
of Lady Jane even before «he left Aii-la-Chapelle. For if the
bulk had been as both these witnesses represent, it is incredible
to auppose that so many witnesses, to who,,, Lady Jane daily
appeared throughout her journey, should nover have ol«erved
It Mrs. Hewit deposes. That when they were at Hhein...
Lady Jane was so very unwieldy, that she never went abroad
but once: Whereas the Abl>e llibert walked ^^ith her often in
the most public places ai,d walks about IJhoiius
At the san.e time, as it is certain, if Lady Jane had been

pregnant, she ,uust have been delivered ; I thought if I could find
out ,n her a real bulk when .seen without her cloath.. it wouldgo fur to instruct tiie defendant'.-^ pica.
With this view, therefore, I carefully considered the evidence

c Madame Tewis, Mrs. Hewit, Isabel Walker and Mrs. Hepburn

J I l!i u-
^°. *^"'''""'' '^'''*''' «''^ "??»-'«•« to n,e to have

declared things which could not possibly exist at that time,
at so fallible a stage of her pregnancy. But it is mv opinion.
th...t having been drawn in to express her.self too stro'ngly ui.on
this point to Sir Geoige Col,,ul,oun and Colonel Douglas, shewas thereby obliged to repeat the same afterwards in her
judicial declaration.

The an,ount of Mrs. Hepburn's oath, is, that upon coming
one day into Lady Jane's bed-roo.. when she was dres.sing, she

fallacious, and therefore I was willing to take in l,ero the
declaration of Eflie Caw; but then tlis declaration 7 he^amounts to .-n opinion only, and that opinion formed withoutany opportunity to know.

u«.u,out;

the side of tiie defendant, but then they have swore to manythings which are not true. Isabel Walker, particularly isincredible when she swears as to the height of the beds, knd

TJ^Z :l '•"""t.-
-"^"'^ '""^ ^^'^^ °'^''S'^ '^ "- ^ «tool

ITT ^'"' """""^ ^>* *"°™' t''«t Lady Janeemployed no mantuamaker at Rheims. And she has deposed

Zl Mr's A
;'^' ''^V"^

'''"''''''' «^ *° ^- conversaUot

to what she relates of a conversation which she says sheover-heard betwixt Lady Jane Douglas and the l^L^rdPrestongrange upon the subject of the birth of the children.
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t Perhnps, my lord might lay to Lady Jane, that »ho waa not

bound to prove tlie birtli, but stirely hi8 lordship would never

adviie her against providing herself with proofs to be uied

afterward*, if there should he occasion for them.

Lady Jane and Sir John -riive many diiTeront pretence! for

their Icavinj;; Aix-la-C'hapelle. Tliore i» one circumstance

particul.'iily that si tikes me strongly. I see tliat Mrs. Tewis

offerf<l to procure for them the castle of the Count de Salm,
where Lady Jane iiii'jrht have had every thing convenient for

her approarliin^ delivery ; and that Mrs. Te\.-ig did accordingly

write to her friend the (Jreat Hailiff [Grainl Bailli] of the Count,

desiring accomnio<hitioii for Sir John and Lady Jane in the castle

of Be<ll)ur. It riiiirlit have l)erii cxpecte^l, that Sir John and Lady
Jane, as they liad agreed to petition the Count de Salm for

thift favour. wrmM have waited for his answer ; but instead of

that, they suddenly leave Aix-la-Chapelle under pretence of

the iiiiininent hazard of an apj)roailiiiig delivery, and set out
for Hiiiiius, where, nevertheless, they continue to remain for

the fi]iMc of a month. How ill then i^oes this agree witii their

pretence for not slaying but a few days at Ai.x-la-Chapelle,

when they might have got their annwer from the Count d»
S,.l'o.

After iiaving remained so long at lUieims, they suddenly

set off for Paris, and leave their maids Ixliind them at Uheims,

at a time wiien or all others they had the most need for their

attendance. For this strange conduct, in their not taking

the maiils alonp.st with them, the want of money was given

aa a pretence wliich is clearly provetl to be false, for Sir John
had at tliat time a credit for no less a stmi than -000 livres.

I now come to the proof of the delivery. The defendant waa
not bound to prove the delivery, and it lies upon the plaintiffs

to prove tlic falsehood of it. But then, if tiie only tliree

persons concerned shall be found to give inconsistent and false

accounts of this matter, this mtist go a great length to dis-

prove the birth. I have heard it said, that the defend, t haa

proved his birth l)y the direct testimony of two witnetises. Sir

John Steuart and Mrs. Hewit. I own, I caiuiot understand this

argument. If it be a good one, there is a ready way laid to

accomplish an imposttire at once: but supposing, that not

only two, but twenty witnesses had swore directly to the birth

;

yet still, the plaintiffs might have proved the falsehood of it

by contrary evidence.
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I have mentioned the accomifi given by the parties them- Lord
•elvea: with respect to Lady Jnne, we ace lior nlwayg speaking
in general

; the only time she came to particulars, waa in a
conversation with tlie Countess of Stair, as it stands deposed
to by her daughter tiie Hon. Mrs. rriinrose. Ludy Jane well knew,
that there was plenty of good assistance to he iind nt Kheinis.
And therefore, to excuse the st range step of her iu'oing to Paris,
she tells the Countess of Stuir that strange story about the
advice given her by an unknown lady to leave Hiieims directly.
As the professed intention of their going to Paris, was to
have Lady Jano delivered by the aUl^t accoucheur there ; uud
as Lady Stair oliservid to her, that she ought to have had
Bontie of the British people then at Paris witnesses to the
delivery, she has an excuse ready at bund, whidi is, that she
was delivered witliin half an hour or within an hour after their
arrival in Paris.

Sir John Steuart in his account of the matter golemnly says,
that he went previously to I'inis in tlie month of May or June
preceding tlio birth ; and yet, thi« i, clearly proved to be a
falsehood. And as this is tlie case, can we j.iesume any part
of the accounts given by Sir John to l)e true/ It is acknow-
ledged by Mrs. Hewit, that there was no nur.se bespoke, and
•he gives this strange and unaccountable reason for it, that
Lady Jane did not kno«- if gjie would bo brought to bed of a
living child.

Sir John Steuart says, that he wouM not have known where
to have found out La Marre. if he had l)een wanted suddenly

;

and that if this had b<?en the case, ht> must have called another.
He afterwards attenii < to make this somewhat better, but in
reality makes it wors.-. because he dq.o.s.s, that when they came
back from Paris to Hlieiins, in the year 17^S, he ,li,l n,.t tven
then know how to find out La Marre.

Mrs. Ilewit has said that Lady Jane had no si> k nurse, and
yet Isabel Walker says Mrs. Hewit wrote her tiiev had a sick
nurse. Again, it i.s said that the Pierre La Marre never
came to see Lady Jane but once. This is extraordinary
indeed; and the more particularly so, as, according to their
own accounts, lie had the care of tliu second l)oy. who was a
weakly tender infant.

The defendant had fised -Madame Le Hrunes, as the place
of the delivery.

When Mrs. Napier pushed Sir John Steuart to give Lady
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L*rdRraMt Sclmw an account of the particiilur* of tlie birth, he tlieti Kzet

the delivery to have happcncHl in the hoiiHe ni Madame Miciielle;

and at thi« time too, MrM. Hewit write* her letter to the Duk«
of Uoiighm, fixing upon the Mune houHe of Michelle a* beings

the place, though she ha» tince Hworn, repeated timet, that

he could never reineniher French iiarneti.

Mr«. Hewit huh expresHly de|io»e«l, that the whole time they

wore at Mit'lielle'«, Lady Jano never went abroad, either to

Versailles or to any other place, wherea* you have it in proof

that ill 'iiade two separate journeyM wiiile staying at Michelle's

;

and 'U'ticular, Madame HIainville swears expressly, that she

went in the very couch with Lady Jane to see the palace and

tlio gardens at V'ersaillee. It muxt be held to be very extra-

ordinary, timt she was able to go to Versailles, and to walk

about tliere, and yet that she never went to see the second boy,

wlio was at n iso hard by her. It has been said, that there

is no proof that Lady June never went to sec this child. But
this is a mistake; for Mrs. Hewit expressly deposes that Lady
Jane nev. r went to see Sholto nt all, " Ijecause she was weak
and sick'y the whole time tiiey weri> at Michelle's."

When they come first to Michelle's, let tis observe their

conduct here. They talk as if Lady Jane had been lately

delivered in the country, and they set out for the country

under the pri.-tence of bringing their cliild from some place

towards St. Germaiiie. And when they return with their

ciiil e-.t day, iLo people at Michelle's are surprised with its

appearance; and some of the witnesses, particularly Mn ' Tie

Blainville, give it as their opinion, that the child brought

there must have been nmch older than ten days.

They have told us that this second loy was put to nurae

under tiio care of La Marre : and yet, by their own account, they

know not where to tind either La Marre, the child, or its

nurse. It is exireiiRly odd that nobody ever saw this second

child, till he suddenly made his appearance at Rheinis. Why
not desire the Chevalier Johnston, then at Paris, to enquire

after the child who was so sickly and tender?

Sir Johi! declares that ho knows nothing of the place where

they resided in Paris in 1749, and wherein they were three

days before seeing their second child. For this a bad memory
is no sufficient excuse. I had not the honour to sit alongst

with your Lordsliips when Sir John gave his declaration, but

I have heard that lie was allowed to retract, but that he did not,
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upon anj part nf the acrniititg {{tven by him. However thii Lor4Ktantt

be, there ia ii reiimrkablu inittanco of Sir Jolin'N attention and

distinctnexi in his letter to Muiis. MuUifer, at HIieiiiiH.

It appouri clearly in prof, that both Sir John nnd Ludy
Jane wero very early iu'(|uainted with tho Niispicion* of tJie

birth, yet they took no inre to remove theso. They »aid that

their honour wuh culled in qncation: but this was only a

pretence : for why not Kend to Paris for proofs of the delivery,

when it in clear thi-y nent to Aix-hi-Cli. y)el'i« for juoofs of the

pregnancy! Or why attempt a jnoof of ttit> pregniu cy at it"

most fallible stafje. when they might have actually produc*Hl

proofK of tiie delivery itHcli/ or at least they migiit have

kept some of the many genuine letters which it is said they

received from La Marre. Or, at least, why did Sir John for>;e

letters as coming from La Marre? Surely, if he could have

got real one«, ho would have never fabricated false one*.

The Madame Le Bnine, in whoso house the delivery is now
said to have happened, is not to be found in any of tho books

either of the police or the capitation ; the only Madame Le

Brune, who it is now said by the defendant may have been

the person, is a garde mnhnle, and so does not answer the

description so pointedly given by Sir John : and indeed it is

not credible that Sir John Ste>inrt, whose character was never

that of a miser, should, when ho had money in his pocket,

have allowed Lady Jane Douglas to have been delivered in so

wretched a place.

I do not think it however conclusive against the defendant,

that La Marre cannot now be found out ; it was his strongest

argument, that he was not now obliged to produce him ; he

should have therefore rested here, for he is not in the least

assisted by this proof of a Louis Pier dc La Marre. Sir

John's description of his La Marre must make it clear beyond

controversy, that this Louis La Marre cannot be the same man.

When we consider the conversations which Dr. Menager had

with Giles and Moureau, we shall be convinced that Giles's

testimony is more credible than Menager's : tiie manner of

this La Marre's signing his name is proved, by his contract of

marriage, not at all to coincide with that of his sub.^cription

of the four pretended letters.

If La Marre did not deliver Lady Jane, then there is no

weight due to the testimony of Madame Garnier ; but, besides

this, when we con' " t. r the difference in the accounts given by
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Urd Kennrt Sir John, and those of Madame Gamier, we cannot possibly

make them tally together in any one particular. Madam©

Gamier did not know whose child it was she was nursing;

only she savs she was informed it was to be a rich child iu >«•

own country. This then cannot apply to the second 'iid c*

Lady Jane Douglas, and if we examine the whole of Ijidaine

Garnier's accounts as to the time of the child's con" g ond

goinp away 'rom her, we shall find, that in point of t;i» e. her

accounts ' noways suit those given by Sir John and Mrs.

Hewit of I lie second boy.

I have hitherto rested my opinion upon the conduct of the

parties concerned ; but I own I cannot lay otit of my view the

proof of the aJihi in the house of (Jodefroi. Godefroi and his

wife do not depose altogether from memory, and their books

are further supported by Sir John's own admission, that he

and his company did actually come there upon the 4th July.

The more these books have been canvassed, the more exact do

they appear to me. And when Sir John has himself admitted,

that he staid there three days, it is surely most probable, that

there would be an account opened for them in these books.

Groat cries have been raised against the Tournelle process,

and indeed tlie House of Lords have in so far condemned it ; yet

I cannot see it was of such hurt to the defendant as set forth.

The Parliament of Paris is a Court of honour and dignity.

What then could induce them to do any thing bad of itself

against ilie defendant? I am not moved with the argument

drawn from the plaintiffs first founding their argument of the

alihi upon the books of Michelle: for when those books were

found to bo erroneous, why not resort to Godefroi's, which are

not so? And as to the Monitoire, it does not strike against

this part of the evidence at all.

As to the enlevements, although the Mignons may have sworn

falsely as to some particulars, yet it is clear they spoke truth as

to their having a child taken away. The time of this enleve-

ment is critical—it is surprisingly near.

As to Saury's child, this does not depend so much upon parole

evidence, but upon the evidence of the church records. This

enlevement is brought with most surprising exactness to the very

period at which Sir John Steuart, Lady Jane, anJ Mrs. Hewit

are in Paris, and when they can give no account ol themselveB

whatever.
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There is no proof :;i the memory of man of an enlevement Lord Kennet

having been accomplished in Paris.

As to the death-bed declarations, I see Lady Jane behaving

with tenderness to tiie defendant on her death-bed, b'lt what she

flaid at that time cannot properly be called a declaration.

As to Sir John Steuart's declaration, it is indeed muLh more
formal ; but we often see that people who liave committed

greet crimes will go to death averring falsehoods.

Upon the whole, I strongly feel for this defendant, bui should

feel more to deliver what were not the real sentiments of my
heart.

T ord H.\iLEsi—In judging of a cause of this nature, we njust LopdHkUet

act according to strong probabilities and moral evidence. The

character of parties concerned nmst, in such an evidence as ihis,

have some weight. And if I could persuade myself of a good

character on tiie i)art of Lady Jane Douglas, I 'liould think it

strong on the part of the defendant. But I cannot believe the

opinion of some of the witnesses wlio have d(.']>osed so favour-

ably for her upon thi.i particular, because there is much tvidence

of her want of truth ujjon almost every occasion. Thus, wlien

in her letters *« one friend she is professing the strongest attach-

ment to the 'estant religion, and telling them that she was

going to a country where slie iiiiglit have the free exercise of

that religion, she has in the meantime resolved U| on going

into the very heart of France, where she knew slie cotdd have no

opportuni*-- it all of hearing Protestant ministers.

Her con-'ersation with the late Cou'.itess of Stair, as it stands

deposed to by the honouiable Mrs. Priniiose, is another flagrant

instauceof the truth of this observation.

In her letters to Mrs. Carse, which are datc<l from Holland,

she not only in the most solemn manner denies her marriage

with Mr. Steuart, although she had been iuarrie<l to him
several montlis, but likewise throws out a deal of seurrility uix)n

her own cousine Mrs. Stewart,- for her having repeated the news

which she had heard of that marriage. There are several

other instances of this deceit in her conduct, in some of her

letters to her brother the Duke of Douglas, and in several other

rl

'Sir David Dalrymple of Hailes, Bart., appointed, with the title of
Lord Hailes, 1766; died 1792.

' Sec Historical Narrative, p. 26.
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Lord HallM pai i her epistolary correspondence. I admit that, never-

theless, tlie private correspondence between her and Sir John

is anion<^8t the strongest parts of the evidence on the side of the

defendant
; yet there is one thing exceedingly remarkable, that

in none of these letters tc one another do they ever complain

of the suspicions propagated against the birth, nor unburden

here wiiat naturally would have been expected to have been

uppermost in Jieir minds.

I am at a loss to account for the part that Lady Jane acted

throughout the whole of this scene, and must attribute it to the

amazing ascendency whicii Sir John seems to have got over the

mind of this unhappy lady.

Having made these observations, I now proceed to examine

the evidence brought in this cause. And first as to tlio

pregnancy. The appearance of this is proved indeed by strong

testimony. I observe that several of the witnesses give as

their reason for thinking Lady Jane pregnant that she wa« weak

and pale, though it is very certain that she was so by her

natural constitution. Several of the nuns at Aix-la-Chapelle

have de[iosed strongly to the pregnancy, though they are surely

not tlie l)est evidences to establish a fact of this sort.

Mrs. Greig I esteem a very honest evidence, but one who is

overrun with prejudices ; and I have the same opinion of Miss

Primrose. Much has been said about the miscarriages by
Lady Jane ; and more particularly the defendant has founded

strongly on the dejiosition of the nurse, Manger, and of Madame
Rutlidge. Tliat mentioned by Madame Manger is now given

up, and the defendant supposes that she may have mistaken

the Catamenia for a miscarriage.

It is very jwssible that honest witnesses may have been

deceived in their notions of the pregnancy by entertaining a

sort of belief that some great event or otlier was to follow—such

aa is mentioned in Sir William Stewart's and the Earl of Dum-
barton's letters to Lady Tano. Lady Catharine Wemyss is an

unsuspected evidence, and yet she observed nothing of the

pregnancy ; on the contrary, her whole deposition tends the

other way. The Cotiiitess of Wigton does not say that she

herself perceived anything; she only believed it because she

beard it commonly reported so by others. Mrs. Andrieux at

Rheims had no notion of the pregnancy; neither had General

M'Lean, the Miss Hiberts, nor Madame Sautry, the mantua-

maker. At the same time, if I could give full credit to Isabel
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Walker, the cause would incline to the side of the defendant : Uwl Hatlea
but I cannot believe her evidence, because she swears to things
which I think incredible. A strong instance of this is that she
does not remember any one thing about the Chevalier Johnston,
though he went over in Lady Jane's company in the pacquet-
boat to Holland. Her conversations with Madame Gillcsseu in
German, and with Madame Andrieux in French, I cannot give
credit to

; and it is truly amazing that her curiosity should
never have led her so much as to look into Sir John Steuart's
declaration, nor Mrs. Hewit's oatli, although she had sunt her
from Edinburgh the papers in this cause.
But these are not the most material purticuluis to diminish

the credibility due to this witness. In the former oath she
swore' expressly that she had her hands upon Lady Jane's
naked belly, and found her with live child ; whereas in her last
oath, lately emitted in your Lordships' presence, she says that
it was not her naked belly that she felt when she found the child
move, but above lier shirt, as she thinks. She further swears
that she had never before felt the motion of a child in any other
woman.

Is it not wonderful that this witness Imd not the same oppor-
tunity of making this trial afterwards, when th'^ pregnancy was
much more oompleat? Had she fixed iijioii a more early period,
the difficulty would have been changed, but not done away.'
Another particular in which I think this witness has gone too
far is in what she has dejioscd as to the letter from Mrs. Hewit
at Paris. I am persuaded there never could be any sucli letter,
or at least it nmst have been a letter wrote betwixt the L'l'nd
arid 26th day of July. Another circumstanco in which this
witness appears to me to have gone too far is in wliat she lias
deposed as to the letter from La Marre, received by Sir John
Steuart when in Mr. Murray's, St. James's Place. The account
given of it by her is not credible : and I am persuaded the 'utter
she alludes to is the famous fourth letter dated 9th June 1752
whereas they had left Mr. Murray's in September, 1751.'

Sir John's declaration and La Marre's letters are amongst the
capital parts of the proof in this cause. First, as to his declara-
tion, there can be no pretence of his vivacity to apply here
to paUiate his falsehood. On the contrary, there is the strongest

^Here his Lordship spok- Latin: it is supposed because there were a.great many ladies in the Court. [Original note.]
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Lord HiOlas proof of a gtate of recollection of mind throughout the whole of
that declaration. And, in fact, Sir John uses with the greatest

propriety, sometimefl positive assertion, sometimes a non
memini, and sometimes expressions of doubt. Sir John had
pretended to Mrs. Napier that he was very apt 'o forget namea
and dates, though he had a good enough memory as to facts.

But the truth is that, upon considering the declaration itself, it

does appear that he had a very good memory hot)- as to namea
and dates, for in that declaration he does give us no less than
twenty-five different names and dates. The only time that he
seems to be at a loss for names and dates is when he oomei
to bo examined about the Le Brune's house, about her lodgers,

about the nurse of the child, and the banker from whom he got
tlie money at Paris. Mr. Hepburn of Keith has in his oath
deposed pretty strongly as to Sir John Steuart's want of

memory, and particularly gives one instance of it which happened
at Boulogne ; but this is by no means sufficient evidence in

opposition to so much to the contrary appearing on the face of

his own declaration.

As to Sir John 8 description of La Marre, the accoucheur, it

is the most wonderful that was ever heard. He concealed his
lodgings even from Sir John, and yet he frequented coSee-houses
and the most'public walks in Paris. And yet, notwithstanding
all this. Sir John gets his address, and so sends him letters

directed to the care of the post office in Paris, which he receives

and answers.

It has been said by Sir John and Mrs. Hewit that they were
obliged to leave the Madame Le Brune's house on account of
bugs ; but it is also said that they left the house they were in

because it was a smokey house. Which was this smokey house!
It was not Le Brune's surely, it was on account of bugs they
had left this house ; and it could not be Michelle's, for they only
here complain of the bugs.

According to Sir John Steuart's accounts, the second child

was sent to nurse within two or three leagues of Paris, on the

road to Amiens ; and when he was examined afterwards upon
oath he deposes that the child was a little way from Paris. In

short, his whole account of La Marre, and every thing concerning
him, is absurd from beginning to end.

If, as Sir John said. La Marre came from Li^ge, why not go
to that place to enquire for him ? The power of the parliament

of Paris did not exten 1 here, and Sir John was in absolute

no
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•afaty to go. It has been alledged that Sir John was in no Lord
mistake when he called La Marre a WallooD, aa he waa from
Montreuil sur Mer ; but suppose Sir John had said La Marre
was a Roman, it might have been equally well argued he was
right.

I have formerly mentioned La Marre's letters ; as to these four
which are forged, Sir John's alledgeanoe was that they were
copied from the originals by Mr. Clinton at London. And
this again Mr. Clinton denies.

In the fourth of these letters, which I have mentioned before,
there is a great deal of art displayed by Sir John. In the
first place, it is evidently intended to serve as a certificate from
Pierre La Marre, although in the form of a letter. It would
have been more dangerous for Sir John to have forged a certifi-
cate with all the solemnities, than to forge a single letter.
Secondly, it was necessary that the Pierre La Marre should be
dead when he was called for to be produced, and therefore Sir
John makes him to say in that letter that he was going again
to Naples (on account of the air), as his health was not yet
confirmed. And, thirdly. Sir John makes the letter to be
delivered by a private hand, one Mons. Du Bois, a miniature
painter, in order to save the danger from that question, how
could you get a foreign letter delivered in England without its
having the postmark upon it» It is remarkable, too, that in
this letter La Marre makes his enquiries after the youngest
child by the name of Sholto Thomas, though if he had really
ondoyed him, it is well known that, upon such occasions, the
accoucheur never does give the child a name.

Sir John has said that he never could find out this Mons. Du
Bois who brought the letter ; but Sir John could not but know
that if he went to a certain coflfee-house in London, he would
have immediately heard of any French artist whatever who had
come over to follow his business in England.

These four letters now in process I at first believed genuine,
and was thereby convinced that the defendant was the son of
Lady Jane

; but now that they are proved false and fabricated,
they have great weight with me to believe that he is not her
son.

I will not pretend to go through the mass of proof before us,
and therefore will only state a few other observations upon the
remaining part of the ervidence. Mrs. Hewit's memory,
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Lord HallM instead of being weak like Sir John's, as was alledged, is reallj

amazing, for she forgets only five dates in twenty. What are

these fivet They are all contained in the compass of time
taken up in the last pi -t of thoir journey, and t)te time between
their leaving Godefrois and their coming ^o Michelle's. But
at any rate, at the time she wrote the letters to the maids at

Rheims, her memory nmst bo presumed to have been clear, and
yet here she is detected in contradicting heriielf about the story

of the nurses, more particularly as to Madame La Fivre and
Manger. In her letter of the 27th July she would insiiiuaio to

the maids that the eldest child had had only one nurse before

they met with La Favre, and yet afterwards she says they had
three nurses before Manger, who came immediately after La
Favre. Though, as she says, " base jades, they would not

oomealongst with us." When Mrs. Hewit came to be examined
herself, she gave a different account of the nurses, and her

letter of the 12th of August is utterly irreconcilable with the

whole of her account given u]ion oath. Mrs. Hewit has deposed

that she had no conversation with Lady Jane about the person

who was to deliver her; but is it possible to believe this7

Were it true, it would be a most singular anecdote in the history

of human nature.

I come now to a part of the evidence which I think unex-

ceptionable and conclusive against the defendant—I mean Gode-

froi's books, from which the following particulars are clear

:

Imo, That three people were entered into those books on the

4th of July, at four livres ten sous.

2do, That the account relates to a gentleman who was the

head of a family. And
3tio, that this company had no servant alongst wiiu them.

In all which particulars the account exactly agrees to Sir

John Steuart and his company.

The defendant's hypothesis is, that this account may relate

to a different company, who were in the house upon the seventh

of July. But supposing that this company had escaped two

vita's of the inspecteur, there is scarcely one single instance of

an entry in the police books for two or more persons without a

correspondent entry in the household book.

As to the parole testimony of Godefroi and his wife, they had
a good cause of remembrance. Sir John Steuart and Lady
Jane had been recommended to theru by Mr. Mallifer, syndic of
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Rheims ; and besides this, it wa4i a very remarkable thing to M* Lord IUIIm

British people ooniing to Paris before the proclamation of pwo*.
And when to this we add the pointed description of Sir Jobn'i
language and manner, we have no reaaon to think they hare
been in a mistake.

If upon their leaving the Hotel Chalons they could have
point«l out the Le Brune's, or if they could have brought any
circumstances whatever to show that such a woman over existed,

it would have derogated much from the testimony of Godefroi.

But no person whatever of the name of Le Brune has been
found out or heard of, in the least corresponding with the
accounts given of that house by Sir John and Mrs. Hewit.
By their accounts one would think that the Le Brune, in whoae
house the delivery is pretended to have happened, was like that
of Michelle, a respectable house ; not that of a garde malade,
which is the asylum of the loose and wretched, a fit enough
place for Mignons to go to, but not for Douglas.

The non-existence of the Madame Le Brune is evident; in

•hort, it was necessary in this case, as in all others of im-
posture, to substitute fictitious persons, and make them act

their part in the same. This was particularly done in the
famous case of George Salmanassar, and was one great meani
of his detection, as it was likewise in the case of Count
Vincentio—Count De La Torre.

As to the two enlevements, whatever objections may lie

against the testimony of Madame Mignon, yet the whole cir-

cumstance of her child's being carried off is proved by othera

;

and as to Saury's enlevement, th© witnesse* here are under no
suspicion whatever.

Upon the whole, his Lordship gave his opinion for sustaining
the reasons of reduction.
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Tuesday, 14th July, 1766.

MwflMi^torii J^_^
^»"' Ju8Tici-Clw«1—It ia now my duty to give my

opinion upon thia Tery important cauae, the moat important,
taken in all ita oircumatancea and oouaequcnces, that ever cam*
before thia Court.

The righta of filiation ahould no doubt be atrictly guarded and
•ecurod againat challenge, and, on the other hand, that aam«
right ahould be equally guarded againat inipoature and auppoai-
tion of children. The plaintifla in this cauae have an eaaential
intereat, and have been found to liave a good title to pursue.
The aituation of the defendant, and the importance of thia

deciaion are too affecting not to be felt by every body. Sorry
I am, therefore, that I must now give my opinion against him,
an opinion which, I hope, will appear to all, and particularly
to thoae who know my particular regard for tlie noble peraonage
who patroniaea his defence, to flow only from the deepest con-
viction, and from my regard to the rights of sacred justice.

This being so late in the debate, and so much having been ao
well aaid by othera of your Lordships, it would bo improper for
me now to take up the cause in the same extensive view which
otherways I ahould 1 ave done.

I will therefore, in the first place, proceed to lay down a few
of the principles of law and the rules of evidence upon which,
in my opinion, thia case falla to be determined. The first

point which has occurred in this debate is Cui incumbet
probatiof the arguments upon which, I think, have been
strained too far by the council upon both sides. The plaintiffa
and the defendant have now joined issue upon the fact; there-
fore, if the plaintiffs have not brought evidence sufficient to
prove the position which they maintain, then the service must
stand

; but if upon the whole of the proof we shall be convinced
that the defendant is not the son of Lady Jane Douglas, then
the service must fall.

In all actions whether criminal or civil, we have two kinds
of evidence to judge of, either direct or circumstantiate.

'Sir Thomas Miller of Ulenlee, appointed, with the title of Lord
Barakimmmg, 1766 ; became Lord President, 1788 ; died 1789.
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In the cMe before ui, the proof ii circumitantiate, uid ^or^^^ ^
therefore each circui"»tuucH imwi Iw proved by one or more

'''••"••^'

witneMee, or by written evidence: And we must in the next
place join the whole of the circuinitancee together, cod then
draw our conclusion U8 to the totul amount.

It it admitted by all lawyer*, tliat a circumstantiate evi-

dence may give as full conviction to the mindi of judge* at

•ny othor proof whatever. And it u likeway* admitted that

no part of luch a proof will go 80 far to convince judges, as the

evidence drawn from tiiu ouths, conduct and behaviour of the

parties themselves ; and this, because the fuctg being clearly

ascertained, the only question remaining is, as to the conclusion

from thence to be drawn.

We have hoard it said, tliut your Ixtrdships must have

demonstration before the defendant can be turned out of the

possetwion of hie statu : but demonstration implies the

physical impossibility of the contrary, which can occur in no
caae of evidence. The term may indeed be often applied

figuratively to proofs, but liteially taken, it in an abuse of

word«. We have indeed seen cases where there was a moral

impossibility of the prisoner's innocence, and yet, we have

seen juries acquit such a one. Such a caae wu8 that of Reid,

who was lately tried before the criminal Court, for the crime

of sheep-stealing. This Iteid was a poor man of a very

auspicious character. He was found with the exact number
of sheep in his possession upon the road leading from the

very farm from oS which they were stole, and he pretended

not to bring any proof whatever, that he had attained the

property of them in any lawful way. A council at that bar,

who likes to distinguish himself upon such occasions,

patronized the prisoner's defence, and notwithstanding the

clearest and most positive evidence of all the facts which I

have mentioned, " The jury acquitted the prisoner." Upon
ao strange a verdict your Lordships, members of that high

Court (I mean all of you who were then present) declared your

opinions seriatim. That this verdict was given in the face of

most compleat evidence.

It was said by some of your Lordships, " That a direct proof

by two or more credible witnesses, cannot be redargued by a

proof of circumstances not inconsistent with or exclusive

of the truth of the allegiance maintained by the persons

accused." I readily admit the justice of thia general pro-
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t^ nk that the whole of the plaintiff.' proof. •. „„t i„con.i.tent
with their allegiance, m.i.t apply the principle to the deoi.ion

olJ^ V»r' • u"\'"'*'
°' "* " •*''"•' *''^ plaintiffs' proof not

compatible with the.r oath^ cannot give thi« propo.ition room
hero

;
it m impoMible for u. to do go.

It hn. iM^en admitte.1, that the more acknowledgment of
par.nt* was not mifficieiU for the defendant, but it wa. aaid
that lu- had the habite and repute of the country of hiH birth
I urulerntand well the weight of the argument from habite and
repute when a child in born of a marriage in the country
where hi. parents, his friend, and his connections reside; or
If in a foreign country where it shaU appear, that his parent.
tmve estnbliHhod such a connection. But what is the habite
and repute contended for here? What is its strength? Is it
the habite and reput- of their friends and neighbours at Paris?
Ihey had none «nrh there, for they kept themselves concealed.
What then does it cn„.e out to be? Not even the habite and
repute of the family where the birth happbncd (for no such
f..n,ily has been found out) but only that of the family of
Madame Michelle. But who of that family was ever to
question the truth of the account given by a strange lady
of her having had a child : And. is it possible, that any judge
can lay weight upon this as being habite and repute?

When. aft^«r returning to Hheims, the same argument holds
good, they came there amongst strangers who had no interest
whatever in the matter ; why then should such people either
enquire or doubt?

Much has been said of the danger of putting British people,
who have transmigrated to the colonies abroad, to prove their
birth

;
but this alarming consideration does not strike in here,

because the habite and repute arises to them from their resi-
dence in such colonies, and from the knowle<lge of their rela-
tions, their friends and their neighbours founded upon that resi-
dence. But will this apply to the present case, where the
parties concerned have, by their own deliberate act, shut out
the possibility of any habite and repute whatever?
Much has also been said of the great delay of the plaintiffsm bringing this action. If this observation was true, it

would strike me in the very contrary light. Suppose that
the late Duke of Hamilton had taken up a suspicion of this

««l.
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birth, I will not lay whether action at hit instaoce would Upd
havi. lieon iiu«tuiiud or not; hut at anj rato it waa not reason-

•''»*'«»^'«'*

ahlo to ei|)ccc, that when the Duke of Douglua did not challenge
the birth, the Duke of Hamilton tlioiild. On the other band,
to be aiire, the defendant might have brought a declarator of
hii birth. Yet I do not impute it to him that be did not do
»o, but I impute it to Sir John and Lady Jane, that when tlu-y

were ropeufedly wiirned of the flagrnnt gunpicions, they did not
take the common iind necessary methods of removing the
•UHpicions, and necuring evidence of tiie birth. If tbii de-
fendant )iad been generally received an the wn of Lady Jane
Douglas, there would have been no room for such an imputa-
tion

; but when, from the beginning, the birth waa auapected,
not only by the Duke of Douglas, but by many others, the delay
of bringing an aciion to have the matter cleared up, must
be imputed, not to the plaintiffs, bu» to Sir John Steuart and
Lady Jane Douglaii.

Much hag bi>en said on the part of the defendant, on account
of the Tournelle process, and the witnesseH examined by the
Tournelle, instead of being omni exeeptione maj<rre», were
said to l>e oinni rtimtationr minorrn; these were two strong
expressions, and I cannot but disapprove of them. I am »ure
I never was attached to arbitrary proceedings, but I have too
much liberality ever to reflect on the honour' of so respectable
a Court as the Parliament of Paris. These witnesses were
subject to tiio jurisdiction of that high Court, were examined
according,' to law and rule ; how tlien can such testimonies be
compared to those of a t,lavo under his master's rodi
What were the grounds upon which all this prejudice was

founded? They were these principally, that the witnesses
were examined in private before the Tournelle ; and that they
were tliereby tied down to tell the same story again. I can
have no idea, that the strong opinion which I now notice
could 1 J founded upon the witnesses complying with the law
of the:*, country. How can this infer any suspicion of false
swearirg? Or why, because a witness is once sworn, shall his
after evidence u on oath be thereby discredited? In England,
witnesses v, ;o have sworn in one Coiirt, are sworn again in
another. This is the case in all jury-trials in that country,
and it is the case in this country too, where we have witnesses
examined in the Court of Session, though they had emitted
their testimony formerly in that of the Justiciary. This is a
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jStka^^lmti *'^^^^ ^^^ ^^' °®^®'" doubted of before; it hu occurred in thi»
very cause, for there are several of the witnesses who after
having sworn to establish the defendant's propinquity upon
hi« service have been again and again examined upon your
Lordships' commissions.

I recollect, that there was a period when this Tournelle
process had well nigh obstructed the course of justice. Much
outcry was raised against it, both here and in another great
house; and therefore it is not to be wondered at if there
was some strong speeches made upon the occasion : but with-
out prophesying, as my brother has done, I can say this upon
the judgment of the House of Peers itself, that that Court
relaxed the severity of your Lordships' judgment, and that
the idea of the defendant, as to this Tournelle process, was
there treated with contempt. If these Tournelle witnesses
had been picked off the streets of Paris, it would have been
a strong thing indeed ; but they all happened to be unsuspicious,
because Lady Jane and Sir John have confessedly committed
the inspection of their conduct to them. I must therefore,
in order to have a compleat view of this matter, find out the
sources of this alleged corruption, and bribery, and slavish
fear. I cannot believe that the noble and honourable
guardians of the Duke of Hamilton would have either cor-
rupted or concussed the witnesses. To me it is more difficult
to believe, that these persons would thus wickedly conspire
against the young defendant, than that Lady Jane and Sir
John should have conspired together to bring in an impostor.
No jealousy can be entertained of Mr. Andrew Stuart, who
carried on the whole affair in France. He has already got
an honourable testimony from the bench. I back that testi-
mony as to his whole conduct in this cause ; and I do believe
that the records of Court cannot furnish us with a more
honourable instance of candour and openness than what he has
shown in these proceedings. His character stood the scrutiny
and examination of all his private memorials and paper*
concerning his enquiries in France; a trial, which, it is
believed, no agent ever underwent before.

In what I have further to say, I will not however rely much
upon the Tournelle witnesses, on account of the clamour which
has been carried so extremely high against these proceeding'*
I would have inclined to have given my opinion upon one
general view of the evidence : but because all your Lordships

ti8
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have given the particular grounds of your opinions, I shall also Lord
give mine. The first thing which I take into my conaidera-

•'"»»**-C«*

tion is, the characters of Lady Jane and Sir John. I will
not however go deep here, as I do own that this is a sort
of evidence which seldom weighs far with me, as people who
are honest themselves seldom suspect others. Several wit-
nesses have sworn very favourably for Lady Jane upon this
point of her character; but I do own, that I see so much
real evidence of the falsehood and duplicity of her character,
that I cannot lay any stress upon these witnesses' opinions.

Her letters to Mrs. Carse, wherein she so much abuses Mrs.
Stewart for telling a tiling which she herself knew to be truth,
and the whole of her conversation with Lady Catherine Wemyss
at Aix-la-Chapelle, are extremely strong upon this point. In
all her letters to her friends in Scotland she is full of tlie

greatest zeal for the Protestant religion, and semns to be
uneasy till she can get to Geneva, or some other place where
•he might have the free exercise of it; while in the mean
time she goes into the very heart of France, where she could
have no opportunity at all of the exercise of her own religion.
But above all, this falsehood and duplicity of conduct appears
in the forgery of the letters ; in which, I think, Lady Jane
was concerned alongst with Sir John.

But cui bono? and with what motives did they agree to
impose children on the world! I am at no loss to' see these:
the use immediately made of the cliildron to get money from
the Duke of Douglas, speaks out the design ; and it is most
probable likewise, that Lady Jane believed that the dignity
and estate of Angus would undoubtedly descend upon her and
her issue. As to the motives for this terrible action, I do
not believe they had the same views of the crime that your
Lordships have. They might colour it over with public
spirit, a desire to keep up the family of Douglas, and a resent-
ment against the Duke of Hamilton.
Lady Jane was clearly past the period of having children,

according to the common course of nature. This, therefore,
shows that it was at least an extraordinary thing. I there-
fore differ from one of your Lordships, who, upon the account
of the liability to have children, thought there was nothing
at all surprising in Lady Jane's actually having children.
And I do aver, that there is not one women in ten thousand,
yea not one in twenty thousand, who produces children at the
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jSSwCtark l^.
^^y •^*°« '*»« whatever signs they may have of capa-

bility I only mention thig, because it should have led us
to be more attentive to the particular circumstances of the
alleged pregnancy.

As to the proof of the pregnancy, I think it not satisfactory

;

it amounts to the appearance of pregnancy only: there is a
bulk deposed to by the witnesses, but no evidence of her being
actually and truly with child. The uncommon size of Lady
Jane's belly and breast, rests on the evidence of Mrs. Hewit and
Isabel Walker

; neither of whom I believe. And as to what
is swore by the other witnesses, and more particularly by Mrs.
Hepburn of Keith, it goes no further than to prove certain
external appearances. I therefore leave it here, and acknow-
ledge, that there were the external appearances of pregnancy.
Shall I hold these appearances then to be assumed} No.
Shall I hold them to be real! No; but I will enquire after-
wards if we can have room upon the other proof, and so join
the proof which I have already treated of to that other proof
which may occur on the side of the defendant; but if from
all circumstances taken together, I can have no conviction
at all of the birth, but quite the contrary, then I must hold
the pregnancy to have been assumed and false, such as must
precede every imposture of children.

Having said so much, I will consider dightlj the other
circumstances, the principal of which is their own conduct at
Rheims. Sir John and Lady Jane had made a long and
unseasonable journey from Aix-la-Chapelle to Rheims, under
tlie pretence of her being to be there delivered ; and yet they
loiter away there for the space of a month, without making
their purpose known to any person they were acquainted with
at Rheims, or even without so much as once calling for the
advice of any physician or accoucheur. When at last they set off
by themselves for Paris, there is no mention made of getting
any recommendations to the best assistance at Paris : although
that has since been given as the pretence for their going
there. Not one letter from any person whatever, but that
from Mons. Mallifer. It i.s an amazing affair, never once
to have mentioned to him their real design in going to
Paris

; and tliat they sliould have given Mons. Mallifer a false
account of that design. I will not enlarge upon the suspicious
circumstances of their having left the maid-servants at
Rheims, because this was owned by one of your Lordships,

ISO
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who gpoke on the other side, to be a strange and an unaccount- Lord
able circumstance. Tlie fact, however, stands uncontroverted, •'"•««**'"'k

and the only dispute is as to the conclusion which it will
bear. In all the proofs of partus luppoiitio, this of the
actors dropping their common attendant)s, has commonly
occurred as a capital circumstance. Sir John and Mrs. Hewit
acknowledge the fact, and they saw the necessity of accounting
for it

;
and they did accordingly give an account of it which

is false. Instead of their not having so much money as was
sufficient to transport their maids to Paris (and it would
have only required the trifling sum of twelve shillings to do
so) it is proved that they had plenty of money to make them
live easily, although perhaps not enough to support Sir John
Steuart in his dissipated course of life. It was upon this
point noticed, that the defendant is not obliged to account
for the conduct of his parents.

This may be true in all common cases, but not in those of
the last importance to the world, in which most, if not all

men, agree in their notions of propriety of conduct. As they
travelled along in the stage-coach to Paris, there was not the
least observation made of her pregnancy, nor did she ever dis-
cover the least of that anxiety natural to a delicate lady,
making so far a journey at so critical a period. There was
surely no motive to conceal her pregnancy, if it was true.
Yea, upon that supposition it waa most natural to expect, that
she would have explained to the reet of the company her motives
for the journey to Paris, as they might (and no doubt were
able to) have given her some advice as to her conduct there.
Nature dictated this, and anxiety and honour likewise.
These circumstances are indeed amazing, and show to me
clearly, that the necessity of the appearances of pregnancy,
formerly assumed, being now over, Lady Jane designedly kept
every thing as close as she could.

Upon the evening of the 4th July, they arrive at the house
of Mons. Godefroi in Paris; a respectable house, and of all
other lodgings the most adapted to the purpose of Lady Jane
Douglass delivery, as they had come there specially recom-
mended by MonB. Mallifer at Rlieims. Or if Lady Jane had
thought proper to quit that house before her delivery, it was
natural to have expected, that she would have acquainted Mr.
or Madame Godefroi of this resolution, and desired their
advice as to the proper place she might go to for that purpose.
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JSuM^ltpk ^^^ '* """'y ^''"'^ ^a^® been natural too, to have tpoka
something to Mr. Godefroi about the Pierre La Marre, whoWM an absolute stranger to Lady Jane, and who it is now
said had been spoke to before-hand to accomplish the delivery.
But instead of all this, there is no talk at Mons. Godefroi's,
either of a pr^nancy or of a future delivery. There is not
even the appearance of pregnancy here, about which we have
heard so much when at Rheims.
As to the Madame Le Brune's, to which it is pretended they

went, and where it is said she was delivered, upon the tenth
of the month, was it not to have been expected that Sir John
Steuart should have been able to give some satisfactory
account of this matter! But indeed if ever there was such a
house, it is inconceivable that it has not ever beer discovered.
A train of circumstances led to such a discovery ; the appear-
ance of strangers, and more particularly British people of
rank, must have attracted the attention of almost the whole
little street in which the Madame Le Brune is said to have
lived.

When to this we add Sir John's note to Lady Schaw, and
Mrs. Hewit's letter to the Duke of Douglas, in both of which
not the house of Le Brune, but that of Michelle's, is fixed down
for the place of delivery, it is clear that all thia story about
the Le Brune is a perfect fiction. But what I think the
Btrongeet part of the proof of the falsehood of the delivery is,

the many letters wrote by Sir John and Mra. Hewit, bearing
date the 10th and the llth of July, in which there is not the
least mention made of any thing like a delivery. Suppose the
defendant's hypothesis just, that these letters, bearing date
of the 10th, were actually wrote upon the 9th. What thent
the letter of the eleventh still remains, and strikes strongly
by itself. Will an after-correction remove the difficulty!
No, it makes it worse ; because, if it was a real birth, what
reason could there be of making any correction as to the day
and hour m the letter of the 22nd of July! When to this we
add, that aU and each of their letters, wrote from Paris to
their friends in Germany and Britain, were falsely dated from
Rheims, is Jt possible to conceive that this circumstance
should not have great weight in the cause? And indeed a long
train of letter* written by them from Rheims to Britain show
clearly, that this of the false dates was done of design. Their
not saying that the birth had happened at Rheims make* them
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thing ao much the worse ; for the whole rtrain of theie lettert Lord
is to make their friends, especially those in Britain, believe

''"*•"••'*'•*

that the delivery had actually happened at Rheima. Thia
appears from Sir John Steuart's letter to the Earl of Cra^-fo^d,
written at Paris upon the 10th of July ; and from another letter
of the 26th of the same month, both which are falsely dated
from Rheims. And when to thi« we add Lady Jane's letter
to her brother the duke, not only falsely dated from Rheims,
after the pretended deliverjj, but wherein she says, that " she
had come to remain there on account of the cheapnew of the
place and the salubrity of the air " : can we think that all
these circumstances are of no importance in a proof of a moat
complicated fraud and imposture?

There is still one other capital circumstance which affects
me strongly in this cause, and for which there ha« been given
no shadow of excuse ; and that is, though the delivery is said
to have happened upon the 10th of July, yet no notice is given
of it by letters till the 22nd of tliat month. Try if you can
find any excuse for so strange a proceeding! Can you take
the hurry they were in as the least excuse for thi« neglect I
No

:
they would have been naturally and powerfully prompted

immediately to communicate to all their friends so joyful
an event as the birth of twins.

As to the alibi, in Godefroi's, I am clearly of opinion, that
the evidence thereof is conclusive against the defendant, not-
withstanding all that I have heard thrown out against that
evidence. It is clear that they all were there from the fourth
of July to the thirteenth or fourteenth. THcto is no com-
petition as to the place of their residence during this period,
which indeed would have made a great odds upon this
argument.

As to the evidence of Madame Michelle and others of her
family, they are abundantly partial to the dtiMi^lant; and
yet this whole evidence gives such a picture of iae situation
of Lady Jane upon her coming to that house, as ia utterly
incredible upon the supposition of a recent ddivery.

Instead of Lady Jane's being so weak and ill aa not to be
able to go even once abroad from Michelle's, (which Mrs.
Hewit has expressly deposed) you have it established by the
most credible testimonies, that she took two separate jaunts
during that time, and that one of these was to see Versaill «.
What a picture does this give of the perjury committed by
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**''• ^^'''^ ^^^ Sir John Steuart, and how well does it

account for Ladj Jane's nei'er going once to see her poor,

sickly, second child! For is it credible that, while she was
thus taking jaunts of pleasure round Paris, she should not have
found time to have seen her own child 1

A« to the enlevements : I desiderated if there had been any
such thing ns this proved to have been accomplished in the
memory of man, and I find there is no proof of any such ; and
though I am by no means clear, that thi'se enlevements are

directly brought home to Sir John Steuart ; yet, when we take
the whole of these circumstances alongst witli the other evi-

dence which I have formerly stated, it conveys a belief to me,
that these children were disposed of to Sir John and Lady
Jane.

As to the new man-midwife, Louis Pier de La Marro: I

must acknowledge, That when I considered this part of the

evidence, I did not think that the defendant had been drove
to the desperate necessity of rearing up a different man-midwife.
It is not possible to consolidate these two persons together

:

they are different persons clearly and totally, in age, in

name, and country. The account which the defendant now
gives of this matter is destroyed by the inherent circumstances

of Madame Garnier's oath, who I do believe to have been no
more the nurse to the second child, than this Pierre La Marre
was the accoucheur.

I now come to speak a little of the conduct of the pretended

parents themselves, after the supposed delivery.

It appears that they were very early informed of the

suspicions of the birtli, and yet that they never took any
prudent step to remove them. All that they did was to

procure from Madame Tewis a declaration of tlie appearance

of pregnancy at its most fallible state.

As to the opinion said to have been given to Lady Jane

by Lord Prcstongrange, that she was not obliged to bring any

proof of the birth, I do not believe the testimony of Isabel

Walker upon this point : and this because Sir John and Lady
Jane's joint letter to Madame Tewis sliews to me, that they

wanted to have had a proof of the whole, if they had dared to

go to Paris to seek it.

As to the forgery of the letters, I think this part r\i the

evidence should by no means be treated like a Imus ingenii

in this High Court. What a strange view of this cause is it,

to suppose that these parties, when conscious of a true birth,

"4
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would have both (for Sir John and Lady Jane are clearly con- Lord
federate*) joined to support that birth by forged and fabricated

•'"•"••-^•"'

evidence; firat thereby to impose upon the Duke of Douglaa,
and thereafter upon all tlie world, by handing down thi» false

evidence to latest generations} See what deep wounds such
!i thing may have given to the law I and it is no excuse for
thia, that Sir John may pretend he was only conveying to the
judges by means of forgery what he knew to be true. For
the whole evidence shows that there never wer« any original
letters from which these cotild have been taken.

It was said, that though the defendant founds upon the
acknowledgment of his parents, yet that, as he does not reat
the whole of his ploa upon this, the accounts given by his
parents cannot hurt him. But is it possible to maintain that
there is any weight due to the evidence of a parent who baa
been guilty of such repeated falsehoods, and who has in this
very cause forged and used false evidence for the perverting
of justice?

Lord MoNBODDoi—I am not vain enough to think that any Urd
thing I can say in this debate can have the eflfect to alter the

"•'"*•**•

opinions given by any of your Lordships ; but yet, as I have a
full conviction that the defendant is really the son of Lady
Jane Douglas, I think it incumbent on me upon this occasion
to give the reasons of this my opinion at some length.

The plaintiffs have now taken up a very different ground
from what they at first maintained. At first the whole of their
proof was said to be founded, first, upon the books of Michelle

;

secondly, upon the age of the child brought to her house;
thirdly, upon there being no accoucheur in Paris in the year
1748, of the name of La Marre ; and, fourthly, upon the
suspicions in France at the time. These were the capital
circumstances laid down in the plaintiffs' original condescend-
ence. But now we have got a new cause, and there is no vestige
remaining of the old one. This new cause is founded, first, on
the conduct of the parties themselves ; secondly, on the alleged
alibi in the house of Godefroi ; and, thirdly, upon the enleve-
ments. Upon this I would observe that the changing of ground
gives at no time a very favourable opinion of a cause, and
that particularly in the present case it shows that the plaintiffs

» James Burnett of Monboddo, appointed, with the title of Lord
Monboddo, 1767; died 1799.
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themselTM had no confidence in Mr. Godefroi'a evidence, when

they at firit placed the alibi in the bouie of Michelle. Tet

after all there ii no tuch clear, plain, and convincing evidence

brought aa ihould take away a man'i birthright from him.

There are several very material pointi of law which I will beg

leave to notice before I proceed to itate the evidence. And,

first, as to the onus probandi. This the plaintiffs in their

memorial lay wholly upon the defendant. This is indeed a

noost dangerous doctrine, and if this was law no man whatever

can say that he has a state at all. The acknowledgment of

the parents and the habite and repute is the charter of every

man's birthright. Positive evidence is confined to a very few

facts, and in proportion as by length of time such positive proof

may be diminished, tlie legal presumption for filiation doe*

encrease. But yet in the present case this defendant reats

not upon that legal presumption, but has brought both direct

and circumstantiate evidence of his birth ; which being the case,

he cannot be turned out of possession but by demonstrative

evidence. I am here aware of the observation made by one of

your Lordships, that, literally taken, there can be no such

thing as a demonstrative proof ; but what I call demonstration

must exclude the possibility of the thing's being otherwise.

Tet I do not deny that a circumstantiate proof may be here

admitted, but it must be such a one as is su£5cient to exclude

the possibility of the real birth. Another point of law is as

to the habite and repute. It was said that there was no habite

and repute to a person bom in a foreign country. This

appears to me to be a very dangerous mistake. I cannot

confine the habite and repute to the voice of the family, friends

and relations at home, since it may arise from the voice of

friends, neighbours, and acquaintances abroad. And in the

case before us, it is clear there were no suspicions heard of in

France. Even the plaintiffs' own witnesses, Madame Blainville

and Madame Michelle, are strong evidences for the defendant as

to his habite and repute there.

The next point of law which falls to be treated of is that of

the acknowledgment of the parents. It has been said that

this must go for nothing, because Sir John Steuart has prevari-

cated, or tuld falsehoods upon oath. But this is confounding

the testimony of Sir John with the act of his ackno^^ledgment.

It would be hard indeed if a man brought to be examined in

Court in the situation Sir John then was, should by mistakes,

or even by telling falsehoods, deprive his real son of his birth-
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right. Sir John'a declaration wai obtained by lurpriu from Let^^^
jrour Lordihips, and lie was under a fit of lickneu when he

"'•**•

was brought to be examined before you. But even luppoiing

jour Lordships should give all the weight to this plea of the

plaintiffs which they desire, what does it amount tot Only to

a few mistakes in his description of the Pierre La Marre. The
mistake about his being a Walloon is trivial ; it is just aa

if we should call a man on the other side of the water of Tay
a Perth man. But surely the use made of this and of other

such mistakes cannot destroy Doctor Menager's testimony, nor

that of Madame Gamier.

But even suppose that Sir John had been willingly perjured,

what thent Would his perjury have a stronger effect against

the defendant than that of any other witness t And yet it is

certain that though a third person, who was a witness, had
perjured himself upon the side of the defendant, it would have
had no effect at all upon his general plea.

The next question in point of law is, what nre to be the effects

of the delay on the part of the plaintiffs in bringing this

action? Surely both the Duke of Hamilton and Sir Hew
Dalrymple might have brought th^ir action immediately upon
the birth of this defendant. And as they did not do so then,

the effect of this delay will at least be to receive good evidence*

for the defendants, such as that of Madame Tewis and EfiSe Caw,
irho are now dead themselves, but whose evidences stand re-

ported upon oath by others. This is a cruel case indeed!
When the defendant was a poor man the plaintiffs never
attempted to controvert his birth ; they have only attempted
this when he succeeded to the estate of Douglas. The plaintiffs

complain that by the lateness of this action they have lost proof,

but whom tlien tibi imputet, and upon this account it is not
now incumbent upon the defendant to bring any proof at all

in this cause.

The plaintiffs have tried to disqualify some of the witnesset
as being accomplices in this alledged imposture; but this they
cannot be allowed to do : and indeed if this was law, who could
stand against it? The plaintiffs might as easily have extended
the same charge of accomplices against the Le Brune and La
Marre, in order to have prevented them from being held credible
witnesses, if they had been now alive and found out, as throw
out the charge against Mrs. Hewit and Isabel Walker. What
reason can there be for disqualifying Mrs. Hewit and Isabel

Walker from being credible witnesses on account of this charge

127

t

I

I,

f

I

ii

' iti



The Douglas Cause.

thrown out ugainat themt None of them ihowed the Tnallea^

appearance of guilt u|ion any of their ezaniinationi. Aa to
Iiabftl Walkm-, she mn» a perfect model for a witncii. It haa
be«ii allfd}f«>(l tlint thin wituesa ia not credible, b«M;auiie in her laat

ezaniiuutioii in preieiioe she haa .1c(ioaed, "That ahe nerer read
either Sir John Stounrt'a dw lunition j>r Mrs. Ilewit'ii oath,"

althoviKii 8iie had the whole of tiie proofa in her cuatodj. But
it is to bo remari^ed tliat people who have aomething to do will

eldorii dip into auoh large Tolumea oa thoae dow under
our consideration.

Mrs. Hewit haa indeed fallen into nianj miatakea in her
eridence, but these, instead of proving the imposture, proT*
against it; for upon the sup]ioaition of an impoature she would
hare been much better prepared to have told her tale. In

one of her letters to laabel Walker Mra. Hewit recite* the wliole

circumatancoa of the affair. What oould be the uae or inten-

tion of thia letter, u|)on the supposition of their both being
accomplices together 1 Upon audi a auppoaition thia conduct

betwixt the two ia abaolutely incredible. Much haa been said

of the preaumption of fraud arising from Mra. Hewit'a correct-

ing the datea of some of her lettera to laabd Walker ; but it

may be aaked, what could be the uae of thia to laabel Walker,

her own acooniplicel Indeed, the atyle and manner of the

whole of Mrs. Hewit'a lettera ia so unaffected and natural that

it goes Tery far to perauade one of the truth of the birth. But
whatever miatakes Mra. Hewit may have fallen into, ia it not

absolutely certain that after so long a time moat witnetae*

would have done the same? If the Le Brune had been found

out and had been examined as a witness, and bad fallen into

mistakes, then the plaintiffs would have pleaded that ahe «•
perjured likewise. But in fact the witnessea concur in every

material circumstance, which ia enough ; and therefore though

they may have disagreed in the minutia; of their evidence, they

are not upon that account the less credible. It has been said

that Mrs. Hewit is perjured because she swears that Lady Jane

never went from Madame Michelle's house upon a jaunt to

Versailles. Rut I must observe th.nt we have only, in opposition

to Mrs. Hewit on this point, tho single testimony of Madame
Blainville, who it is not at all improbable has been here in a

mistake herself.

I come now to consider the defendant! evidence, which ia

partly direct and partly circumstantiate.
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To diiitiudfuiih cvideuce fruin HUNpicicniM ih our rhief huitiiieu

in 1^ "ent mum. And here inde«d ii tb« great differeno*

lMt« irned jud^e and a ooninion man. Tho latter haatilj

takea u|) ma auapicioiia, and from tlioni aa haatily draws hia

ooncluaiona. And if judge* ahall leaye th« open road of

«Tidenoe and hunt after tuipiciona, who can itand before

themt Many arguments have been drawn from the conduct of

the defcndant'i parents, but there ia a great danger leat we
should bo mistaken in forming such arpimients. The defendant
cannot account for the whole of th© conduct of hin parents

;

although some of tho most suspicious ports of their alleged

conduct have botti happily accoMnte<l for. such an that of the
trong fact (seemingly fraudulent) of their having dropped their

French ruan-servaiit at Litge. There is another instance

wherein the plaintiffs themselvea must confess they were mia-

taken in judging of tho conduct of Sir John. It was by the

plaintiffs averred tliat Sir John, who was then commonly called

(Lionel Steuart, hud been several days in Paris, under a

feigned name, whereas it now comes out that the person they
thought was Sir John was really Colonel Stewart of Ardshiel.

It has been said, why did they not enquire after the Pierre La
Harret but here it ia to be observed that they did not get the
return of their letter, containing Madame Tewis's declaration

aa to the pregnancy, until after the death of Lady Jane. And
for their having not gone sooner in quest of La Marro many sub-

stantial reasons may be given. Sir John was for two or three
years in prison in England; and Lady Jane remained under
the greatest poverty, and oppressed with affronts and afflictions

of every kind. But it has been said, why did they forge letters

to supply the want of real onesf

These letters can with no propriety be said to be forged
evidence, because they were never used. Mrs. Menzies (ujon
whose testimony the plaintiffs affirm that Lady Jane knew of

the forgery, and that it was these very letters which she waa to
carry and to show to her brother) is a very suspicious evidence,

and althouph she was above all exception, it does not appear
from what Lady Jane said to her that it was any of the four
letters then said to be forged, which she had at that time in her
pocke>t.

It is clear that Sir John had received several letters from La
Marre. If it was a forgery, then it is a very bungled one
indeed. It is clear that these letters, said to have been forged.
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were so many copies from originals. This appears hj a variety

of particulars, and especially from the misplacing of several

words, which shows that the person who wrote them had copied

them from others line for line.

I come DOW to make a few general observations upon the-

cause. Upon the supposition of an imposture, the day fixed

for the birth was by much too early. Again, the leaving of

the maids at Kheims is to me a proof that there was no fraud

at all in the matter. These maids were both, according to the

plaintiffs' plea, accomplices ; why not then carry them alongst

with them to Paris) Why, two witnesses more, swearing posi-

tively to the actual delivery, would have put it beyond doubt
This was not acting the part oompleatly. In the same light I

view all the imprudences on the part of Sir John. Upon the

supposition of an imposture, he would have been exact and

pointed as to the very hour where the birth was, and his not

having been so exact and uniform can be ac ounted for upon
no other supposition but that of innocence. Aguin, had there

really been an imposture iu the case, it was necessary for the

accomplishment of it to have wrote their frien' immediately

after the birth.

Much weight has been laid upon Sir John Steuart's note to

Mr. Napier, whereas the tendency of this is to show there was

no imposture at all. If you hold it to have been an imposture^

you must necessarily suppose a plan ; and if there was a plan it

was one essential part of it to fix upon a certain house as being

the scene of the pretended delivery. That place and house,

therefore, Sir John never can be supposed to have forgot, or if

he could be supposed to have actually forgot it the immediate

danger of a detection would have readily prevented him from

ever fixing the scene of delivery to have been in a public-house

like that of Michelle's.

But it has been said Sir John Steuart afterwards corrected

this note when he found out that there had been inquiries

made after Michelle's house, and the time of this correction ii

said to have been after Mrs. Napier received the answer from

Lady Francis Steuart, and which was after her inlaying upon

the 5th of August, 1756. But in fact Lady Francis Steuart's

letter is only dated at Aix-la-Chapelle the 28th of August, and

80 could not reach Edinburgh by course of post till the middle

of September, before which time Sir John Steuart had corrected
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the miitake as to the house of Michelle's beinir the place of Uw^. ^^
... Br Monboddo
delivery.

Much has been said about the non-existence of the Madame
Le Brune, whereas I confess it is most clearly proved to me by

tLe oath of Doctor Menager that there was one of this name,

who was very intimate with the Pierre La Marre. She, how-

ever, has not been found out : in the course of nature she may
be dead, as well as her daughter, by her loose way of living.

There has, however, been discovered a Madame Le Brune living

in the Rue Dominic, Fauxburg St. Germaine : this woman was

a Garde Malade, and may have been the person. What then

is the amount of the evidence ujion this head? It is only this,

that nobody has been found to whom the Madame Le Brune ever

told anything of the matter. Much has been said on the

general conduct of the parties. But it was surely very proper

for Lady Jane to go abroad, and it was very proper for her to

go to Aix-la-Chapello, because it appears she was in bad

health. It was also very proper for her to quit Rheims on

account of the unskiifulness of the accoucheurs there, which is

indeed proved by Madame Mallifer's evidence upon this point.

Much has been said about their desiring their letters to be

directed for them at Rheims, when they were truly at Paris,

but then it is to be considered that Rheims was the place of

their residence, and that they had a house taken there, in

which they had left their maids. Much has been said about

probability and improbability in this cause ; but sure I am
that the plaintiffs' account of the imposture is of all other things

the most improbable. It was surely highly improbable that

Lady Jane, who, it is proved, had the capability of having

children, should bring in two beggar brats who might cut out

her own eventual issue ; it was surely highly improbable, too,

that they should suppose two at one time, and tliereby lay

themselves open to so preat a danger of detection. But it has

truly happened that the proof found out as to tlie nurse of the

youngest child has supported the birth of the eldest.

But to proceed upon the plaintiffs' account of the matter

;

they, when they had only one child procured, gave out that they

had two, and of the one they had not got they give infallible

marks sixteen months before they brought him to Rheims, and

when he arrives there he is the very picture of Lady Jane.

Is this all possible, then, upon the supposition of an im-

posture! But still farther, what was the method they took to
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Lord aooompHsh thi« iuppo«itionl Thejr take a special recommen-
dation to the house of Godefroi, and yet they have the day of
delivery to be one of thoae dayB they were actually residing with
him. This is indeed incredible, and therefore it would appear
that Mons. d'Anjou, the plaintiffs' procureur, in his memorial,
•ays that they went to a private house, and that they did not
leave that house so very soon as within eight days after the
pretended delivery.

Much has been said about Lady Jane's having concealed her
pregnancy from some persons by wearing a particular drees, but
this was unnatural and meaningless upon the supposition of a
fraud

; but upon the supposition of her being really with child,
it may be accounted for by one of these two ways, either from
her bashfulness or from her desire to conceal the marriage.
The plaintiffs have said that Sir John and Lady Jane concealed
their going to Paris, whereas on the contrary they told it to
every body, to Mr. M'Leau and Mackenzie, and, still more, they
went thither in the public voiture. Isabel Walker and' EflBe
Caw, the two maids, have been said to be accomplices in the
fraud

;
but it is proved that Lady Jane treated them very ill

afterwards
; and that she actually turned off Effie Caw from

her service. Ujon the supposition of an imposture. Sir John
and Lady Jane must have been expert hypocrites indeed, and
of this there is a remarkable example in the story of the beggar
at Lifege as it stands related by Mrs Hepburn of Keith on her
oath.

Sir John Steuart upon no one occasion ever changed his
name; he did not run for it after he had stole the children in
Paris, but instead of doing so goes back to Rheims, where they
reside sixteen months, and then return again to Paris without
fear or dread.

I now come to speak of a material article in this cause,
and that is Godefroi's books. In what I am going to say, I
will distinguish his parole evidence from that of his books, and
hope to convince your Lordships, that he is not worthy of credit.
In the first place then, I eay it appears, that Mr. Godefroi
was instructed to give evidence. It was othrrways impossible
for him to apply the blank article in his book to Sir John
Steuart without knowing these two things. First, that Sir John
Steuart was the gentleman that arrived at his house upon the
fourth of July, and secondly. He must have been told, that Sir
John Stouart had actually a third person with him. This man
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Godefroi actually forgets his own hand writing, and he says, Up«
that it was that of his wife. Upon hii first examination, he

*""*

actually forgets that he had two books, though it afterwards
comes out, that he kept two. But then when he goes to his
livre logeur, he finds no third person there; therefore it is

clear, that he must have been informed by some person or other,
that Sir John Steuart had two other persons alongst with himself.

Secondly, I say that Mr. Godefroi has varied in his tale ; and for
the proof of this, I appeal to the ejcpose de faits, kept by Mens.
D'Anjou. Thirdly, I say that Mr. Godefroi has sworn falsely,

in lo far as he swears that his books contained the names of all

the persons who came to his house. Michelle's books were
at first strongly founded on by the plaintiffs ; and to make
these books appear accurate and exact, Mons. Durisseau seems
to have perjured himself.

I do suspect many bad practices with these witnesses in

Paris, by whom these practices were carried on ; I am not
concerned to enquire, but I have so bad an opinion of the
plaintiffs' proof, that although they had proved twice as much,
I would have paid no sort of regard to it.

As to Mr. Godefroi's books themselves, they are far from being
accurate or exact as he deposed they were, for the defendant has
clearly proved, that there are many names entered in his livre

de depeme, which are not to be found in his livre hyeur,
and that there are six at least, in his livre logrur, that are not
inserted in his livre de depense ; particularly one Mons. De
Sarassin is entered into the book of expenec, eighteen days
before he is enteretl into tiie livre hxjeur.

As to the enlevements, I remember, that the oldest council
for the plaintiffs, in his pleadings only urged them as circum-
stances. As to Mignon's child, some of the witnesses say, that
it was three months old at the time of its being taken away.
And as to Sanry's child, neither the description of the persons,
nor the time answers to Sir John Steuart.

I will now run over the capital circumstances of the defendant's
proof of the pregnancy as well as the actual delivery. None
of your Lordships have denied, that there were the appearances
of pregnancy

; and that they were natural I think is clearly
proved. Mrs. Hepburn of Keith must be perjured with the rest,
if the pregnancy was not real. In the condition Lady Jane was
when Mrs. Hepburn came into her room, she must have observed
every thing about her.
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This proof of the pregnancy is confirmed by a proof of her
capacity to have children, and of migcarriages afterwards. And
because there are a few contradictions attending these mis-
carriages, will we therefore say there were none! Upon this
roint of fact, the witnesses cannot be mistaken, although per-
jured they may be. When to all this, we add the appearance
of her reconvalescence upon their going to MicheUe's; and
when we compare the depositions of Madame Michelle and
Madame Blainville with those of the witnesses who saw Lady
Jane at Aix. Li^ge and other places, it is clear, that somewhat
must have happened, and what it could be but a real delivery
cannot easily be imagined.

As to the evidence of Dr. Menager, the story told to him by
Pierre La Marre, of his having delivered a foreign lady of twins,
exactly corresponds to the delivery of Lady Jane Douglas.
Menager's testimony stands uncontradicted by any one witness.
Some of your Lordships hinted, that Menager was not to be
believed, because he said, that La Marre gave lectures upon
midwifery

; but liis own brother Fran9ois La Marre says the
same thing. If Menager is perjured, he must have been
corrupted. Then, who was it that corrupted him, who of the
British agents was likely to corrupt him? In what he has said,

he was supported by Giles, as the conversation betwixt Giles

and him stands confirmed by Mons. Moreau ; although Mr. Giles

was afterwards pleased to deny upon oath what he had formerly
said.

Madame Gamier the nurse, by tne whole of the accounts she
gives, establishes beyond doubt, that the conversation which
La Marre had with Doctor Menager about the youngest of the
twins which he had under his care, does really relate to the
youngest child of Lady Jane Douglas. In short, this is the most
conclusive circumstantiate evidence that ever was.

It is of the essence of a circumstantiate evidence, that the
different witnesses should swear to different facts, which though
independent of eiich other, all tend to the same point. Such
a chain of evidence as the one now before us could not have
been formed by chance. And if Dr. Menager and Madame
Gamier had been cormpted, each of them would have said

much more.

This not only shows the high probability of the defendant's
alledgeance, but also the high improbability of the plaintiffs'

tory. Sir John names La Marre as being the accoucheur from
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the very beginning : The plaintiffs denied the existence of such
ji?''*l_jj

a one ; but now he is found to have actually been a practising

accoucheur in Paris in theyear 1748, and to have had conversations

with his brethren of the profession about his having delivered a

foreign lady, of an advanced age, of twins.

Sir John and Lady Jane further told, that they had left their

youngest son under his charge somewhere in the neighbourhood

of Paris. Lady Jane named Menilmontaine as the place the

diild was left at. Madame Rutlidge says, that Lady Jane

named the place, though she has forgot the name.

Are all these things then possible upon the supposition of

an imposture? I wish that the phiintifiEs had here given us ii

calculation of chances upon all these wonderful circumstances.

For if all these particulars be true, as I have no doubt they are,

then Sir John's contradictions and falsehoods are of no
importance.

Upon the whole, his Lordship declared, that he had not even

a suspicion remaining in his mind of the truth of the defendant's

birth.

The whole fifteen judges having thus given their opinions,

and the Court being equally divided upou this important ques-

tion, the Lord President proceeded to state the vote, Sustain or

repell the reasons of reduction ? And it was carried by his Lord-

ship's casting voice. Sustain . And then the judgment of the Court

was wrote out in the following words. '" The Lords having

considered the state of the process, the writs produce<l, and testi-

monies of the witnesses adduced, and heard parties' procurators

thereon ; and having advised the same with the memorials,

observations, and other papers given in by each party, they

sustain the reasons of reduction, and reduce, decern and declare

accordingly."
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CbSS^MllOF
^'^ Camdk.n1 (Lord Chancellor)2_My Lords, the cause

before ua is, perhaps, the most aolenm and important ever
heard at this bar. For my own share, I am unconnected with
the parties, and having, with all possible attention, considered
the matter, both in public and private, I shall give my
opinion with that strictness of impartiality to which your
lordships have so just and equitable claim. We have one
short question before us—Is the appellant the son of the
late Lady Jane Douglas or not?—I am of the mind that he is

;

und own that a more aiii]>le nnd positive proofs of the child's
being the son of a mother never appeared in a Court of
justice, or before any assize whatever.

The marriat,'e of Liidy Jane to Colonel Steuart. August the
4th, 1746, is admitted on all liands. Her prepnaiicy in

January, 1718, nnd the progress of it, were observed by many
people: at Aix-Ia-Chapelle it was notorious; her stays were
wi<lene(l

: the nuns of the Convent of St. Anno discerned it,

notwithstanding Lady Jane's modesty ; the maid servants are
positive of the fact. The Earl of Crawford wrote an account
of it to the Duke of Douglas, not as an hearsay, but as a fact
of which he himself was fully satisfied by ocular inspection ;

and if there be a pregnancy, there must be a delivery, which
accordingly happened by the positive evidence of Mrs. Hewit,
who has deposed that " she received them into her lap as they
came from Lady Jane's body." She was delivered of twins
on the 10th of July, 1748, at Paris, in the hou.se of Madame
le Rrune, in the Fau.xbourg St. Germaine. Lady Jane's ability
to bear children is established by manv witnesses, and

,-!.^''' .*^'?'"''"' *'™"' '''"'' Chancellor 1766-1770; created Lonl Camden
176n; died 1794.

'' From " The History, Dcbatef! and Proceedings of both Houges of
Parliament of fireat Britain, 1743-1777," vol. v. pp. 112-124, collated
with the report in Francis Hareravps' "Collectanea .luridica." For Lord
Camden's spcecli see also Campbell's " Lives of the Chancellors," v. no
289-90.

'^*^'

•"'He did not m« his carefully prepared notes, ;«c« Sir UeorL't-
Hardinge." iCamplit lis " Lives of the Chancellors," appendix.]
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a miacarriage after the birth of twins utill more and more J:»»^ ,,_
provM the delivery.

ChM««u«t.

But, my Lords, there i« aiiotlior proof, no long convincing,
that the appellant Ib really the «on of Lady Jane, and thii
arisei from the uniform tenderness shown towards him. 'Tis

in proof that, on every occasion, she showed all the fondness
of a mother

; when he casually hit his* head apain.st n table
she screamed out and fainted away : when her husband, the
Colonel, was in prison she never wrote to him without making
mention of her sons; she reconiinende<l them to clergymen
for the benefit of their prayers, is disconsolate for the death
of the youngest > takes the sacrament, owns her surviving
on; does everything in her power to convince the world of
his being hers; blesses and acknowledges him in her dying
nioments

; and leaves him such thing.s as she had. Sir John
likewise shows the same tenderness in effect. He leaves him
60,000 merks by a bond in September. 176.3, ten years after
the death of Lady Jane: and on his death-bed solemnly
declares, before God, that the appellant is the son of Lady
Jane. "I make this declaration," said he, "as stepping
into eternity." A man that is a thief may disguise himself
in publick, but he has no occasion for any mask when in
private by himself. These positive declarations convinced
the Duke of Douglas, and he left his dukedom and other estates
to his nephew, the appellant, who was regularly served heir
thereto in September, 1761 : when he was possessed of all
the birthright of a son, so far as the oaths of witnesses, the
aoknowledgmMit of parents, and the established habit and
repute could go. The cruel aspersions thrown out against
Lady Jane and the Colonel had been refuted by the late Duke
of Argyle and the Countess of Stair. No mortal doubt«d the
appellant being the son of Lady Jane, except Andrew Stuart

;

his father, Archibald Stuart; Major ('ochr.me, who is married
to Stuart's sister; with White of Stockbriggs, a principal
actor in these scenes. These doubted the matter, and Andrew
Stuart,* as by concert, went over to France, not to procure
evidence of a real fact, but to suborne witnesses to establish
an article that never existed except in tiieir own imagination.
The design was bad, and the means to accomplish it were no

JurWr"""^-'""*- ''^-'Li^v**'* "'P""^ '" Fr»no:« Hargraves' "CollecUnea

^
(

' (vol. U. p. 386-484).
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leu criminal I It ii neoileu to follow the searcher through

all the scenea of hit enquiry, the reeult of which wai to return

to Scotland, enter an actior againit the appellant, an^l bring

his own father to condemn him, at a time when the old

gentleman wac in a condition every way deplorable. And
taking advantage of his inaccuracies, he makes a second tour

to Paris, where he published a ilonitoire entirely to seduc*

witnesses, and influence them to commit the blackest perjury.

In this pnper !<e describes the person of Sir John Steuart,

Lady Jane Douglas, and Mrs. Hewit ; asserts that they had
purchased two children, whom they wanted to in: pose upon
the world in order to defraud a real heir of an immens«
estate and fortune; and inviting all who could give light into

the matter to come to his lodgings, which he particularly

described.

Mr. Stuart certainly appeared like the guardian of the

Duke of Hamilton, a pompous title, which drove several to

their own destruction, and in hopes of a reward. Among
the number of those was Madame Mignon, n plaRs manufac-

turer's spouse, who, after conversing with Andrew Stuart

and his clerk, and receiving presents from them, comet in

before the Toumelle Criminelle and deposes that she had sold

her own child to foreigners whom she did not as much t»

know. Can a woman forsake her sucking child 1 is a

rhetorical remonstrance handed to us from the highett

authority. The thing is incredible, and yet the woman has

sworn it I A circumstance sufficient to raider her testimony

of no force, when opposed to the dying declarations of Lady
Jane Douglas and Colonel Steuart, and to the positive oath of

Mrs. Hewit, whose character is established upon a very good
foundation ; but take the declaration of madam in all ita

extent, yet she has said nothing to affect the appellant ; the

time when the people to whom, with every other circumstance,

prove her not to have been the mother of the young gentleman ;

his complexion, the colour of his eyes and hair, prove that

he was not hers. The same thing might be said of the son

of Sanry, the rope dancer, whom the counsel for the respondent

would infer to be the child Sholto, the younger of the twins,

and, as a strong proof of the same, urged that the two were
but the same identical person under different names ; and your
Lordships were entreated to keep in your view the rupture

under which each of them laboured in order to prove the
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identity! But how comet all outt Sanry'g child could LoM
apeak in November, 1749, but Sholto could not utter a word
for aome months after he came to Mr. Murray's house in
December, 1749. And now evidence is offered to be produced
at your Lordships' bar, that the child Sholto had no rupture
in 1749. that he was as sound as any person within these
walls; certainly Mr. Murray, the most material witness in
this affair, is more to bo credited than madam.
Your Lordships have heard much ingenuity displayed in

order to prove that Lady Jane's pres^nancy was imaginary;
the symptoms are al' >wp<1 "mt tho reality is now denied, though
once Andrew Stuart himself was forced to acknowK^lge that
Lady Jane was actually with child. If Lady Jano or any
other woman had such symptoms, it is impossible she could
have been eased of them so soon in any otiar rnaiiner than
by a delivery ; had she been ill of a dropsy, her bulk would not
have bcMi totally diminished in so short a time as from the
2nd of July to the first week of Augu.st, when all who saw her
at Rheims concluded that she had but lately lain in. Great
•tress has been laid upon the letters said to have boen forged
in the name of Pierre La Marre, the iiian-inidwife, the person
who delivered Lady fane. I admit thorn to be fori,'e.l, and yet
this forgery is with me a proof of Lady Jane's innocence;
Sir John's hardships are admitted ; and if he, after so long
a confinement, should cause the letters that had passed
between La Marro and him to be translated in order to amuse
himself, or to satisfy Lady Jane that they were not lost,

it was no way criminal. Lady Jane received them, but
observing they were not originals she laid them by, so
conscious was she of her own innocence that .she did not use
them, nor ever would they have made their ajipearance had
it not been for the conduct of Andrew Stuart, who, upon
getting an order to set h Lady Jane's repositories, found
out these letters, produced them in Court to Sir John, when
under all the miserable circumstances of a man groaning
under a load of years, infirmities, and the acutest pains.

The evidence ." Godefroi, the landlord of the Hotel de
Chalons, in the iiue St. Martin, is contradictory and incon-
sistent, his books being in every way defective and erroneous

;

nor does Andrew Stuart appear in a favonrahlft Ijcrht in this
particular. When first he came to Godefroi 's house both
the man and his wife were ignorant of the matter; neither

^
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j(g<^. he nne nor the other recollectot] Lady J«ne Douglni or her
hiiNbiiiKl till Andrew Stuart deiiring a iiifrht o( the livre

tfint/trrteur, found two articlcn one of them Mr. Flumt
Vtirrouoii et in fnmiUe »ont entrf, 8me Juliet, 1748, and thia

he fxMJtively affirinii. with oathii and iniprecMtiona, to be the
handwriting «»f Sir John Steuart. with which he pretended
to be thomujrhly ac<]UBintt<d ; but he was obliged to retract
when other pustngea were found to be of tho anme hand-
writing. This postage waa found to be poiterior to one
written on the 12th, and the landlady of the houae declared
that ihw herself had marked it down. He had fifteen roomi
and ten cIosetH which they pretended always to be full, and
yet in their book it doen not appear there were three persona
in them during Colonel Steuart "s pretended abo<le ; and, what
is pretty strange, they had many women lodgers during that
year, and yet they depose they remember none but thia lady,
whom Andrew Stimrt would have to be Lady Jane Douglas.
They even differ with respect to the names of their aenrants

;

the counsel at the Imr have acknowledged tho inaccuracy of
the books owing to the avocations of the man elsewhere, and
to tho inadvertency of his spouHe, continually hurried by a
multiplicity of business. Besidefl a postage in a book, such as
the livrf. d'iruperteur, which, like a waRte-bf)ok, containK
things just as they occur, or the livre de drpenne, to which
the urticlee of the fontier are transferred, beara no manner of
convincing proof that the persons mentioned in theee staid

at such and such places, it being a customary thing to mark
down the name of the person the moment he tiikea the lodging ;

and it is notorious that many persons have paid a week, nay,
a month's lodging, without sleeping a night in it; and this

is no more than e<iuity, since the same was reserved for

their use.

But here, my Lonls, the pursuers in this affair have destroyed
their own cause: they have brought a sort of proof that
Lady Jane Douglas was at Michelle's house, called Le Petit

Hotel d'Anjou, in the Rue Serpente, Fauxbourg St. Germaine;
and this at tho very time when they would prove her to have
been at the house of Godefroi. of whom so much has been said
and heard. Michelle and Godefroi disagree in everything
except in the irregularity of their books, and it, indeed, ia

hard to say which of ihe two excels most in that particular;
but not to insist on the irregularities, it ia proved to be the
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practio* in Parii, and of Michelle in particular, to writ* Ur*
pMple'a namea in theae police b<)ok« nt enterwl on the dny

^••*^*'*

the room waa hired, thoiig^h the -
-i a doea not enter for

aome daya after. To insist on these things, my Lords, in

tedioua, and yet the itnportunce of the case rerjuires it. One
Madame Blainville swears that on one of the days betwixt
the 8th and 13th of July she accompanii'<l Liidy Jane in a
ooaoh to take a view of Versailles, and at another time to aee
the Palace (Place?) de Vendome; but this witneaa i«, in every
reapect, contradicte<i by a multiplicity of evidence, and in
»*• r'rj view her testimony appear** to be absurd and
rtP' ?rous. First, sho is contradicted by Mrs. Hewit,

^^> So position bears groat weight with me, as also by other
witacs- - for, first, she, Blainville, says that Sir John and
lia fo ' were eight days in Michelle's before the child was
br;'ig'. to the house, whereas Michelle's family all swenr
i\a'.. lu was brought next day. Secondly, sho says that the
ohill -.aa given to the nurse La Favre the very night of his

^.rrivi. ; that she saw her carry him home with her, and that
• .J 'iady Jane visited him in the nurse's house; whereas, ou
the -ontrary, it is proved that Favre remained tour days at
thu hotel, during which period Lady Jane was nowhere
abroad. Thirdly, she deposes that no person visited Sir
John and Lady Jane during their stay at Michelle's ; whereas.
by the oath of Madame Favre, a gentleman visited him there

:

but be that as it may. Lady Jnne was delivered on the lOtli
of July, and Blainville does not say she went to Versailles
till the 27th ; and it is no new thinp for a lady, however
delicate, so long after delivery to go so far in a country where
the weather and roads are so remarkably fine and the carriagea
every way easy and convenient.

All these objections to the reality of the appellant being
the son of Lady Jane are imaginary, and hitherto have been
reputed to the honour of the innocent, and thf» more tirmlv
establishing him in the possession of his birthright. They
only tend t( ender her virtues more brilliant and illustrious,
for as the negations never existed in fact, but in the
imagination of Andrew Stuart ; so, when put to the trial, thoj
must necessarily fall to the ground. Thus, he asserted that
Colonel Steuart received £550 from the Earl of Morton's
banker some days bafore Lady Jane's lying-in, and from
thence would infer that her delivery at Madame Brune's, an

*
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^aneaii
''''''U'^ houie, was only to carry on the impoature; but now
it appears that thia money waa not received till aixteen day*
after. Fow unfortunate for the Duke of Hamilton to be
under the direction of auch a man I One who haa involved

him in auch an inunenaity of expoiaea, and thia by examining
a multitude of witneaaee upon articlea really foreign to the

cauae, which, indeed, ia not the Duke of Hamilton'a; it ia the
cauae of Andrew Stuart, who haa acted ao atrange a part, «
well deaerred the obaervation made at the bar, with great

propriety, " That if ever I waa to be concerned in any buainew
with him, I ahould look upon him with a jealous eye." '

I ahall not follow the noble Lord who apoke laat throu^
the varioua deecriptiuna he has given ua of midwifery. Hia
obaervationa may be juat, but they cannot affect the character

of Lady Jane Douglaa, or the cause of the appellant, her
aon. The question before us is abort: la thn appellant the
aon of Lady Jane Douglaa or not? If there be any Lorda
within these walls who do not believe in a future state, these

may go to death with the declaration that they believe he ia

not. For my part I am for sustaining the positive proof,

which I find weakened by nothing brought against it; and in

thia mind I lay my hand upon my breaat, and declare that
in my aoul and conscience I believe the appellant to be her
aon.

The Duke of Bedford then apoke [for about forty minutes]
in favour of Andrew Stuart'a procedure and in condemnation
of the Tournelle.^

i

i

anifleld ^"^ Man8Kibi,d'—My Lords, I must own that this cauae
before us is the greatest and moat important that occurs to

me. It is no lees than an attack upon the virtue and honour
of a lady of the first quality, in order to dispossess a young
man of an eminent fortune, reduce him to beggary, strip

him of his birthright, declare him an a'ien and a foundling.

I have slept and waked upon this subject, considered it upon

» Walpole says he said—" He was sorry to bear hard on Mr. Stewart
[Stuart], hut justice compelled him." ["Memoirs of the Reisn of
George III.," iii. p. 204.]

• "Collectanea Juridica."

' William Murray, third son of Viscount Stormont, Chlef-.Tustice King's
Bench < 756-88, and created Lord Mansfield. He was created Earl of
Mansfield 1776, and died 1793.
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my pillow, to the losing of my natural rest, and with all the Lord
judgment I was capable of, have considered the varioua article*

"•"•^
that make up this long and voluminous cause, upon which I
«m now to give my opinion before your Lordships.

I apprehend that, in the mattw before us, three things are
to be considered. The situation of Lady Jane, before her
delivery, at her delivery, and after it was over : to all which
the Chancellor has spoken with great propriety. It ia proved
beyond a doubt that she became pregnant in October, 1747,
at the age of forty-nine years, a thing far from' being
uncommon, as is attested by physicians of the first rank and
confirmed by daily experience; and that in the month of
July she was delivered of twins, one of whom died, the other
is itill alive; he has been presented to the world by Sir John
Steuart and Lady Jane Douglas as their son ; nor can he be
wretted from the hands of his parents unless some other hand
in their lifetime claimed him as their child in a legal and
justifiable way.^

This action, my Lords, did not lie against the appellant as
an impostor; for an impostor, in the sense of the law, is a
pMnson who wilfully and knowingly " pretends t< be different
from what he really is, in order to defraud another, and to
impose under a fictitious name upon the publick." If any
be an imposter, it must have been Lady Jane, whom they
ought to have prosecuted in her lifetime, and not at the
distance of nine years after her death. The method of
discovering an imposter is to bring his accomplice to the
Court before which the impost«r was arraigned ; and if, after
a fair trial, the accused person be found guilty, let him take
the consequences thereof; but this the respondents have
neglected. The appellant has been for five years four months
and twelve days the acknowledged son of Lady Jane Douglas

;

and for thirteen years and two months the son of Sir John
Steuart, before any attempt was made to rob him of his
parents, his birthright, and his all.

As the Lord Chancellor has anticipated much of what I

intended to speak upon this subject, so I shall only touch

» Walpole says ("Memoir* of the Reign of King George III.," pp.»M-S), that Lord Mansfield spoke "with still more personal severity to
8tu«rt than the Chancellor, till he nearly fainted into fatigue. The
report of the speech we print has no speciiio atUck. Stuart in 1773
printed " Letters to the Rt. Hon. Lord Mansfield," to vindicate his point of
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Lord at the lituation and character of the deceased, whom I

ansfleld
y^ni^^jber in the year 1760, to have been in the most deplorable

circumatancea. She came to me (I being Solicitor-General)

in s very destitute condition, and yet her modesty would not

suffer her to complain. The noble woman was every way

visible, even under all the pressure of want and poverty.

Her visage and appearance were more powerful advocates

than her voice; and yet I was afraid to offer her relief, for

fear of being constructed to proffer her an indignity. In

this manner she came twice to my house, before I knew her

real necessities ; to relieve which now was my aim. I spoke

to Mr. Pelham in her favour, told him of her situation with

regard to her brother the Duke of Douglas, and of her present

straits and diflSeulties. Mr. Pelham without delay laid th^

matter before the King ; the Duke of Newcastle, being then

at Hanover, was wrote to ; he seconded the solicitations of

his brother. His Majesty immediately granted her £;{00

per annum out of his privy purse ; and Mr. Pelham was so

generous as to offer £150 of the money to be instantly paid

I can assure your Ijordshipa that I never did trouble His

Majesty for any other. Lady Jane Douglas was the first

and tlic last who ever had a pension by my means. At that

time I looked upon her as a lady of the strictest honor and

integrity, and to have the deepest sense of the grandeur of

the family from which she was sprung ; a family conspicuously

great in Scotland for a thousand years past : a family whose

numerous branches have spread over Europe ; they have

frequently intennaniod with the blood royal ; and she herself

was de.scend(.'d fioiu Henry VII.-' 1 took care that !iis late

Majesty should bo made acquainted with her family and name

to the intent that though she was married to Colonel Steuart,

a dissipated and licentious man. and who had been in the

rebellion of 1715, yet ho would pass it over, as sli-3 was of

a race who had always been eminently loyal, her brother

having charged as a voluntwr at the head of the cavalry in the

year 1715, when his cousin tlie Earl of Forfar died like a

hero in defence of the Gcveniment ; and that his Grace had

in the year 1745 treated the rebels and their leader with

-This was not .so. Lady June Douglas was desceiiilod from the 5th

I>^rl of Angus. It was Archibald, Gth Karl of Anf,'us, who lia<J married

Queon Margaret Tudor, sister of Henry VIII., Dowager of King James V.,

without male issue, but through his daughter was great-grandfather to

King James VI. and I.
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contempt and ridicule ; and indeed His Majesty, from bis
[glfrt«ld

wonted magnanimity, spoke nothing of her husbanu; but

treated her t\ith all the respect due to a noble woman of tlw

firrt rank and quality ; one who carried all the appearance of

a person habituated to devotion ; and for a number of yean

trained up in the school of adversity and disappointment.

Is it possible, my Lords, to imagine that a woman of such a

family, of such hiph honour, and who had a real sense of her

own dignity, could be so base as to impose false children upon

the world? Would she have owned them on every occasion 1

Was ever mother more affected for the death of a child than

she was for that of Sholto, the younger of her sonsi "Will

you," said she, " indulge me to speak of my son?" and cried

out with great vehemency, " Oh, Sholto ! Sholto ! My son

Sholto
!

" and after speaking of his death she said, • She

thanked God that her son Archie wiis alive. What," said

she, " would the enemies of me and my children say if they

saw me lying in the dust of death upon account of the death

of my son Sholto? Would they have any stronger proof of

their being my children than my dying for themi" She still

insisted that the shock which sh" received by the death of

Sholto and other griefs she had met with were so severe upon

her that she was perfectly persuaded she would never recover,

but considered herself as a dying woman, and one who was

soon to appear in ti>e presence of Almighty Cod, and to whom

she must answer.

She declared that the children Archie and Sholto were

bom of her body, and that there was one blessing of which

her enemies could not deprive her, which was her innocency,

and that she could pray to Almighty God for the life of her

other son, that she was not afraid for him, for that God

Almighty would take care of him.

And what is remarkable, the witness Mary Macrabie

observed, that the grief for the loss of the child grew upon

her. Would she, my Lords, have blessed her surviving child

on her death-bed? Would she have died with a lie in her

mouth and perjury on her right hand? Charity, that thinketh

no evil, will not suffer me for a moment to harbour an opinion

•o cruel and preposterous. Or can we suppose that two

people who had not wherewith to support themselves would

be solicitous and show all the tenderness of parents towards

the children of creatures, who, forgetting the first principles

of instinct and Immanity, had sold their children to people
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}^aui ^*'°™ *^^y **'<* "o* »'»° » niuch as know by their namea.
The act of Joaeph'a brethren in selling him is represented aa
wicked and unnatural, but indeed the crime of Madam Mignon
and Madam Sanry is still more black and atrocious! To
carry this a little further, suppose Lady Jane Douglas had
acted out of a principle of revenge towards the family of
Hamilton, yet Sir John Steuart had no occasion to do so, much
less continue the vindictive farce after her death, especially
whMi married to another spouse.

And here we see Sir John as much a parent to the appellant
a« Lady Jane ; he was every way fond of him ! it is in evidence.
I know it to be true. My sister and I have been frequently
at Mrs. Murray's with them and were always delighted with
the care we observed. No mortal harboured any thoughts
of their being false children at that time, I mean in 1750
and 1751. Every person looked upon them as the children of
Lady Jane Douglas and of Colonel Steuart. The Countees
of Eglinton, Lord Lindores, and many others havo upon oath
declared the same thing.

No sooner does the Cktlonel hear of the aspersions raised
at Douglas Castle, and of Mr. Archibald Stuart's swearing
that Count Douglas, a French nobleman, had informed the
Duke of Douglas that they had been brought out of an hospital,
than he returned an answer to Mr. Loch, who gave the
intelligence in a letter to Mrs. Hewit, and wrote him in all

the terms of a man of spirit, cordially intereste*! in the welfare
and happiness of his son. Both he and Lady Jane begged the
favour of Chevalier Douglas, a French gentleman and oflScer

thm at London, to acquaint his cousin, the Count, with what
was said of him. This the Chevaher undertook, and fulfilled

with the fidelity of a man of honor. And the Count, in
consequence of the application, wrote a letter not only to
Lady Jane but to her brother the Duke, in all the language
of politenet^s and humanity, disowning what was said of him.

But, my Lords, the Duke of Douglas himsdf was fully
satisfied of the appellant's being the real son of his sister
Lady Jane, for on be(,'inning to be known after his marriage
and to relish the pleasures of social life he became very
inquisitive "about the size, shape, and complexion of the
appellant, and if he appeared to be a smart boy." He
employed Sir William Douglas and others in whom he could
confide to enquire of Mrs. Hewit, Lady Jane's companion, and
of Euphemie Caw and Isabel Walker, the two maid-servants
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who hsd livtd with them abroad, and observed their conduct ig^^

in th« moat unguarded inomenta, concerning the birth of the

ohildron. He even searched into the characters of these, and

it ftppean from the depositions of clergymen and gentlemen

•f the Srat rank in that country that thej were women worthy

to be belieired. He even went in person to visit Mrs. H«wit,

oonversed with h«r in the presence of his gentleman, Mr.

Oreenshails, (Concerning his sister's delivery, and the accounts

given by these, like the radii of a circle all pointing to one

and the same centre, confirmed the reality of Lady Jane

being the mother of the young gentleman. He was satisfied,

acknowledged him for his nephew, and left him his heir.

If the Duke of Douglas, after so serious an enquiry, was
eonvinced, why should nut wet 'Tis true, his Grace has

ometimes expressed himself warmly against the surname of

Hamilton even in Lady Jane's vime, b t never so warmly as

to prefer a supposititious child to the Duke of that name, for

ha only declares, " That if he thought the children were Lady
Jane's," he would never settle his estate on the family of

Hamilton. Nor did he till after detecting the frauds and
flonspiraciea that had been so long and so industriously carried

on against his sister and himself make any alteration in his

flrtt settlement.

After the Duke's death, the appellant was served heir to his

uncle, according to the form prescribed by the law of Scotland

upon an uncontroverted evidence of his being the son of Lady
Jane Douglas, takes possession of the estate, and is virtually

acknowledged heir by the Earl of Selkirk and by the Duke
of Hamilton's guardians themselves, for these enter actions

before the Court of Session declaring their right to certain

parts of the estates, upon some ancient claims which the

Judgee there declared to be groundless. But in the whole
aetion there was not the least intimation that Mr. Douglas
waa not the son of Lady Jane.

It is needless to trouble your Lordships with the conduct
of the respondent's guardians at Paris and elsewhere upon the
Continent. Nothing has boMi discovered that could throw the
least blemish upon the honor of Lady Jane Douglas or Colonel
Steuart. They have indeed proved her straits there and his

imprisonment here; but both tliese circumstances carry a
further confirmation that the app^ant is their son, for in

•rery letter that passed between them the children are named
with a tenderness scarce to be believed. Whereas, had they
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iuuMd '**^ counterfwtirf. •• U pratmded, they would b«T» b««o
ftpt to upbraid one another for an act ao manifeatly tending
to involve them in their luiferingi.

Su( po«e, my Lordi, that Mignon, the glaia manufaoturar'a
wife, rhe pretended mother of Mr. Douglas, had depoaed the
ame Unngu in Lady Jane'a pretence ai the had ao long after
her death. From the evidence it appeari that ahe had nermr
aeen Lady Jane; by her words both in private and puUiok.
Mile aeemi to deserve no manner of credit. The oath of Mr.
Murray, a pm.cipal witneaa, hai destroyed everything she
asserted. Tho same thing might be said of Sanry, the
rope dancer's spouse, whose child's rupture we were eameatly
<Icaired to keep in view to prove him to have been the identical
Sholto, the younger of the twins ; and now evidence ia offered

that the child Sholtu had no rupture, but was as sound as
any w ;thin these walls. Your Lordships have been toW.
«nd I believe with greot truth, that a gentleman, ahocked
at the assertion , had wrote to the counsel that the influence

arising from so false a suggestion might be prevented. I

always rejoice to hear truth, which is the ornament of

criticism and the polished gem that decorates a bar. The
scrutiny in France, followed hy an action in Scotland, produced
two things never intended by them ; it brought forth a striking

acknowledgment of the appellant by his father. Sir John
Steuprt, 08 is manifest from the bond of provision, read at

your Lordships' bar. Sir John openly acknowledged liim

before the Court of Session in the midst of a crowded multitude
and when labouring under a load of anguish and pain. Nay,
when by himself, he solemnly declared before God, in the

presence of a Justice of the Peace and two clergymen, that

the young gentleman was his son. It likewise established the

character of Lady Jane, for on examining the proof obtained

through the vigilance of the Duchess of Douglas, Lady Jane's

reputation is unsullied and great. All who had the honor
of being known to her declared that her behaviour attracted

universal esteem, and Madame Marie Sophie Gillesen, a

maiden lady with whom she lodged several months, deposes

that " Lady Jano was very amiable, and gentle as an angel."

It further proved that the elder child, the appellant, was the
exact picture of his father, and the child Sholto as like Lady
Jane as ever a child was like a mother. I have always con-

sidered likeness as an argument of a child's being the son
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«f ft parent, and the rather an thia diitinction betweeo UH
individuals in the human ipeoiee ia more diioemible than in

"*"»"•'*

other animali. A man may lurvej ten thouiand people before
he aeea two faces perfectly alike; and in an army of an
hundred thousand men every one may be known from anuthor.
If there should be a likeness of features, there may be a
discriminancy of voice, a difference in the fresture, the smile,
and various other things, whereas a family likcneM runs
generally through all these, for in everything there is u
resemblance, as of features, site, attitude, and action. And
here it is a question whether the appellant most resembled
his father. Sir John, or the younger, Sholto, resembled his
mother, Lady Jane. Many witnesses have sworn to Mr.
Douglas being of the same form and make of body as his
father

; he has been known to be the son of Colonel Steuart
by persons who had never seen him before, and is so like his
elder brother, the present Sir John Steuart, th t except by
their age it would be hard to distinguish the one from the
other.

If Sir John Steuart. the most artless of mankind, was actor
in the enlevement of Mignon and Sanry's children, he did in a
few days what the acutest genius could not nccomplish for
years. He found two children, the one the finished model
of himself, and the other the exact picture in miniature of
Lady Jane. It seems Nature had implanted in the children
what is not in the parents; for it appears in proof that in
size, complexion, stature, attitude, colour of the hair and
eyes, nay, in every other thing, Mignon and his wife. Sanry
and his spouse, were toto ealo diffwent from and unlike to
Sir John Steuart and Lady Jane Douglas. Among eleven
black rabbits there will scarce be found one to produce a
white one.

The respondents' cause haii been well BU].iiorto»l by the
ingenuity of its managers, and great stress Las been laid
upon the not finding out where Madame Le Bruno lived and
where the delivery was effected, but this is no way striking
if we consider that houses are frequently pulled down to make
way for streets, and houses are built upon the ground where
streets ran before. Of this there are daily examples in
this metropolis. However, we need enter into no arguments
of this kind, as there is a positive evidence before us. How
is it possible to credit the witnesses, some of them of a sacred
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iumflald
*'^*™<'*®''» ^^^^ they speak of Lady Jane's virtues, provided

we can believe her to have been a woman of such abandoned
principles as to make a mock of religion, a jest of the sacrament,

a scofl of the most solemn oaths, and rush with a lie in her

mouth and perjury in her right hand into the presence of the

Judge of All, who at once sees the whole heart of man, and
from whose all discerning eye no secrecy can screen, before

whom neither craft nor artifice can avail, nor yet the ingenuity

and wit of lawyers can lessen or exculpate. On all which

accounts I am for finding the appellant to be the son of Lady
Jane Douglas.

Upon which judgment was given—" Die Lunae, 27th

February, 1769. Counsel being fully heard and debate had
in this Cause it is orokrsd and adjudged that the Interlocutor

complained of be RBVuiSBn."

But the following Protest was entered :
—" Die Lunse, 27

Februarii, 1769. Dissentient—Because, upon the whole of

the evidence, it appears to us that the appellant has not

proved himself to be the son of Lady Jane Douglas, and
consequently not entitled to the character of heir of tailzie

and provision to Archibald Duke of Douglas. Because we
are of opinion that it is proved that the appellant is not the

son of Lady Jane Douglas.
" Bedford.
" Bristol, C.P.S.
" Sandwich.
" DnmioBH.

"Milton."

I .

The two reports of the speech of Lord Camden, the Lord Chancellor,

on the Douglas Cause in the House of Lords are so different that it

makes it advisable to give the second report from the Scots Magazine of

1769, p. 699. It is most prolmbly the unrovised but perhaps more correct

report

.

3

•41,

Jg'*
.. My lords, I shall now take the liberty to submit to your

lordships what occurs to me upon the consideration of this

cause, which hath been pled at great length at the bar, and
hath been heard by your lordships with great patience and
attention. The rank in which I have the honour to sit in

this House will give such ground of expectation, as I am afraid

ISO
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it will be impoBsible for me to acquit myself to your lordships' Ur*
satisfaction on this occasion. I am, however, happy in this

<=•«•«*«*

case, in the expectation of being heard by your lordships with
seriousness and attention. The impropriety of many anru-
ments entered into by the other lords that are not used to speak
in questions of this kind has made it necessary for me in
this case to say the more. I should have been glad to have
been relieved from the trouble of enterinjj minutely into
every branch of this great cause. This I find is now un-
avoidable, and I am therefore under the necessity to beg your
lordships indulgence while I go through the evidence, which
I will do as shortly as possible. I am satisfied that your
lordships will pay more regard to one of this House delivering
his opmion as a judge than to any of the counsel at the bar
In delivering the grave sentiments of judges none in this

theTc?"^
''^^

^ ^ "''^"''^ *^^ evidence, or to go beyond

I come my lord«, to consider this cause with the most
perfect indifference. I am happy, my lords, in having no
connection whatever with any party on either side. I have
not now, nor had I ever, I protest, any reason or any wish,

h«vL^ ir/T' '^^°"' '°'^'^'P^ ^'''' ^"y ^'i^h whatever,
beyond that of justice being truly and impartially adminis-
tered. I confess I never was so much perplexed in fixingmy judgment in any question as in this cause. I was lonem forming any opinion

; but this opinion being now formed;
your lordships will find it is, indeed, very positito. very dear
In order to obtain this clearness, I have waded through more
intricacy and doubt than I ever before met with in my life A
variety of circumstances arising almost upon every depositionmade each a separate cause; every variation, every opposition.
in the evidence formed a several question. I have been en-
abled, by much thought and more than ordinary application,
to form a solid judgment, more from a careful perusal oi' thewhole evidence than from what passed at the bar. TLou^hmuch perplexed, the mind is at last worked up to an opinion •

and an opinion when once so formed, after much study and
deliberation, is more likely to be lasting and permanent thanan opmion taken up suddenly and without much study

I will now. my lords, endeavour to state ;lie evidence, and
give you the grounds upon which my opinion is formed with
as much clearness and gravity as if I was sitting below in the

>5i

!i

n-i\



».

(

:, '>

^ 1 .' I

k
'

3

«Jfei
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UPd Court of Chancery pronouncing my opinion upon the nioit

important cause.

If, my lords, I was possessed of the talent of eloquence

(which, I am sure, I am not) I know well this is not the place.

Your lordships are not the persons for eloquence to work upon.

Your lordships will fix your eyes upon the evidence, see the

cause throughout, abuse no person without cause, and spare

none that deserves censure. It is the glory of a Court of

justice to deal fairly and impartially, and not to discover

the least prejudice, prepossession, or partiality to either of

the parties.

I shall have no occasion, my lords, to give a detail of facts.

Your lordships are so well apprised of the whole facts in thia

case that this has become totally unnecessary.

The first thing material in this cause is to state the question

truly in order to determine what shall be the rule of evidence

and the effect and application of such evidence. Much has

been said by the counsel at the bar, and much has been written

on the question concerning the onus proband/. Notwith-

standing the nianj learned hints that have been thrown out

on that head, it appears to me that in the examination of the

evidence this question is totally immaterial.

This has been admitted, and never denied, to be a solid

ground of decision : That every person who is fairly in

possession of a state of filiation cannot be dispossessed of that

state without clear, strong, and decisive evidence. If the

defender in the present case is fairly in this state of possession,

your lordships will then suppose everything in his favour, and

presume nothing to his disfavour.

What is it then that establishes the possession of filiation t

It is the acknowledgment of the parents, and habit and

repute.

The acknowledgment of the parents is in this case clear

beyond contradiction, from the very hour of the birth down

to the time of the mother's death. And that this acknowledg-

ment has been constant, miiform, and invariable is proved

by all the witnesses.

The habit and repute is not so clear, so indisput&ble, ao

free from imputation as the acknowledgment of parents. I

am desirous to have it always solemn and uniform ; I wish

it was sullied by no calumny, blasted by no injurious reports.

In this case it has been said—and it must be admitted—that
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rumours did arise prejudicial to the real birth soon after Lady Lord

Jane's delivery, and before her coming into Great Britain.

But, mj lords, the ground of these rumours is known. They
have been traced to their source and origin. The same per-

sons who set up private and secret suspicions of the delivery,

and endeavoured to blast the reputation of the birth, thought
it necessary to shut the ears, as well as the doors, of the

Duke of Douglas against the mother and the children. I

think I am entitled to say upon the evidence in this cause

that those rumours were raised and propagated by the friends

of the family of Hamilton. This, in fact, is proved. Those
who saw Lady Jane in the first moments after her delivery,

those who saw her at Rheims, conversed with her in England,
and saw her in Scotland, both publicly and privately, did

really and truly believe that the children were hers and her
husband's. There is not a doubt but that the habit and
repute would have been complete if it had not been sullied by
those reports.

This makes it necessary to inquire how these rumours were
received. Who adopted any opinions upon such reports?
I shall be told that Mr. White of Stockbriggs, Mr. Stuart,

and several of the respondents adopted and believed them all

for truth. Admitting all the evidence that the cause is

burthened with on this head (and I have looked into the whole
evidence the respondents have adopted to show the reality

of these rumours and suspicions), taking the wliole of this

evidence together, I believe there are not less than twenty-
three or twenty-four persons who speak to this particular.

But I can venture to aflSrm, from my own observation, that
about one-half of those, though they admit that such reports
prevailed, yet they did declare at the same time that they did
not believe one word of them. The remainder were not
examined as to their belief. The respondents durst not put
the question to them. This appearing in evidence, shall

it be said, my lords, that such a calumny, spread for evil

purposes and bad designs, which no person sincerely believed,
shall be admitted to destroy the reputation of the birth, and
turn a man out of ti 3 possession of his state? When I said
that none believed these reports, I should have excepted Mr.
Hamilton, who did believe the first story to the discredit of
the birth. But this same Mr. Hamilton, upon beinp better
informed, was perfectly convinced, and did believe, that the

153

I'l

W

.1

i



,i

i

^'i 'I

!

{.!'

i

3

W

CkMIMlIOF

The Douglas Cause.

children were hers. There is hardly one witneaa to be found

so bold ai to avow hia belief of these reports. Such waa
the character of Lady Jane (and character, my lords, ia an

immenae thing in cases of thid kind), i^uch was the goodwill

bore her by all mankind, that the moment she appeared with

her children in her hands all rumours disappeared ; there was
not a whisper to their prejudice. She carried them publicly

to the Assembly at Edinburgh, where they^ were received as

her children.

I do therefore fully conclude that the appellant's possession

of state stands established by habit and repute. And your

lordships will see it is a dangerous doctrine to say that the

child who has been acknowledged from the day of his birth

should lose the protection and advantage he is entitled to by

such acknowledgment, by the false breath of calumny spread

in the neighbourhood by interested persons fc- their own
purpose. Upon this foundation it is, that I will submit to

your lordships, that the habit and repute being sufficiently

clear, the appellant is entitled to all the advantages this

will afford him as to the onu» probandi, and the whole, then,

will amount to this: that if the appellant had put his cause

altogether upon the acknowledgment of parents and upon

habit and repute, in that case the law would have called for

clear and positive evidence to have dispossessed him. But,

as I aaid before, I question whether this argument will be

very useful in managing ihe present proof, and that because

the appellant has not relied entirely upon the protection

arising from the acknowledgment of parents and from habit

and repute. He has sallieu out of this line. He has gone

further ; he has undertaken to prove his mother's pregnancy

and delivery; and having proceeded upon that ground, I

apprehend it is now too late for the appellant to resort te

habit and repute, and to rest his defence upon this only.

But still this may be laid down as a rule, that the appellant,

fortified with the recognition of his parents, and with habit

and repute, will be entitled, with these advantages, not only

to call upon the other side for strong and direct proof to the

contrary, but will be further entitled to every favourable

presumption in support of his birthright. The respondent*,

on the other side, have no right to any favour whatever. The

respondents say that in this case there is such a chain of

evidence, such a train of circumstances, as are irresistible.

»54
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Theso they have worked together with such industry and skill Urd
that the legal presumptions in favour of the appellant appear

"'""

weak, and his claim is made to totter. The respondenti
have gone to positive and direct proof ; the appellant meeti
them with such

: in God's name, as the armies are fairly drawn
up, let us see on which side lies the strength of proof.

I shall now, my lords, come directly to the merits of the
cause. The facts under your lordships' consideration on both
sides are briefly these

—

The appellant undertakes to prove Lady Jane's pregnancy,
her delivery, her reconvalescence, and her subsequent mis-
carriage at Rheims, together with all the other parte of the
case that fall in their proper course, until the last dying ex-
pressions of his father and mother. These are the branches
of his proof, and of these he is to satisfy your lordships.

The respondent, on the other sido, says he will prove an
alibi

:
that Lady Jane could not be delivered at Le Brune's,

because she was at Godefroi's at the time fixed for the de-
livery. This is a positive fact your lordships must be ea-
tirely satisfied about. Another positive fact is, that Sir John
and Lady Jane stole two children, one in July, 1748, anotherm November, 1749. These two are positive facts that must
necessarily be proved. Much has been said and insisted on
of what passed at Michelle's, of Lady Jane being in perfect
health there, and a thousand other circumstances that have
occurred in raking together the whole facte; but I shall take
no notice of many of them.

In the first place, my lords, as to the pregnancy, this part
of the case has been managed, in my apprehension, in a very
smgular manner. I observed, when I first read the respondents'
memorial and heard the counsel at the bar, that this fact
of the pregnancy was treated as being in ite nature incapable
of proof. They have endeavoured to draw off your lordships'
attention from this part of the proof, and have attempted
throughout the whole to treat the pregnancy as separa: -

.^nd
distinct from the birth, and no wise connected with it. The
Solicitor-General went so far as to postpone the pregnancy to
the last part of his argument. The noble lord who spoke
before me endeavoured to produce authorities to show that
pregnancy was extremely difficult, if not incapable, of proof
It appeared upon the whole evidence that the respondents
most anxiously desired an acquittal upon the article of preg-
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Urd nancy. It wa« this, my lorda, that led me first to suspect

ChMsellor
^^^ respondents' plea : it wa? the first part of the cause that

made me believe it was not true, because so much pains were

taken to throw the pregnancy out of the cause. Why dis-

join the pregnancy from the birth? Suppose the birth itself

is dark or doubtful, and the evidence of it not so clear as

could bo wished, will any person say that a clear proof of the

pregnancy does not supply the defect in the proof of the birth 1

Does not the delivery presuppose the pregnancy! Are all

marks of ^regnancy to be slighted because once in t«n thousand,

or perhaps once in a million of times, appearances may be set

up to counterfeit pregnancy, or because it is barely possible

in nature that there may be a false conception! Is this any

ground or foundation for your lordships to rejec; the whole

evidence of the pregnancy! I was sure, when there were so

much pains taken to satisfy your lordships that a proof of

the pregnancy was a proof of nothing, that this article was of

some weight, and ought to be attended to. I am myself

convinced that the proof of pregnancy is in this case in-

vincible. Give me leave to say that there is not one single

witness produced to disprove it. What is it that the re-

spondents call their proof on this head! If those who travelled

with Lady Jane in a coach, who saw her or conversed with

her in a public company, or who lodged in the same house, but

never entered her chamber, if all these did not discover any

signs of pregnancy, what is the inference! The respondents

say that this shows there was not even the appearance of

pregnancy. But the natural conclusion is, that it is not

likely that persons who did not know her before, or who had

but a slight knowledge of her shape and appearance, should

immediately observe her pregnancy. How is it possible they

should form any judgment!

I will but just mention the most material witnesses who

speak to the pregnancy.

Madame Tewis's evidence stands unimpeached. It is con-

firmed by that of Sir George Colquhoun and others. What

is the account she gives! She is an experienced lady, who

had several children of her own; she was admitted to an

intimacy with Lady Jane, and her acquaintance continued

from the time she first lodged in her house until her departure

from Aix in May, 1748 ; she was her confidante, her physician,

her surgeon, her everything that could be required of a woman

1S6
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in that condition. Site says that she observod the progresa Lord

and advancement of tlie pregnancy, and the size of the waist
'^''"••"•'

gradually increasing, besides the stoppages in such cases that
naturally follow. She has further eaid that she had her hand
on Lady Jane's belly and felt the child move ; she says she saw
Lady Jane rise out of bed, when she observed how prodifriously

she was swelled ; she said her increase was extraordinary
indeed, and more than she could have believed. The evidence
of Mrs. Hewit and Mrs. Walker is the same, so far an respects

the b'llk. I would desire to know, my lords, how pregnancy
is to be proved but by these signs ; by frequent sickness at
the commencement, gradual swelling of the breasts, the move-
ment of the child, the alteration of the clothes, and other
appearances proved in this case? Isabel Walker (whose evi-

dence stands far from being impeached, except as to some
inaccuracies) is clear as to the movement of the child ; and
this poor woman, though tortured by three several examina-
tions, stood the whole with a firmness which nothing but truth
could inspire. She speaks of the pregnancy in all its circum-
stances, and confirms the whole other evidence.

But this is called an ostentatious pregnancy, shown forth
and made public to the world with a design to bring witnesses
to the fact. It was quite the reverse, my lords, for Lady
Jane concealed her marriage, and was bound while that was
the case, for her own credit, to conceal the pregnancy; and
therefore those who speak to her pregnancy at that time were
such only as by an intimacy with Lady Jane observed its

real appearances.

At Rheims scarce any person was called to prove the preg-
nancy. Abb6 Hibert, Lieutenant Mackenzie, and Querengal
all speak to the pregnancy there. Mrs. Hepburn's evidence
is clear and positive. She came into the room when Lady
Jane was rising out of bed. She says her breasts were ex-
posed to view; she swears that no person who had seen Lady
Jane in that situation could have doubted one moment of
her being with child. Does the deposition speak of a transient
view, as was insinuated at the bar? No; quite the reverse.
This witness, too, must be tortured with a second examination.
Upon the whole of this evidence, my lords, I can no more

doubt of the pregnancy than I can of my own existence, unless
it comes out in proof afterwards that there was no real de-
livery, and that they stole two supposititious children. When
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LoH Lady Jane left Rheitni, if the was not pregnant, what waa
^ the diiorder ihe laboured under that occaiioned luch enor-

moui iwellingl At Michelle's ihe wai alender, taper, and flat-

breaated. Every argument the couniel used to prove a

fictitioui pregnancy are evidencee of a real one ; for the

reepondenta admit the appearances of awelled breaata and a

welled waiat, and I ahuuld be glad to know by what trick

and contrivance Lady Jane got rid of theae troubleaome com-

paniona in leaa than a fortnight. I aay, my lorda, it was u

million to one if ahe waa not pregnant. And the unavoidable

conaequence of thia pregnancy niust be either a miscarriage or

delivery, for the preconception muat aomehow or other be

diapoaed of. Give nie leave to aay, my lorda, that the onut

probandi lies upon the respondenta in this particular. The

respondents' coungel saw this, and they knew that nothing less

than evidence amounting almost to demonstration could over-

throw so solid a proof of pregnancy.

But, my lords, Lady Jane's motions have occasioned the

darkness and obscurity that appear in thia case. She set

out for Paris on the 2nd of July; ahe departed from Rheims

with Sir John, and came to the house of Mens. Godefroi

;

from thence she goes to Le Brune's, where she is delivered by

La Marre. There are some things, to be sure, not eaaily to

be accounted for. That Lady Jane ahould leave Rheims so

near the time of her delivery and hurry herself to Paris ; that

she should leave her servants behind ; that she should after-

wards go to an unknown place without any previous prepara-

tion ; that ahe should entrust herself to the care of auch a

person as La Marre (wlio is now unfortunately dead) ; and

that Madame Le Brune, at whose house she was delivered, can-

not now be discovered, these are things, my lord, which I am
ready to admit, made a strong impression upon me; they

were circumstances that made me look with a jealous eye upon

the event of the delivery ; they made me wish I could trace

Lady Jane to the very bed where she was delivered, to see the

house, and to be able to produce the physician. But this I

could not do. Yet, notwithstanding the difficulties that stand

in the way, let us endeavour to bring light out of darkness

the best way we are able. Let us consider what proof has

been produced, and at the same time reflect that at this

distance of time the appellant lies under great disadvantages

to make good that which does not lie within his own know-
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ledge; eipecially now that the parties themielvefl, and niMt
part of the witneiiea are dead, and no aatiafaction can be had
unlet! it was possible to summon their ghosts to attend.

In considering the evidence that has been produced with

respect to the birth, your lordsliips will give me leave to see

how Sir John, Lady Jane, and Mrs. Hewit have stated that
fact. It was affirmed as a fact in England very soon after

they returned from abroad that Lady Jane was delivered of

twins, by one f ier La Marre, an accoucheur ; and that after

the delivery the youngest of these twins, who was weak and
puny, was put to nurse, and intrusted to the care of this Pier La
Marre. Now, that this is the very story given out at home
is proved by every tne of tlie witnesses—Sir John, Lady Jane,
and Mrs. Ilewit epeatedly told it. The very forged letters

themselvio ell this tale. Tho memorandums or notes given
by Sir John to Mrs. Napier show the same. And here it

is not worth wh'lc to dispute one way or other whether one
of the notes in question was contained in the list of papers
delivered by Mr. Orr to Mr. Brown (xxvi. 383), or whether
the note indorsed on the draught of Lady Jane's will was
copied from one of Sir John's handwriting, or taken from
Lady Jane's own mouth (xxv. 23). This dispute has taken
up a volume, and is totally immaterial. It is enough for

me to say that in England, in Scotland, and abroad the same
story is adopted, without any communication or intercourse,

without sending a message, or without having any confirming
testimony to support it. I will admit they are bound to
prove it. They can now advance no other. But, my lords,

if it should be found by evidence, by other evidence than
the persons who told this story, that a foreigner, unacquainted
or unconnected with the parties, h.id, at the distance of ten
years, and in another country, told the same story more than
once, I say, should this foreiirner, upon examination, tell

exactly the same story, with all its several circumstances, I

would then ask your lordships this single question, Are both
the tales invention? It is impossible, my lords, to say that
this man could invent a story so punctually alike, and that
no part of the same story thus invented in different parts
of the world should prove true. Nothing less than omniscience
could do this. The consideration of this has stilled my mind
more than any other; that when I see a credible witness in

France, without tampering in any sort, erive the same hia-

V
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kff* ... torical account of the birth that Sir Jolm and Lady Jane have*

done, then I throw a^ide a thousand particular) rehited bj Sir

John. I care not whether they bo true or no in every par-
ticular circuiiiHtance

; the solid foundation, the main lubntanceia
true ; and I don't wei^'h Bli^'ht circuingtancuii when the moit
material are confirmed by such cre<lil)le evidence.

I confeai, my lords, that this part of the caHO struck roe

much. I read it more th.in once, and lalmurcd much on both
sides, until I came to onsidir the evidence of Mons. Mena^er,
the single credit of whoso testimony I dare venture to aflirm,

stands fairer than any other that has been eiamined in this

cause; nor is there a witnesH in the whole list of them whose
credit is so pure, so unfainte<l, so free from reproach, so much
omni ereeptione major. I heard with attention all that the

noble lord said about it, and I observed the indefatigable

industry of the counsel at the bar to wrest his testimony and
shako his credit. But Mr. Mena^fer will for ever stand the
test, because his deposition in this cause is punctually the

same with the first information given by this witness, at a
time when he was i iknown by all the parties. It is leldom
such evidence is to be found, and your lordships must deem
it to be authentic, and clear from all brass and corruption.

In most cases it is impossible to come at the sight of tho first

original informatmn given by witnesses ; most part of them
are kept close, the witnesses are practised upon, they come
to be heated with the cause, they gain prejudices and partiali-

ties, and though there is no corruption, yet a partiality will

take place, and therefore it is very difficult to find a witness

free from all objections. But in this caee Mr. Menager gave
the first information and the same account to tho respondentfl'

o a agent, Mr. Andrew Stuart.

I now mention his name for the first time. I have not

spoken of the monitoire and of his other proceedings in this

cause, nor of the Toumelle process ; for tiiough I am of opinion

thi t this was as foul a practice as ever was exercised in any
civdised country, yet I did not care to rip up that sore afresh

ana hurt a gentleman here with the reflections I must make
upon it, because it does not seem to go to the heart and merits

of the question. I really do not know who this Mr. Andrew-

Stuart is. I observe a marvellous attachment to this gentle-

man, a most unaccountable anxiety for any things that may
touch his character. I ob.served an anxiety of the counsel
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at the bar to vindicate him, forgetting their client*' cause for IjH
two hours together. I tlon't know wimt mKn-tlneis there is

about thJH gentleman. This I know very well, that whtnever
a cauKo requires it, Mr. Andrew Stuart must bo content to

hear such obiiervatioiig ns the evidence in the cause makes
it necessary for tlio j\i<I^'pb or the counncl to throw out. I

shall not. from uny riiis^uiili'<l lenity or indiilirence, spnre the

least roHection that I find necessury upon him or any other

person in this cause.

I see Mr. Andrew Stuurf. in the early part of this bu.^inesa,

in the year 17C2, niet'tinir with Mons. j;ill.?8 and Muns.
Menaj^er, when they hud not seen any other person concerned

in this cause. The noble lord who spohe last, if he had ex

amined the evidence with attention, would have found that Mr.
Menaper never saw Mr. Murray till some months after this

;

nay, he had never seen Mr. Murray until he had seen him at

thi? Duchess of Douphis's, who hud sent for him on that occa-

sion. My lords, until ho liad seen Mr. Andrew Sfu.irt he
had seen nobody. Mr. Menaper had no desire o appear ns

an evidence. He told Mr. Andrew Stuart that he was well

acquainted with Mons. La Marre, that Mons. La Marre
acquainted him, in the year lUf*. that lie had brought a

foreign lady to bed of twins ; that the lady was advanced in

years, and came last from Rheims. Mons. Gilles repeated

exactly the same thing to Mr. Stuart. This was unlucky
evidence for Mr. Andrew Stuart's cause, for it cut up his

whole hypothesis by the root. It produces a La Marre ; it

produces u Le Bruno; it brinj^s two persons into existence to

whom he had denied any existence whatever. I had under-

stood from Mr. Andrew Stuart, and his cotmsel averred it, that

when he went to France he went in search of truth, that truth

was his object, and whenever he found her she was to be taken

up; that he even wished to find truth in favour of Lady Jane.

But if this w;is really the case, if eharacter was to be pre-

served, why conceal the evidence of Mons. Menuger and Gilles?

Mons. Menager's evidence is left to shift for itself ; the whole
story is thrown upon Mr. Stuart, and I call upon him to dis-

prove it. Menager, in 1764, swears he told it him two years
before—this makes it months before any person applied to

him on the part of the appellant. He swore it directly in

Mr. Andrew Stuart's face. If this was true, it confirms and
«8tabli8hed the credibility . of Mr. Menager's evidence beyond

i6i
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OMMUor ^''"^'^•''ction. If it was false, it was incumbent on
Stuart to come into Court to deny it. Yet he does not do
to. Mr. Menager comes, and says to his face, " I related this

to you two years ago." Mr. Stuart stood by him and says
nothing, therefore he admits it.

I know it may be said—and it has been boldly said at th&
bar—that Menager was contradicted by Mons. Gilles. But
Gilles, my lords, is made to unswear what he had formerly

told Mr. Stuart. How is this proved? Why thus, my lords.

In the year 1763, when Mons. Gilles was first heard of, the-

appellant's agent spoke to one Mons. Mornad, to inquire of

Gilles all he knew of this matter. This gentleman, not being
acquainted with Gilles, desired one Mons. Moreau to do it.

This gentleman accordingly put down certain questions upon
paper, and they were produced, and shown to Gilles. He
answered, " I do remember Mons. La Marro. I know he was
connected with a Madame Le Brune. I know he told me h-^

delivered a foreign lady of twins in the year 1748. I know
ho also told me she was delivered in the house of Madame Le
Brune ; but I do not know this Madame Le Brune." These words
are taken down in writing from Gilles's own mouth by Mons.
Moreau. How comes it to pass, my lords, that Gilles is m t

called upon to give evidence by Mr. Andrew Stuart? How
comes it he denies the answers he gave to the questions put by
Mons. Moreau? Will it be saying too much, my lords, to say
that this witness is flatly perjured? He must have a reward
somewhere ; for no man commits perjury gratis ; where is the
man that commits such iniquity for the pleasure of doing it

only? I will venture to say he could not be bribed by any
of the appellant's agents. So far I will go, and no furthei

.

But this is not all. My lords, there is another witness,
Fran9oi8, the brother of Pierre La Marre. He is examined
originally by Mr. Andrew Stuart, too. He told him that his

brother had connections with Madame Le Brune. He told
nearly the same tale to two gentlemen that went over to France
on the part of Mr. Douglas. This Fran9ois La Marre, after
having told this story to both parties, came to be sworn in

Court, and he denies it all upon oath. How came it to pass
that Le Brune should be entirely forgotten upon this second
examination? Why does he run away without signing hi»
deposition? I cannot account for it.

There is another part of the case similar to this. Madame
ite
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Le Brune, in St. Grermain, knew a Madame Fountain, who told iffj*..,,—

her of a delivery in tlie house of one Le Brune, in the Rue de la

Commie. She had a conversation concerning this in presence

of several gentlemen, and four days after she denied every

word she had said. My lords, I do not like this ; I have a

right to say, as a judge, I do not like it. It speaks strongly of

some improper management on that side of the question

;

an endeavour, if possible, to suppress the truth. It is im-

possible otherwise to account for the hidden silence, the false-

hood, and perjury of Gilles and La Marre.

Menager is uniform on every occasion. He is examined the

first time, and is then strictly cross-ex-mined by Andrew

Stuart; he is tried in every shape; he is again called upon and

examined for two days togetlier. The examination was nothing

to the purpose ; it was merely calculated to bring out some little

collateral circumstances to which other witnesses had been

examined. It was all an engine made to entrap an honest witness.

Besides, my lords, examine yourselves touching any material

fact twelve years back; was it this month] in such a company?

was it in that place? before Christmas? or after Christmas? la

there a man living, let his memory be ever so retentive, let the

images of things be ever so strong, that can recollect every

fact at that distance of time, with all its concomitant circum-

stances? This man, when he comes to be worked, twisted, and

tortured, yet falls into no errors, except some little inticcuraciea

as to time and place in particulars of no consequence. They

mostly regard his being recommended to Mons. d'Argenson.

This is a capital objection. Another is, that it is impossible

Mons. Menager could have had the information of a foreign

lady's delivery from La Marre at a collation at the Hotel Dieu

in 1748; for this does not correspond in point of time, because

La Marre had been turned out of the hospital before the year

1748, and could not be admitted to a collation after supper,

when the doors were shut. This is another critical objection

which depends upon a fact not in proof as to the time of eating

collations in the hospital. A third relates to the reading the

books and papers that were published in France concerning the

cause, which is frivolous to the last degree.

Now, my lords, you have everything in Menager's evidence

but the name of Lady Jane. He says that La Marre told him

he had delivered a foreign lady, last from Rheims, of twins.
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fcion of a foreign lady to Lady Jane in this case and not apply
it to the enlevement of Mignon's child? for, as he was stolen
by a foreigner, I should be at liberty, on the other side, to
apply it to Sir John Steuart. But, my lords, the cases are by
no means similar. In the case of the delivery, the evidence of
Menager coincides with direct positive testimony. It is sup-
ported by Lady Jane, Sir John Steuart, and Mrs. Hewit. For
that reason the application of the foreign lady is just, and
you are bound to believe it. In the other case of the enlevement
you have nothing but mere conjecture. The name of
foreigner may apply to thousands; and you aro not at liberty,
upon that, to charge any one particular person with a foul and
atrocious crime. In Menager's evidence, as I have already
said, you have everything but the name of the foreign lady
you have her delivered of twins by La Marre; you have one of
these twins entrusted to the care of La Marre: can this have
happened to two women upon the face of God Almighty's earth?
It IS ab.solutely impossible: and therefore it is impossible to
pronounce a verdict, to the contrary. The evidence of Menager
therefore proves the delivery materially and substantially, just
as It .8 related by the witnesses in England. I never could or
ever shall be able to get rid of the strong impressions these
extraordinary circumstances made upon me; keeping this in
view, I can easily get rid of all minute objections. I can make
allowance for a thousand little circumstances. I see this at
once, that God Almighty has so disposed of human affairs as
to make it utterly impossible for two persons in different
countries at one and the same time, to make two stories both
to ooincde. God forbid it should. It would make a world of
confusion. xNothing else than omniscience could do this

I hope, therefore, my lords, I have now lodged Lady Jane
at Le Brune s house; and now I shall be at liberty to ask some
questions concerning this La Marre. It has been said that he
IS not Sir John Steuart's La Marre. He is not the La Marre that
brought Lady Jane to bed. But, my lords, this does not at aUdestroy the identity of the person. Sir John does not destroy
his existence, though he mistakes particulars. His information
at the bottom may be true, though his declaration in somethmgs may be false.

It^has been said that La Marre was not a surgeon of any



Speeches in the House of Lords.

considerable eminence. To be Kure Le wiis not. That Le Brune Lo»d
was not a person of any considerable rank. So far, to be sure,

^''"•^»«'

they say right. Nor could her name be found in any of the
registers, or even in the capitation lx>oks. How, then could
Lady Jane condescend to be delivered by such a person as La
Marre, and m such a house as Le Brunes? These thing's en<-age,l
me to look a little into the state of Sir John's tinanc.-s at" th:vt
time, and this gave me a satisfactory answer to these and other
grand difficulties that are to be found in this cause. I find Sir
John had stretched his credit to the utmost at Aix. When he
went to Rheims he had only a credit for i;7."» or thereabout
It app3ar8 by a letter produced that Lady Wigton had made
a pressing demand on Sir John for fifty louis-d'ors she had lent
him. Several letters pas.sed on this occasion. In her la-t letter
she tells him she is on h.-r journey to Rheims. and expects the
money. So low at last is he reduced as to be forced to draw a
bill for a quarter of Lady Jane's pension, though not due So
far from abounding in riches, it app.irs ho had ju.st enough to
keep them from starving. Yet amidst tliis poverty Lady Jane's
pride was not in any degree abated : even to tho last it was not
abated; for it is proved that, in the vear l)efore her death her
poverty made her ashamed of her rank, and she travelled under
the feigned name of Brown from Edinburgh to Lon.lon, and was
alone, without any servant, during the whole of her journey.My lords, pride and poverty are very bad companions; and,
whenever they meet together, there is nothing so much dr<-aded
as public inspection. The persons in whom they are united wi!l
submit to anything in the world rather tlian discover their
situation. It appears to have been Lady Jane's intention, and
she tJiought it better, to conceal herself in some unknown corn.-r
in Pans, than expose herself to the world or be seen by any-
body but those about her. If that was so, it will well account
for the reason why she did not bring her maids with her from
Rheims. She was averse even t<, tlieir seeing tlie wretchedness
to which she was reduced. There was. no doubt, a concealment
and mystery. In such a case there are always false pretences
and shifting of things. The real situation cannot otherwise be
covered. But I think, my lords, the whole of this mystery and
concealment may be fairly attributed to Lady Jane's pride and
poverty.

I come now, my lords, to consider the evidence of the alibi.
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If the alibi is clear, the birth muat be false ; th^ are in direct

opposition to one another. But I hope to satisfy jour lord-

ships that the residence at Uodefroi's whs a new hypothesis

that never sprung up in the respondents' imagination until near

the close of the examination of the witnesses in July, 1765. I

will show your lordships that all the witnesses examined before

Christmas, 1764, apply to the first plan of a residence at

Michelle's at the time of the delivery ; all after it to the new
plan of a residence at Godefroi's. When the first plan was forced

to be abandoned, this new plan is taken up from necessity.

This is one of the most extraordinary parts of the respondents'

conduct. My observations must here fall upon Mr. Andrew
Stuart ; and I cannot, nor will I, spare htm or stifle my opinion

of his proceedings in this affair. What was the first plan

adopted by the respondents, and which continued to be their

plan for two years together 1 It was this, that Sir John Steuart

and Lady Jane came to Paris, and put up at Godefroi's on the

4th of July, where they remained to the 8th ; that on the 8th

they departed and took lodgings at Michelle's ; and remained at

Michelle's, with a double abode, as they call it, till a child was

found to suit their purpose. The capital part of this plan was

the departine from Godefroi's and the entry at Michelle's. Your

lordships will observe, the plan being once taken and the datea

fixed, all the sinews are strained, all the witnesses are led, to

meet this hypothesis and to close in with it in their evidence.

Mr. Andrew Stuart, when he saw Michelle's books, considered

and inspected them with close attention, and believed verily

that the entry on the 8th July was the handwriting of Sir John
Steuart, for he had frequently seen him write. He does not

swear to this, but his solemn asseveration is equivalent. For

how does this affect the people at Michelle's house? They think,

according to tlie Iwst of their memories, that it was the gentle-

man who wrote it, for they did not write it themselves. The^

books were then carried to the Tournelle, and there locked up.

And this i - >. ividence then given : if Lady Jane was at

Michelle's oi. jth, it was impossible she could be brought to

bed on the 10th at Le Brune's. This, therefore, if true, was a

lucky hit. The time was only to be filled up till they all

departed at the end of the month. Blainville says that she

had no communication with them for the first eight days after

they came to Michelle's ; that at the end of eight days they
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brought a child, and two or three days after they made a Lwd
journey to Versailles; she says she went and asked leave of

'^'^••"*'

the lady to whom she was engaged to be absent eight days,
and that she stayed till these were expired. Breval says it

was eight days before the child was brought. The Michelles'
account, when first examined in the Tournelle, coincides with
Blainville and Breval, and fixes their habitation at their house
before the child was bom. This account takes up no less than
three weeks, most evidently with a view to thoir first plan of
their going to that house on the 8th of July. But when Mr.
Andrew Stuart thought fit to change this plan, and to fix their
evidence at Godefroi's until the 11th, when the Michelles are
examined after Christmas, they swore that the very day after
Sir John and Lady Jane's arrival they brought a child, and
that two or three days after they made their journey to Ver-
sailles. Thus the Michelles, who had extended the stay at their
house to three weeks in order to serve the first plan, now confine
it to one. Everything is now crammed into one week which
formerly took up three. I never, in the whole course of my
life, saw such a knot of witnesses. Nurse Favre, in her first

information, tells Mr. Andrew Stuart, if you believe him, that
the child was three mouths old. She is examined after in the
Tournelle, and there swears it was six weeks or two months old
when brought to Michelle's. But after Mignon's child was dis-
covered it became necessary to ascertain the exact age of the
child with more precision. The account she then gives is that
the child must be three weeks old. First it was three months
old, then slie swears to six weeks or two month.s, then, the plan
being changed, another child is introduced upon the stage, and
this alters it to three weeks; shifting and turning the evidence
to every new hypothesis, so as to leave it not the least degree
of credit whatever.

Now, my lords, we come to examine the second hypothesis,
of the residence at Godefroi's at the time of the birth. Now.'
your lordships will attend closely. Convincing and satisfactory
evidence must come home; for this second hypothesis is of
itself enough to overturn the whole fabric of the cause, to set
at naught all the evidence of the pregnancy, to destroy all the
evidence of the habit and repute. This, my lords, is the
substance of it.

At the end of two years a now plan, cot dreamed of before,
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^MMUor '* "''^'P**'^' ^»«' » ^fiiy singular one it was when your lordships
consider it. Your lordships will very well remember that Sir
John had taken another lodging at Michelle's on the 8th of July.
Upon the first plan he could not remain a minute longer at
Godefroi's

; but Godefmi swore that they continued at his

house from the 4th to the 14th of July. To reconcile this fact,

perjury is introduced to support their new hypothesis. We
are now upon evidence that depends upon memory. At first

Godefroi and his wife do not remember Sir John Steuart,
though he was recommended to them bv Mons. Mallifer at
Rheims. It does not appear that, from the moment of their
coming there to their (lepurtuie, Godefroi ever spoke to Sir
John Steuiirt, nor to this hour does he know his person, nor
the two ladies, neither the one nor the other. Sir John and
two ladies came to their house in 1748; and, fifteen years after,

when they are called upon to say if they know anything of them,
they declare, in their first examination, that they do not pretend
to have any knowledge of them. Here, then, some art mTist be
used, some artifice must be contrived, to enlarge their memory.
They are told, it will bo too long for you to remember particular
persons at such a distance of time ; how can you remember them
when you have such a multitude of guests perpetually at your
house? It would have been marvellous, indeed, if any person
would have been hardy enough to have charged his memory
with a fact of this sort. Godefroi, therefore, ha.s attempted
to do it by the help of his books. Let us see, then, how this
is to be done in such a manner as to be clear of all objection

:

for here there is no room for conjecture. Show me how your
house wa.s filled on the 4th of July; what was the company on
the 8th; show me the account of their expenses. The book
containing the names of the lodgers is produced, and the book
of the expenses; but the book of expenses contains no account
which tl .'y can expressly bring home to Sir John Steuart.
Many articles are set down in an account blank in the name,
but they cannot from memory apply it to Sir John and his
company. What is, then, to be done? Instead of applying
this blank account as they ought, they take another method.
They examine the book of lodgers and the book of expense*
together, and then say that this blank account must apply to
Sir John Steuart, because it is applicable to no other company
mentioned in the book of lodgers. But, my lords, it will be
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found upon examination that the book of lodgers and the book Lord
containing the account of household expouscs are equally in-

*^'*"»*"*

complete and erroneous; for it is admitte-d that many of the
persons entered in the book of lodgers are not to bo found in the
book of expenses; and, what is still stronger it appears that,m May, 1765, when the Godefrois Avere Hi-st exiunined, thev
only produced one book, and they have spoken of it in theiV
deposition so as to niishad every person to believe that this was
the only book of expenses they have. This, book, however,
does not give any account of a thousand things. On the close
of the examination of tlie witnesses, when they came to he
examined finally, they say there is another book, and they
produce it. Ev.>n this book does not mend the matter; both
taken together do not contain a complete account of the house-
hold expenses. When one book is suppressed and another
shown as a complete book of expenses, it may well be supposed
a third still exists. The whole evidence arising from these
books is a great deal too loose: it is not to be depended on or
believed. The evidence of the Godefrois, wlio have actually per-
jured themselves to support their books, going upon the strength
of memory alone after such a distance of time, and then coupled
with their books, is totally inconclusive. There is that evidence
arising from the books, if any credit was to be given them,
that makes it more probable that Sir John must have left the
house before the 11th: for, if Sir John, Lndy Jane, and Mrs.
Hewit had been in the house when visa of the 11th is marked
by the inspecteur de police, it was impossible they sliould omit
Mrs. Hewit. But, in fact, tliey were gone. The whole, in
short, is too uncertain evidence to prove an alibi against 'the
birth, where the pregnancy is proved beyond tl>e possibility of
contradiction, and where other niatters e(]ually important will
appear to be equally well proved.

The noble lord who spoke before me. and, indeed, the counsel
at the bar, acknowledged that the evidence upon Mignon's child
brought nothing home directly and positively to Sir John Steuart
and Mrs. Hewit. There is, indeed, a chasm in the evidence of
the enlevements whicli cannot bo filled up by conjecture. It is
impossible to do it. You must bring home the evidence to the
person charged when the state of a man is to be decided. A
probable coincidence of features and a thousand other circum-
stances are all wide and short of the mark if any chasm is left
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^''••Uop *** *** ^^^^^ "P ^^ conjecture. Reflect for a moment what would
be the consequence if this doctrine was to be shaken. Instead

of going teeundum allegata et probata, instead of considering

the proof of facts as charged, every man must be told that he ia

to go according to his belief and opinion. But this, my lords,

is a false, iniquitous, and dangerous position. When once you

depart from that most sacred rule, one man will be satined

with slight proof, another will want stronger, and the measure
of evidence is left uncertain. But, my lords, the law says,

let the fact itself be proved as it is charged ; upon your oath you
are to determine according to the evidence, and it only must
decide. I have no doubt, my lords, but that there are many
honest persons on tiio side of the respondents that will swear that

they believe that Mignon's child was stolen by Sir John Steuart.

But I will tell them, let their belief be what it may, that, if

they should so decide upon oath upon the evidence before us,

they will be perjured. Attend, my lords, for a moment to the

condescendence or particulars of facts given into Court relative

to the Mignon and Sanry's children. I will be bold to say that,

in any Court of justice in England, the proof brought of this

condescendence would have been rejected the moment it

appeared. The respondents upon this proof state all the facts

relative to Mignon and Sanry's children; and, when they have
gone through the whole evidence, they stop short and say they

are sure such children were carried off at the critical periods

they have mentioned. They do not say that the appellant is

the son of Mignon; but, in order to Rteal this enlevement into

the cause, they state it in as strong a light as possible. In the

condescendence of facts they charge directly Sir John Steuart

as the person who stole Sanry's child; but the evidence is so

far from coming up to the charge that the respondents' counsel

were forced, in spite of themselves, to give up the applicati<m

of this enlevement to Sir John Steuart. 1 do not like this, my
lords. Why introduce either of those enlevements? Most
certainly for no other purpose than to fill up a chasm. Why
attempt to support evidence by a calculation of chances) a new
and scandalous attempt never before heard of in any Court
of justice ! If there had been any shadow of real evidence they
would have been ashamed to have called in this to their aid.

But I will mention two or three facta relative to Mignon's
child. All tiie witnesses who were first examined ac to this
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•enlevement fix it to the 11th of July. Thii wm done to oorre-
pond to the time of their residence at Michelle's, which waa at
the first fixed on the 8th. But, when it was resolved to continue
their residence at Godefroi's till the Hth, your lordships see

it waa impossible to maintain that Mignon's child could have
been stolen upon the 11th. In the year 1765 the plan, therefore,
is totally changed, and the evidence of Mignon and his family
must be accommodated to this new plan. They and other
witnesses had spoken to the feast of St. Clair as a remarkable
period which led them to remember the time of carrying away
the child. This feast usually happens on the 18th of July,
and so it was allowed to stand till it became necessary to accom-
modate the time of stealing the child to the second hypothesis.
It was then discovered that the feast of St. Clair did not happen
that year till the 22nd of July. Your lordphips will consider
how the evidence is then managed. The ago of the child had
been carried into the monitoire by Mr. Andrew Stuart. It

had been sworn to by the witnesses. All that was left was to
•carry forward the date of the feast of St. Clnir; and the wit-
Dossea, in fact, carry forward this day, without carrying forward
the age of the child. I must again assert I never saw such foul
practice in shifting and managing evidence—no, never since I

was born. There is not one witness that does not stand per-
jured on his own evidence. They perpetually shift their plan,
from Godefroi to Nurse Favre ; I will not except one. Mignon
and his family, and the other witnesses to the enlevement, all

swear that the child had blue eyes. All tlie witnesses at Rheims
that sav. the appellant said he had black or grey eyes. To
reconcile this there is an examination of a great many witnesses
to prove that blue eyes may change to black. I admit they
may change greatly in a course of years, but most certainly
they could not change from blue to grey or to black in so short
a time as six weeks. The Mignons first swear to a period that
comprehends the transactions of three weeks. Blainville joins
them. She is led and conducted throughout ; there is not a
word of truth in what she says of this matter. AH of tuem
swear to the journey to Versailles, and Mrs. Ilewit's evidence
has been more impeached on account of this journey than any-
thing. But, my lords, I will set her credit against the Michellea,
Blainvilles, and the whole troop of them, notwithstanding all
that has been said by the gentlemen at the bar to the contrary.
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ig*j^„„^ The MiclidloM nre ptTJiiri-H. Blninville in Houbly perjured, the
perukeinaker, too, is certainly perjured ; the whole evidence ai
to tbia part of the cause is contaminated.

A nol>U> lord wlio spoke U-foro me said that when Mrs. Ilewit,
the principal witnens, is di>tectc«l in w> ^tohh a falsehood in her
evidence, it taints the wiiole. I shall never agree, my lordi,
that Mrs. Ilewit's evidence shall wtigh one moment in com-
petition with Blninvilk'. jind such n troop of witnesses. I will
suppose anytiiinj? rather than suppose Mrs. Ilewit to be per-
jured. I shall suppo.se that Blainville invented the story of
the journey to Versailles to excuse her not coniinp to her mis-
tress's service on the day she had appointed. Your lordships
will find that the other witnesses mostly speak of this journey
from her report. If. my lord-t, the fact is proved (as in my
apprehension it is) that Lady Jane was brought to bed on the
10th of July, I will give credit to no facts spoken to by sus-
pected witnesses inconsistent with this most essential part of
the proof

;
and, upon my word, my lords, the more I examine

the proof the less credit I can give to the evidence of this
journey to Versailles. There is another circumstance 1 have
forgotten to mention : \-our lordships will remember that, in
the year 175r>, inquiries were made by Principal Gordon at
Paris in consequence of the note delivered by Sir John Steuart
to Mrs. Napier. At that time the Michelles, when totally un-
connected with the parties, told Principal Gordon that the lady
kept her bed and appeared like one lately delivered. This is the
general, natural account given by the Michelles recently after
^he fact happened, and years before this suit was thought of.
How can that possibly be reconciled with the account the same
witnesses afterwards gave of this matter? How is it possible to
give credit to the journey to Versailles? In this cause, when-
ever I meet with a witness irreproachable in character, who
has spoken honestly in the cause, 1 have accounted it as a jewel
in my mind. Mrs. Hcwit is such a witness.

I shall now, my lords, say one word or two about the mis-
carriage at Kheims. I think it is clearly proved, and I will
tell your lordship.s why it so appears to me. Before any
person had appeared on the part of the appellant, Mr. Andrew
Stuart had been all over the ground. Nurse Mangin was his
own witness. She was examined in the Tournelle. I will give
credit to her, notwithstanding the indigent and miserable con-
dition he now describes her to have been in. She gives a

«7»
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moit pointed and diitinet account of thii Diiicarriaga and of Ltrt
th* siie of the ehild. Isabel Walker hai aworn to thia rerj

"*'"'"'

iame miaoarriage. Some objections have been taken to this
miscarriage, as confounded in point of time with other mis-
carriagts spoken to by some witnesaea ; but this sUnds separately
i-roved by clear evidence, and I see no reason why this one
should be rejecte<l, because there are others spoken to by some
witness from report or from a faint recollection of what paased
at such a distant period.

When they were at Rheims, my lords, there are several wit-
nesses who have sworn that Sir John Steuart received letters
from La Marre, who had the care of the youngest child. Lady
Rutlidge has sworn that Lady Jane anxiously expected such
letters, and that Sir John went frequently to the post ofBce
to inquire for them, and on one occasion brought a letter, which
she heard read. Miss Primrose has sworn, too, to Sir Johns
receiving such letters, and that when she went to Paria with
Lady Wilton she be' v-H there was an address given Lady
Wigton so as she mi t inquire concerning Sholto, though
she does not know whether she saw the child, as she was
confined by illness during the mosi part of her stay at Paria.
My lords, in the situation wherein Sir John and Lady Jane

were at Rheims, is it possible to believe that, being possessed
of one promising child, they should return to Paris to steal
another child? and, what is wonderful, that they should im-
mediately find a child to their wish, answering the description
they had given of the second child to all their friends and in
all their letters! That he should be a weak and puny child,
and exactly lorresponding in age, and, above all the ver^
picture of Laciy Jane, the very image, the most perfect
resemblance? This circumstance of the likeness ii sworn to in
the most particular manner by above twenty witnesses, and
deserves the greatest weight. This is a wonderful incident.
It 18 an impression stamped by God Himself to prove the
legitimacy of the child. This circumstance alone would over-
turn any evidence less strong than demonstration.
With respect to the time of the enlevement of Sanry's child

It certainly does not answer to the time when Sir John and
Lady Jane were at Paris. The time when Sanrya child was
stolen IS not to this day proved. Most probably it was not
till the beginning of January, when the letter waa written by
the cur6 de St. Laurent. I desire to know, waa it between
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The Douglas Cause.

Upd the 23rd and 29th of November, or what day was it J It is

admitted that Sir John left Rheims the 29th of November,
and must have returned from Paris some days before his de-

parture. If he returned before the 14th the matter is put
beyond dispute, for Duvernes did not enter to the Croix de
Fer till the 14th at soonest, and the enlevement could not

be till some days after. In fact, if Sir John left Rheims on
1st or 2nd of November, immediately after receiving the money
from Lord Morton, he might have returned before the 14th,

and I see no reason to believe the contrary. Benoit's books
are a strong proof of this. T^e payment is stated to be
made by Sir John Steuart himself upon the 14th of November,
and the books must be supposed true until it be shown that the

payment wfts made by some other person in his name, which
is not presumable, nor even probable.

I cannot, upon the whole of the evidence brought by the

respondents in this cause, hesitate one moment to conclude

that the alibi at Godefroi's is clearly disproved; that the two
enlevements stand unsupported by any colour of evidence to

aflfect Sir John and Lady Jane Steuart ; that, on the other

hand, the pregnancy is proved by clear, positive, and in-

vincible evidence; and that it is in no particular disproved

by the negative evidence offered by the respondents, or shaken
by anything said by their counsel at the bar, or insisted on in

their long, elaborate memorial, which is the finest performance
of sophistry I ever read. I am therefore of opinion that the

delivery, thus supported by the proof of pregnancy, by the

positive testimony of Sir John Steuart and Mrs. Hewit, and
by a thousand collateral circumstances, is established beyond
a doubt, and that the appellant must be deemed the genuine
son of Lady Jane Douglas.

But, my lords, I have to add further some most convincing

evidence. I feel myself, and am persuaded your lordships

must fet'l the evidence I am now going to mention.

Let me reflect on the conduct of Lady Jane Steuart from the

hour of the birth of the children to the very hour of death.

Suffer me to mention the uniform appearance of her tender

parental affection, encountering a thousand difficulties,

struggling against poverty and want, and having many
enemies to add to her distress, yet bearing all with the most

unparalleled patience for the sake of her children. She was,

indeed, the most loving, the most affectionate of parents. You
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see her, even by Blainville's tviden"", falling down in a faint Lord
the moment it was discovered th health of her child was

'^'•"••"^

affected by the nurse's wanting milk; you see her in a flood
of tears immediately upon her recovery from this faint; you
see her at other times rising from her bed in the dead of night
when the least ailment afiFected either of them

; you see her
upon the least disaster flying straight from her eliamber to
their assistance; and, to crown all, you see her in dust and
ashes upon the death of her youngest son. Do not all the
witnesses declare she never recovered the shock of the death
of this child? Do not all of them combine to speak of her
affection? Does not all this prove in the strongest manner
the tender and loving affection of a parent? And can all

this be hypocrisy? Yet there are those who endeavour to
insinuate such doctrine. Base and invidious imputation, which
none but the niost wicked would dare to avow, and which I

will not now retaliate. I will not say she must have been
in a state of continual torture to act such a part for so long a
course of time. Amidst all her difficulties and straits, not
to drop one repining word, not to discover a motion or gesture
that could lead to show the deceit, one would think this was
almost impossible. In public, in private, at home and abroad,
at all hours, on all occasions, and in all shapes, she is always
the same; she never forgets the mother; she maintains the
same steady, constant, and uniform character.

But supposing, my lords, it was possible to be deceived,
supposing such a character did really exist, yet surely the
mask must be at some time pulled off. The mind on some
occasions must be affected, and appear miserable, and the
heart umst seek relief. Let us therefore view Lady Jane in
her retirement. In the letters that are produced of the corre-
spondence between her and Sir John Steuart there appear"
the most unaffected tenderness and affectirn. These, my lords,
must be considered as a conversation between persons without
any deceit. They are imparting their very souls to each other.
It is not possible they were written with caution or design.
They mention their distresses in the most simple and artless
manner. So low were they reduced, they mention Lady
Jane's sometimes sending to Sir John (who was then in jail)
five shillings, a joint of meat, and sometimes a cold joint;
yet oven in this distress, not even when brought to the last
pinch in a starving condition, and at the hour of death, does
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The Douglas Cause.

Leri there appear the least reprntance or oonwiousneM of guilt,

which most certainly would have discovered itself at soma
unguarded moment if there had been really any concealed

fraud. On the contrary, the only topic of their conversation

is to encourage one anothei to bear up under all these calami-

ties—their only consolation, their children.

What, my lords, does a thief assume the character of an
honest man, and does he never so much as discover his real

sentiments to his brother-thief in their most private interviews?

These letters are to be looked upon as the most private con-

versations between the persons supposed guilty, yet there is not
a word of expression, not the most distant hint of any concealed

fraud or deceit.

Let us now bring this home to the last stage. In their

dying moments, with their latest breaths, the same tenderness

and affection is maxiifested to their surviving child. At such
a time to suppose they should carry on such dissimulation we
must believe them the most abandoned, the most profligate of

the human species. I cannot, then, from my conscience say,

in giving my verdict, that this is not to be taken as evidence,

or that it ought not to weigh with me, because that, even in

this dreadful hour, when persons are in the near prospect of

making up their accounts with God, it is said they may de-

ceive, or because there have been instances of persons wickedly
combined who have carried on their intrigues to the last moment
of their lives. But who will say that Lady Jane or Sir John
Steuart were capable to do this but those who have presumed
everything to their disfavour, without any foundation, in fact,

from the beginning to this present hour!
Do the characters of Lady Jane or Sir John Steuart deserve

this? Do they ever discover any act or design? Never but
in the invention for their children. Sir John was thoughtless,

profuse, and in many things whimsical and absurd. The
worst is his making up the letters, which he might have
done with a very innocent intention ; but otherwise he was
not a bad or wicked man.
Lady Jane was religious, it is said, almost to a degree of

enthusiasm, but I believe not to too great a degree. If

religion is ever to be depended up, it is under misfortunes.

Her trials were great, and she bore thnn with true resignation.

After engaging in the most solemn act of devotion, in her

last dying hours she poured blessings upon her son. I shall
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never believe, my lords, this lady died with a lie in her Lord

mouth. In her life she was perfectly blameless in every
*"*••"•'

respect

I do therefore, upon my honour and conscience, pronounce
that I believe that the appellant is the genuine son of Lady
Jane Douglas, and that the judgment of the Court of Session
ought to be reversed.

I
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AFF'ENDIX I.

Oazettetr and New Daily AUr< rtiyfr. 1

AugMt 6 176h_Monday morning the corpee of the met noble

from Queen8bury House. ,n the Canongate. Edinburgh, to be interred atDoug a,, the seat of the family. The proce^ion/ which wa. mosmagn ficent and grand, passed through the city about ten o'clock, the
bells tolling all the time of its passing

of^n^l'*"'
^^'"^ '^''"'"' '*'"*• **" ^'"''"B* °' ^he illustrious House

of Douglas .8 now extmct, or sinks into that of the Family of Hamilton.

Thursday August 13.-VVe hear from Scotland that several preten-swns are already formed with regard to the estates of the late Duke ofDouglas among the principal claimants to which is the Rt. Hon. theiUrl of Selkirk as being not only a coUateral branch of the family, but
also considerably allied to the noble line of Hamilton.

September 15 -Edinburgh, September 12.-On Tuesday morning Listcame on here before the Macers of the Court of Session, the Service
of Archibald Stewart, now Douglas of Douglas, Esq., as Heir of Tailzie
to his uncle Archibald, late Duke of Douglas, when the most full, clear,
and convincing evidence was laid before the Inquest that the Claimant
was the only son now in life of his Cirace's sister, the deceased Lady
Jane Douglas, by Sir John Stewart of GarntuUy, Bart., her husband;
and the Inquest on Wednesday afternoon unanimously served the
claimant heir of that noble family accordingly.

It had been reported that Mr. Douglas was not the son of Lady Jan*
Douglas, but a supposititious child.

Saturday, August 20, 1763.—Edinburgh, August 15.-The Court of
Session having allowed a full and general proof to be taken in France,
and in order to let every possible light into the present interesting dis-
pute relating to the succession of the late Duke of Douglas, we hear
that the examination of the witnesses will take place as soon as the
forms of law in these countries will allow, in order, if possible, to have
It finished by next Sessions. Her Grace the Duchess of Douglas sets
out early to-morrow morning for London on her return to Paris, in
order to attend that important affair.

Saturday, August 27, 1763.—Yesterday her Grace the Duchess of
Douglas set out from her house in Pall Mall for Paris.

1 Communicated through t.ie kindnesii -j/ Mr. Horace Bleackley.
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Febrnary 9, 1764.—A part of the great cauM about the estate of the
late Dake of Douglas i» now appealed from the Ccjrt of Sesiion in

Scotland to be determined by the Houee of Peers.

April 14, 1764.—The great cause which has been some time depend-
ing went yesterday in favour of her Grace the Duchess of Hamilton.

April 16, 1764.—Friday.—The cause, so long pending in the Courts
of France, relating to the claim of young Mr. Archibald Douglas to the
estate and honouri< of the late Duke Douglas of Scotland, and which for

some days past has been under the consideration of an august assembly,
is ordered to be referred to the decision of the Lords of Session in

Scotland, so that it is not yet known how that important affair will

be determined.

Thursday, August 7, 1766.—Edinburgh, August 2.—The Pleadings
in the Douglas Cause, which has engrossed the attention of the Court
of Session these four weeks past, ended yesterday. Their Lordships
have ordered Memorials on the Proof to be given in betwixt this time
and September 27, and any other observatior either party may have to
make on the other's Memorial, to be given in before the 15th October,
and on the 2Sth November the Cause is to be advised.

January 6, 1767.—It is said some thousand pounds are laid in belts
upon the issue of the Douglas great Cause, to be determined upon the
27th inst.

May 8.—They write from Edinburgh that bets to the amount of

£100,000 are depending on the Douglas Cause.

May 18. 1767.—Saturday.—Arrived in from Edinburgh the Hen. Mr.
Douglas. The great cause between him and the Hamilton family as
to the succession to the late Duke of Douglas' estate is to hi deter-

mined by the Court of Session in the month of June next.

May 20, 1767.—A letter from Edinburgh says—We hear that at the
determination of the great Cause of Douglas, the Lord Judges of the
Court of Session are to sit on that day in one of the large rooms of the
royal palace of Holyrood, and that scaffoldings are to be erected as at
Westminster Hall at the trial of Earl Ferrers. To defray the expense
of which, as well as to raise a contribution for the Royal Infirmary, all

who are admitted, except the members of the Court, are to give half a
guinea each.

June 26. 1767.—By a gentleman just arrived from Scotland we are
informed that at Edinburgh and other places they are at present greatly
agitated by the near approach of the determination of the Douglas great
Cause, and that bets are near on an equality; that several shorthand
gentlemen are arrived from London to take down the debates, for which
they are to be paid from 300 to OO guineas each person ; and that

most of the nobility and persons of distinction in that Kingdom were
come to Edinburgh to be present at the debates.
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July 14, 1767.—By advicM from Edinburgh we are informed that the
Rreat Cause of Douglas, which has been so long depending, was deter-
mined on Tuesday, 7th inst., before the Lords of Seiision, and, as it is,

ended in favour of the Hamilton family.

Wednesday, July 16, 1767.—Extract of a letter from Edinburgh, July
7.—The grand decision of the Douglas Cause began this day. The
President, in a spoech of near two hours, declared his opinion in favour
of Hamilton, and was clear for a redaction. Lord Strichen spoke next,
and was as clear in favour of DouRlas. After which the President
asked Lord Karnes' opinion, who exruxed himxelf. as he was then too
much heated by the throng in Court to speak. It was adjourned till

to-morrow, when it is expected that he and Lord Aiichinleck will de-
liver their opinions and the affair be determined oii Thursday. The
30th ult. the publishers of all the newspapers in this city were called to
the bar of the Court of Segf>ion for having inserted in their papers
certain extracts from " Doranda, a Spanish Tale," which it seems is

now beco!ne an object of very serious attention. Each of the publishers
gave bail to appear before the Lords of the Council i.ad Session.

Friday, July 17, 1767.—Extract from a letter from Edinburgh, July
11.—On Tuesday came on before the Court the decision of the Douglas
Cause. The opinion of the Judges upon which stand as follows;—

Spoke on Tuesday,
,, Weilnesday,

Thursday,

Friday,
this day.

For HnmihoH.

Lord President

Lord Barjarg
Lord Alenioro
Lord Eliock
Lord Stonefield

Lord Kennet
Lord Hales

For Dougla'i.

Lord Strichen
Lord Karnes
Lord Auchinleck
Lord Coalston

Lord Pitfdur
Lord Ganleiistoiie

There remains only Justice Clerk and Monboddo to speak on Tuesday
next, one of whom it is certain will be for Hamilton and the other
Douglas, thereby here is an equality, and reserving upon the President's
casting vote the Hamilton family carries it here. It is needless to

mention what a consternation this affair makes in Edinburgh.
If this decision be final. His Grace the Duke of Hamilton will be

possessed of one of the greatest real estates in Britain.

It is remarkable in the determination of the above Cause, four of

the Judges who gave their opinion in favour of Douglas are all of the
county of Aberdeen, viz., Strichen, Pitfour, Gardenston, and Mon-
boddo.

Saturday, July 18, 1767.—We hear a nobleman at the Court end of

the town has lost a bet of two thousand guineas on the late decision of

the Douglas Cause.

Tuesday, 21 J-jly, 1767 —By a letter from Edinburgh we learn that
in the determination of the Douglas Cause the Lords seemed to express
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thciDMlvM in inch • way that it ii imagined thay will not tcquartrata
tha aaUta. and conacquantly deprive Douglaa of poateMion until tha
final determination by the Paari of Great Britain.

Monday, July 27, 1767. -The following letter* were wnt to the Rt.
Hon. Robert Dundai. E»q., Lord President of the Court of SeHion at
Edinburgh :

—

Dear Bumbo,—I am turpriaed at your Behaviour in Douglaa Caua*
you the only person who injected him into the eaUte and caused
the Plea to be carried on and then you to turn your back and
give the whole Swe (?) to hamilton which I dar say you ar con-
sciouss that you are in the Wrong but I hope first that you will
Loses your seat in the Parlenient House and then as ther is about
350 of in and about Edinburgh joined under an head and we shall
Burn yur Lodgin in Town and then Arnston Lodgin's shall go
into flames and then you. self, we shall make a Captain Portus of
You in the Gras .Market as an exampel to all false Judges
passing wrong sentences, but I shall think it proper to acquaint
your Bumbo to alter your mind a time and not cause any Toumoloua
Noise or Mischief. Perhaps you will think me an imprompter
Person for opinK to send such a Epistel but you may excuse me and
if you want to know the writher they call him Timoth Love Justice.

i».iS'.—You you Great Bubo to speak apainst the truth and the
Clearest Light in false imaginations and falre proof that was taken
in france from Persons that would sewar thar Souls to hell for a
peny, but I hof)e you will be sent [to] nter Darkness.

To,

Lord President of the Court of Sheshoo,

Edinr.
May Lord,—

I am not a little surprised you should have Broht on yourself
such a Damt Scundruly Law Suite and Sir give me Leav to inform
you that in a day or two you Brains will be put at bolfine of a
gun may Lord have a care and think on me.

I am Sir yours,

I mean well,

otherways you go for.

P.S.—iB you Dont Vout in Mr. Douglas's cass may be Well
assured you will be put to Death on first miting.

A reward of five hundred pounds sterling it offered by the King,
and a pardon, to any one of them (except the person or persons
who actually wrote the said letters or either of them) who shall
discover their accomphces in the said facts. The Guardians of His
Grace the Duke of Hamilton promise a reward of three hundred
pounds, and Archibald Douglas, Esq., also promises the like reward
of three hundred pounds for the discovery of the writer (See
London Gazette.)

August 20. 1767.—From Scotland we are assured that the pleadings
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•nd excel eiit ipeecliM. of the Uwyen in the (amou. tau.^ of Hamilton
•nd Douglai reflect tjreat honour both on tben.ielve. and their country
beiDK nothing inferior in |»int of elo,,uence or sublloty to any that have
ever been made in We.lmin.ter Hall or either of our Briti.h .er.aten.

?™"t; •"•••c" »nd Ro"'e. '» the moet flouri..hin« and d.^tingui^hed
^riod of thoM famou* republic, never produced greater orator, than
North Hritain doen at preaent.

AuguU 22. 1767.-We hear two j^entlemen of diftimtion at the wett
end of the town have laid a wa^er of a thouiand guineas and a thouiand
billings that the great cause between the Hamilton and the Douglas
family will be determined in favour of Mr. Douglas.
We hear the Douglas estate, about which the faniouit contest is now

ubsistinf amounts to £12,000 a year.

August 28, 1767.—The opinion of one of the greatest sages of the law
in England is in favour of the defendant in the famous cau«e of Hamil-
ton and Dougf-is, and that he will support the san-e if it should come
before a most august assembly. It is said that it was on this account
that among several wagers now depending on the first issue of this cau«»>
one of 1000 guineas has been laid to as many shillings that it will
b« given in favour of Mr. Douglas.

A letter from Scotland mentions that in the aioat pauje between the
Hamiltons and the Dougln-es a reclaiming petition i.s piepuiing on the
part of Douglas to be pn.-eiited to the Court of Session at their first
meeting in November. By the consent of that Court, after judgment
is given, either party may petition or reclaim against such judgment
provided they advance now matters of law or fact. If such is ad-
vanced, the other party is allowed to answer and the Court then deter-
mines. It is well known in many instances that the Court, on such
reclaiming bills, have altered their first opinion. From this circumstance
it is probable this great cause will not come before the House of Peers
next session of Parliament.

August 29, 1767.—The estate of the late Duke of Dougla.«. now in the
possession of .Mr. Douglas, is worth upwards of £20.000 a year, besides
the honours of Earl of Angus to which he will be entitled as soon as
this cause is over,2 which it is expected will h» determined in hi>^

favour, as all the relations of that noble family e.xcept his competitor
are satisfied of the authenticity of hi.s birth.

September 25, .767.—From divers parts of Scotland we learn that
ever since the decision in the famous cause of Hamilton and Douglas
the generality of the Ladie* of that country take care to be brought to
bed in a more public manner than ever was known before, or than
seems consistent with the delicacy of their sex, the rooms in which they
are delivered being often filled with as many persons of both sexes as
they can conveniently hold, and the intention of which is that there

'-' Thin WAH a popalar error. The Barldom of Angus beoanie extinct on the Duke of
Douglas K death.
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may slwkyi b« witncMM anough aliT* to authanticaU tha birth o( any
child whoac birth to any citat« or lagacy may b« litigatad on that
account.

April 1, 1768.—It ii rapoitad that Mma of the ablaat pan* in Britain

arc to ba employtwl in the graat Douglaa cauae.

Saturday, February 25, 1769 (wrong dale). Laat night tha Kreat eauiie

between Hamilton and Douglas waa finally determined after ten hours
consideration, when it waa given Nem. Din. in Favour of Douglas. A
noble lawyer in the Determination of a late great cauaa apoVe for Two
Hours, when being overcome by the heat of the room ha ' .ed, but
recovering again resumed his discussion and went on for i.. another
hour, with the grrntest eloquence and strength of argument.

Tuesday, February 28, 1768.—By the derision of the great cause on
Monday last in favour of Mr. Douglas, that young gentleman succeeds
to the Douglas estate and to the title of the Earl of Angus.
The same night her Grace the Duchess of Douglas dispatched a

messenger from her house in Piccadilly to Scotland with an account of

the above event.

Thur-day, March 2, 1769 -The Douglas esUte lately decreed to tha

Hon. Archibald Douglas. Eaq., is said to amount to £Vi yX) per

P.S. (same day).—Five noble personages, we are told, have entarcd

their protests on the subject of a late great cause.

Thursday, March 2/4, 1769.—The great cause lately determined had
been in hairing ever since the holidays : the Counsel on both sidec dis-

played great eloquence: those for the Apellant Mc/r 1. i A . . c,

whose speech lasted about fourteen hours, and Sir Fletcher Norton, who
spoke for about seven hours. The Counsel for the Respondent were

Mr. Yorke, who was about six hours in his speech, Mr. W . . . . n,

about twelve, Mr. S . . . r O . . . . I, about nine. After Sir F. N.'a

reply, which took up about six hours, the Lords oroceeded to Judge-

ment, where one Nobleman spoke about half an hour for the Apellant,

another about three hours for the Respondent, a third spoke nrtr three

hours for the Apellant. When the Question being called for and put,

they were almost unanimously in favour of the Apellant.

Tuesday, March 7, 1769.—Yesterday the Hon. Archibald Douglas was
presented to His Majesty at St. James.

P.S.—They write front Berwick that on receiving an account of the

late great cause being decided in Favour of Mr. Douglas, great Rejoic-

ings and Illuminations were made there, and particularly by Mr. Leo
Douglas of that place, who in the evening caused a large bonfire to be

made on Hallidown Hill as a Signal to the neighbouring country,

and entertained upwards ot 50 of the principal gentlemen at the Red
Lion, where the following Healths were Drunk :—Archibald Douglas,

etc. etc. etc.
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Edinburgh Mwch 3 -Lwt niKht. .bout half u hour .ftor Mv.n

V u
^.'"'* ''" K»l'r«M 'rom London with the n«wi that th« bwre*

of the Court of Svuion wm r«' ". <ed without a vot».
The Reititution of thi« noble and illuitrioui Family gave univer>al

Joy to all Ranlu of 1'w.ple here, the whole town waa immediately
illuminated, and Bontiren appeared in all Corneri of thin City.
The mob iMt night broke many window* and committed other irregu-

laritiea which it it to be wiihed had not happened.
All the Ship* in the Harbour of I.«ith have colour* diiplayed thi*

Day on account of Mr. Douglaa'i *ucceM, in particular the Succeis
Capt. HowiRon haa above Twenty Flag* flying.

Thur.day. March 9. 1760.-Ye.terday Her Grace the Duchett of
Dougla* and her Nephew the Hon. Archibald Douglat, E«q.. ware pre-
sented to hio Majeity at St. Jame*'*.

Tuewlay, March 16, 1769.—By a letter from Kdinburgh we are
aiaured that on the arrival of the account of the Decinion of the Douglaa
Cauae, a numeroui mob no.'icmbled, and after parading the atreet* lome
time, proceeded to commit never.il outrage* on the houae* of •ome of
the principal gentlemen of the Court of Section. They broke the
window* of and began to pull down the house of Lord on which
the Town Guard were ordered to di*per*e the Rioter*, which finding
themselve* unable to do. a body of Regular Troop* were aent from the
Caetle, when the mob left the City and went a few mile* from Edin-
burgh to the country houte of an agent of Mr. I). 'a opponent, where
they committed • great many Act* of Violence. It i« said that a
reward haa aince been offt.ed by the .Magiatrate* at Edinburgh for
apprehenaion of the Person* concerned in the above Diaturbance*.

Edinburgh, March 10.—In the Gla»gov Chronicle, after the Account
of the Rejoicing. ()--»> on Mr. D.'a *ucce»i«, we have the following
paragraph :—When the Chelsea Men had done firing the Comp.-\ny
ordered each man 5a.—but when Mr. Graham was going to pay it them,
they all with one voice refused it, and said that they would a.s rheer-
fuUy charge with Ball, as they did that Night with Powder, in Defence
of Mr. D. and hi* Cause.

Thursday, March 16, 1769.—In a letter concerning the Rejoicings at
Glasgow on Mr. D.'* Succes*, an Account ii given of a Bon-fire made
before the Saracen'* Head Inn there, of 20 cart* of coals, which blazed
so that the owners of some thatched Houses at a small distance came to
the Landlord expressi.ig their Fears lest they should be set on Fire.
He bade them be easy, for if it so should happen, of which he thought
there wa« no Danger, the Price of the Houses should be put to the Bill.

Saturday, March 25/28.—On the Sunday after the Arrival in Scotland
of the Account of Mr. D.'s success, a Clergyman preached in the Church
of Douglas, from the foUowing Text:-" I will overturn, overturn, over-
turn it, and it shall be no more, until he whose right it is, and I will
give it him."—Ezek. xxi. 27.
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Thiiroday. April 6. 1769.—A KPntleman in Scotland, in a letter to bis

friend in London, dated 9th March, mentioning that the Ladies and

Gentlemen in his neighbourhood met at an Inn on the 7tb, where

the Gentlemen entertained the Ladies with a Dinner and a Ball in the

evening, to express their joy on the happy decision of the Douglas

Cause, gives the following account of some of their proceedings :—A»

Tuesday was a Presbytery Day, and the Ministers assembled as usual,

it was suggested that an act of Indemnity would be a most suitable

circumstance to the occasion, and a I'etition was accordingly prepared

and addressed to the Reverend Presbytery praying that they would

pardon all such Persons as at that Time were under Prosecution b /re

them on Account of the ijood-nntvred vices; the Petition was sigi by

the Ladies and Gentlemen and presented in Form. The Answer of

the Reverend Presbytery was as follows :—The Reverend Presbytery

having read and considered the above Petition are of opinion that so

uncommonly joyful an occasion should be distinguished by some very

joyful circumstance, and whereas a simple Act of Indemnity was nothing

by the ordinary Attendant of Common Felicity they, without division,

remit it to tlie Consideration of the Petitioners, if it may not to them

appear fit to add a Clause for an Indulgence also to all the Conse-

quences of the Good Humour of the Night.

Thursday, April 18, 1769.—On the Sunday after the news of the

noble Decision of the great Douglas Cause by the House of Peers arrived

at Edinburgh, the Reverend Dr. Hugh Blair preached in the High

Church of that City before the Lords of Council and Session from these

words :—" What fruit had ye then in those things whereof i»e are

now ashamed? "—Rom. vi. 21.

During the Rejoicings at Edinburgh on the late Decision of the Great

Douglas Cause, while the Mob were casting stones at certain dark

Windows, a gentleman humourously said
—
" Aye, aye, these honest

fellows are giving their casting votes in their turn."
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ArPKNDIX II.

Criticism of the : ':•• ^-pr.siina >f t . speeches <lelivere(l in judgment in the
Court of Scss;.-;i, '-"H' '' A Stnto of the Kvidence in the Ciiuae between
His (!race the Duke of Hannlton and Others, f'ltrKHert, and Archibald
Douglas of Douglas, Ksq., Dej'endfr, with remarks liy Robert
Richardson, D.D., I'rebindary of Lincoln. London, 1769." [v. note
to Introduction, page l.J

"The Ixmk [Almon's ' Speeches', reprinted in this volume] had run into

a, second edition before he [the writer] heard of it ; and it does not appear
that any of their Lordships have been offended at the publication, though
from the many great inacniraciesi in that part of it which has been
consulted for these papers, there is room to hope they were strangers to
its contents. . . .

"Seven months after Almon's book had been circulated without offence,

another copy of the speeches appeared, said to be a<;eurately taken down
and pul)lishe<l by William Anderson, Writer, in Edinburgh. The account
Mr. Anderson gives of his performance is in these words, ' He made
himself fully aciiuainted with the Cause, and while the Judges were
delivering their opinions he took down the greatest part of what each of

them said. These notes he daily corrected and enlarged by memory : not
satisfied with this he got the several opinions revisetl by those who were
best qualified to correct any errors or to supply any oniisisions, so that the

present publication may be depended upon as exact and genuine.' All

that Mr. Anderson is here pleased to say leads us to think that his

publication is neither exact nor genuine. How could his memory enable

him to correct and enlarge his notes with facts he had never taken dnwn
and probably never heard? And who were these persons who were
qualified, after the long vacation, to correct the errors and supply the
omissions of a copy taken down in Court? Mr. Anderson's book is indeed
a collection of speeches totally different, both in argument and stile, from
that printed by Almon. The stile is more diffuse, the sentiments more
ambiguous, and, in somo of the speeches, the very state of the question in

totally changed."
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LETTERS OF LADY JANE DOUGLAS. >

LETTER I.

From Lady Jane Douglas to Mbs. Caese.2

Hague, 18th October, N.S., 1746.

My Dear Madam,—I received the favour of your obliging letter
two posts ago, which, I do assure you, was mighty acceptable; and
the oftener you wifte, it will be so much the more so. You say my
leaving Scotland has cast a gloom upon your spirits. Pray throw it

off. Though 80 kind a demonstration of your concern and friendship,
yet it gives me pain to imagine you should suffer any the smallest
uneasiness on the account of any step of mine, which I would not have
made had not my health, or rather lowness of spirits, required it,

which I am hopeful I shall speedily get the better of, so that my stay
abroad shall not be extremely long, and then I please myself with the
thoughts of having a hai)py and an agreeable meeting with my friends,
and particularly with yon my dear madam. And as to my situation
at present, it is as follows:—On my arrival in this place I made
application to Mr. Trever, the English resident here, for a pass to take
me to the waters of Bourbon, being informed since I came here that
there is no going to Aix-la-Chapelle (where I was determined to go),
because of the constant robberies committed by the troopers in that
quarter; and I was the more easily diverted from pursuing my first

intention of going to Aix, since it is now in a manner the seat of war,
from which sad scene I am but lately come from, and was too long too
nigh a neighbour and spectator. Mr. Trever mighty obligingly took
in hand to get me a pass, and wrote to Mr. Van Hoey, the Dutch
Ambassador at Paris, for that purpose. But so goes the ."treani of

> Reprintejl from .i little book, " letters of the Ri^ht Honouml.le Lady Jane nouelas
with Kevfnil other iiiiportant pieces of private corre.spondence from all which thechamcterx of that celebrated Udy and of her huslwnd, sir John Stewart, will anneiirm a light hitherto not sufficiently known to the world. I^ondon : IMnted for .». Wilkiem .St. Paula Chuixhyaiii, 1767." The preface explains that they are extr.itts only insome cases and that .he orthoRraphy has been corrected. It muxt ho remembered
that the letter of I.iuiy J.tne Douglas to .Mrs. C.-vrse in which she denied her marriaife
and imputed the rumour of it to Mrs. Stewart of Stewartfleld, is not included in the^K ters, which have Iwen considerably " edited," obviously by an adherent of ArchibaldDtdglas In this repnnt the n;ime Stewart is spelled Steuart as in the rest of thebook, following the spelling in Sir William Fra.ser's monogmph "The Bed Book ofGmndtuUy." B<.th Sir John and Lady Jane spelled if'Stewart."

«~» "i

- iiie Jauu Douglas.
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politics at present that, instead of getting one, which be thought there
could be no mighty difficulty in obtaining, he received a polite,
courteous letter from Mr. Van Hoey, with an apology of regret, that
the situation of affairs were such that no pass could be allowed to
*ny of the English to go into France ; which extremely surprised Mr.
Trever, \vl]o imagined that ladies might pass freely at any juncture
anywhere

;
and, for my own part, I confess frankly that though I am

somewhat mortified to find unexpected accidents arise to prevent my
little scheme for health's sake taking place, yet my vanity in considering
that the trifling movement of ladies is believed by two great and wise
Courts of so extraordinary import that I believe my health shall be
better established by so flattering an idea than it could be by any
other medicine, or by the use of the finest waters in the world, par-
ticularly my illness being mostly lowne^s of spirits. What heightened
them must prove an effectual cure. But, to be more serious, I reckon
I shall not, for all the mighty notice that is taken of the motions of
the fair, stay a great many days longer here. Having met very
luckily with Mr. Keith,3 late secretary to Lord Stair, now to Lord
Sandwich, at present at Breda, affairs sometimes calls Mr. Keith to
the Hague, and last Wednesday I had the favour of his company at
dinner, and by his mear- I imagine a pass may be obtained. Mr.
Keith is really a mighty pretty gentleman, makes a good figure in
the employment he is in, and promises very fair for further advance-
ments, which I truly think he deserves. 1 am extremely concerned to
hear Mr. Carse is afflicted with low spirits. I sympathise with him in
that di.»tress. and wishes that could relieve him. And Madam Hewit
is in tribulation about him ; she says she never thought she liked him
so well as now she hears he is ill; she begs you both to accept of
her compliments and best wishes. Keir my landlord's behaviour has
shocked me a good deal ; and the more that I could easily have pre-
vented any impertinent demon.strntion had I not had a better opinion
of him than it seems he deserved ; but my greatest uneasiness for his
late proceedings is that I had allotted Drum8h.[eugh] for an easy
and agreeable dwelling for Peggy Ker, who I always had, and always
shall have, a particular liking and friendship for. I need not bid you,
dear madam, shew kindness and friendship to her, since I know you like
her, and since you know it will be doing the kind, obliging thing to
me. From time to time I shall have the pleasure to write to you, and
«ven longer letters, though this is none of tlie shortest. I offer my best
and most affectionate compliments to dear Mr. Carse, to Mr. and Mrs.
Robison, and to Mrs. Burnet. I don't deserve the mighty compliments
Mrs. Robison makes me. The one she makes the other lady, the fair,
the yonns, the beautiful, delightful creature, is a very just one. I
hear she is in pretty good health at present, which will please her,
as it always does me, to have an opportunity of .issuring you, my dear
madam, that I truly am, with great esteem end affection, your most
humble servant, Jank Douglas.

hi! 'i,'':?'*t Y^^i;^:
^'-"imrr, a Jwwnrtant r,f th,; illii-triou^! fiimily nf M.arischal, lonthis Bntanmek Mtyesty 3 Au)Ua«ulor at the court of Russia, now Uving in lui bonoo?able retreat near Edinburgh." [Original note.)

""uuur
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LETTER II.

From Ladt Jane Douglas to Mbs. Cabsb.

Utrecht, 10th February, 1747, N.8.
My Dear Madam,—I received your two large letters just before the

great frost began here. They were extremely acceptable ; and I count
it a piece of my good fortune that they came at that time, for,
immediately after, it froze so hard that no packet-boat could arrive for
several weeks; which may as-sure you I could not answer your letter
so soon as you might have reasonably expected, and which I certainly
would have done had not that circumstance prevented it. It is what
always happens in these parts about the New Year; but such an
excessive cold I never felt before; the year '40 was warm in com-
parison; yet I catch no cold, I thank God, which was extraordinary
enough, considering the rigorous season. This place stands high, and
is very wholesome, which made me choose it till the season for Aix
returns. I let. the Hai^ue only because it was damp ; and not without
a good deal of regret, having got several acquaintances, and some
amongst the Dutch, I found mighty well-bred, agreeable people. I
ha^o been as lucky since I came here in meeting with a great many
Scots and English gentlemen. They are indeed chiefly of the younger
sort, who choose this place for their education ; but they have so great
a share of good sense, and so much wit, they render themselves accept-
able to much older people. Amongst the rest voung Lord Blantyre
deserves justly the greatest praise. But I am ntt capable of drawing
characters well, the want of which talent I mightily regret, since it

deprives me of the pleasure of doing justice to the most promising young
gentleman ever I saw in my life ; yet in my plain, awkward way I shall
tell you some of his qualifications: He has exlreme good sense, the
best scholar, the greatest application, a vast pleasure in reading, and
best taste of books ; is free of all manner of vice, and has the sweetest
temper in the world ; and in all appearance will be a very great
honour to his country. I sometimes wish his mother, my old acquaint-
ance Lady Blantyre, had the satisfaction to know how much her son
has profited by being abroad, and what an accomplished young man
he really is ; but I immediately check myself for it, since it is certainly
better that she hears nothing of it, for the half of what he deserves
could not be told her, without her becoming too vain. 1 could also
say a great many advantageous things to Mr. Hay and Mr. Dalrymple,
who havs a great deal of merit, excellent good sense, mighty good
scholars, and are both equally free of all vice with the other. But if

I go on at this rate you'll grow afraid that I intend to draw the
pictures of all the gentlemen in Utrecht; so I shall have done with
characteristics, only I must add that Mr. Da1rymple,4 your neighbour
Sir James's son, has employed his time well, and has acquired much
learning of all kinds.

I am, dear madam.
Your most humble servant,

Janb Douglas.
* Sir Darid Dalrrmple (Lord UailetiX
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LETTER III.

From Ladt Jane to hbe Brotheb the Dvkx.

Rheimg, 7tli August, 1748.
Dear Brother.-ThouKh not a little di.«couraKed by your favouringme with no answer to that under cover of Lord Crawfurd's, acquainting

your Grace with my change of state, and in wliose favours, I think
It my incumbent duty, as well as natural inclination, to acquaint • ou
further with the bippy consequences of it. which I am hopeful may be
a means to replace me, in some measure, to fhe share of your
favour I was oncA happy in, and never willingly forfeited ; but to the
contrary have legrttted my ill fortune in that particular more than
all the others of my more th.iii ordinary cross fate. If want of title and
estate m the gentleman I have 'hoscn seems surprising, your Orace well
knows no subject could add to me ; and a gentleman as well born as
any can take nothing off. Please know then, my Lord, that the tenth
of last month I was blessed witli5 boys, one a promising child ; the
other, poor thing, so weak that I fear is little to be reckoned on;
God's will be done; the other my hopes centre in, and want but the
pleasure of your approving his having your name, with that of Sholto
U> the younger, to be happy, for, thank God, I have philosophy enough
not to place happiness on superfluous riches or pomp, and faith enough
to hope that they nor I shall never want a decent competency.
Though I have recovered health beyond expectation, I cannot make

this letter so long as I incline, having many things to say, but am able
to add no more but that Mr. Stuart begs allowance of your Grace to
offer his humble duty in this, and that of being permitted to do
himself that honour more amply by a letter, if favoured by your Grace
with an opportunity; and that I am ever, with the sincerest and
most respectful regard.

Dear Brother,

Your most obedient servant, and most affectionate sister,

Jane Douglas.
Reims en Champagne, 7th August, N.S., 1748.

LETTER IV.

The Eael of Crawfcbd to the Duke of Douglas.

My Dear Duke,—Having had the honour in my younger days to be
favoured with your Grace's friendship, which I have ever since flattered
myself you have continued me, as I am conscious no relation of your
Grace's family wishes it better, or prides himself more in the con-
nection they have with it ; and as it has providentially been my fate
to pass these six last months confined to a place where the irretrievable

• A blot on the paper which ainnut lie reiul. It means <iro. [Original note.]
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miafortunes it haa pleased the Almighty to afflict me with could only
be rendered supporUble to me by the moat agreeable society of so
deserving people aa that of your aiater Lady Jane and Mr. Steuart ; and
a, during the space of time »e have been together, I have, from m
regard I have for your Grace's family I cannot conceal, go far merited
my Lady Jane's confidence, as to be entrusted with the alteration there
haa happened in her state of life, as also the notifying of it to your
Grace, by the enclosed, a service that the same regard I have mentioned
I ever shall havo for your family, has even prompted me to offer on
ao important an occasion, recommending, with the greatest earnestness,
all its consequences to your Grace's most mature deliberation ; I say,
aa my undertaking proceeds from the most warm affection to your
Grace's family, I am hopeful my representations will not only meet with
forgiveness, but with also their wished-for success, in reconciling your
Grace to an event all the well-wishers of your Grace's family may have
the greatest reason to rejoice at, as there is such visible hopes of iu
being attended with the natural consequences so much longed for, by
all who are fond of seeing the family of Douglas multiply ; and since I
have thus far ventured upon my dear Duke's goodness, he must forgive
me if I proceed a little further and represent that a sister, tenderly
fond of your Grace as she is, and in the situation my Lady Jane is in
at present, a favourable answer from your Grace is more necessary than
may be at first, perhaps, adverted to; wherefore, allow me once more
to entreat you will neither by silence nor indifference hazard the bad
consequences that may follow either the one or the other. I can
assure your Grace she does great honour to her family wherever she
appears, and is respected and beloved by all that have the honour of
her acquaintance. She certainly merits all the affectionate marks of
an only brother to an only sister : much, much does she wish, as well
aa others of your Grace's devoted friends, there had been no so great
necessity for her changing her way of life, but since it has become
so absolutely necessary, with the greatest subnii.^siou, considering the
variety of different circumstances, I would gladly hope your Grace
will not disapprove of the person Lady Jane has chose, as to be sure
there is none more deserving. But I'm afraid I shall encroach too long
on your Grace's patience, so I shall only add that your Grace's rendering
Lady Jane satisfied and happy, by a reconciliation, and such other
marks of your brotherly affection as shall seem proper, shall ever render
me unalterably,

Your Grace's

Most devoted relation, friend, and humble servant,

Cbawfcrd.

P.S.—As your Grace may, perhaps, incline to know how things are
likely to turn out here, 1 shall venture to add that I'm afraid the enemy
will have made too ^jreat progress in the siege of Maestricht before we,
by the junction of all our troops and recruits, become formidable
enough to interrupt their progress in their attempt upon Maestricht;
but, I hope, we shall bs .ibic f.) frustratp all their other designs, and,
perhaps, to thrash them before the end of the campaign.
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LETTER V.

Pbom Lord CBAwruBD to Colonil Stiuaet. at Rrums.

London, 12th August, 1748, 0.8.
Dear John,—I had the pleasure of yours, just as my wound broke

out again. I have been so distressed ever since that it has not been
in my power to answer you, notwithstanding I hope both you and my
Lady Jane will lo me the justice to believe it in impossible to con-
gratulate you vith more sincerity than I do, on my Lady Jane's safe
delivery of my tw( young relations. It is )nore than probable the
same Almighiy i'lovidence, who seems to have decreed their coming
into the worla, intends also to reserve them, or theirs, for his great
ends. Almighty God preserve them, and their valuable parents to
rear them up in this selfish world.

I was lucky enough to receive your letter soon enough before I fell
III, so as to recommend my Lady Jane's affairs to the Duke of Argyll's
care. He promised me he would talk to my Lord Milton in relation
to bringing the Duke of Douglas to a way of thinking of the affair as he
ought to be. I also wrote to the Duke of Douglas a second letter,
though I had no answer to my first, intimating to him my Lady Jane's
safe delivery, thundering in his ears his family's cause, and trying to
rouse up all that is Douglas in him ; I wish it may have the desired
effect. I have also engaged my Lord Home, who is gone down to
Lord Mark Kerr's, to reconctliate him, and I intend to go myself as soon
as I am well, in order to talk to him for some supplies for Lady Jane,
which, I make no doubt, must soon become necessary. I have also
spoke to the Master of Ross, son of the Lord Ross, who is lately come
over from Prussi.i, and who is gone down to Scotland to see his father,
to talk with his father and the Marquis of Lothian, to take the proper
steps with the Duke of Douglas to induce him to act by Lady Jane
as he ought to do. The young gentleman undertook the thing very
willingly, and, I believe, will do all that lies in his power to do you
service. You shall soon hear from me again, particularly after I have
seen my Lord Mark Kerr. In the meantime pray make my corapli-
menu, in the most kind manner, to Lady Jane, my blessing to the
two young gentlemen, my compliments to Mrs. Hewi't, that we are all
vastly obliged to her for her care of Lady Jane, and, believe me, with
unalterable regard.

Dear John,

Your most devoted friend and humble servant,

Cbawfdbd.

P.S.—Having been so ill, I hope you will excuse this being wroto
by another hand.

Addressed thus :—To Colonel Jno. Stouart, at Rhemes en Champagne.
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LETTER VI.

Lord Blanttrx to Ladt Jank Dovolas.

Madam,—I have often had the pen in my hand to write fo your
Ladyship, several of my lett«n> vrero begun, but, before I bad time
to finiih any one of them, an unlucky trifle still presented itself and
vnticed me away ; if I have been in the wrong, and I am afraid I have
certainly, I have been much punished for it by being so long deprived
of the pleasure of hearing from you. V lat I have said I do not mean
a^ a compliment, and I should be sorry if you looked upon it as such

;

it is truth itself, and if it were not so, I should rot certainly give
myself the trouble of sending it so far a journey aa from here to
London. To make amends for my past negligence, I wish I had any-
thing to write that were capable of entertaining you, but I am so stupid,
and besides, the gallant anecdotes of Paris do not deserve to occupy
for a moment your Ladyship's attention.

I hope to hear by your first letter that your aft'airs have taken a turn,
and that fortune persecutes you no more ; you have suffered more from
her caprice than any one I ever knew, and you have bore it all with
a constancy and cheprfulness quite unconunon ; many are unfortunate,
but few, very few, are unfortunate with so much grace as your Lady-
ship; everything will be compensated soon, at least I hope so.

I beg leave to offer my compliments to Mrs. Hewit ; I am persuaded
she thinks me very indegrate. Adieu, my dear Lady Jane. I am,
most sincerr.'lv

,

V\iur very affectionate cousin, and humble servant,

„ „ Blamtv&x.
Paris, 21st January.

I hope the two young heroes are well.

LETTER VIL

LoBD Blantibb to Lady Jank Douglas.

Paris, 24th April.

Madam,—So long a silence makes me afraid that the letter I wrote
to your Ladyship in the beginning of January has never reached you

;

if it is so, I am sorry for it, because you will think me guilty of a
neglect that 1 am innocent of. If, on the contrary, my letter has
come to band, I shall still be more uneasy to gue.s.s at the reason of
my not hearing from you. The only way to draw me out of so cruel
a perplexity is to let me hear from you soon, and I know you are too
good to leave ine long in pain. Write to me soon, dear Lady Jane,
and make me happy, for nobody interests himself more than I do in
everything that regards you. I send this letter by a private hand
that it may run no sort of risk. Adieu, my dear madam ; I send a
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number of tumpliments to Mm. Hewit, to Mr. Steuart, and to my two
godMHii. K»r*well, dear Lady Jane. 1 am, with the Breatent truth
imaginable,

Your affectionate cousin and humble wrviint,

Blanttbi.

LETTER Vin.

Lrtri d« Madami La Comtes.se db Bassevitz.b a My Lady Jeanmi
Douoi.A« Steuaht.

Ma tn^ chrre Lady,—Votre Icttro du 7i.ie do .InilUt ue m'u plus trouve
J Aixla-Chapelle. J'un itois d.jii partle Ih IB du iii.-mo mois, jOTur aller it

Paris, oil upr. « avoir «.'jouriio prcs ile troi.t moii, retoHrnaiit par Kruxellee,
j'al eu lo plaisir do recevoir vo« cheres li«n««. Noun aurions bioii aimtS le
Comte de BaHWSvitz et niol, do rester Ihiver i I'arin ; iimis cocnuie noui
avions fait tout le voyage a\eo n.itre Prince htri-ditairc. ct K-h Piincewea,
•on Spouse, ot sa gu'iir, et (jue par coii8.'iiH..nt, toii.s ik.s arruii^'ementH
vtoient pris de forte <|ue nous no pouvioiin noug geparcr d'eux Hans leur
iiicommoditc et la n.",tre, il fallut lea suivre, lorsque la nouvcUe qu'ils
re9ureut de U maladic du Due r.giiant lour pi-re, leg obligea de precipiter
leur retour. V'oug pcnso/ bieri, aiiiiable Lady, quo nous nous sommea
trouvea fort i not re uiae, ,lau» cotte suiwrbe ville, oil leg plaisirs naisaent
sous cha()ue pas. Uependant, en reudaut justice a ses boautes, aux chef
d'osuvres des difTerent.f arts qu'elle c-Ulo, ot au gvnio vif ot heuroux do soh
habitons, jo nai pu ni'accoinmoder de leurs nuturH. La frivolitti de leur*
entretieng, I'air i\onte des hoiiimes, leg nianitres ctoiudieg des femmes,
jointes k oe rouge affreux, doiit olios masquent leurg teint, et qui fait
reasembler leg bt-Ues a des Lais, les laideg a dcg Mtg.Tes, tout cela ni'a fait
sentir que jo suis nt^e pour rAllomagne, et non pour la France, parce quo
mon goat ne scauroit se former A toutes ces fadaistg. II est vrai, n^an
moins, que jo convois, que menie avec I'humeur que j'ai, on pout vivre trts
agreablement i Parig, lorqu'on a lo terns d'y di'terrer le petit nombre de
gens senses et savans, qui y sont dispers^g, et de lior commerce avec eux ;

mais, pour y parvenir il faut fronder les pn5jugig du public, lequel ypermet tros raroment aux femmes d'etre raisonableg, et qui ne nous yregarde que corome des poupieg, destinees k faire Tamusement, pour no
pas dire, le jouet des hommes.
Qu' AixlaChapelle m'a paru desert, mi Udy, parcequo vous m'y avez

manqu^. Je in'en suis consolee comme j'ai pu, en m'entretenant de vous
avec toug ceux qui vous connoiggoient, ou qui avoienl entendu parler
de voB merites, et de vos malheurs dans votrc piUrie. J'ai souveiit fait la
visite 4 Mad. Tevvis, pour lui entendre rep«:ter ee qu'ello sgavoit de votre
sort. C'est une trOg bonne femme qui vous est d'autant plus sincorement

"The Conntesa de B.«.wTit7, U a Is.iy of the c-hM of Mixfclcnbnr-h Strelim SOu, i.in correspondent with M. de Volu.ire and st of the «lel.ra"rd «Jnh"es in eSS^
i'origr„.3Ctej"
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•lUohee, quelle vinu oroit ami* intima da m fllle U Colonelta Herbart.
l«« prau' « qu'ullt' m'a ilit Ptra m iut da voua lirrar, puur U v^ridcktlon
da votre Kroaacnw, Ront plui ijua •uffiuntea, pour pr6vt<uir tout oe qua U
Boira malict! iln voa viintMiila pourroit iiiventir au pn-judica da voa char*
jumeaux ; kurtuut, ni coninio ju lui eu ai dnniit'' la oooMil, ella rend aon
Wmoigiuijju par ilevant iiottaire, atin de lui prixuirvr la validity d'une
(iepoaition Hiitheiitiiiue. J'ai vu votre couiin, niilxird Driinilanrik. On
ro'a dit iju'il unpiruit A lit aucuvHiuii dii l>u<r voire frtVc ; j'ai peine 4 le

cruirc, sa pliij*iunoniiu vul trop noble pour <|ii'il auil capablu du la baaaeiae,

de tiavailltr au di'iHiuiilvmi'nt il'uiiu luiilirru li'^iliiiie. On I'a dit auwi
m^ititciit iln voire iimi'iagu : j'igiioi'e iti ceU twt vrai, puiMju'il lie I'mtt paa
explii|Ui'' mir ou lujel vu mm piVHciino, iiiais au iiioiim I'ai je entendu parler

de votru |H<riioiiiii' nvoo tout le ri'ipoc-t qu'on doik a voa vurtiiii. Ma<l.

TewiK VOU8 anru nmiidi'>, mum doutc, i|ue le Cliuvalier Cuningimm, Otflcier

du rt'^'inicnt ilf mi lyird, rloit Vfim a'iiiformer che/. ello do uircouHtunceit

qui voiw uoii('ei'iii.'iit. I'eul-i'tre, qualms- luinii'-iiiu purde uiixrapportfl, il

a aouliaite dVtrc <'cliiitci, et cettu envir on navoir la veiilr Ruppoae, qu'il

n'a pas) le di-H«eiii i\v vois fniiu lort. Au HuipluH il ne giigneroit rien, en
agisKaiit, soit ilirccteiiieiit soil indirectcnient, tHintre vous, car den gena qui
pauvent I'tro iiu I'liit de la cliom- m'ont assuri'', ijue lo Uiic de IJonglaa avoit
auui pen dVnvio <le favoi iser ami cousin i|iie sa xoiir, et qu'il deatine apri'S

mort, tout ce ilon* il |)<-ut di8|>uacr, A uno parente, qu'on noiiinio ainsi

<|uc vous Jeuniu- l)uiiylii>, el qui e«l niiii icu ni jo no nie troni{ie, a oc meine
Due du l!uccleii>;li, iloiit a'Urefois voua uve/. rejeti- la main. Co n'eat pas
d'aujouril'liiii, ilniissime Lady, que la caractere de nii Lord votre fr^re eat

tranapiri' ju.-«<|iie I'l ma coniioissance, malgri5 la gi'neroiiite avec lai|ucUe voun
tachiez de tiler le rMi'aii, sur la durete des nea prooedes envers voua.
II eat liien tnste, qu'ii vou» aye force i\ n'courir i^ la juHtico coiitre lui.

N'auriez vmis jms avant d'en venir a cetle extreinite, pu trouver quelque
occasion de le joindre, et d'einouvuir en lui la nature par voire vue?
Iwa force du sang est (jrande en dc tellea reucoutres, et souveiit le frdro

qu'on avoil perdu »e relroiivo eiitre les liraa do aa soour. PeutStre
reusairiez vous encore <le celte faeon a le rendre traitahle, nialgriS ce qui
a eat passt' entre vous, votre magnaniniite n'y perdroit rien, puisqu'une
avance, faite a uii freie, ne neroil (ju'un honimage rendu a I'uiiion de votre
famille, a la gloire du uom que vous portez toua deux, au bien de vos
enfana, et par con»i'M|iieiil a votre amour-propre dirig6 par la raiaon. Mais
peut-t^tre juge-je dc voire situation, comme un aveugle dea couleura. Vous
deve;£ connoitre votre flere, et vous avez trop de sentiment et de prudence,
pour rien ni'gliger de ce qui pourroit le ramener, si vous n'etiez seure, que
c'eat impossible, et qu'il a ferm^ son ame a tout ce qui pent emouvoir un bon
naturel. IS'il est ainai mi Lady, permettcz inoi de vous dire, que lui ayaiit

une *-'a rompu en visiere, par votre recours au gouvernment pour votre
penaion, vous devez tiioher d'ajuster, maiiitenant tout ce quo vous pourriez
janiaix avoir 4 debattre avec lui, et a vous muiiir des precautions centre
touted les Bupercheries, qui pourroient alt^>rer les droits de votre heritage ;

et cela d'autant plus soigneusement, que si Dieu vous retiroit de ce monde,
et Mr. Steward auasi, avant la mort du Due voire frere, et pendant que
V08 enfans sent en bas-age cet pauvres iiinoceus coureroient risque de tout

perdre. Pardonnez mi Lady si I'ardeur de men zele me fait entrer
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todl«;rtt.m.nt d.n. trop d. d.^Uil , U tan,l««, d. mon .mitM pour vou.
doit m. «,pvlr d excu«,. Jo vou. prot-U,, que l\il«„nce „„ r.l.ntit ri.n 4» CDMeur dM roei Mntimena, et que votn. idee mVat encore kuwi
tote, »4nt«, et •««! ohere, que n,e la (it j,di« volro aim.ble pr^«,nce, volrmu.. vo. ul«n.. voire cracfre, v»u« ont UUchi n.oii o.i-ur par det
I.... indiMoluble.. Quel dcnmage ,,u. 1. mer r.ou. ..pare, et qu.Mo.gnen.ent n.etto „„ invincible o(«t«cIe i la j,m„«i,K.e .rune m iJll,

•niitl.? Je ren.l. grAco. k Mr. Steward do u>,i wuvor.ir i .i ,„e» ..gard.. .im» p.rf.,tee.t.me peuvt-ul lo rtatt.r, il a l.mte. l... r..i.o,m .IVtro contentae moi. Teniz parole, ch.re Udy, informer n.ui .1., U relriiile .,ue vou.
choiiirez. et croyez .juo ju ferai jum,uau ton.lwa.i. uvec la con«i.l. rat..... laplu. .ttectueu.e. votre t.c. hun.ble. tre. oUw«»nt«. et tre. .levou.>e
•ervantc.

,. „ ,

Sabink Cotnteue de Hawikvitx.
lie Ko.tiK' le Ume do Mar. IT.'Jl.

TRANSLATION.

LiTr.R FROM THB Cou.vrF.xs or Bas.sevitz, at Ro:*toc, to Ladt Jane
Dduolas Steuabt.

My dear Lady.-Yonr letter of the 7th o{ July did not li.ul me .t
Au-laChapelle. I had set out for Pari, upon tl,o 16th of that monthwhere l.av.nK rema.nod near three months, ,t wus in my return by theway of Bru«el» that I had tho ,,loasure of receiving your dear line..The Count de na.H.sev.t/, and I would have been ve.y we!l j.leused tohave pa..sed the winter at Pa.i«; but a., we had made the whole journey
.nco.npa.,y with our Hereditary Prince, and tho Princesses, his consort»nd sister, and of con^equen e all our matters were so dispo.-^ed thatwe could not separate from them without incon..,.oding both them and
ourselv... we were under a necessity of attendiuK them when theaccounts wh.ch they received of the reigning Duke their father',
being indisposed, obliged them to hast.>n their return. Vou are not
nustaken, amiable Lady, in supposing that wp pai..=ed our time very
agreeably ,n that magnificent city, where pleasures spring up under
every footstep At the same time, while 1 do justice to it. beautie..
to the masterly performances which it exhibit." in the different art.,
and to the lively and happy genius of its inhabitants, 1 , nld not
conform myself to their manner.. The frivolousness of =, eir con-
versation, the foppish air of the men, and the giddy behaviour of the
women, jomed to that frightful rouge with which they disguise their
complexion, and which makes the handsome resemble .ourtesan?, ind
the ugly look like hags. All this makes me feel that I was born lor
Germany, and not for Fiance, a. my taste would never be recon-
ciled to such fooleries. I believe, however, that even a person of my
turn of mind might live very acreeablv at Pari., if on<> had time
to search out the few people of sense and knowledge who are there
dispersed, and to form a connection with them ; but, in order to arrive
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The Douglas Cause.

at that, one must combat the prejudices of the public, which in that
place seldom allows women to be reasonable creatures, and which
looks upon us as puj ets destined for the amusement, not to say the
sport, of men.
What a desert Aix-la-Chapelle appeared to me for want of your

company
! I comforted myself the best way I could, in conversing

about you with all who knew you, or who had heard of your merit,
and of your sufferings in your own country. I often visited Madam
Tewis, to hear her repeat all that she knew concerning you. She
is a very good woman, and is the more sincerely attached to you that
she believes you to be an intimate friend of her daughter, the Lady
of Colonel Herbert. The evidence which she says she is in condition
to produce in support of your pregnancy is more than sufficient to
frustrate whatever tiie blackest malice of your enemies might invent,
to the prejudice of your dear twins, especially, if she takes my advice
and delivers her testimony before a notary, in order to give it the
force of an authentic deposition.—I have seen your cousin, my Lord
Drumlanrig. I was told that he aspired to the succession of the
Duke, your brother; but I can hardly believe it; the nobleness of
hjB look bespeaks him incapable of so mean an office as that of sup-
plantmu a rightful heir. I have likewi.se heard that he was displeased
at your marriage. I know notliing of the truth of this, as he never
explained himself upon the subject in my presence; but this I can
say, that I have heard him speak of you with all the respect that is
due to your virtues. Madam Tewis would, no doubt, inform yon
that the Chevalier Cunningham, an officer of Lord Drumlanrig'i
regiment, applied to her to be informed of some circumstances con-
cernmg you. Perhaps he had been deceived himself by false report*,
and wanted to have the matter cleared up ; and his desire of knowing
the truth seems to imply that he has no design of doing you hurt.
At any rate he will pain nothing by acting, either directly or in-
directly, against you; for people who have access to know have
assured me that the Duke of Douglas had as little inclination to
favour his cousin as his sister, and that he intends to leave all that
he can dispose of at his death to a female cousin of the same name
with yourself, and who is married, if I am not mistaken, to the same
Duke of Buccleugh, whose hand you formerly rejected. It is not of
yesterday, my dearest Lady, that I have been acquainted with the
character of my Lord your brother, in spite of tl e generosity with
which you endeavoured to draw » veil over the harshness of his pro-
ceedings towards you. It is very unhappy that you should be
obliged to have recourse to justice against him. Could not you, before
coming to that extremity, endeavour to bring about an interview with
him, and to awaken the impulse of natural affection in him by yonr
presence? The force i,l l)lood is great upon such occasions, and it

often happens that a lost brother is found again in the arms of his

sister.—Perhaps, in this way, you may, so far at least, succeed as to
make him listen to terms notwithstanding what has passed between
you

; your magnanimity would suffer nothing by it, because an advance
of this sort made to a brother would be no more than a due homage
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paid to the union of your family, to the glory of the name which bothof you bear, to ti.e good of your children, and, of consequence, to yourown «,lf-love directed by reason. But, perhaps I judge of your situa-
tion at a blind person does of colours; you are cerUinly not un-
acquainted with your brother, and you have too much sentiment, as
well aa prudence, to neglect any step which might regain his affections
If you were not positive that it is to no purpose, and that his breast is
steeled to every suggestion of humanity. If that is the case, my Lady
permit me to tell you that, having once so far outfaced him as to apply
to the Government for your pension, you ought now to endeavour m
far as in your power, to adjust your matters so as to have no after-
questions with him, and to fortify yourself with precautions against
aU the tricks which may be made use of to cut off your right of inherit-
ance; and this you ought to be the more solicitous about, that if God
should withdraw both you and Mr. Steuart from this world before the
death of the Duke, your brother, and while your children are under
age, these poor innocents might run a risk of losing all. Pardon me,my Lady, if the ardour of my zeal makes me enter indiscreetly into
too minute a discussion ; the tenderness of my friendship for you will
plead my excuse. I protest to you that absence abates nothing of the
warmth of my sentiments, and that your idea is at present as interest-
ing and as dear to me as was formerly your amiable presence. Your
virtues, your talents, your character have bound my heart to you by
indissoluble ties. What pity it is that the sea divides us, and that
dutonce occasions an invincible bar to the enjoyment of so perfect a
friendship. I return thanks to Mr. Steuart for hb remembrance of
me; if my regard, if my perfect esteem can flatter him, he has reason
to be satisfied with me. Keep your word, dear Lady, inform me of the
retreat which you make choice of, and believe that I shall be. to the
grave, with the most affectionate respect, your most humble and most
obedient servant,

Sabine Countess of Bassivitz
Rostoc, 6th March, 1751.

LETTER IX.

Ladx Jane Douglas to Mr. Steuaet.

Saturday Morning.
Dear Mr. Steuart,—Good morrow to you, according to Lord Blantyre's

atile; I hope, by the htter I am expecting every moment from yon,
to hear that your cold is absolutely removed ; in that case, I beg you
to be thankful to the <reat Bestower of all good, who daily loads us
with His favours.

The colds at present, which scarce any have escaped, are so ranch
more severe than that you complained of, makes me write the little

exhortation above, to put you in mind of gratitude to our great Bene-

aoi
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factor
; thoagh yon may justly say that remonatrance waa needleia to

you, who are always so sensible of favours received from friends. Our
Almighty Friend cannot then b« forgotten by one who has such
sentiments as yours.

I enclose here the card I received in return to mine from Captain
Wilson and his lady ; I am to make inquiry after her health, and »
proper excuse for your not coming immediately to wait on him.
The town continues as dull as I am, affording not one thing worthy

the pains to write, or you to read ; yet I can tell yon what will please
you beyond every other thing, that our dear little ones are well. Poor
Mrs. Hewit also begins to mend ; she put on blisters last night behind
her ears, and finds herself this morning much better. I stop here till

I receive your letter, which will certainly enliven me ; but this I ought
not to have said, lest it produce another kind quarrel on your side.
This moment I have the Batisfaction of yours, and though you write

nothing of your cold, James brings the agreeable account that it is
quite well, blessed be God that it is so. The glimpse of hope yon
mention, I hope shall come out soon in a full blaze of joy and
satisfaction.

What you write concerning Lady Betty and her spouse is well imagined
and expressed ; we shall very soon tae the extent of their friendship

;

I should have more properly said the constancy of it, since I have
alieady received material proofs of it, which I shall never forget.

I send a fine fowl and a piece of beef ; I hope as fine as the last yon
commend so much. I flatter myself Tuesday shall prove a good day,
that I may have the pleasure to tell you how much I am affectionately
yours, which words cannot so well express.

J. D. S.

LETTER X.

Ladt Jan» Douolas to Mr. SrauAtT.

Tuesday.
Dear Mr. Steuart,—I have felt so much pain since I left you, for

the few rash words expressed at parting, that I take this way to dis-
charge, if possible, some part of the burden of grief I have suffered
upon that occasion ; at the same time that I find myself unable to give
you an idea of the one half of my sorrow, which will not diminish till

you, with your usual goodness and indulgence to me, assure me of a
pardon. Dear Mr. Steuart, write as soon as this comes to your
hands, that you are not displeased, which will make me happy again.
I won't enter upon the subject of our debate, which caused my wrong-
headed expressions ; only this far, that I confess you were in the right
and I excessively in the wrong. I am from my heart and soul
conscious and sensible of my fault ; so, once more, dear Mr. SUuart,
pardon it, and pass it over, and never in your life think more of my
ill-judged, as well as ill-managed, argnings.
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On Friday, please God, I intend to dine with you; don't provide
dinner, I bring one along with me.

Receive enclosed a moidore ; I'll bring a little more of the same metal
with me

; wish I could bring as much as would deliver you out of your
'confinement.

Dear little Archie and Sholto are charmed with their hats, and have
promised to be good boys; they're in perfect health, blessed be God,
•8 I am ; only till I hear from you, and that you are friends with me,
I shall have no tranquility of mind. Adieu, dear Mr. Steuart. In
spite of frequent idle sallies, I am, and ever shall be, with the tenderest
tuid warmest affection, yours,

Jane DonoLAs Stxuast.

1

LETTER XI.

Ladt Jane Douglas to Mk. Steuabt.

Friday, 1 o'clock.

Dear Mr. Steuart,—Yesterday, just after I made answer to yours, I
received a letter from my guardian angel, in return to a card I sent
her. The contents are as follows :

—

Madam,—I should be extremely sorry to givt your Ladyship the
trouble of calling on me, but am very glad I can now with certainty
assure you, your request has been laid before his Majesty by the Duke
t)f Newcastle; and Saturday last Jlr. Pelham had notice from his
brother it was ranted. Proper notice of this, I conclude, Mr. Pelham
wiU give your L. dyship. And I am, madam, your most obedient, etc.,
3rd August.

I dare say you'll be pleased with the contents of this letter ; I expect
every hour to be informed of the matter by another hand j but the early
notice of favourable things come always by her friendly hands.
Mrs. Hewit is better to-day; the little men are weU. Adieu, entirely

y"""'
J. D. S.

LETTER XII.

Ladt Jane Douglas to Mb. Steuart.

Saturday.
Dear Mr. Steuart,—I see you are better versed in ElibankT and his

brother s affairs than any information I can give can possibly make
you; however, I'm always pleased to give you, in your present
solitude, any httle piece of news that comes my way, which, indeed,
but very seldom presents itself to me. I think with you that Miss
Murray, by her behaviour in this matter, appears to have both

' CSolonel Steuart married Lord Elibank's dster after Lady Jane's death.
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honour and good sentiments. I can't doubt but Klibank will soon
come to see you ; then you may, with decency, offer my request to him,
and I think, as you do, you may expect success.

I was to wait on Lady Mary Douglas, Thursday ; her father. Lord
Morton, was present, and received me very kindly and obligingly the

first visit, and people being by, I could come upon no particulars, but
when he comes here, as probably he will, I shall then talk over

several things with him. His daughter is a very beautiful girl,

genteel and well bred, not yet fourteen, and is as tall as a woman.
I did not so much as think of the 17th of March when I read your

intention of having claret and Burgundy some days hence ; that pro-

fusion does not, I confess, please me much in our present situation,

nor docs the reason you give for it mend the matter at all ; Lisbon
or Cherry, if you will remember that day, is sufficient to solemnise the

birthday of one so far advanced as I am ; but if in remembrance and
honour of St. Patrick, no liquor is good enough. I woii'd not, there-

fore, endeavour to keep the day at all, only by praying a little more
than ordinary, not to him, but to Almighty God, who daily loads us
with benefits and spares usi to see the returns of New Years and birth-

days. If your affairs took a happy turn, that happy period I would
indeed solemnise myself, with all the rare fine delicates could be
imagined ; but, till that satisfactory moment arrives, it becomes us to

shun every extravagance, and to walk softly and very humbly. In

the meantime I send you a young pig, which, I hope, will be a little

regale to the King, and you also a young fowl.

I'm glad you took the rhubarb, and that it did so well with you

;

take every fine moment of good weather to walk, as you have always
been accustomed to do ; and take great care of your health, which
secures my happiness.

I can learn no news to divert you, but I send a book of poems, which
I hope will ; it was wrote by a gardener's daughter, a young girl,

uneducated, and yet it is esteemed well wrote and the language fine ;

return it so soon as you have read it. It is not niine ; I borrowed it

from Mr. Clayton.

The little men are well, but Mrs. Nelly is mightily distressed, yet
affectionately yours. I .^^hall leave off here till James comes, then I

shall add a few lines, and bid you adieu till next morning that you
send. Just after dinner I received the pleasure of yours ; you imagine
me partial when I commend your manner of writing, but I declare it

is quite otherways, and my sentiments are entirely unbiassed ; and
to show you how great my opinion of your good sense and judgment is.

I must beg you write down, by way of hints, what the articles are,

that you judge most proper for me to insist upon when I next see the
E. of Morton ; for any further than to thank him for his timely generous
supply I cannot po.«sibIy stoop to demand more. This I am determined
not to do; as for other topics, to speak on these, no doubt, are
various. I therefore wish to have your thoughts on the heads you
think I should insist most on ; that won't hinder me to mention, perhaps
dwell on some subjects that I may find proper to talk to him about.
I shall probably see him the beginning of next week ; any sooner I

can't expect, being just come to town, and a great deal to do.
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Um Elibank in your own way; yon best know hi* good and bad
properties.

Archie's asleep, and Sholto above stairs prattling by him, else they,
perhaps, would send some kisses to their dear papa.
Adien, dear Mr. Steuart, ever with the greatest tenderness and

affection, yours, j_ d_ g_

LETTER XIII.

Ladt Jan« Douglas to Mb. Stiuakt.

Thursday.
Dear Mr. Steuart,—That implies a short letter; yours I received

and begin mine in the same manner you do yours, with wishing you
every happiness and felicity this year, and a great number of them.
As for your witty sallies, I won't answer them; but for the attack
yru make upon my love and friendship, that I can, and must assure
j'.a, is as sincere and warm as ever, though many invincible reasons
make it possible to give the proofs of it I could wish to do; be
satisfied of this, as I am of every thing that is good and kind on your
part. As to the rest of your letter, I shall answer it next occasion,
which, I believe, shaU be on Saturday, when I shall send John pretty
early in the morning; dispatch him, then, soon. I have wrote this in
such a hurry, I'm afraid you can't read it.

The children are mighty well, blessed be God, as Mrs. Hewit and
t am, and tenderly and affectionately yours, as I am in a particular
manner. j p g

LETTER XIV.

Ladt Jane Douolas to Mb. Stbua.

Sunaay Morning.
Dear Mr. Steuart,—That implies a short letter; yours I received

this moment with great pleasure. Your regard and kindness to me
which has prompted you to the expense you've made in sending finer
wines than I think the day required (Urring the honour due to St
Patrick) maKes that I dare offer nothing against that obliraui
demonstration. * *

Your cold is not quite gone, which gives me pain ; for heaven's sake
be careful to take everything proper to remove it

'

The children are, I bless God. well. Poor Mrs. NeUie, far from bc-ng
so, had a very bed night of it; you'll see I am in a great hurry just
going to church. Dear Mr. Steuart, entirely yours, with great affection.

J. D. S.
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LETTER XV.

Ladt Jamb Dovolas to Mb. SrsnAmx.

Monday Evmung.
Dear Mr. Stenart,—Your not writing this morning, yon having

accustomed me to that satisfaction, has given me a great deal of
painful anxiety, the rheumatic pain in your arm, the uneasiness you
complained of in your head, though not a headache, all these things
together has made my mind very uneasy; I have, therefore, sent
Mr. Smith to inquire how things are with yon, and would have gone
myself, but the rain and wet under foot prevented me, and coaches
are expensive.

Mr. Lockhart of Camwath was with me this morning, and, to do
him justice, behaved extremely well, with great kindness, friendship,
and politeness ; spoke of you with the warmest friendship and esteem,
called for the children, and appeared transported to see themj com-
mended them more than I think they deserve, for he said he never
had seen two such fine boys, especially Archie took his eye ; he was
delighted with him, and repeated several times with pleasure that he
was just your picture.

In regud to your son, Mr. Jacky, he protested he had all along
acted the friendly and honourable part, and that a little before he
left Scotland your son had got up all the bonds that were committed
to his trust, which only, from friendship to you, he engaged and con-
cerned himself in; his whole behaviour and manner of acting since
yon left Scotland he refers you to be informed by your friend, George
Sinclair, with whom he consulted, and took along with him, in
whatever related to your son. I, therefore, beg, when you meet with
Mr. Lockhart, which he anxiously wishes for, you may first hear him
speak before you condemn him. He goes out of town to-night, but
is to return to-morrow; he wants to have an interview with you; I
said yop were in the country, but that upon my giving you notice
you would come to town. He is soon to set out for Scotland. Mrs.
Hewit continues still better, the little men are well. I hope to have
the same good accounto of you. Adieu, dear Mr. Steuart, ever
entirely yours, j jj g

LETTER XVI.

Ladt Jank Douolah to Mh. Sttoabt.

Thursday.
Dear Mr. Steuart,—Pray don't pay me so many compliments in my

doing what is just and right, and what shall ever afford me so much
pleasure. I am glad you have hopes of everything coming out to
your wish; I never can allow myself to doubt of success at last.
These delays are only permitted to acquaint us with the virtue of
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pstimee and resignation. Things w naefu] i>nd amikble, who woald
not b« pnt at at any age to eoch a achool? I'm glad yon have got
acquainted with so agreeable a gentleman; you do well to cultivate
it. I «end the history of Douglas, I send a bit of velvet and a snuff-
box for -t little rapee, which I am quite out of; send it back any
time to-day or to-morrow, only quarter filled.

I'm invited to-morrow evening to Lady Tyrawly'e; if yon choose
to be there it is well [but if affairs of great moment comes in the way,
don't come].R

We're all mighty well, and the little men very much so, blessed
be God; I take abundance of care of myself, and of the dear little

ones, as you may well believe. Pray Uke my example of being
careful of yourself.

I have nothing new to offer ; only Mrs. Hewit was at the baU on
Monday

; she underwent many hardships and difficulties that night
by the excessive cold and great crowd, but has luckily got the better
of all ; she says they are a very amiable family, and is fallen in love
with King George. Adieu, Dear Mr. Steuart, always more yours than
I can express. j p g_

LETTER XVII.

Ladt Janx DonoLAS to Mr. Stujast.

Chelsea, Thursday, March 5.

Dear Mr. Steuart,—I have this moment the pleasure of your Liter
by your messenger ; this and all yours are ever welcome and agreeable
to me; hut the paragraph in some of your late letters, and in this
last one in particular, upon religious matters, absolutely charm me;
go on, dear Mr. Steuart, fix your eyes, your hope and trust above,
and all worldly concerns will soon seem perfectly easy, nay will, in
reality, become so; for God never disappoints those that entirely
depend on Him, nor will He continue to afflict when we fly to Him for
succour, and place our whole happiness in His favour alone. Allow
me to send you by the bearer a favourite book of mine, Thomas k
Kempis; read it, I beg you, in it you'll discover so much heavenly
and even worldly wisdom, that it never fails to please both the
spiritual and temporal mind, and to instruct both.
Your letters by Greenly I received yesterday; they were most

accepUble to me ; he would tell you the reason why I could not send
sooner to you than Tuesday last, and that I was obliged to employ
him to carry my letter to you, and likewise yesterday gave him a
packet, I believe, from your son, to carry to you to-day, John being
not yet able to go out; but against Saturday I design to send him.
if better.

Yon imagine, became I happened to say in one of my letters that

SDef.proof, 832B.
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I took uncommon ure of ray hMlth, thst on that accoant 1 am
become low-«pirit«J. Nothing it farther from me, I blMi Ood, than
low ipiriU; many yean ago they were not near m> much so; yet I
do think, and moat think, that my life at preMnt ia, and ought to
be, more my concern than formerly, because I have you and the
children to care for. Is that a reason to think that I am become
low-spirited, because I would like to live some time longer for your
jakee? The end of the week, or beginning, of next, I shall write more
fully on everything. I am, Ac, j. j). g.
The children are very well, I bless God.

[ V

LETTER XVIII.

Ladt Jane Docolas to Mb. Sticart.

Chelsea, Friday Evening.
Dear Mr. Steuart,—I'm resolved you should have no reaM>n to

complain any more of my remissness in writing to yon, so have
engaged Mr. Grinley to step over to you to-morrow morning, by whom
I hope to have the agreeable account of your being perfectly well.
as we are all here, I bless God.
I'm extremely sorry that you're quite out of pocket-money, and

the more so that it is not in my power to supply you, nor I don't
know when it shall, it being by no means to be expected that the
money the King has been graciously pleased to aUow me is imme-
diately to be paid just a few days after the term it falls due, nor is
It fit for me to show any impatience about the payment, so I must
have patience.

I waa obliged to borrow half a guinea last Monday from a friend,
juat for necessary things

; judge then, dear Mr. Steuart, if out of that
I can send you any supply. But I won't dwell upon this painful
subject, nor indeed upon any, for I must end with assuring you
that I ever am, with all possible affection and tenderness, dear Mr.
Steuart, entirely yours, J. D S
The chUdren often talk of their dear papa, and are impatient to see

you. Judge, then, how much more I am so.

LETTER XIX.

Ladt Jane Douglas to Mr. Stkuabt.

Friday Evening.
Dear Mr. Steuart,—Your seeming to be so much on the

melancholy turn in your last letter gave me a considerable
uneasiness, of which I have not yet got the better.Why wiU you allow your spirits to sink, dear Mr. Steuart'
It u that alone that gives me pain, and when I think that
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«Zm ?i f^"'!f' /•'• y°" confinement .nd my^eeing you w

?n„d«TvL, H ; ^ ""."«""••"' ^ P'^o'de yo" to bear wdl

morT'orhfl ^^
"°"'"^' ^ '^ ""* »>•" °* «> «"ny P«'Pl« """"^h

fort^^LT™ *'""
""y'V"" ' "^'y '»""'' I •»" » BreaTde.! more

of a vi.r„n V !
'^'"'"«'- ^'"P'°y '» '" f'^^e «" the -atufaction

A uL " ^f°nd.y or Tue«lay next.
I he children and we are all mighty well, I ble»« God.

LETTER XX.

Ladt Jane Douglas to Mk. Stiuart.

V ,
Sunday Evening.

io iblirint an/"*T f""""
'*"* y««t««>»y. 'hich you wrote froni

«S * ^ ** affectionate a motive; but your me«enger wa. in

ZZff^ " ""?'
"u".''

P«'*«"ded letter, to be delivered necewarily

S^? let hi'"'"'
r' ""'"'' '

'"i"*'*"'
"*«''' *'«'°"« ^ y°"' that I wouldnot let hun wa,t a moment for a letter from me, it being three in

or that "PPeanng neglect, and to know particularly how yourcoW

i'm^f^r*"^^
~°"'^'^' *'"'y "« ^«'y obstinate this «,Ln, andIm afrwd you are not so careful of yourself as you should be; and,

!S Jv "S °r
"*•'

y°"u.**'
*'*" ''"'* •=»«' 'hich I would wiBh to do

^„.^ W T *"''" y°" """' *° '""'=''; therefore, dear Mr.
Steuart, let me beg yon, for my sake and for the children's, to neglectnothing that you think wiU contribute to remove your cold before
It gets too fast a seat, which if it does, wiU with great difficulty beremoved; and pray, let me know if you choose to have any mum.
and I will send you some by next occasion, from the place you used
to get It. I return here Mr. Hamilton's letter; it is a very civil one.
I wish your scheme which you're to offer him may suit him.

I have not seen Greenly since Tuesday, so I know nothing how
matters go on that quarter; but however they go, I am perfectly
resigned, and not only so, but satUfied and pleased, well knowing
that bounteous Providence wiU work out a way for our deliverancem the best way. and at the best time, if we in the meantime will be
but patient and submissive.
^Adieu, dear Mr. Steuart, I ever am, with the greatest tenderness,

Mrs. Hewit returns you many thanks for your kind offer of honeybut has got some, so you need not send any ; she sends you her beet
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wiihM Mid oompliiiMnU : bar cold oontiaiiM still obttiiuU. Th«

ahildNn an rmj wU, I bUM Ood. Once mora •dira, dav Mr.

SUoart. I had not room to Mgn my nvna on tha othar aida ; I put

it in Urga on thia.

Jamb Douolab SnvAST.

'i

t'i

-/

LETTER XXI.

Ladt Jani Douglas to Mb. Stbuabt.

Thoiaday Eraning.

Daar Mr. Staaart,—I racairad yonr lattar yaatarday, and by it 1

parceive your spirits are depressed, which a great deal mitigates

the joy and satisfaction your letters usually give me. No wonder

you are discouraged, and quite tired out of patience with your lonely,

disagreeable quarters, and many other unlucky occnrrencea; but are

all these, in common with other human creatures, sufficient maladies

to sink the spirits, or to harbour the smallest mormaring, as if too

rigorously dealt with? We have made mighty small progress in

looking inward, and in judging aright of ourselves, when we frame

such a conclusion ; for certain it is we have many mora blessings

and benefits that call loudly for our acknowledgments to Almighty

Ood, than cause of complaint. For my own part, after many times

considering the situation of all around me, even of those counted the

moat happy, and upon this reflection, looking home into myself, I

find I am possessed of more happiness than any I have yet heard of,

or can fix my eyes upon, anywhere abroad ; so then, dear Mr. Steuart,

learn to be contented and absolutely resigned to the Divine Disposer

of all things, and then, I can assure you, your mind will obtain

perfect quiet and happiness, and, at the same time, be in the more

proper and probable way of having your wishes and heart's desire

accomplished. This is a long sermon you'll say ; I delight in preach-

ing, when I can forbear it, even when you desire me to send you

Pire Chemeine, who can so much better exhort and teach. I send him

to you with great joy ; and your desiring him, though contained in

a mighty small volume, gives me infinii.e satisfaction.

Duchess Wharton and Countess Wigton were with me yesterday; the

Duchess inquired very obligingly after you; and for the Countess,

you're prodigiously in her favour ; she really speaks of you on all

occasions with uncommon friendship and concern. I'm excessively

glad that the good Baron9 continues in better health; I sincerely

wish him everything that is prosperous and happy. Offer him my
best respects, as Mrs. Hewit does, and most affectionately to you.

Adieu, dear Mr. Steuart; be yon but happy and easy, and I am
extremely so, and ever yours,

Janb Douglas Stbuabt.

The children are very well, I bless God.

• Iternn OMwr da M)U!«lllgnt, hai<l«n<l nf Uidy Wigton,
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LETTKR XXII.

Laot Jamb OovoLAa lo Mb. Btiuabt.

Friday Evening.
Dmt Mr. 8teu»rt.-I nceived your laiUr ywtonUy from Orinlay,•tha honM in town, b«ing conn in to go with Udy Wigton to Lwlr

Tyr.wley'.. wh,r« I m.t Udy Horn, and Mr.. WinUrAU tC^
i«di«« Mnt you • thouMuid compIimenU, particalarly LmIt Homa

which riiowad ao kind « attantion about har, the othar Coantaw i.

obligwl ui powt of kwdnaaa. Mr. Maakarohar propoami to conduct

th.1.rhr
^""^'^

I *? '^ -»*' "^^ " "«*^ '^ •Jin-'

aL^ ^L "*'«*^'°""- •» '"ch • •itn.tion and in anoh circnm-

th^^n^ h„!t 7 J"^ "* "*• '"•«'''y ceremony with our gneeta,

wonJd make them juatly doubt that we believed them «,.

Se 1^ Tl^ "^^ "' ''""' ••*• '•'^"' ' ''rily beliav. you're upon

r-L ZTTk
'^'"•"« • «•««* y»»"«>'. w well a. St. Thomaa and the

S« £lT'';K'"Vr^ ?^ !•*• "^'y »••'• »>-» " «»''^«"»t with

iu me .To?."
fhooKht delight, me; how it raiw, my apirita, and

Jh^lr T I.

•" «>«'ortune.. Had I a gr«kt m«iy, aa inde j I

ne?«, &U-7'"' ""'y \~°^"* »« .ufBciently thankful for it.ine dear little children are mighty weU, I bleta God.Mn^ Hewit u a good deal better, and i. moat affectionately your..

now but to'lJ""' ""^f. ^i' " •«"' ^ '^ »*>» «»«1 -y "O"
r-tende^eTrti^^" ^^i;

^'"'^ ""' '''''' *»'• ^'-^ -^-"on

J. Douglas Stbuabt.

LETTER XXIU.

Lady Jane Douglas to Mb. Steuaet.

ru X* o Friday Night.
uear Mr 8teuart,-Having wrote to you this evening already, anddeaj^iung to «« you the beginning next week, I refer everytUng 1

highly pleaaed with your wuie and prudent letter; and certainly to be^^t and edm under every calamity, even the.; of oTZ'J^ut
uneaay to find you ao much upon the .uppoeition that I took anyoffence at the heat with which you spoke^e other day. Ty^^

an
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Umm aaxioaa thooghu Mid*, dMr llr. Staoart, MMi UU«v« oaoa lor

•11 that nothing givM m« pain or diaqniat, bat tba faan I lomatimaa

hava for your baing dialiaartanad for tittla croaa accidanta ; aaaara ma
you navar will ba any mora ao, and than I'm parfactly happy.

Adiau, daar Mr. Stauart. Tha children and w« are all wail,

ba Ood, and very happy, only lomewhat poor, wliieh I only ragrat,

bacauM I cannot Mnd you avan pocket-money ; but wa'U grow richer,

and in whatavar aitoation I am in, I aver am moat tanderly and

affactiooataly youra, J- D- S-

I'

a

LETTER XXIV.

Ladt Jamb Dovolas to Bim. Stbuabt.

Chalaea, Wadnaaday.

Dear Six. Stauart,—It haa not baan in my power to aand aoonar,

though impatient to know how you do. I hare nothing now material

to write, but that dear little Archy and Sbolto are well, aa we all

are, blaiaed be Ood.

I hope yon profit of thia fine weather, aa the children and I do.

I waa in town yeatarday, and find myaalf the better for it. I hope

your cold ia quite gone. Adiau, daar Mr. Stauart. You ihall hear

again from ma thia weak, with a amall supply for your pocket, which

I have theae days paat aent in search about. I ever am, with the

tenderest affection, yonn, J. D. 8.

LETTER XXV.

Ladt Jamb Douglas to Mb. Stiuabt.

Tuesday Morning.

Daar BIr. Stauart,—Ton may judge how low money mattara are

with me at preaent by thia mont scurvy poor half-crown I aand you;

I'm quite aahamed of it, and, to conceal it from my sarvanta, I have

enclosed it wall wrapt up in the pretty little money-bos, which ought

to contain gold ; wish to heaven I could send of that uaaful but rare

metal with us. This poor bit of silver I send just to procure you a

little rappee Ever yours, J. D. 8.

LETTER XXVI.

Ladt Jamb Donor^B to Mb. Stbuabt.

Chelsea, Tuesday.

Daar Mr. Steuart,—How did your last letter, dear Mr. Stauart,

affect my heart ! where you tall me you subsisted for so many days

upon the small remains of our little dinner, and not wherewith to

sand even for porter ; and this all owing to your parting too freely

with your few shillings to me, which I took from yon with regret;

no wonder, since I eottld eo mut-h easier get a supply where I ani

than yon possibly can, in your confined quarter. But, dear Mr.

SIS
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Stotutrt, chMf np, for I bop* very mmmi to bring you -h moMj
M thkll m«k* jroa aboT* thaaa prcMinR, painful n«e. uid, to

• Uttl* tim«, I hop* kind indulgent Providence ihall «,. fju and 1

•bov* oar present inconvenience*, which, by the way, only giv* m*
pain b«caua* I know your ipirit cannot *a*ily bear up under them

;

bnt, believe me, the only way to get ioon rid of any calamitie* i* to

b* entirely reeigned, patient, and iubmiMiv* during the duration of

th*m ; anch a disposition is certainly pleasing to Heaven, and providaa
for after happinass, even in this life.

The vary wail-timed supply Mr. Farquhar gave you, of which yon
sent m* too larg* a shar* ; I shall n*v*r forg*t that kind proof of his

friandahip, and I n**d not put you in mind to mak* it up to him
a hundradfold wh*n in your pow*r, which, I hope, shall soon be the

I did not chooa* to write last Sunday, though we ware all well.

Dear little Archy has had a little cold, with a small degree of a fever

;

but. Massed be Ood, 'tis now in a manner quite over. Do not be
angry with John for not mentioning it to yon ; he could not indeed

do it, as I knew nothing myself of the child's being ill till aft«r I

bad given him orders to go early in the morning to see how you were.

I must own, when I perceived the child hot, and, as I thonght, in

danger of taking a fever or the smallpox, I felt a pain and distress

of mind not to be expressed. I slept not a wink for a whole night,

and was not without great anxiety the next day, though he was grown
considerably better; and now all is, I think, over, blest be Ood;
and so would not have mentioned it to you but to convince you that

no outward bad circumstances can in the least disquiet or discompoae

me; only what concerns you, dear Mr. Steuart, and these two little

babiea, Archy and Sholto, robs me of rest and ease. Let this persuade

yon to take care of your health, and to bear up with fortitude under
the present frowns of fortune, which will, more than any other thing,

oblige your ever tenderly affectionate J. D. S.

I send you a little tea and a few stakes ; a fine present indeed, bnt
all in good time, better will come after, if we'll have but patience.

Four o'clock, afternoon.—Archy's now so well that he's playing in

the garden.

Mrs. Hewit sends you her kind compliments, begs to know if you
have got her spectacles set in silver, which she got from Mr*.
Cockbum, thinking, perhaps, you might by chance have taken them
in nlace of your own.

Archy's just come upstairs and desires me to ^end you his humble
duty.

f

LETTER XXVII.

Ladt Janx Douglas to Mk. Stxuabt.

Friday Night.
Dear Mr. Stenart,—The weather doee not yet seem to favour my

intended visit to yon ; and, besides, I find . <day next will suit my
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The Douglas Cause.

little affkin better to perform it; lo that day yoo may expect me,
please God, to dine with yon, anless a oonatant rain prevent it For
all thia delay, I long mnch to see yoa ; and since I cannot have that
satisfaction till next week, I send thia purposely to have the pleaanre
of receiving a particular account of you, which I hope shall be, that
you are in great good health and spirits, as we aU here are, and the
dear little men extremely so. I think that may be enough to keep
you from any great abatement in yours. So, dear Mr. Steuart rdiea
till Tuesday Believe me ever, in the tenderest manner,
affectionately yours, j. p. g.

LETTER XXVIII.

Ladt Janb Douglas to Mb. Stiuabt.

Dear Mr. Steuart,—I bless God the children are in perfect good
health, so you may judge how surprised I was upon receiving yours.
Your httle messenger must delight in telling painful stone* ; however,
don t chide the boy, for it was only a mistake. J. D. 8.

LETTER XXIX.

LAr.r Janb Douolas to Mb. Stbuabt.

Monday Evening.
Dear Mr. Steuart,—I intended this letter should have been withyou this morning, but John was so iU of a cold and toothache that I

could not send him out, so most unwillingly must defer sending it till
to-morrow, and then I believe I shall be obliged to send it by one of
the maids to Gnnlay, to desire him to carry it to you till our servant
be recovered.

I have been the more uneasy that I could not possibly get your
last letter sooner answered, as it kindly mentions a visit from meso obl^ingly, and with so much tenderness dwired. I do assure youdew Mr. Steuart, you can't wish it more earnestly than I do; norS I .'."k*' T ^V" '^''"y "•"*"' I '^'"^ I^ibly perform it, and
that shall be when I -n perfectly free of a little cold that has huna
about me this while past, and though far from being severe, yet it
IS somewhat obstinate in going entirely off, for which I continue to
take almost every night bran water and raisins, which does me great
service. You may justly think I am at much pains and care about
myself; I truly think so too. But that does not use to be my fault,
only of late I begin to be mighty dainty of myself, because I think
my life, in the present unhappy posture of car affairs, may be of
some use and service to you and the children. This is all my anxiety
for living, and the cause that forces me to lake so much care of
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myielf ; bnt if the weather prove u favourable aa it haa been theae

ieveral daya paat, I hope to have the satiafaction to come to aee you
next week, and to stay with you two or three daya.

Coonteaa Home was here Saturday forenoon and t3ok Mrs. Hewit,

the children, and I out in her coach for an airing. She's a very

obliging, friendly woman, and you are a mighty favourite of her'a

and Mrs. Winter's, which recommends them much to me. Pray let

me either have the Italian novel, or what part you have transcribed

;

I fancy it will be agreeable to read. When I can light on any divert-

ing book I shall certainly send it to yon. Alas ! you stand too much
in need of amusements in the dismal solitude you're confined to;

but, dear Mr. Steuart, keep up your heart, and, above all things,

trust in God, and all things will go well with you, and, consequently,

with me.

The children are very well, I bless God.

I expect a long letter from you by the bearer of this ; be assured

that the longer your letters are they are always the more agreeable.

Adieu, dear Mr. Steuart. I ever am, with the utmost tenderness

and affection, entirely yours.

Jam Douolas Stkuabt.

Your two shirts you sent shuP be carefully mended.

LETTER XXX.

Lady Jane Douolas to Mb. Pblhah.

Sir,—If I meant to importune you I should ill deserve the generous

compassion which I was informed some months ago you expressed,

upon being acquainted with my distress. I take this as the least

troublesome way of thanking you, and desiring you to lay my applica-

tion before the King in such a light as your own humanity will

suggest. I cannot tell my story without seeming to complain of one
of whom I never will complain. I am persuaded my brother wishes
me well, but from a mistaken resentment, upon a creditor of mine
demanding from him a trifling sum, he has stopped the annuity which
he had always paid me, my father having left me, his only younger
child, in a manner unprovided for.

Till the Duke of Douglas is set right, which I'm confident he will

be, I am destitute. Presumptive heiress of a great estate and family,

with two children, I want bread. Your own nobleness of mind will

make you feel how much it costs me to beg, though from the King.
My birth and the attachment of my f%mily, I flatter myself his

Majesty is not unacquainted with ; should he think me an object of
his royal bounty, my heart won't suffe' any bounds to be set to my
gratitude; and, give me leave to say, uiy spirit won't suffer me to
be burdensome to his Majesty longer than my cruel necessity

compels me.

a»5
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I little thought of «ver being reduced to petition in thia way; your
goodneis will therefore excuae me if I have miataken the manner or
said anything improper.

Thongh personally unknown to you, I rely upon your interceuion

;

the oonsciousnew of your own mind, in having done so good and
charitable a deed, will be a better return than the perpetual thanks
of, sir, your most obliged, most faithful, and most obedient servant,

Jank Douolab Stxuast.
St. James's Place, May 15, 1750.

ll.

I.

LETTER XXXI.

Fbom Mb. Pxtham to Ladt Jane Docolas.

Arlington Street, August 3rd, 1750.

Madam,—I have the pleasure now to acquaint you that his Majesty
has been graciously pleased to approve of the humble request which
I laid before him, and to order me to pay you three hundred pounds
a year as long as your Ladyship's situation shall make such an
assistance from his Majesty's bounty necessary for your support. This
method will, I flatter myself, be most agreeable to you, as the whole
sum will come to you without fees or deductions; and no further
trouble now remains to your Ladyship than to authorise your agent
to receive it from my hands, the first half-year of which I shall be
ready to pay to your order any time after next Michaelmas. What-
ever share I may have had in procuring to your Ladyship this mark
of the King's goodness cannot but be very pleasing to me, as it

furnishes me with an opportunity of testifying the great respect with
which I have the honour to be, &c.

LETTER XXXII.

Ladt Jamx Douglas to thx Eabl or Mobton.

London, December 22, 1760.

My Lord,—Some months ago I did myself the honour to write your
Lordship acquainting you that I had good reason to believe the King
wae graciously disposed to grant me some relief, having received the
application made to him in the most favourable manner. I have now
the pleasure to acquaint your Lordship that his Majesty has been
graciously pleased to appoint me three hundred pounds a year; and
Mr. Pelham, without my taking the liberty to desire it, was so
extremely humane and good as to pay up a hundred and fifty of it

before it became due, knowing my distressful situation. I could not
have been so far wanting in duty and gratitude to you, my Lord,
aa not to have informed you of this long ere now, but that I still

expected from post to post an answer to my former letter; being
ai6
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d«eply imprM«ed m I mentioned in my last, that whatever good
fortune has befaUen me i« entirely owing to your Lordship", great
•nd uncommon goodness to me, else I should have been out of theway of receiving any, still at Reims, and there, long before this time
without credit and in the most deplorable condition. Judge then

y Cf.' ^^"1°"^ ""*' °* y°°' goodness is, and what my gratitude

toTLL^h \W T^/rT," '"" °' '*' ••"* I have not word,to e^reu the half of what I feel on this occasion. My Lady Irwin
to whom I owe a thousand obligations, and to whom 1 often speakmy sentiments with regard to your Lordship, can better than I am
^^IfT""" y°« 'ith what I cannot find expressions fit to

f«Zf /
yo" niyself Her Ladyship, according to her continued

K.W u
"*• ""' "'*' '"'"°'"" *° '"t^xl"" me last Friday to theKing, who was graciously pleased to receive me with peculiar marksof goodwiU and kindness. Lady Irwin, who is ac^ain?^ w S

«n^V '*"°'^, ""* *•"* ^^^ ««"''*«* favourite could not have had a

S„r""N%T''*r •

/"' "*•'='' ^ "»»» «'«' retain a iLunSgratitude Next Sunday I am to be introduced by her LadvsWn
t^. n ifTo""

""'» P^''"=«« of Wales, and the Friday follS to

liter !;/"'' ^T'""
'^'"*"'" E--« 'he length o^'thUletter, and do me the justice to believe that I am with th-highest esteem and the greatest regard, my Lord, yoj^' L^rf^hip'S

Sn.^ '"' "*' """ "'*'*•'"'* •«'^""'' """^ -«t -Senate

Januarj- 5th, 1761.
^"''^ ''°'"''*' ^""""^

„„I if.**?
*«'• t"-'"*^ ^ y"" ^'**«hip some days ago, but was

^^/T'**^' ^'U"'^*'" "y hest complimento to Lord Aberdour and

^ou^rd^;:^
°°"*'"- ' '"^'' •""* »his without wishtg them a„1your Lordship a great number of happy vears It .hall T

J, s» 1^ ^'?. ^^'"^" »"•* 'he lot of his children.
^

totrd ISjotl'd^L^^nilt'^'''"'"'"'"'' "* '"'' '^''"''' "'"'

When you honour me with a letter, which I long much for directfor me at Mr. Murray', at St. James's Pl«:e.
'

LETTER XXXIII.

Lady J.\ne Douglas to Mr. Steuaei.

_..._, Saturday.
Dew Mr. Steuart.-I have this moment the pleasure of yours, butI have some disquiet that your cold is not yet quite removed. ForHewren^jake, Uke care of your health, so dear to me.

"The Dake of CombertaiHl, "The Batcher I>uk«
•

" Daaghter of King OMiTge II.

•»7
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Your generoM concern and grief for the death of the Prince of

Walee, I join heartily with yon in, and in your sympathy with Uie

greatly digtresged Princeee.

I intended thi« should have been a very lonp letter, but that »

tmpoMiMe at such a confused time. On Monday I expect to make

it out ; for I do assure you, it gives me great pleasure when I have

matter sufficient to make out a long letter to you ; it is next to the

joy of Ulking to yr . which 1 am deprived of now ; but this I don t

repine at, it being my perfect and constant belief that whatever wise

and bounteous Providence alloU is surely most cerUinly for the ^t.

I am evfr yours, •'• ^'

LETTER XXXIV.

Ladt Jani Dotrons to Mr. Stitaet.

Monday.

Dear Mr. S**u; -t,—The account you gave me yesterday of your

being so well enLerUined the day before, afforded me much pleasure.

I'm sure all your guesU were greatly regaled and pleased with the

agreeable manner you received and entertained them ; so young Leslie

told me last night, and added that he never saw you in such high

spirits as you were that day, which much supported mine, which,

thanks be to God, are never very low; but what he said of your

bcag the anchove of the company (as was formerly said of Dr. Garth),

made them uncommonly high, as if I had taken castor drops; may

yours always be so, and flow high without the help of any

cordial.

What you say of Lord Qlencaim's manner of receivmg and answer-

ing your proposal I think very well of, and am of opinion it promises

well for his intentio.. to serve you.

Trust you in God, and there is no fear of you, some one way or

other Providence will point out to give deliverance.

i-^l

LETTER XXXV.

L/3Y Janb Douglas to Mr. Stbtjart.

Wednesday Morning.

Dear Mr. Steuart,—I have just now read youi letter over with great

pleasure and with satisfaction, and am set down to answer it. The

whole contents of it are wrote with good sense, sentiment, and judg-

ment; and that part upon Providence, and the unerring and

unsearchable wisdom and goodness of Almighty God, charms me
beyond measure; by which I see plainly the goodness of your heart

in religious mattars. May these good inclinations ever grow, which

are alone capable to make one happy.

The little men are, I bless God, very happy.
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LETTER XXXVI.

Ladt Jani D0UOLA8 TO Ma. Stxuabt.

-. ,, c Saturday.
Dear Mr. SteuMt,-! saw the two Miw Gunnings, whom LadyTyrauley had invited on purpow that I might Mie them. They anwoBMively charming

J no wonder they gain the admiration of every-

rJT ^'Z "i""'' "J"'"''*^
'^*^ ^y ^^y Tyrauley and Countew ofBueh« yerterday; I m«le the propere.t answer to'their ^mp£nU

The little ones and I are, I blew God, very well.

LETTER XXXVII.

Lady Jane Douglas to Ala. Steuabt.

H^LJ*''
St«.°"t'-y°»'ll «» by the newspapers that DukeHamilton 1, married to the youngest Miss Gunning ; she's TcLrrnl.pretty creature, and generally well spoke of. I am ever you^^*'

J. d'. S.

LETTER XXXVIII.

Ladt Jane Docolas to Me. Stecabt.

T» ». r,
Sunday Night

Dear Mr. Steuart.-Since I had the pleasure of seeing you I havehad the «.tisfaction of receiving your two kind, acceptable lettersbut, b«.ng from home, could answer neither of them till just low

:

and, though late, I begin my letter to assure yon that I eive the „ "I,;
attention to what you write as to my manner of ttelUng. a„d Swith pleasure observe aU your rules, only, in return, be so kind to meas not to have too much anxiety about me; doubt not mV ca^e 0Imyself and of our dear little ones.

^ '

A list of my debt. I shaU send in my next, or rather leave itenclosed m a letter to you for Grinlay to deliver
Dear Mr. Steuart, tdce care of yourself, and be cheerful and easy,as you would oblige and make happy your ever tenderly aff^Honate

Jane Douglas Steuart.
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LETTER XXXIX.

Lady JaMb Doholab to M». Stbuabt

Edinburgh, 18.

Dew Mr. Steuart,—I wn now in my own country once more, and.

bleiMd be God, Brrived there in perfect safety and in perfect good

health; the children, too, are mighty well, and in great good epinU,

delighted with everything they see; and the people, a. we came along

and here, eeem, in indulgence to me, to be highly delighted with

^'we came to town yeeUrday, the 17th, so that our journey waa not

a tedious one, and was a very agreeable one in »>» «»Pf^'.»°'y j^'
want of you was a painful circumstance, and could not faU to give

mrabundance of uneasy thought. But I assure y"". J«
^r

Steuart I don't indulge them ; on the contrary, I baniah them from

me and Rood reason I have to do so, since I am confident that every-

thing wiU come out very happUy for you and I «/« ''"'i
*'"•'"•'

resip. ourselves entirely to the wiU and pleasure of Almighty God.

I had the pleasure, on my arrival, to receive your welcome letter

from Mr. ColviUe; I hope aU your expecUtions shall be answered

to the fuU of your utmost wish.
u » i, n

I hav« nothing yet to write, havmg »en nobody, but shaU

nealect no occasion of writing to you, and I very well know how

ZcTual you are. Madam Hewit held out bravely
,
she « «c«»»'«>yS your affectionate humble servant, and I am more tenderly and

affectionately yours than I am able to express. J-
JJ- °-

Since I wrote this Lady Mary Hamilton is come in, and sends you

her affectionate compliments.

LETTER XL.

Ladt Jank Dodolas to Mb. Stiuart.

Edinburgh, September 3rd, 1752.

Dear Mr. Steuart,—I received your welcome letter last post, with

Mr. Farquhar's postscript; the assurance he gives me of your bein.;

in perfect health and good spirita gives me inexpressible joy and

satisfaction ; may that agreeable news be long continued to me, which

will make me always happy.

Have no concern about what falls due the end of this month. 1

took proper care before I left London to recommend that matter to

a special friend, and am to write soon to another about it.

Don't be uneasy and impatient because I cannot yet write of any-

thing that is material, but rest content and assured that I have, and

will neglect no occasion of doing everything that is expedient and fit

to be done in the present posture of our affairs. Many of our friends

are out of town, but I expect some of them soon, particularly Lord
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Milton, who dnnk ta* with m« uid Mt • bng time with om bofora
h« want to Kintin or Invenn, and showed me the moat cordial

kffecti<m and friendehip that ever he had done in hii life.

The children, I bleei God, enjoy perfect good health, and are in good
•pirita; they are mightily careaaed here; little Archie ia thought
eiy like yon.

Lady Mary Hamilton enquirea always very kindly after you; ahe'a
mnch your humble servant, aa Mr. Hamilton is. I'm mighty well
lodged, and commodiously, at Mrs. Maitland's house in Bishop's

Land, and at a pretty easy rate, it being the vacance.

Countess of Stair and Mrs. Primrose inquired most obligingly for

yon. Mrs. Hewit sends you her blessing, and kind compliments.

Adieu, dear Mr. Steoart, I hope my next shall be fuller of matter.

In the meantime I am, and ever ahall be, most tenderly and
affectionately yours, J. D. 8.

LETTER XLI.

Ladt Jane Douolas to Mb. Stkuart.

Edinburgh, September 20, 1752, N.S.

Dear Mr. Steuart,—^This is the fourth letter I have wrote to you
since I came here. I hope they're come safe to your hands. I would
have wrote oftener, as it is the greatest pleasure I can have at so

great a distance from you; but all my friends and acquaintances are

in the country except a very few, so that my affairs go at present but
slowly on, which makes me write the seldomer, having nothing as yet
material to acquaint you of. I think your letters come slowly on
too; these three posts I have been looking for that satisfaction, but
it is not yet come ; and I have answered each of your letters punctually
that I received since I came to Scotland.

I have yet had no answer to the letter I wrote immediately on my
arrival here, to a person who is near my brother's person, in order
to be shown to him. I, therefore, design to write directly to my
brother himself, to see what effect that may have. I have not yet got
an answer to the letter I wrote to Mrs. Duncan of Lundie ; I expect
it every day. I much wish to know what influence yours has had on
your brother. Last Sunday I went to see your cousin, Mrs. Betty
Lesly. She received me with the utmost kindness, and spoke of you
in the most obliging and affectionate manner; she would have pre-
vented my waiting on her, but, just after my coming here, her sister.

Lady Balgowan, died.

This day Archie and Sholto are to begin to learn to read by one
Warden, recommended by the Counteaa of Stair as one that teachea
well and brings children forward in a short time. I told them I waa
writing to you, and they both prayed me to give their duty to their
papa.

p aai
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I dined laat Monday with Mr. Ker.ia our Parliunent man; h«'i

married to my cooain, Betty Kerr; you waa kindly remembered by
them, and your health and the ohildren'a drunk with great marka o(

affection. I intend to write again by Saturday'* post; in meantime I

must bid you, dear Mr. Steuart, adieu. I am, with the utmost
affection, your*, J. D. 8.

El.

!

n-

hi

I'

LETTER XLII.

Ladt Jami DonoLAs to Mb. Stbuaxi.

Dear Mr. Steuart,—I'm not a little uneasy that you're quite out of

money. I am at present making it my endeavour to purchase a small
sum, which, it I succeed, which I hope I shall, you shall soon share
of it. In the meantime my heart is full of the warmest gratitude
to that good man, your faithful friend, Captain Cockbum, for his
uncommon friendship and civilities to you; and I flatter myself that

you and I shall have it in our power, and that soon, to show him
the sense we have of his great goodness. Though such kind offices as

his has been to you these many months past are hardly possible

ever to be repaid, offer him my grateful and regardful compliments.

I have wrote a most affectionate, and even a most submissive letter

last Thursday to my brother; what the result may be I cannot yet

determine. When I can learn, you shall be informed. In the mean-
time keep up your spirits, and trust in God's great goodness, as I

do; and, as I am, be entirely easy and happy. I really am strongly

impressed that we shall soon t^et some deliverance out of our present
cakmitoua state; but whatever happen*, I am wholly resigned and
satisfied since you are in good health, as I and our little ones are.

What cause have we then to grieve? Put that far from you, 1

beseech you, dear Mr. Steuart.

Pray don't be discouraged that you are sr> long of hearing from
Lundie; he is not yet arrived, and I'm afraid his bffairs in Ireland

have been more troublesome than he expected, and to have detained

him long; but I hope they'll come out well at last. I can't but
interest myself in that good man's concerns; and his wife, too, has
been my long-tried, constant friend. Mrs. Hewit sends you her best

compliments and good wishes. Sho end I and the children are happy
in being here, out of the smoke of the town. All my regret is that you
are not here, which would make everything to a wish ; but we'll

meet when Heaven pleases, and that's enough. Poor Mrs. Hewit
has almost as much anxiety for that happy event as I have. Adieu,
dear Mr. Steuart. I ever am, in the tendereet manner, yours,

J. D. Stxuabt.

» Mr. Jamas Ker, an eminent jeweller, formerly member of parliament for the city of
dinbnr|li, and much in the confldence of the Ute Mr. Pvlham, [OriciBal note.]
He marnea in 1760, Itliiabetfa, daughter of Lord C'barlea Kerr of Cmmond.
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Dr. Clerkl3 it u kind m ever, but it much in the conntry, hkving

few patient* in town. You may judge the children'! indiapoeition

•nd my own were very slight when I neither called Clerk nor Ecdee

;

but Mr. Ecclee hM, cince my •rrival, come every day to lee me;
never waa there a kinder nor a better man. Alio, Dr. Dundaa ie

exceedvely kind and obliging, inquired in the kindeet manner for you,

and ordered a medicine for me when I wat a little ill ; come* conatantly

to we roe, but will take no money. Eccles, too, aaka after you in the

moit obliging way.

LETTER XLUl.

Lact Jamx Docolas to Mb. Stzuabt.

Hope Park, 15th November, 1752.

Dear Mr. Steuart,—I received your letUr laet Tueeday, and would

have answered it the very next post if I had had anything material or

mighty satisfactory to say ; but as that does not happen to be the

present case (but in due time it will come), I delayed writing till this

post, last week the holy sacrament being given in Edinburgh, in

all the churches, which is just in my neighbourhood.

It grieves me beyond measure, dear Mr. Steuart, that you're so

low in money, and that I have as yet got none to send yon ; especially

as the time of your getting some liberty is so near approaching. I'm

truly disquieted about this, but to help it is at present entirely out of

my power. However, I'm not idle in endeavouring to raise a small

sum (a great one is impracticable), and when I'm happy enough to

accomplish it, you shall immediately share in whatever it is. In the

meantime, keep up your spirits, which your letter assures me you

do, which charms me, aa all of it does, save that part relating to

money matters.

As to your anxiety about my living in the country, imputing it

entirely to economy, which I do assure you is the least consideration,

my dear children's and my own health being the chief motive that made
me leave Edinburgh, neither they nor I agreeing with the place. We
were truly indisposed almost all the while we were in town, and
Sholto had a little fever upon him when I brought him here ; he is

now, I bless God, very well and hearty ; but it was full time to leave

a place that impaired our health; but for all that I made no great

haste to leave it, being eight weeks in town, lodging in the best house

in it in Bishop's Land, where I saw all my friends and acquaintances

that were then in town ; nor will they grudge to step a quarter of a
mile out of it to see me here, and when I choose to wait on them, a
chair can carry me in five minutes.

>9 A Tery eminent physician at Edinbnrgb, and the constant companion of all the
men of rank in hia time who were diatintntished for their leainlnK or their wit and
hnmoar. He had a singularly good memory and an inexhaustible fund of entertaining
stories, which he need to teU with a shrewd gravity which gme them a high relish.
After a rery long and successful practice he dropl off in a freiih old tuo, while be waa
reading hii faTouilt* Horace. [Original note. ]
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The Douglas Cause.

I hop«, aftor reading thtte nmom, yoa'U b« pmuadad that it it

bwt for nM to lira in th« country; m, pnj b« Mtiallad and Mty m
to that articla.

Adtan, daar Mr. Stanart, be happy and aaqr in yoor pneent etream-

tancea, for Providence will, I tmat, deliver ua oat of oar diatraataa in

due time. Depend on thii, and on the moat tender affectkm and

love of your J- D. S.

Archy and Sholto aend you their humble duty. They apeak

frequently of you, and are perpetually writing lettera to yoa, eapecipUy

Archy; it ia hia chief employment.

Mra. Nelly, in the moat affectionate manner, aenda yon her beat

complimenta ; ahe longi much to aee you, and if her prayer* and mine

are heard, you'll aoon be here.

'i I

f ,)

LETTBB XLIV.

Ladt Jank Douolas to Ms. Stvcart.

Hope Park, 18th November, 1762.

Dear Mr. Steaart,—I received the pleaanre of your letter of the

11th yeaterday, in which you complain of my being become mighty

laiy. I confeaa I did not write for aiz daya, but that waa occaaioned

by the holy aaerament'a being given in all the chnrchea of Edinburgh,

which aolemnity I had the honour to attend; ao my not writing pro-

ceeded from no unkindneaa nor careleaaneaa about yon, dear Mr.

Steaart; and pray obaerve my preaent pnnctnality in anawering your

laat letter, thia being the day after I received it.

I went to the aaaembly thia laat Thuraday, the King'a birthday

being aolemniaed here on that day, because the week before waa aet

apart on account of the holy aacrament. I deal not much in public

diveraiona; it would ill become me aa you're in confinement; bat our

dear little onea and I aa well aa you are under auch great obligations

to his Majesty that I thought it my indispenaable duty to be present

on the day that was appointed for solemnising his birthday, that I

might by that demonstration ezpresa publicly to the world the aenae

I have of his Majesty's great goodneaa to me and mine ; and for that

reason I took the children along with me ; and I cannot really expreaa

the warm and kind reception we met with from the whole aaaembly,

which was extremely crowded and full of company. Archy and Sholto

behaved to a wonder, and were caressed beyond measure. I thought

the people would have eat them up ; and very many that I did not

know complimented me upon their account, and upon my being

returned to my own country; ao that I wanted nothing to make me
perfectly happy on this occaaion but your being there to ahare in

my aatiafaction, and ao to make it complete.

I made Mr. Linn of Oorgie introduce nw to my Lord Advocate'^

lady, who waa directreea that night. She received my compliments
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better thm I dMervMl. The Advocate ia one of my hot fritadt.

I'm under Rreat obligsUoiw te him, which I'm fond of, m I look npoa
him M a very valuable man, aa well a* a penon of weight and greatlj
aeteemed. Lord Home, Lord Napier, and Mr. Linn, and many
others, aakad kindly for you : to you we you're not forgot here.

Take no care about my managing material matters in a right
manner; my nbmiesion* to my brother, and all the affectionate

dafnonetration* I can poMibly nhow him, are right to be done. Theae
cannot, and ahall not hur^ my interest, but promote it.

I'm esceMively aorry that our good friend, Captain Cockbum, haa
been so ill ; I hope to hear by your next that his health ia entirely

restored; he has my best wishee for that, and for everything else

that may be agreeable to him. Offer him my best complimenU, and
tell him from me he has the prayers of all the ministers in our
churches every Sabbath day, which are that Ood may spare all useful,

valuable lives; 'Ihout any flattery, he in amongHt that number.
I have not ynt got the money borrowed, but am doing my endeavour

for that purpose. It grievea me to think how you are put to it at

present. May Ood in bin great mercy send ua relief.

Mrs. Nelly offers yon her most affectionatt) oomplimente, Archy his

humble duty, but Sholto is not at leixure to send you any, he did in

my last. He is, blessed be Ood, quite well again, as we are all.

Pray take care of yourself, and keep up your spirits ; all will be well

if we submit and have patience

This ia a long letter, I'm sure, but very undistinctly wrote. Ezcuce
it, dear Mr. Steuart, and accept of my best wishes, and of the

tenderest and affectionate regard of your

J. DOVOLAS Stsuabt.

LETTER XLV.

Ladt Jams Douolas to Mb. Stsuabt.

Hope Park, November 28th, 1752.

Dear Mr. Steuart,—I find it a matter more difficult than I imagined

the raising any money here ; though but a very small sum I demanded,
it has not yet been in my power to procure it, but I am still in hopes
to succeed. In the meantime I am much perplexed and uneasy with

this disappointment, chiefly on your account, too well knowing how
much you want a supply. But pray don't be discouraged, dear Mr.
Steuart, at these rubs and little strokes of iU-fortune; all will, I

hope, go well with us, if we behave with patience and resigr don
to the wise Disposer and Orderer of all thingd. It is our intei,.'8t as

well as duty in all circumstences and in all situations to have such a
submissive disposition of mind to the Almighty power who governs

all affairs, and who can do no wrong.

Dr. Clerk was here the other morning. He's just in his usual

friendly way to me, and likeways in regard to you, speaking a great

deal of you with the greateet friendship imagin^le.
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Oir* my bMt oomplimmU to our valuabU triand, CspUin Coekbarti,

Mid to Mr. Maclurchcr. I hop* th« cApUin'i hMlth to pwfMtly

rwtorad, and Uwl Mr. Maektrchw's affair* ara going on in a manner

that all good paopla withaa.

Wa arc well hara, blaaawl be Ood, and our dear little one* in good

health and apiriU ; they both tend you their humble doty and Mn.

Nelly her moat affectionate compUroenta. Adieu, dear Mr. Htauart.

Keep up your apirita; that and your health to my greateat concern.

While these are in Rood condition nothing can diaquiat your aver

tenderly affectionate
Jamb DoucLAa 8tbdabt.

LETTER XLVl.

Ladt Jamb Douolas to Mm. Stbuabt.

Hope Park, 5th December, 1768.

Dear Mr. Stcuart,—I received the pleasure o( your welcome letter

of the 28th November last Thur«iday, some part of which was mighty

agreeable; that of your asauring me that you arc in perfect health

and in good spiriU to beyond all the happinea* anything in thu world

can poaaibly bestow on me.

Upon the Duchess of Hamilton's coming to town, 1 went to pay her

a Tuit, but was refused access, the Duke having wrote to my brother

to demand of him, in case I offered a vtoit to the Duchees, whether

it would be agreeable to the Dnke of Douglaa that it should be

accepted or not, in answer to which my brother wrote that he by no

means pretended to dictate or lay down rules to the Dnke of

Hamilton; but since he intended never to see hu stotar, he would

take it well and kindly if Hamilton did not see her; upon which

account my vtoit was not received. Thu Dr. Clerk came oat here

the other day and told me, having read my brother's letter to

Hamilton, who has gained no honour nor credit by thto low syco-

phanting procedure; on the contrary, all the good and dtointerested

wise part of mankind look upon him with abhorrence and detestation,

reckoning him the meanest, as well as wickedest of mortato, who, by

such unjust practices, endeavours to widen the breach between a

brother and a stoter; and by that means to see, if possibln, to place

himself in the stoter's room, who to undoubtedly the lawful heir.

Pray don't let thu piece of news trouble you ; the flattery to so gross,

I hope it will rather be of service than any hurt to me ; it only shows

a very mean, bad heart, of which there are too many at present in

the world. Adieu, ever yours, J. D. S.

XLVn.

Ladx -Tanb Dovolas to Mr. Stbua&t.

Edinburgh, August 27th, 1752.

Dear Mr. Steuart,—I had the pleasure to write to yon the next

day after my arrival here, and also to receive two letters from you,

aa6
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whkh gftva ta» gnu oomfort. I now mort Uuui ••? (m1 Um joy
it givM m« to hear from > (riend (rom • fur oountrj, utd am ton
yoo'U give m« that Mtiafaction, dau Mr. Suaart, oftmi, knowing your
tandamaaa and yoar punetualnaaa, avan whan I waa at a laaa diitanoa.

I hava nothing at yet conaidarabla to write to you from thia ; only I

waa received, and our dear little onea, by all my relation* and
acqoaintancaa now in town, with great marlu of friendahip and affec-

tion. Lord Milton waa remarkably friendly and kind, came immediately
to aee me, though in a great hurry prepnring to go to Inverara to the

Duke of Argyle, who i« at preaent 0< ,< Hr appeared mighty fond of

the children, who behaved extramf'' .i, > .. with great vivacity and
apirit

I shall once or twice a week
go. In the meantime, dear f r

up yoar apirita, for all will )

upon ycr eaae of mind.
Mr. Hamilton ard Larf" "^i

vi'I, 111(1 1 -^ H ififj

they apoke with a great d<>i.>

with much cordial ailecti '-

The children are perfec< >y

(I'p'H'll "Vll*' U. tip

Sow mat.tara

V and keep
. ' w dependa

at night

;

your health

•lA. I ovor J \ youn,

J. D. S.

LETTER X.1 I.

Feom Ladx Jani Douglas to .

Sir,—I received the favour of both your letters; that juat on my
arrival in Edinburgh and the other aome weeka ago. It givea me
inezpreuible pain to find by them that my brother continues itiU

inflexible ; nay, seem* to be more than ever incensed against me, not-

withstanding that I have made him all the aubmissions, by writing

in the most humble, as well as affectionate manner, and in giving up
my papers, which were of great consequence and advantage to me to

have kept; yet, to please him, I have resigned them, without being

compelled by any other motive than my inclination to do everything
that might contribute to hia satisfaction, if happily by these con-

cessions I might gain back his favour again, which is all my desire,

and the utmost of my wishes. Let him give bis riches to whom he
pleases, even to those that meanly and dishonourably court him for

it; amazing that he doea i.at see through their selfish viev so

manifest to all the world besides, and which every wise and : > set

man haa in the utmost abhorrence and detestation! I pray . od

to open his eyes, and to pardon those that are going on in such dis-

honest and wicked practices ; they are as much my brother's enemies
as mine who conduct themselves in this manner.

I must acquaint you with a pretty odd procedure in Mr. Archibald
Stuart. 14 I gave him my papers to deliver to my brother. Mr.

X Mr. Archibald Htnart, father to Mr. Andrew Stuart, agent for Duke Hamilton in
the Douglaa Caow. [Original oote.]

m
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Stnart received them from my Land* with remwiuble truuporti of

joy—• very strmnge demonstr»tion to ahow before me, wh:> mnat
inifer so much in my intereat by delivering them up. Bat this ia the

time of my aafFering all kinda of diatreeaea, even inanlta too.

Mr. Stawrt promiaed, without my deairing it of him, to uae hia

warraeat endeavoura to perauade my brother to reatore to me the

30,000 merka which he had formerly made me a preaent of, which

paper I gave up amongat the reat. He alao aaaured me he would do
all in hia power to incline my brother to reatore back the £300 with-

held theae few yeara paat. I thanked Mr. Stuart for theae fair

promiaea, and desired him to preaa that matter no farther than he
could do it aafely for himaetf, and not to incur my brother's dia-

pleaaure by any act of friendship done to me; beggeid him to maks
me c report how things went, at hia return from Donglaa Caatle;

but, so far from complying with that juat and reasonable reqneat, he
has never once come near me, nor sent me one single line, though 1

repoaed so much trust in him as to give him my papers to deliver to

my brother, which I gave to Stnart on the 27th of October, and now
it is the 8th of December. I am not ready to suspect, or to put bad
constmctiona upon any person's way of acting ; but this conduct of

Stuart's must occasion various thoughts. When I inquire what this

gentleman is about that occupies him so much that he does not find

time to behave with common civility and decency where it is due,
the answer I receive is he is constantly down in the Abbey, conaulting

and contriving matters with the Duke of Hamilton, whose behaviour

to me I suppose you are not ignorant of ; but in case you should, 1

shall here give you a description of it. Upon the Ducheaa of

Hamilton's coming to town, I attempted to pay her a visit but waa
refused acoeas, which aurpriaed me a good deal, and yet more, whan
a gentleman, some time after, came and tnld me the reason of it was

that the Duke of Hamilton had wroto to my brother, demanding of

him in what manner he should behave in case the Duke of Douglaa'a

sister were to offer a visit to the Duchess of Hamiltoii , to this letter

my brother's answer waa that he did not pretend to dictate to the

Duke of Hamilton, but, as he resolved never to see his i>ister, he

would take it well and kindly if the Duke of Hamilton did not see

her. This letter of my brother's Duke Hamilton showed the gentle-

man who told me what paased, which, amongst other things, thia

noble Duke said it waa very strange that Lady Jane should endeavour

to force a visit where it could do no service to her and a great deal

of hurt to him. Such sentiments ! The reason why Lady Jane

honoured the Duchess of Hamilton with a visit waa becauae she could

not imagine the Duke her f<pouse was half so mean and wicked as he

showed himself to be, nor that the Duke of Douglas was so weak and

easily imposed upon. My brother little imagines that he ia the dupe

in thia matter, and the subject of Duke Hamilton's and all his little

rreaturee' derision, while all the good and wise part of mankind

brieve and lament to see the head of such an ancient and -loble houae

fallen so low.

Let me know what you think of Stuart's conduct. If any haa
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rcpNMnted me in a bad light to my brother, it is hard he won't permit
me to clear myself, which I could easily do, would he but allow me
to be 10 happy as to see him, or to read my letters. I would offer

him here my most respectful and moet affectionate compliment*; but,
perhaps you dare not venture to own I have wrote to you ; and yet he
can't be angry that I have forced a letter upon you. Let him then
know that I love and regard him, notwithstanding the manner he has
choeen to act towards me.

I am, sir,

Your most humble servant.

Jams Douglas Stxuakt.

LETTER XLIX.

Mrs. Cabse to Lady Jamx DonoLAS.

Madam,—'Tis now a very long time since I gave your Ladyship

the trouble of a line from me, and your silence may sufficiently

reprove and forbid my presuming to trouble you any more that way

;

but, being strongly attached to your interest, I can't forbear letting

you know how active your enemies are against you, especially as I'm
peersuaded your great genius and address may furnish you with ways
and means to disappoint your enemies.

Some time ago I had it from a good hand that a certain elevated,

foolish woman, viz., Archibald Stuart's wife, as she was holding out
her throng of business, and having nobody to assist her, as Mr. Stuart
had five clerks away with him, it was asked her, where? She
answered—To Douglas Castle, he having a very great deal of
business there; and very goon, said she, that great and ancient house,
the brag of the world, will be quite extinct. How, says the person
she talked to, has not Lady Jane two fine sons? Ha, says she, they'll
never be owned by his Grace, and all that's possible to be done against
her and her's, will soon be put in execution, and a great deal to this
purpose. Now, madam, I don't in the least question many people's
being very active against your Ladyship, and against the interest of
that illustrious house ; but I'm very hopeful his Grace won't be their
dupe. I assure your Ladyship I believe White is no friend to your
interest, nor for the perpetuating of the very ancient and illustrious

house. For I own to you, upon the hearing of that silly, lifted-up

woman's idle clatter, I very rashly took upon me, and wrote to his

Grace, and told him very freely the whole story and the author. I

also told him that these boys was an evidence that a good Providence
was taking care to keep a stem of it alive ; that there was none upon
earth that was come of my Lord Marquis his father, or the good Earl
Angus, his grandfather, but these two Loye, after his Grace and
sister; it wholly depended upon him to strengthen their right, and if

he did not, or did anything against them, it would be the foulest blot
in his character. A good deal more I said very plainly, but in a

M9
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oouing ^'•y- I thought it the best way to gat it pot in hia hand, to
give it to Thomas Trotter, who would put it in Stockbrig'a hand;
and ao I desired Mr. Trotter afterwards to inquire at White li he
knew how hia Grace took it. Bat Mr. Trotter said that he was afraid
to inquire, for my Lord Duke was so exceedingly uneasy at the hear-
ing of your name that it put him in a sweat, or made him like to
faint; but that is so far an untruth, that to Charles Douglas, who
officiates for Mr. Carse, he spoke of your name several times, and of
the colonel's, as I wrote Mrs. Hewit. And I beg pardon for troubling
you with this long story, and did not rather write it to Mrs. Hewit

;

but indeed I durst not put it in any hands but your Ladyship's, who,
I hope, will keep it entirely to yourself, for if it should take the least
*w, my speaking against StuaH's wife, it might make them act
against me, as you know their connection with Major Cochrane ;IS
but I've gome apprehensions White has not delivered my letter; I
shall soon search and find it out.—I am, Ac.

LETTER L.

Ladt Jani Douglas to Mb. Sticast.

Hope Park, ISth December, 1752.

Dear Mr. Steuart,—I received the pleasure of your letter last night

;

what you say of your being in great spirts gave me excessive joy and
satisfaction. May you ever be so, and I shall ever be satisfied and
happy.

Archy and Sholto are very well; they're often speaking of you.
How happy would you make us all here were I not afraid that by the
unfortunate situation of my affairs, I might be the cause of exposing
you to danger.

I'm grieved beyond expression that at this time it is not in my
power to raise any money; but if you can at present get a supply
sufficient to bring you down, and to free my things lying out, I think
I shall be able in a very few months to raise a little money, and by
that means make you a return.

!U

I'
'

LETTER LI.

Ladt Jane Docolas to Mb. Stiuabt.

Hope Park, 6th February, 1753.

Dear Mr. Steuart,—With the greatest pleasure I received your two
letters, the one the 20th, the other the 30th January ; particularly the
last, which I got yesterday; you seem in it to abound in spiriu.
notwithstanding the many dioappointnienU you have lately met with

" Major Cochmne, now Karl o( Dundonald, iiuirried a rtuirhter nf Mr ArchibaM
BWmrt, she being a great beauty. (Uriginul mite.

)
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tn money mattera, and even though you cannot yet be certain thai

fche raising the sum uecesaary for you can be obtained, thin fortitude

ind resolution < f yours amidst all your own and my difficulties

gives me utmost joy and satisfaction ; and to transfer what

will support and augment your good spirits I here assure you

that it will be in my power, please God, against the beginning

of the month of April, so far to make you easy as to free you of all

your small debts in London ; so that, though your own money
scheme should fail, let this assurance I have given you serve to keep

yoa from being discouraged.

Why are you displeased that I regret and am grieved that I have

brought you into encumbrances? I well know your good, generous

heart, and that such things only give you pain on my account ; and

won't you then allow me so far to resemble you as to suffer, when
I am in this matter the occasion of your suffering?

I'm concerned for your deafness ; pray take care to keep very

warm in this severe cold weather.

Nothing passes in these parts worthy your hearing. The best news

I have to write is that dear little Archy and Sholto are in good health

and perfect good spirits. They are often speaking of you.

LETTER LII.

Ladi Jane Douglas to Mh. Stblmrt.

Thursday, Hope Park, February 22, 1753.

Dear Mr. Steuart,—I received your welcome letter this last Tuesday,

and I answer it the immediate post following, that I may occasion,

dear Mr. Steuart, no more anxious fears by not being sometimes quite

so punctual as I ought to be. Never blame me after this for my
anxieties, since you find how impossible it is altogether to avoid them

;

but my uneasiness are only in regard to those I love and am interested

in, in which number you are my chief and dearest concern. As to

other incidents in human life which fall out to everybody, sometimes

prosperously, sometimes adverse, these sit mighty easy upon me, as

I am sure a wise hand, and a hand full of mercy, disposes of all our

fates and orders everything for the best, so I am always satisfied and

pleased.

At the same time I received your letter last Tuesday I got one from

Lady Lundie, which I enclose here. You'll see by it that it is not

want of friendship, kindness, nor even rility that occasions her and

her husband's long silence, but a certain awkward, ill-judged fear that

a gTMkt many people have upon their spirits when they have no good

news to tell, little knowing that yuur spirits and mine are able, by

the supporting goodness of Almighty God, to bear bad tidings.

Lady Lundie's advice to me is no doubt well meant, aud with good

wUl to us. I don't know how you may relish it, but I intend to put

it in practice in a few days ; I don't see any mighty act of con-
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deacMiaioi) in one lady's writing to another; bwidM, I can stoop at
any time to serve yon.

I'm sorry you are still disappointed in raising the money so
necessary for you ; but I am still hopeful yon shall obtain it at last.

It grieves me that it is not in my power to assist you.
I shall be more punctual and frequent in my letters hereafter, and

I •»«« you to write as often as you can.
Archie and Sholto are very well, which makes me happy, as I'm

sure it will make you; and I am in good health and in good spirits,
as, I hope in God, yon continue to be, the thoughts of which is my
best cordial, and a rich one too, though in other things not in mighty
affluence; but I trust in God's goodness that you and I shall be
provided in what is necessary to make us live easily, though not in
great wealth.

Lady Mary Hamilton, Marquia Lothian's sister, begged me to send
you her affectionate complimenta. Good Mr. Gustard, the minister,
who I «ee often, remembers you always in the kindest manner. I
ever am most affectionately yours, J. D. 8.

LETTER LIII.

Lady Jane Douglas to Lady Maby Mbnzms.ib

Few things could have been more agreeable than my dear Lady
Marys letter, which I had the honour to receive last week It
belongs to me, madam, to make apology for the fault of not writinB
sooner, which you so obligingly charge yourself with ; and I did indeed
unmediately on my arrival in Scotland, intend to have wrote to your
Ladyship; but various things came in the way (not mighty delightful)
which prevented my having that agreeable employment; the warm
expressions you honour me with of your continued friendship give me
a satisfaction more easy to be imagined than expressed; only be
assured I prize the favour much and value myself upon it.

It gives me great pleasure to think how happy my dear Lady Mary
has been these few months past in the company of her brother, and
such a brother as Mr MackenzielT ig I loved when a chUd, I admire
hmi now, and I pay him no (ompliment (worth can't be compli-
mented) when I say he's the agreeablest and tinest youni? gentleman
our country can boast of at present. Amiable Lady BettylB i Ukeways
esteem much; and, to show that I am not unacquainted with her
merit. I think she deserves .Mr. Mackenzie, which is to say a great
deal. Your Ladyship has been so happy part of last, and beginning
of this new-styled year in their society, that I can only wish you

BaroMt.^
'^"^ MenzitM, aister to the Karl of Bute, (uid wife of Sir Robert MemieH,

"The UoD. Jameti fSHuirt Hackenxie, Lord Privy iiieal for Scotland.

"Lady Betty .Mackeiuie, daughter of John Duke of -Argyll and Greenwich, wife of
the Hod. Jiuniw Stiiart Mackenzie.

a3a
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many, very many such years of satisfaction, with every other joy your
heart can further desire.

The town is mighty gay, I'm told. But I can give no account of
its entertainments, going to none of them, save to one assembly
several weeks ago, appointed to solemnise King George's birthday;
I thought it my duty to appear on that occasion to testify my regard
and gratitude to my royal benefactor, who is the only crowned head
I ever was personally under any obligation to.

The account your Ladyship gives of my dear young Mr. Steuartl9
and his family gives me great pleasure. I have from all hands heard
the best character of them, and of Bellachin his lady, and their whole
family

;
and your Ladyship's good opinion of them convinces me that

all I hear to their advantage is true. I saw Mr. Jacky several times
six years ago, and I did think him a very fine and handsome youth

;

my little Archy is reikoned by several people to resemble him much,
which I take as a compliment to my little man. Mr. Steuart, whose
affain did not permit him to come to Scotland along with me, has the
honour to be, I do assure my dear Lady Mary, her devoted humble
servant and her great admirer, as well as a sincere friend and servant
to Sir Robert.

Lady Grace CampbeU's20 late lying in, and my perplexed affairs, has
prevented my waiting upon her Ladyship as yet ; but I intend to do
myself that honour soon.

If I could expect to see my dearest Lady Mary in Edinburgh while
I remain here, it would give me inexpressible satisfaction ; but it is a
happiness I dare not flatter myself with. My stay here is uncerUin,
having thoughts of goin^ to the north of England ; but before I leave
these parte I shall certainly give your Ladyship notice. Adi« i, my
dear madam. Favour me always with your friendship, which I

deserve, for this one reason, that I have the honour to be, with the
most perfect esteem and regard, your Ladyships most obedient,
humble servant and most affectionate cousin,

Jane Docolas Stbuabt.
Hope Park, near Edin., 23rd Jan., 1753.

I offer my best compliments to Sir Robert Menzies ; 1 beg your Lady-
ship will likewise make them acceptable to Mr. Mackenzie and Lady
Betty. Your old 'riend Mr.". Hewit is just as much your Ladyship's
devoted servant as ever, and begs to be most kindly remenibereti to
yon, madam, and her good friend Sir Robert. Likewise, she begs leave
to offer her compliments to her charming favourite. Mr. Mackenzie,
whom she loves most tenderly.

"Mr. iSteiuirt, «>n to the liUe ^Sir John Mteiurt by hi.s flrst nuirriase, uftenr.uili
Sir John Steuart, Bart., ol OraadtuUy. He married Clementinrt, (tauahter of Charles
atenart of Baliecbin.

«) Lady Grace Camplwll. aUter to the Eari of Bute, and wife of John Campliell. Kaa
Lord Htonefleld. ^ '
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LETTER LIV.

Ladt Jani Douola* to thx Dvn of Douglas.

Dear Brother,—I cune down from London on purpoee to wait upon,

and pay my dutiful respects to you, which I wrote, and acquainted

your Grace of on my first arrival in Edinburgh. I was not honoured
with any answer ; notwithstanding, I resolved to make offer of a visit

to your Orace, but was detained by various people industriously

bringing it to my ears that such an attempt would incur your dis-

pleasure, and give you a great deal of uneasiness. Upon which I,

with much regret, laid aside what above all things I wished and was
ambitious to have performed ; hut now that I am under a necessity

to go into England, to seek out a cheap place to live in, I could not

think of leaving this country without making an effort to see you once
before I die, to vindicate the cruel, false aspersion that my enemies,

wicked and designing people, have as unjustly, as cruelly spoke

against me, and which, I am informed, have reached your ears, and
that your Grace gives credit to them, the thoughts of which pierces

my heart and gives me inexpressible anguish. What, then, must my
sorrow be, and what an additional torment do I now feel, when in

your house, with my children, come to throw ourselves at your feet,

we are debarred access to your presence ! Recall that cruel sentence,

I beseech you. if you don't intend to render me all my life miserable,

and to shorten it too, which must be the case; for it is impossible

to live any time with a load of snch exquisite grief as mine is; all

I beg to be permitted to speak but a few moments to your Grace,

and if I don't, to your own conviction, clear up my injured innocence,

inflict what punishment you please upon me ; I shall receive it

willingly, and shall think I deserve your utmost rigour if I cannot
jup^'fy myself fully of all that is basely and falsely laid to my charge.

In . ipes that your Grace will, with great goodness and humanity,
al'ov this my petition to take place in your heart, and you will call

me back again, I shall remain this day and the following night in

Douglas town.

The children, poor babies, have never yet done any fault ; may I

not then plead for their being admitted and allowed to see you, and
to kiss your hands. The youngest, Shoito, is thought to resemble

you much when you were a child ; and Archie is thouvbt by a great

many to havo the honour too of resembling you much when you
became a man.

I am, dear brother.

Your ever affectionate sister,

Jani Douglas Stxuart.

[:
.
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letter lv.

Fbom Db. EcclmSI to Mb. Stbuabt.

Edinburgh, Nov. 21, 1753.
Sir,—With very great grief and concern I titke this opportunity to

inform you that Lady Jane Dougla. Steuart died thia day at noon,
very much emaciated and decayed. She bore her .icknes. with
Clirutian patience and re«ignation, accompanied with that remarkable
sweetness of temper and affable behaviour so natural to her.
Your son is a very fine chUd, is thriving and healthy. I pray Godmay preserve him. Poor Mrs. Hewit is very much distressed and

gneved. God support yon under this heavy affliction.

LETTER LVL

Fbom Mb. Colvii,l22 to Mr. Stbuabt

Edinburgh, 24th Nov., 1753.
Sir,-I am obliged to write you this melancholy letter, with the

deepest gnef and concern imaginable, for the death of that dear anselLady Jane, who departed thia life the 22nd instant, at twelve o'clock
forenoon. Poor Mrs. Hewit is in the greatest affliction that can be •

She IS neither capable of writing nor speaking to anybody, only ben
of you, for dear Ar.:hy's s^e and her's. you'll Uke ^re of your own
health and preservation. She feels your distress in the ma.t tenderway; but all the comfort she can give you is that, while dear LadvJane was alive, nothing was wanting that either gave her ease or
saturfaction

;
nobody durst venture to write you the situation she was|n; she absolutely discharged it. There is an express gone away tothe Duke to see what he wiU do; however, whether he will do «

not, everything shall be done about her like herself. Mrs. Hewit ha.had credit aU a^ong to support her, and still will for what is necessary

;

therefore, she begs you'll let nothing of that trouble you; and whenau IS over, and she gets herself composed, she wiU give you a full
account Poor woman, she is left at present with a few shillings in
her pocket, but her only lamenUtion and cry is for you

«J?»
P**' ."*««• -^WW is at present very veil, and .he has just given

orders for his mournings. I am, Ac.
J e

» Dr. Bocles, an ingeniouu physician at Kdinburgh. {Original note.)

Jf.l^'
W»»t«r. .Cel'lll. bftker in Edinburgh, and one of the macerx of the Cor,» ni

ns



The Douglas Cause.

LETTER LVn.

Fbom Mb. Oustaso to Mb. Btbuabt.

Edinburgh, Nov. M, 1753.

8i,_I wonld b«en tony to have been th» llrtt to givt you the

meUncholy newi of your woHhy lady's death. I know you have

been prepared to hear it.
^ . . .»u u

Tou were amongrt the happiest of men to be matched with luch a

one not only for her quality but qualiflcationi ; she exceUed the mort

of her sex. But. as she's gone and shines no more in thia wwrld,

Kocd reason we have to hope she has made a happy change, where

aU sorrow and sighing fly away. She bore her affliction with great

patience and resignation to the holy disposing will of God. She had

her noble spirit tiU near her very last.

Mrs Hewit, a friend indeed, will, no doubt, give you a particular

acoour*, afterwards of her sickness and manner of dying. I pity you.

sir and your child, under such a loes and shocking trial. Bat thu is

the doing of the Lord; therefore we ought to be dumb, not opening

our mouth, because He did it. God i- righteous m all his doings,

but we have sinned and deserved the worst we can meet wUh. May

we be awakened to consider our ways, and to turn to Hun that

I^iteth, and who alone can heal. Peace with God through Chnst

is the best cordial under trouble and at a dying hour. I am, »c.

LETTER LVIII.

Sib John Stkuabi to Ladt Ja«« Douoias.

Dearest Lady Jane,-As I have ha." such proofs of your dis-

interested and grand sentimenU, I hope now that hard (and I must

;Sw ^deservS fate, ha. done ita worst. I hope the same con-

sUncv of mind, with your Christian resignation and philoBOFHy, will

SiSt yo» nUgnanimity in this trying stroke of all thfo,/f^l^i up; my dearest h«ly. please remember it is no fault to be^ I would choose to be honourably k. rather than purcha«»

^ei at the expense of it. This cloud will soon disperw, we have

STn to hope, and wiU prove but a whet to make us re uh the more

S^r LeB when God pleases to send them. I am entirely resjgned

to His will, and can bear every cross with patience, but bemg

kept from the pleasure and happiness of being with you; and even

in that I am supported by hope, that our separation can be of no

tong continuance, which I have reason to expect from many different

yiews any one of which will put an end to the only mufortune I

regret, providing that you are easy till that happy penod.
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LETTER UX.

Sim JoBN SnuAKT to Lady Jani DorcLAi.

My deamt Udy Jmne.-Vour deUcat«M thia morning w«r« weU and
kindly meant, but, if I may lay it, wmewhaf miaUkan ; for. d«M
madam, aa 1 could not but perceive an uncommon concern and grief,
with an effort to conceal it, your refuting t/; UU me tha deplorable
cauae made me imagine it proceeded from aoaething stiU more fatal
(if anything can be more lo) than even the death o( our aatimable
and every way valuable Lord Blantyre, in whom our country luftera
irreparably, in the mo»t hopeful of our youth, endued with every good
and shining quality, without the least tincture of vice. But,
D.L.J.

,
to what purpose your so excessive grief, that to vour friends,

and even to his, rather increaaes than diminishes the ' misfortune

;

should it impair the health of one who had so just a value for his
unconimon merit? Besides, madam, you will nive m« leave to remind
you that it is upon such extraordinary occasions you .we to practise
the Christian resignation due to Providence, which ordirs everything
for the beet. Aa far as my poor view can see, be mutt die, or the
worid reform, for he was really unfit to hve in such an age as ours is;
but I shall not pretend to inoraliKe further (to one knows so much better
what the loes is and how it should be bore) than by this smaU word of
comfort, he has left no one puch behind him that I know of; this
reflection should comfort even his afflicted mother, how much more
every other disUnt relation and friend ; it does me, who never have
felt near so much, but for poor dear Lord Crawfurd ; these two non-
pareils are taken away, our best friends and most valuable
acquaintances (hard strokes!) But, please remember, good Provi-
dence raises new friends, and though the best are carried away, the
drosa and dregs which remain flourixhes but for a while, to do as
much hurt aa the heaven-bom geniuBes of these departed friends was
disposed to do good.

They shall likewise have a period, and heighten the merit and
character of the worthy, by the contrast of their characters, to the
immortal honour of the former. So. my dearest Lady Jane, do not
give way to immoderate grief on this melancholy occasion, but muster
up philosophy and religion to your quiet and comfort, which, I asaure
your Ladyship, is the endeavour of your adviser and affectionate,
humble servant,

,,..„.. Jo. Steuart
Monday, 12 at night.

LETTER LX.

Sib John Stiuaht to Lady Jane Douolas.

My dearest Angel,—In the hurry I was put in writing my last, or
rather the poaUcript to it, I had not time to make answer to any
one thing contained in yours, which gave me much pleasure, and at
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the IMM time, much pain ; (or, my dMrcat Lady Jane, at the lanM
time you tell ine the dear little men are recovered of their r-old, and
are goioR every day to ichool, I learn the diatraea yon have I .<eD m.
My diaappointmentu in not hearing from Lnndia, thoui^h much

depend! on it, i* nothing in companion with the anziona diatrei>a yonr
precariooe state of health pnta me in ; ao, for heaven'e take, let me
have the cordial of knowing yon are well, for everything without that
i* nothing.

I (hall direct your lettere for the future as you dasiri> ; and, if I had
not been a blockhead, might have understood it sooner; hot knowing
that, your Ladyship should have been more explicite.

I know not what I should have done for many months past, but
for my friend, Captain Cockbum, who has supplied me every way,
besides eating regularly with him ; I hope I nhall soon have it in my
power to make some return, which is nov an easy matter, to soch
favours, considering everything. I am surprised that in speaking of
your indisposition, and that of the dear boys, it did not 1«ad you
naturally to say something of our friend Dr. Clark ; sure he lontinuee
his allegiance to his Princess. I am glad to hear that Mr. and Mrs.
Hepburn are so well in looks, and so forth. They will bring Balfour,
who your Ladyship will find a very entertaining oddity, droll flighta

very uncommon, and sings very genteely, when "u the humour of it,

which is but sometimes.

I left off till last night's poet arrived, in great hopes of letters by
it : no. Well, Wednesday may bring me out of my anxious
suspense. I never think it can be longer deferred than the first post
from my last disappointment.

I ever am.

My dear Lady Jane,

Your affectionate, humble servant,

Jo. Stkdakt.

LETTER LXI.

Sw John Sticabt to Lady Janb Douglas.

My dearest Lady Jane,—Your kind letter of the 13th instant cama
not to hand till yesterday, I know not by what accident; God be
blessed, it confirms your health's being better and better. Riding is

certainly very proper, and indeed all exercise, so that it is not over-
fatiguing. I must beg leave to remind my dear Lady Jane, now that
her appetite and tone of stomach are recovered, to be careful not to
eat up to what the stomach may crave, after so long abstinence, and
to make that up by eating two or three times a day; for I am con-
vinced that your former method of taking no breakfast or supper,
but letting subsistence entirely depend on dinner, was too fatiguing
to your stomach, and probably has been the occasion of your late
terrible distress. Excuse this, D.L.J. You know I must play the
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pbyueun MNiMtimw, avmi when 1m« conctraad thmn in thu caM,"
TT»^ *•>•» '» •'•M to me u at aUke. When you let Doctor Clark

and Doctor Dundai know how you uaed to (aat and eat. I am more
tban c«Mivmoed. they wUl join in opinion even with a quack ; (orway have too good lenie not to know th«t one may raawM juatly in
iuch a caw, though not regularly bred to phytic.

LETTER LXII.

Si« John SttnART to thi Rfverind Mb. Gcstabd.23

London, May 15, 1753.
Reverend Sir,—Lady Jane had the favour ol your kind and moat

obliging letter yenterday, and return thanka for your pioua and whole-
tome advice under her pretent dittreu ; the ia a* reaigned to the
unerring will of Providence at Chriatianity can make her, though
nothing but time can bring ua to think of our great loaa of ao lively and
promiaing a child without a painful concern which ia inaeparable from
the imperfection of nature.

She hopet and expecU your prayers for the preaervation of her only
Burviving comfort, and would have wrote you hertelf but for the
painful diatreoa of mind ehe ia under, which cannot but in aome
meaaure affect the health of one ao delicate. However, I hope the
piritnal aoulagement ahe finda from the Holy Scripturea. and proper
care, ahe will very goon be well.

Lady Jane begs you'll make her compliment*, with hearty thanka,
to Lady Mary Hamilton for her kind concern and taking the trouble
of acquainting her brother the Duke, by ezpreta, of the diatreea of
hit aiater, by thia unexpected aevere atroke; God knowa ahe had, poor
lady, enough to bear before, which ahe did patiently.
Lady Jane joina me in offering our complimenta and beat withet to

you and your family. I am, air, with eateem, your much obliged
and moat humble aervant,

Jo. HnUABT.
Mra. Hewit offern her regardful complimenta.

LETTER LXIII.

Sir John Sticabt to Lady Schaw.

London, January 10th, 1764.

Madam,—By a letUr I had laat poet I find that the letter I did
royaelf the honour to write your Ladyship. 22nd of laat month, hat
not come to hand ; I think myaelf moat unlucky by that accident,

^The Revereml Mr. Uuntanl, oiuf of tb« ministers of E<liiihurxb, and father to the
inKenioaa Or. OuKtanl at Bath. (Origiiml note.)
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The Douglas Cause.

which mast make me appear ungrateful in your opinion, which I must

have been very much had I neglected thankfully to acknowledge the

great obligation your Ladyship has laid me under by the regardful

manner you have choosed to prove your friendship to your dear

deceased friend, Lady Jane Douglas Steuart.

Madam, your generous friendship I have tbd most grateful sense of,

and shall fondly embrace all opportunities to show with what high

esteem and consideration I have the honour of being your Ladyship's

much obliged and most obedient humble servant,

Jo. Stwjart.

P.S.—On the cover I have sent a copy of that of 22nd December,

which it oeems has miscarried.

Copy Mentioned in the above Postscript.

London, Dec. 22, 1753.

Madam,—The kind concern and interest you have been pleased to

take in the welfare of the dear infant who is now all that remains

of your dear deceased friend. Lady Jane Douglas Steuart, lays me
under an obligation I want words to express, though I have the justest

and most grateful sense of it. The unnatural indifference of dear

Lady Jane's nearest relations, as well as the same in my brother on

this melancholy occasion (when my affairs happened to be in some

disorder) heightens the favour of your Ladyship's kind interposing

very much. I hope my affairs will soon take a turn that will prevent

the continuance of the expense your Ladyship is now at, and shall

think it my greatest happiness to have an opportunity of proving

with what gratitude, high esteem and regard, I am your Ladyship's

much obliged and most obedient humble servant.

LETTER LXIV.

Lady Scraw to Mb. Steuabt.

Sir,—I received your letter of 10th January last some time ago.

with the cover, and copy of the one you formerly wrote me, which

I would have answered betuie this time if I had not delayed it on

purpose to see how your child agreed with his new quarters. I can

now assure you that, not only I, but others who see him, think that

he is improved both in growth and spirit ; for, as he is a very sensible

child, he was extremely cast down for the loss of his dear mother.

I cannot say but I was extremely surprised both with Lady Jane

and your near relations neglecting a duty that I thought incumbent

on them, in looking after the only remains of Lady Jane Douglas

Steuart, who was entitled to a better fate in this world than it pleased

Qod to give her ; and that whatever disobligations they judged they

had received from her Ladyship, still the child had no fault from

them.
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It WM mere Providence that gent me to this place of the country
when my Lady left this world for a better one, which gave me the
opportunity to hear of the destitute condition her poor infant was inwho I brought home, and is my intention to use him as my own child
so long as I live; but, as 1 am old, that probably will not be many
years. I wish your affaii-s may be settled, so as to take care of your
child at my death; tiU then, neither I, nor none of mine, have any
demands upon you, nor none of yours; and I think myself happy to
have It in my power to say that it gives me the greatest satisfaction
to show any part of the regard and honour had for the dear deceased.
Another reason for delaying the answer of your letter was that I

keep the child close for fear of the infection of the smaUpox, as many
of the children of fashion have been inoculated this year, all with
success, as I did not choose to have Archy inoculated in the winter
season

;
but if the spring were some farther advanced, I purpose to

h»ve him inoculated as my own chUdren were, which I hope you have
no objection against, as I am soon to remove to Edinburgh, where it
will be impossible to keep him from the natural infection, which may
prove fatal, as it did to one of my grand-children who was not
inoculated. I am, sir, your most humble servant,

_,. , ,
-Maroabkt Schaw.

Edinburgh, Feb. 21.

LETTER LXV.

Sir John Steuart to Lady Schaw.

Madam,—I received the most obliging letter you hoiiouied me with
of 21st inst. by last post. The favours you have laid me under could
not have been added to, so much as by the handsome manner they are
done in

;
the concern you are pleased to express for preventing my dear

boy being in danger of infection from the natural smallpox is most
obliging and kind.

And, madam, as you have been pleased to take the trouble of my
dear httle Archy, I leave the means of his preservation entirely
to your Ladyship's kindness and experience; so please order as to
inoculation or not, as your unerring judgment shall direct, which I
am sure needs not to be put in mind to take care that the pock be
favourable and the person it is taken from of a natural healthy
constitution.

I hope my affairs will soon take a more favourable turn, that I may
be somewhat less sensibly hurt by the unnatural behaviour of dear
Lady Jane's relations as well as mine; they have much to answer
for, breakug the heart of the most meritorious lady ever was born,
and next neglecting to take proper care of all .«he has left ; for, as your
Ladyship very justly observes, whatever might be alleged Lady Jane
had disobliged in, surely the infant had never disobliged. But,

I beg to be allowed to pay your Ladyship my respect in this way,
whilst at a distance, as I shall fondly embrace all occasions to provs
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with what regard and high eateem, I have the honour of being,

madame. your much obliged and most obedient humble servant,

Jo. Stsuabt.

London, February 28, 1754.

If I may be allowed to trouble your Ladyship to give my blessing to

my dear little man ; I beg it may have addition and sanction of yours,

to the many other favours your Ladyship does hie dear mother s

memory. u • .u
If I may take the liberty, after what I have said, to wish, it is that

Dr. Dundas and Mr. Eccles may be at the consultation, when and how

dear little Archie is to be inoculated ; not to put your Ladyship to

expense, they wiU leave that tUl I see them. But, madame, allow me

to remind your Ladyship, they know more of the boy's constitution

than physicians, however able, who have not had occasion to know so

much of his const.iution.

Please excuse this natural anxiety, madame, which, as a parent,

you have felt.

LETTER LXVI.

Sir John Steuart to Ladt Schaa.

Madame,—After being seemingly long out of my duty, please allow

my offering your Ladyship the compliments of the season, with my

best wishes and hearty thanks for the great and endless favours you

continue to lay me under by the motherly care, trouble, and expense

you're pleased to bestow on my dear child (your goodness has, as it

were, adopted). My unwillingness to trouble your Ladyship with a

repetition of bare and weak acknowledgments for favours so great

and uncommon, no words can express, to some might have appeared

like ingratitude or want of a just sense of so indulgent goodness ;
but,

madam, your generous and noble way of thinking, that I have so much

experience of, persuades me that your Ladyship puts a better and

juster construction on my respectful silence ; and I beg, madam, you

will please be assured that ae I have the most grateful sense of your

great goodness and favours done me, I am, with great impatience (to

have it in my power to offer .something of a return) endeavouring to

get some money that I may at least replace the expense, though the

favour and manner of doing it never can be sufficiently acknowledged,

much less repaid. I am, madam, with the highest esteem, youi

r^adyship's much obliged and most obedient, humble servant,

Jo. Stxuart.

Perth, January 1st, O.S., 1756.

If I might hope for the honour of a few lines letting me know your

Ladyship it well, should be glad to know where and with whom your

tender care has boarded dear little Archy.
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LETTER LXVII.

Sub John Sticabt to thk Eabl of Mobtom.

My Lord,—Next to my son's happiness in having the blood of
Douglas in his veins, and the justice his uncle the Duke has been
pleased to do him, I reckon it Ms greatest good fortune that his Grace
has pointed out the Duchess of Douglas, his Grace of Queensberry,
your Lordship, and some other gentlemen of worth and knowledge to
countenance and direct him till he is of age to think and act for
himself. I approve highly of this step, and shall never interfere or
attempt obstructing a management so much abler to conduct him
than any weak efforts of mine. I never was acquainted with the
modes of business. I am now far advanced in life, and have no further
ambition than to end my days with decency and decorum, and to do
justice to mankind, which, I thank God, the esUte of Grandtully will

enable me to do, if creditors will hearken to reason and not harass
me in a way that cannot serve themselves. When I have the honoui
to see your Lordship, I will explain myself more fully; meanwhile I

am, with the greatest respect, my Lord, your Lordship's most obedient
and most humble servant,

Jo. Stxcabt.
Edinburgh, July 27th, 1761.

The Dying Declar.\tions of Lady Jans Douolas.

Mrs. Elizabeth Hewit, spouse to Dr. Lachlan Maclean, late of
Philadelphia, deposes " That she was often with Lady Jane about the
time of her death, and that Lady Jane's fondness for the defendant
(Archibald Douglas, Esq.) continued to the last time the deponent
saw Lady Jane, which was a day or two before her death."

Mrs. May M'Crabbie, milliner in Edinburgh, deposes " That she
(Lady Jane) still insisted that the shock which she had received by the
death of Sholto, and other griefs that she had met with, were so
severe upon her that she was perfectly persuaded flie would never
recover, but considered herself as a dying woman, ana one who was
soon to appear in the presence of Almighty God, and to whom she
must answer ; she declared that these children, Archibald and Sholto.
were born of her body."

Dr. Martin Eccles, physician in Edinburgh, deposes " That the
deponent was oft with Lady Jane during her last illness, until her
death; that Lady Jane's fondness for the defendant continued to the
last; that she expressed concern what should come of him after she
was gone."

Mrs. Helen Hewit deposes " That Lady Jane was attended in her
sickness at London by Mr. James Pringle, surgeon to the Guards, and
when he left that place, by Mr. Fordyce; that these gentlemen told
the deponent that Lady Jane's disease was a broken heart ; that Lady
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Jane returned to Scotland in Augn«t. 1753, and died the 22nd of

November following ; that about four hours before she died she ordered

her son Archibald, the claimant, to be brought to her, when she laid

her hand upon his head and said ' God bless you, my child ; God
make you a good and an honest man, for riches I despise. Take a
sword in your hand, and you may one day be as great a hero as some
of your predecessors.'

''

The Dtino Declabation of Sir John Stkuabi.

Murthly, June 7th, 1764.

Having lately had some severe fits of the gout in my stomach, with

my nealth in other respects much impaired, these, with my great age,

going seventy-six, make it appear incumbent on me to make the follow-

ing declaration, as aspersions have been thrown out by interested and
most malicious people as to the birth of Lady Jane Douglas her
children, in order to rob the surviving child, Archibald, of hu birth-

right, by making his parents, Lady Jane and me, appear infamous, to

make him illegitimate.

I, Sir John Steuart of Grandtully, do solemnly declare before God
thn^ the forementioned Lady Jane lionglas, my lawful spouse, did, in

the year 1748, bring to the world my two sons, Archibald and Sholto,

and I firmly believe the children were mine, as I am sure they were
hers.—Of the two sons, Archibald is the only in life now.—I make
this declaration as stepping into eternity, before the witnesses after-

mentioned, James Bisset, minister of the Gospel, at Caputh; and
James Hill, minister at Gurdie; John Stewart of Dalgoos, Esq., Justice

of Peace; Joseph Anderson, tenant in Slogen-Hole.

(Signed thus) Jo. Stxuart.
James Bisset, Witness.

James Hill, Witness.

Jos. Anderson, Witness.

Jo. Stewart, Witness.

N.B.—Sir John Steuart died a few days after signing the above
declaration.

The Dtino Declaration of Mbs. Helen Hewit.

Mrs. Helen Hewit was first an attendant upon the late Lady
Marchioness of Douglas, a lady of distinguished piety. She was
afterwards the faithful attendant of Lady Jane Douglas. The late

Rev. Mr. William Harper, a clergyman of the Episcopal communion
at Edinburgh, and a man whose memory is much respected, was well

acquainted with Mrs. Hewit, and deposes " That he does verily

believe Mrs. Hewit to be a woman of truth and veracity, and a
sincere, conscientious woman, so far as he could observe."

Mrs. Hewit nolemnly swore, in presence of a jury, " That upon the
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lOth of July Lady Jane waa delivered at Pari* of two aona, and that
the deponent was present at their birth, and received them both into
her lap when they came into the world ; that the eldest, whose name
is Archibald, and is the preseut claimant, was a strong, healthy child."
Being very old and infirm, Mrs. Hewit was long in a dying state.

Finding she had made a trifling mistake in her deposition, so
scrupulous was she that she wrote to the Rev. Mr. Harper upon the
subject. Her letter concludes with these serious and striking words—
" I hope you, sir, can ease my mind, as all I declared on my examina-
tion is true, but that mistake of the day of leaving La Brnn's house,
which I thought true when I said it. And this I declare tu you. sir,

was I to step into eternity this moment.—Helen Hewit."
Mrs. Hewit lingered a little longer upon the brink of eternity than

was expected. She persisted to her last hour in affirming the truth
of what she had sworn, as she was to appear before an Almighty
Judge.

^
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APPENDIX IV.

" JnpiTER " Carlxlb's Account of the Tbiai. s thb House of

Lords, i

February, 1796.—On the 27th I attended the House of Peers in the

Dougl<w Cause. The Duke of B(uccleuch) had promised to cany me
down to the House ; but, as I was going into Grosvenor Square

to meet him at ten o'clock, I met the Duke of Montague, who was
coming from his house, and took me into his chariot, saying that

the Duke of B. was not yet ready. He put me in by the side of

the throne, where I found two or three of my friends, amongst them
Thomas Bell.

The business d.d not begin till eleven, and from that time I stood,

with now and then a lean on the edge of a deal board, till nine

in the evening, without any refreshment but a small roll and two
oranges. The heat of the house was chiefly oppressive, and Lord
Sandwich's speech, which, though learned and able, yet being three

hours long, was very intolerable. The Duke of Bedford spoke low,

but not half an hour. The Chancellor and Lord Mansfield united

on the side of Douglas ; each of them spoke above an hour. Andrew
Stuart, whom I saw in the House, sitting on the left side of the

throne, seemed to be much affected at a part of Lord Camden's
speech, in which he reflected on him ; and immediately left the House

;

from whence I concluded that he was in despair of success. Lord
Mansfield, overcome with heat, was about to faint in the middle of

his speech, and was obliged to stop. The side-doors were immediately

thrown open, and the Chancellor, moving out, returned soon with a

servant, who followed him with a bottle and glasses. Lord Mansfield

drank two glasses of the wine, and after some time revived, and pro-

ceeded in his speech. We, who had no wine, were nearly as much
recruited by the ''resh air which rushed in at the open doors as his

lordship by the wine. About nine the business ended in favour of

Douglas, there being only Ave Peers on the other side. I was well

pleased with that decision, as I had favoured that side ; Professor

Ferguson and I being the only two of our set of people who favoured

Douglas, chiefly on the opinion that, if the proof of filiation on his

part was not sustained, the whole system of evidence in such cases

would be overturned, and a door be opened for endless disputes about

succession. I had asked the Duke of B. some days before the decision,

how it would go ; he said that if the Law Lords disagreed, there was

no saying how it would go ; because the Peers, however imperfectly

> " Autobiography of the B«t. Dr. Ak zundei- Carlyle, Minister uf InTerexk," pp. SI3-4.
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prepared to judge, would follow the Judge they moet retpected. But
if they united the caee would be determined by their opinion ; it
being [the practice] in their Houie to support the Law Lords in all
judicial casea. . . .

The rejoicings in Scotland were very great on thin occasion, and
even outrigeous; although the Douglas family had been long in
obscurity, yet the Hamiltons had for a long period lost their
popularity. The attachment which all their acquaintance had to
Baron Muir, who was the original author of this suit, and Andrew
Stuart, who carried it on, swayed their minds very much their way.
They were men of uncommon good sense and probity.

li
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NOTABLE SCOTTISH TRIALS.

Meisn. William Hodge & Co. have arranged for the publication of a

series of volumes under the above title, the object of which is to present

a full and authentic record of the more notable Trials that have a place

in the annals of our Scottish jurisprudence. Of many of these Trials

the details are at the present time not readily accessible, being either

confined to the pages of official reports or buried in the files of the

daily press ; and it is intended to issue in a uniform senes such a

narrative of our more imporunt causes cilebrts as shall prove not only

of interest to the general reader, but also of utility to those concerned,

professionally or otherwise, with the study and application of the legal

principles involved in the various cases to be dealt with.

To each Trial a separate volume will be assigned ;
and, where

verbatim evidence is available, it will be reproduced in full, special care

being taken to ensure accuracy of detail.

The series is founded upon careful research into every avaiUble

source of information, and, so far as permissible, the opportunity has

been taken of consulting with and acquiring reliable information from

gentlemen who may have been authoriutively associated with any of

the Trials in contemplation.

" A remarkable scries."—G/<w.?»tB Herald.

"... Altogether a most interesting and welcome series these

Scottish Trials.'"—.taw/oKrwa/.

' Nouble

"Messrs. William Hodge & Co. are doing distinct service n"/ ""'V {°
'^*'=^

'',P|J
"^71

ijut also to t-^ •npral nublic bv the oubhcation of 'Notable Scottish

Dftuke Cot-r
profeaion, but also to taJ .eneral public by the publication of

Trials.'"
-

"The series of 'Notable Scottish Trials' which has just been imtiated with a

volume dealing with the trial of Madeleine Smith forms an enterprise on which the

publUhers are to be heartily congratulated."-G/«^.' Evtntng Times.

" Messrs. William Hodge & Co. are doinL good pubV - service >"/f
"'"8 »

^"'«^f
volumes dealing with ' ifotable Scottish trials.' ^ -="" "'->"•" '"»1'' '""k

place a new generation has arisen, to wh

and the series promised by M-^ssrs. II..

educative works of considerable hi ric

.....a. Siiioe many of these trials took

most of >''e persons tried are mere names,

* Co. 'ill necessarily take the form of
—

' I SiOtsmaH.

'• While abounding in the dramatic inter.

,

' - ' higher cnme, they «= ed^t=d

with all the completeness and accuracy and u-.ent.on to the legal issues mvolved o

Teoorts intended Vor lawyers ; and there is no class of reading more useful for students

ofC than th^ study of the laws of evidence as they appear m practice dunng such

uiaU At the same time for the general reader they have the intense fascuiauon of

revelation of the darker side of human nature."—.S<i/«>-<Ai)' Kevuw.
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The Trial ok Madelkink Smith. Edited by A. Duncan-

Smith, F.S.A.(Scot.), Advocate. Dedicated to Lord Young.

Fully illustrated. Demy 8vo, 400 pp. Price- 5s. 1905.

" If all subM()uent volumes '<re as full of interest as the present, their publication
should be an assured success."

—

Dai/jf Ntws.

" This full record of the trial, while as ' good as a novel ' fur many lay readers, has
•Isc a deeper meaning for the student of law or of humanity."—^^n/^w Fnt Prtss.

"The volume has liecn admirably got up, and the type is beautifully clear."

—

Edinburgh Dispatch.

" An excellent production—figuring up the various characters in the drama, and
portraying in graphic style the whole tragical romance."—C/aj^oK' Citizen.

"As a record of one of the most remarkable criminal trials of modern times, the
book will be inund of supreme interest."— The Scotsman.

" The publishers are to be congratulated on their selection of Mr. Duncan Smith as
the editor of the present numljer. He brings to his task a delightful freshness, and
unfolds the romantic tale in a truly romantic manner. . . . It is only when we
come to the appendices that the real importance of Mr. Smith's report is apparent.
Those show an amount of research unequalled in any report of the trial yet issued.
. . . It is not too much to say thai, if the succeeding volumes maintain the high
standard of work which marks the present number, the series should have a ready
and abundant market."

—

Glas^ov Herald.

The Trial of the Cn v of Glasgow Bank Directors. Edited

by William Wallace, Advc-ate, Sheriff-Substitute, Campbeltown,

Joint Author of " Banking Law." Fully illustrated from contem

porary photographs. Demy 8vo, 500 pp. Price 55. / ^5.

"A worU of permanent value."— /"A^ BaiHc.

" The volume is very full and complete."- Dunda .Advertiser.

"It will prove most interesting reading to all commercial men, and especially to
those engaged in the bu.siness of banking. —/)«Wc(r Courier.

The'
" The reader will find it worth while to peruse the whole extraordinary tale,

le volume is of absorbing interest all through."

—

Evening Times.

" The evidence on both sides is given verbatim, and the entire work of editing has
been exceedingly well done by .Mr. William Wallace. There are some excellent
portraits."

—

Glasgow Citizen.

"Mr. Wallace, the editor, has discharged his duty admirably, and his skilful

guidance is exceedingly helpful and valuable. The introductory chapter is a
singularly lucid and eftective piece of 'tixxivag.'' - Aberdeen Daily foumal.
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NoUbl* SaottUh TrUli-"*""""'-

The Trial or Dr. Pritchard. Edited by William Rouohead,

W.S., Edinburgh. Dedicated to the Jate Sheriff Brand, Ayr. Fully

illustrated. Demy 8vo, 346 pp. Price 51,
'9o*-

The narrative is most intere,tin?. and one which iawyer. and Uymen

alike will read with fixed attention."—Z««' Ttmts.

••
. . . Mr. Roughead'i highly intereiting hoaV."—Lamtl.

..... One of the motlabwrbing of a remarkable »erie«."-C/«,?iwi5r#r«W.

..... Thi. carefully prepared report ha. real historic valae."-.SA*^/tfi>«/j'

Ttligrafh.

The record of the trial in the pre«nt volume is the most complete and

accurate that has yet appeared."- W"/".""'"- GautU.

The volume, which forms one of the • NoUble Scottish Trials' series, is

,he best of its Wnd we have yet seen."-/>X^ mekl. New,.

This book, which Mr. Roughead has edited with a skiU and complete-

nei;- worthy ^X^tt^^^ P'a-. '» "'--d °f P"' '"'""' »° ''"'^ *'"•*'"' °'

criminology."-5<^<rf">* Rivitw.

contains."-5A"A'»«' ''«*<>' ^'^'^

The Trial of Eugene Marie Chantrelle. Edited by A.

Duncan Smith, F.S.A.(Scot.). Dedicated to Sir Henry D. Little-

john, M.D.. LL.D. Demy 8vo, 25° PP- P"« 5s. '9o6.

..The book is a thoroughly well-edited chapbook."-Z?a./y A^w..

..Apart from its undoubted interest as a tragic story, the book is valuable as a

judicUl record."— G/flJ^w Ntws.

.. Mr. Duncan Smith majr be congratulated on the able manner in which he has

executed his task."—i-ai" Times.
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^i*^IH ""'t''
"'""''•^-

•. • ,.
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